



Volume: 4 - Issue: 1

👁 669 | 📥 782

Volume 4 · Issue 1 2020	
Contents	
Research article	
Magnetic resonance imaging findings in patients with cerebral palsy in Duhok, Iraq: Case series (http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/663221) / Pages: 1-4 PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file Saleem KHADİR, Sally ABDULMOHSİN ISSA	3/921302)
 Electron microscopic examination of needles used in infraclavicular brachial plexus block (http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/661093) / Pages : 5-8 PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file Bora BİLAL, Ömer Faruk BORAN, Mustafa SARGON, Kemal Erdem BAŞARAN, Adem DOĞANER 	»/924960)
Hydatidiform mole in Duhok, Iraq: Frequency, types and histopathological diagnostic features (http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/663841) / Pages: 9-11 PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file Rana Mumtaz MATLOB, Mayada ILÍAS YALDA, Zihel Hassan HUSSEÍN, Tamara Qais FARAJ	»/922098)
 Prevalence of human pseudocholinesterase (butyrylcholinesterase) deficiency in central Anatolian people cross-sectional study (http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/660358) / Pages : 12-15 Muzaffer GENCER, Yeşim GÖÇMEN 	
	:/952155)
The effect of dexpanthenol on the formation of epidural fibrosis in an experimental laminectomy model in rather http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/597612) / Pages : 16-20 PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file Zahir KIZILAY, Nesibe KAHRAMAN ÇETİN, Soner YAYCIOĞLU, Murat Özcan YAY, Hakan ÖZTÜRK, Çiğdem Yayaharan Karanan Katanan Katanan Karanan Karanana	e/935004)
Lincreased post-voiding residue and recurrent acute epididymitis: Are they causally related? (http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/673237) / Pages : 21-24 PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file Adem SANCI, Evren SUER	e/935600)
Ovarian reserve testing in the prediction of recurrent pregnancy loss (http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/5159) / Pages : 25-28 PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file Sadik KÜKRER, Sefa ARLIER, Seyfettin KARAMAN	
 Imaging-guided percutaneous vertebral and paravertebral lesion biopsy: A single center experience (http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/670370) / Pages: 29-32 PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file Onur TAYDAŞ, Ömer Faruk ATEŞ, Osman KINDIR 	»/937103)

Yunus KANTEKİN, Özgül KARAASLAN, Hakan DAĞISTAN, İlknur HABERA	L CAN
Beta hemolytic Streptococci strains isolated from clinical specimens, the susceptibility (http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/672119) / Pages: 38-4 Qiğdem ARABACI, Kenan AK	
The relationship betw een maternal and neonatal vitamin B12 and folate metabolic indicators (http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/669066) / Page Emel ÜNSÜR, Burçin KINAŞ	-
Risk factors for bacteremia follow ing endoscopic retrograde cholangion http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/673577)/ Pages : 48-52 Ayhanim TÜMTÜRK, Cigdem ATAMAN HATIPOGLU	· · ·
Vertebral fractures and spinopelvic parameters in patients with osteopo http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/674311) / Pages: 53-57 Türkan TURGAY, Mehmet Ali İKİDAĞ, Pinar Gunel KARADENİZ, Murat ULU	PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file/951556)
Preoperative evaluation of the know ledge and concerns of gynecology questionnaire based observational study (http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/5 Buket ÖZYAPRAK, Nermin KILIÇARSLAN, Gönül ERKAN	
Evaluation of deep vein thrombosis incidence with respect to age and g Anatolia: A population-based study (http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/ Kwanç ATILGAN, Ertan DEMİRDAŞ, Cengiz Zafer ER, Ferit ÇİÇEKÇİOĞLU	643503)/Pages: 62-65
The effects of ozone therapy on postoperative adhesions and ovarian http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/681999)/ Pages: 66-70 Rulin DENIZ, Yakup BAYKUŞ, Muhammet Bora UZUNER, Yasemen ADALI	functions: An experimental study (PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file/951367)
Evaluation of hand anomalies in children admitted to a tertiary health cer http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/676938)/ Pages : 71-75 Mehmet Rauf KOÇ, Sezai ÖZKAN, Cihan ADANAŞ	nter in eastern Anatolia (PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file/952974)
È Morphometry of the external auditory canal: Radiological study (http://js Pages : 76-79 Selma ÇALIŞKAN, Hüseyin ÇETİN, Sinem AKKAŞOĞLU	surgmed.com/en/issue/51597/680964)/ PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file/953003)
Evaluation of hospitalized new borns due to indirect hyperbilirubinemia: / http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/670531) / Pages: 80-83 Sefer ÜSTEBAY, Ömer ERTEKIN, Döndü ÜLKER	A cross-sectional study (PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file/953029)
Determination of cancer progression in breast cells by fiber optic bioimp http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/671514)/ Pages: 84-88 Tuba DENKÇEKEN, Ayşegül ÇÖRT	pedance spectroscopy system (PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file/954517)
Do inflammatory markers play a role in the detection of periprosthetic inf http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/671101) / Pages: 89-92 Duran TOPAK, Ahmet SALAN, Fatih DOĞAR, Selçuk NAZİK	fections? (PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file/954094)
Case report	
Congenital isolated asplenia accidentally discovered during acute perito http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/588198) / Pages : 93-95	nitis (PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file/931815)

Primary rectal linitis plastica: Report of two cases and a review of the literature (http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/581349) / Pages: 96-98 PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file/942623) Abdelouhab EL MAROUNİ, Karam AZİZ, Rim BENJİRA, Tarik SOUİKİ, İmane TOUGHRAİ, Khalid MAZAZ, Karim İBN MAJDOUN EL HASSANİ

Auditory, visual and tactile hallucinations in a 16-year-old adolescent with high-dose duloxetine at one time (http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/627206) / Pages : 99-101 PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file/943363) Sefa COSGUN

 Perinephric abscess as a rare cause of acute abdomen: A case report (http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/608975) / Pages : 102-104
 Yilmaz GÜLER, Serkan ŞENGÜL, Hasan ÇALIŞ, Murat UÇAR, Özkan ÖZEN

 Abscess and bronchobiliary fistula follow ing percutaneous hydatid cyst treatment: A case report (http://jsurgmed.com/en/issue/51597/616064) / Pages : 105-107
 PDF (/en/dow nload/article-file/950175)
 Ercan KORKUT, Nurhak AKSUNGUR, Gürkan ÖZTÜRK

ULAKBİM Dergi Sistemleri (//dergipark.org.tr/en/)

ULAKBİM Dergi Sistemleri (//dergipark.org.tr/en/)

Journal of Surgery and Medicine --ISSN: 2602-2079

Magnetic resonance imaging findings in patients with cerebral palsy in Duhok, Iraq: Case series

Duhok, Irak'taki serebral palsili hastaların manyetik rezonans görüntüleme bulguları: Olgu serisi

Saleem Khadir¹, Sally Abdulmohsin Issa²

¹ Department of Radiology, College of Medicine, University of Duhok, Azadi Teaching Hospital, Duhok,	Abstract Aim: Magnetic resonance imaging is an important technique for evaluating structural abnormalities in the brain. Many neurologists and
Iraq ² Department of Radiology, Azadi Teaching Hospital, Duhok, Iraq	pediatricians refer cerebral palsy patients to conventional magnetic resonance imaging. The objective of this study was to assess magnetic resonance imaging findings in children with cerebral palsy and to research whether it can predict the etiology or pathogenesis
ORCID ID of the author(s) SK: 0000-0001-8375-4796 SAI: 0000-0001-6525-1351	of this disease. Methods: This case study was carried out at Azadi General Hospital from the 1 st of July 2016 until the 28 th of February 2017. A total of 48 patients who were diagnosed with cerebral palsy were included in the study. They all underwent cranial magnetic resonance imaging under general anesthesia, and results were compared statistically.
	Results: The male to female ratio was 2.4:1. Magnetic resonance imaging was abnormal in 87.5%. Diffuse encephalopathy was seen in 56.2% of cases, periventricular leukomalacia was detected in 18.8%, changes of ischemic lesion were seen in 4.2 %, congenital malformations in 8.3% and normal scan was seen in 12.5% of cases. Among the clinical sub-types of cerebral palsy, spastic diplegia was the most common (47.9%), followed by spastic quadriplegia (35.4%), spastic hemiplegia (10.4%), and choreoathetoid cerebral palsy (6.3%).
	Conclusions: This study concluded that brain changes in magnetic resonance imaging can detect the pathogenesis of cerebral palsy and is diagnostic in congenital brain malformations. Keywords: Magnetic resonance imaging, Cerebral palsy
	Öz
	Amaç: Manyetik rezonans görüntüleme beyindeki yapısal anormallikleri değerlendirmek için önemli bir tekniktir. Birçok nörolog ve çocuk doktoru serebral palsi hastalarını konvansiyonel manyetik rezonans görüntülemeye yönlendirir. Bu çalışmanın amacı serebral palsili çocuklarda manyetik rezonans görüntüleme bulgularını değerlendirmek ve bu hastalığın etiyolojisini veya patogenezini öngörüp öngöremeveceğini araştırmaktır.
	Yöntemler: Bu vaka çalışması 1 Temmuz 2016 - 28 Şubat 2017 tarihleri arasında Azadi Genel Hastanesi'nde gerçekleştirildi. Serebral palsi tanısı alan toplam 48 hasta çalışmaya dahil edildi. Hepsine genel anestezi altında kraniyal manyetik rezonans görüntüleme yapıldı ve sonuçlar istatistiksel olarak karşılaştırıldı.
Corresponding author / Sorumlu yazar: Saleem Khadir Address / Adres: College of Medicine, University of Duhok, Azadi Teaching Hospital, Duhok, Iraq	Bulgular: Erkek/kız oranı 2,4:1 idi. Manyetik rezonans görüntüleme hastaların %87,5'inde anormaldi. Olguların %56,2'sinde diffüz ensefalopati, %18,8'inde periventriküler lökolazi, %4,2'sinde iskemik lezyon değişiklikleri, %8,3'ünde konjenital malformasyon ve %12,5'inde normal tarama saptandı. Serebral palsi klinik alt tipleri arasında en yaygın spastik dipleji (%47,9), ardından spastik kuadripleji (%35,4), spastik hemipleji (%10,4) ve koreoetotoid serebral palsi (%6,3) gözlendi.
e-Mail: salimokhader@yahoo.com	Sonuç: Bu çalışma manyetik rezonans görüntülemede beyin değişikliklerinin serebral palsi patogenezini tespit edebildiği ve konjenital
Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical approval was obtained from the local Ethics Committee. Etik Kurul Onayı: Etik onay, yerel Etik Kuruldan alınmıştır.	beyin malformasyonlarında tanısal olduğu sonucuna varmıştır. Anahtar kelimeler: Manyetik rezonans görüntüleme, Serebral palsi
Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.	
Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.	
Published: 1/6/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 06.01.2020	
Copyright © 2020 The Author(s) Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NOBervatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.	

Introduction

Cerebral Palsy (CP) occurs due to a defect or lesion in the developing brain, which may have had its onset in the prenatal, perinatal, or postnatal period [1]. It is important to know the onset of the brain injury, as it is significant in the assessment of recurrence risk and the implementation of prevention programs [2].

Two large meta-analyses have attempted to document the extent and spectrum of central nervous system abnormalities found on Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) in children with CP. Ashwal et al. [3], who studied data involving 644 children with CP, and found abnormal MRI in 89%, concluded that neuro-pathologic changes seen in MRI can be linked to the gestational ages of the infant at the time of brain injury.

In Ashwal et al.'s [3] study, periventricular leukomalacia (PVL) was the commonest MRI abnormality in preterm patients. while diffuse encephalopathy (cortical/subcortical atrophy/ventriculomegaly) was mostly detected in term infants. The second meta-analysis conducted by Krägeloh-Mann and Horber [4], who found 86% of the patients showed abnormal MRI findings, concluded that PVL was mostly seen in the early third trimester and the prematurely born infant, while cortical and subcortical atrophy, damage to the basal ganglia and thalamus were more commonly observed towards the end of the third trimester, during the perinatal period and in the term infant. In another study carried out at Al-Kindy Teaching hospital, 91 CP cases underwent computerized tomography (CT) scans, among which cortical and subcortical brain atrophy were the commonest findings [5].

An important point is that an abnormality on MRI does not necessarily mean that the etiology of the motor deficit has been established. For example, diffuse cortical atrophy and delayed myelination are non-specific findings which only suggest that a CNS disturbance occurred and may not reveal the underlying cause [3].

The present study aims to assess the cranial MRI findings in children with CP in terms of abnormalities and pathogenesis and compare them along with the demographic data and subtypes of disease.

Materials and methods

This case study was approved by the Scientific Research Committee of the Faculty of Medicine and the Ethics Committee of the Directorate of Health. Oral and written consent forms were obtained from parents of all patients.

The study was conducted at the radiology department/MRI unit in Azadi general hospital in Duhok governorate over a period of 8 months, between 01/07/2016 and 28/02/2017.

This study included 48 children younger than 5 years of age, referred by either the Pediatrician or the neurologist from the Early Detection and Rehabilitation center. All children were clinically diagnosed CP patients whose physician asked for MRI scans. Children older than 5 years of age with determined CP etiologies and those not fit to receive general anesthesia were excluded. History regarding gestational age was obtained from the patients' patients, after which all patients were categorized into three groups as Preterm (born before 37 gestational weeks), Term (born between the 37th and 42nd gestational weeks) and Post-term (born after the 42nd gestational week). History of any maternal diseases during pregnancy was reported, including hypertension, heart diseases, blood incompatibility disorders and others like diabetes mellitus. Any admission to neonatal care unit for asphyxia and or convulsion was recorded. The CP clinical sub types (i.e. topographic distribution of motor involvement) were reported by the referred physician and categorized as spastic or non-spastic. Types of spastic CP included diplegic, quadriplegic, or hemiplegic CP while non-spastic CP comprised the chorea athetotic type.

Parents were informed to keep their children fasted for 4 hours as directed by the anesthesiologist. In the radiology department, all patients were examined by the anesthesiologist, who was responsible for administration of general anesthesia, along with his/her assistant. The cranial diffusion weighted MRI was obtained using the 1.5 Tesla Philips machine.

The axial diffusion weighted sections used the following parameters: TR 5067ms repetition time, TE 156ms echo time, 23 cm field-of-view, -10° flip angle, 152x105 acquisition matrix. 20 contiguous slices of about 5 mm thickness were interpreted. T1W was obtained with TR 596 ms, TE 15ms, T2W with TR 4855ms, TE 110ms and FLAIR with TR 6000ms, TE 120ms.

Coronal, axial and sagittal views were examined. The child remained still over a period of 10 to 15 minutes. Findings obtained on the MRI were classified into 6 patterns of abnormality as defined and described by Ashwal et al. [3], as follows: Normal: No abnormality detected on MRI. PVL: Signal abnormality and/or volume loss in the periventricular and/or deep white matter, may include scalloping of the ventricles, dilatation, or periventricular cysts. ventricular Diffuse encephalopathy: Global/diffuse signal abnormality and/or volume loss involving the cortex/sub cortex, deep grey matter (basal ganglia and/or thalamus), and white matter/multicystic encephalomalacia. Focal ischemic or hemorrhagic lesions: Signal change, volume loss, or porencephaly in an established vascular territory with or without other focal ischemic or hemorrhagic lesions. Brain malformations: Cortical dysplasia, polymicrogyria, lissencephaly, pachygyria, heterotopias, schizencephaly, polymicrogyria, cerebellar hypoplasia dysgenesis, or holoprosencephaly, and hydranencephaly. Unclassified group: Any MRI abnormality that is unable to be classified into one of the above groups.

Statistical analysis

Collected data were entered into an Excel 2013 workbook and then converted into SPSS version 24 for analysis.

Results

The total number of patients was 48, 70.8% of total patients were males and the male to female ratio was 2.4:1. The mean age was 1.8 years. About 22.9% of patients in the study were preterm while 77.1% were term and post-term. The demographic characteristics of all patients are presented in Table 1. The most common clinical subtype of CP was spastic diplegia

(47.9%), followed by spastic quadriplegia (35.4%), hemiplegic CP(10.4%), and chorea-athetotic CP(6.3%).

Among all patients, 62.5% had no risk factors in contrast to 37.5% who did. Prematurity was the commonest risk factor in the study group, accounting for 32.2% of all risk factors, followed by prenatal maternal diseases (29.4%). Maternal hypertension was the commonest maternal disease. Perinatal asphyxia contributed to 23.5%, followed by twin gestation (8.8%) and neonatal hyperbilirubinemia, which constituted about 6% of all risk factors.

Abnormal MRI was detected in 87.5% of cases, diffuse encephalopathy was the commonest pattern observed (56.2%). PVL was observed in 18.75%, congenital brain malformation was seen in 8.33% and ischemic brain injury was detected in 4.16%. The remaining 12.5% had unremarkable brain MRIs. The MRI pattern differences between the preterm and full-term infants are presented in Table 2. All preterm patients had abnormal MRI findings. About 45.5% of preterm infants showed PVL. Ischemic causes were more common in preterm infants than term ones.

In term and post-term children, the most common MRI finding was diffuse encephalopathy, which was seen in the form of cortical and sub-cortical atrophy, and multicystic encephalomalacia. All patients with congenital malformations and those with normal MRIs were in the term and post-term groups.

The MRI findings according to the clinical subtypes of CP are presented in Table 3. Diffuse encephalopathy was seen in the MRI scan in 52% of patients with spastic diplegia, and 30.4% showed PVL. A relatively large percent of patients with spastic quadriplegia (64.7%) and 60% of patients with hemiplegia showed diffuse encephalopathy. Table 1: Demographic characteristics of all patients

			%
		n	%0
Age (years)	< 1 year	7	14.6
	1 - 3 years	31	64.6
	3 - 5 years	10	20.8
Gender	Male	34	70.8
	Female	14	29.2
Gestational age	Preterm	11	22.9
	Term and Post-term	37	77.1
Type of CP	Spastic diplegia	23	47.9
	Spastic quadriplegia	17	35.4
	Hemiplegia	5	10.4
	Chore-athetosis	3	6.3
Total		48	100

Table 2: The distribution of CP patients according to MRI findings and gestational age at delivery

Gestational age	Normal	PVL	Diffuse encephalopathy	Ischemic cause	Congenital malformation	Total
at delivery	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Pre-term	0	5 (45.5)	4 (36.4)	2 (18.2)	0	11 (100)
Term and	6 (16.2)	4 (10.8)	23 (62.2)	0	4 (10.8)	37 (100)
post-term						
Total	6	9	27	2	4	48
n: Number of	patients, PV	L: Periven	tricular leukomalacia	a		

Table 3: MRI patterns according to cerebral palsy subtypes

MRI pattern types	Spastic diplegia	Spastic quadriplegia	Hemiplegia	Non-spastic	Total
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Normal	3 (13.0)	-	1 (20.0)	2 (66.7)	6 (12.5)
PVL	7 (30.4)	2 (11.8)	-	-	9 (18.8)
Diffuse encephalopathy	12 (52.2)	11 (64.7)	3 (60.0)	1 (33.3)	27 (56.2)
Ischemic cause	-	1 (5.9)	1 (20.0)	-	2 (4.2)
Congenital malformation	1 (4.4)	3 (17.6)	-	-	4 (8.3)
Total	23 (100)	17 (100)	5 (100)	3 (100)	48 (100)
n: Number of patients, PVL: Periventricular leukomalacia					

PVL: Periventricular leukomalacia

Discussion

In the present study, there was male predominance (70.8%). A slightly lower percentage (68%) was reported in a study carried out in Australia [6]. Some authors reported that male gender is a risk factor for CP [7]. Factors playing role in the etiology of CP interact with each other. A relatively large percentage of the cases in this study had no prenatal risk factors (62.5%). The rest 37.5% had one or more risk factors. The commonest risk factor was prematurity followed by maternal diseases, perinatal asphyxia, twin gestation and neonatal hyperbilirubinemia. It is presumed that certain radiological findings are suggestive for birth asphyxia, such as PVL, cystic encephalomalacia, localized atrophy, and gliosis with or without basal ganglia involvement [8].

The most common clinical type of CP was spastic diplegia, seen in 48% of cases. This figure is close that in a study performed at the Neurosciences Hospital of Baghdad, in which spastic diplegia constituted about 43% of all CP cases [9]. These results were also similar to studies conducted in the developed countries [2,10]. Spastic quadriplegia (35%) was the next most common type in the current study. In a study carried out in Indian, Spastic quadriplegic involvement was the most common type of CP [8]. In two separate studies conducted at Al-Kindy and AL-Mansour teaching hospitals in Baghdad, the quadriplegic CP was the most common type [5,11]. One can conclude that, the clinical spectrum of CP is different in developing countries compared to developed countries, but the result of our study was closer to that of developing countries. Hemiplegic CP is not common in our study, and accounted for 10.4%, which was higher than that reported by other authors [12]. Convulsion abnormalities were reported in 18% of our patients; higher percentages were reported by others [10].

In different European studies, the MRI abnormalities ranged from 86% to 89% [4,10,13]. This was in agreement with our current results (87.5%). Unlike these results, Benini and Shevell [14] found that 29% of the examined patients had normal MRI findings, which was dominated by dyskinetic CP. The results of the current study showed a higher proportion of diffuse encephalopathy and periventricular white mater disease, and a lower proportion of malformations and ischemic lesions.

Data from previous researches showed that the less severely affected children were more likely to have a normal MRI. Spastic monoplegia and diplegia were the commonest types of CP in the Robinson study [2]. PVL is the commonest MRI abnormality in developed countries. In 3 different studies, PVL constituted 56% (4), 42.5% (10), and 31.2% [2] of all MRI abnormalities, respectively. In the current study, diffuse encephalopathy was the commonest MRI abnormality, constituting 56.2% of all MRI abnormalities. Most of them (88%) showed cortical and sub cortical atrophy, and (11%) of them showed multi-cystic encephalomalacia. The multi-cystic encephalomalacia is more often found in term than preterm newborns and the prognosis is unfavorable [15].

Congenital brain malformations develop during the 1st and 2nd trimesters [16]. In this study, brain malformations were observed in 4 children (8.3%), all were full-term babies, and 75% showed quadriplegic type of CP. Ischemic/hemorrhagic lesions, seen only in 2 cases (4.2%), both occurred in pre-term

babies. They are seen on MRI as post-hemorrhagic or postinfarction porencephaly. This is thought to be the result of perinatal stroke. Previous studies showed more cases of focal ischemic lesions: the rates were 16.2% in Robinson et al [2] and 7.4% in Bax et al. [10].

Limitations

Children were imaged over a wide age range, which can affect the interpretation of MR images. The machine used for MR imaging had field strength of 1.5 Tesla only, and the head coil used was designed for adults. Complications during the administration of general anesthesia ended with discontinuation of the MRI scan. Many cases were postponed due to chest infections, which are common among children. National obstetrics and the neonatal medical record systems were insufficient, which is a pressing problem in most of the developing countries.

Conclusions

This study concluded that diffuse encephalopathy is a common MRI abnormality in children with CP. MRI in children with CP is relatively of value in understanding the pathogenesis of CP and it is diagnostic in congenital brain malformations. Neuro-radiological classification of CP can be applied to all patients and CP is more common among the male gender.

References

- 1. Herskind A, Greisen G, Nielsen J. Early identification and intervention in cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2015;57:29-36.
- Robinson MN, Peake LJ, Ditchfield MR, Reid SM, Lanigan A, Reddihough DS. Magnetic resonance imaging findings in a population-based cohort of children with cerebral palsy. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology, 2009;51(1):39-45.
- 3. Ashwal S, Russman B, Blasco P, Miller G, Sandler A, Shevell M, et al. Practice Parameter: Diagnostic assessment of the child with cerebral palsy Report of the Quality Standards Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology and the Practice Committee of the Child Neurology Society. Neurology. 2004:62(6):851-63.
- 4. Krägeloh-Mann I. Horber V. The role of magnetic resonance imaging in elucidating the pathogenesis of cerebral palsy: a systematic review. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology. 2007;49(2):144-51. 5. Al-Khalidi MJ. Clinical Presentations and CT-Scan findings in children with Cerebral Palsy. Iraqi J Comm
- Med. 2009;(1):40-7.
- 6. Reid S, Dagia C, Ditchfield M, Reddihough D. Grey matter injury patterns in cerebral palsy: associations between structural involvement on MRI and clinical outcomes. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology. 2015:57(12):1159-67
- 7. Hoon A, Vasconcellos-Faria A. Pathogenesis, neuroimaging and management in children with cerebral palsy born preterm. Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews. 2010;16(4):302-12.
- 8. Aggarwal A, Mittal H, Debnath S, Rai A. Neuroimaging in Cerebral Palsy-Report from North India. Iranian Journal of Child Neurology. 2013;7(4):41-6
- 9. Kareem A, Kamel M. Risk factors and clinical profiles in Iraqi children with cerebral palsy.The New Iraqi Journal of Medicine. 2009;5(3):64-8.
- 10. Bax M, Tydeman C, Flodmark O. Clinical and MRI correlates of cerebral palsy: the European Cerebral Palsy Study. JAMA. 2006;296(13):1602-8
- 11. Al-Nadawi M, Al-Obeidy L, Umran R. CT S-can Changes in Patient with Cerebral Palsy. J Fac Med (Baghdad). 2002;44(3);498-500.
- 12. Qing S, Cai Yun M, Nan L, Zhong-Li L, Yi-Bing Y, Zhi Rong W, et al. Clinical study of cerebral palsy in 408 children with periventricular leukomalacia. Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine. 2015;9(4):1336-44. 13.Prasad R, Verma N, Srivastava A, Das B, Mishra O. Magnetic resonance imaging, risk factors and co-
- morbidities in children with cerebral palsy. Journal of neurology. 2011;258(3):471-8.
- 14. Benini R, Dagenais L, Shevell M. Normal Imaging in Patients with Cerebral Palsy: What Does It Tell Us?. The Journal of Pediatrics. 2013;162(2):369-74.
- 15. Cabaj A, Bekiesińska-Figatowska M, Mądzik J. MRI patterns of hypoxic-ischemic brain injury in preterm & full term infants-classical & less common MR findings. Pol J Radiol. 2013;77(3):71-6.
- 16. Himmelman K, Harberg G, Beckung E, Harberg B. The Changing Panorama of Cerebral Palsy in Sweden. ix. Prevalence and origin in the birth period 1995-1998. Acta Paediatrica. 2005;94(3):287-94.
- This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.
- The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Journal of Surgery and Medicine

Electron microscopic examination of needles used in infraclavicular brachial plexus block

İnfraklaviküler brakial pleksus bloğunda blok iğnelerinin elektron mikroskobik incelenmesi

possibility of mechanical nerve damage.

Bora Bilal¹, Ömer Faruk Boran¹, Mustafa Fevzi Sargon², Kemal Erdem Başaran³, Adem Doğaner⁴

¹ Kahramanmaras Sutcu Imam University Faculty of Abstract

Medicine Department of Anesthesiology, Kahramanmaras, Turkey

² Atılım University Faculty of Medicine Department of Anatomy, Ankara, Turkey ³ Ercives University Faculty of Medicine Department of Physiology, Kayseri, Turkey

Kahramanmaras Sutcu Imam University Faculty of Medicine Department of Biostatistics and Medical Informatics, Kahramanmaras, Turkey

> ORCID ID of the author(s) BB: 0000-0003-3884-8042 ÖFB: 0000-0002-0262-9385 MFS: 0000-0002-7740-7111 KEB: 0000-0001-6035-9398 AD: 0000-0002-0270-9350

Corresponding author / Sorumlu yazar: Bora Bilal Address / Adres: Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Anesteziyoloji Anabilim Dalı Kahramanmaras Türkiye

e-Mail: bilalbora@yahoo.com

Ethics Committee Approval: Approval for this study was granted by K.S.U Faculty of Medicine Scientific Research Ethics Committee (Date: 18.01.2017 Number: 2017/01/22). Etik Kurul Onayı: KSÜ Tıp Fakültesi Bilimsel

Araştırmalar Etik Kurulu (Tarih: 18.01.2017 No: 2107/01-22) onayı alındı.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu calısma icin finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/9/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 09.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s)

Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial+NoBerivatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



Aim: The application of peripheral block is frequently used in anesthesia practice. One of the most significant complications of this procedure is peripheral nerve damage that can develop due to the needles used. The aim of this study was to determine the presence of tissue residue on the needle and to obtain information about damage to surrounding tissues during this procedure by examining the needles used in brachial plexus block with electron microscopy.

Methods: This prospective-cohort study included patients who were to undergo forearm or hand surgery in the Orthopedics Clinic under anesthesia with infractavicular brachial plexus block performed with 2 different techniques: The local anesthetic agent was administered to the subclavian artery at 6 and 9 o'clock levels in Group 1 and 2, 6 and 9 o'clock levels in Group 2. The needles used during the block were preserved in glutaraldehyde solution then examined with electron microscopy. The presence of tissue on the needles was recorded and statistical evaluations were made.

Results: The needles used in two different techniques of infraclavicular brachial plexus block were examined under scanning electron microscope. The amount of tissue residue remaining on the needle in Group 1 was significantly less than that in Group 2 (P<0.001). Conclusion: When it is considered that ultrasound provides a 2-dimensional image, the fewer the number of needle manipulations made during the procedure of brachial plexus block application, the less damage will be made to the surrounding tissues, thus reducing the

Keywords: Infraclavicular block, Electron microscopy, Neuronal damage

Öz

Amaç: Periferik blok uygulamaları anestezi pratiğinde sıklıkla kullanılmaktadır. Bu işlemin en önemli komplikasyonlarından biri de kullanılan iğnelere bağlı gelişebilecek periferik sinir hasarıdır. Çalışmamızda brakial pleksus blok işlemlerinde kullanılan iğnelerin işlem sonrası elektron mikroskobisi ile incelenerek iğne üzerinde kalan doku parçalarının varlığı ile iğnenin işlem sırasında çevre dokulara verdiği hasar hakkında bilgi sahibi olmak amaçlanmıştır.

Yöntemler: Prospektif kohort olarak planlanan çalışmamızda ortopedi kliniğinde ön kol veya el cerrahisi yapılacak hastalara farklı iki teknik ile infraklaviküler brakial pleksus bloğu ile anestezi vapıldı. İnfraklaviküler blok: Grup 1'de subklavian arterin saat 6 ve 9 hizasına lokal anestezik verilerek, Grup 2'de subklavian arterin saat 2, 6 ve 9 hizasına verilerek uvgulandı. Blok sırasında kullanılan iğneler glutaraldehit solüsyonunda korunarak sonrasında elektron mikroskobik olarak incelendi. İğne üzerinde doku varlığı kaydedildi, istatistiksel olarak değerlendirildi.

Bulgular: İnfraklaviküler brakial pleksus bloğunda iki farklı teknikte kullanılan iğnelerin SEM değerlendirilmesinin yapıldığı çalışmamızda. Grup 1'de iğne üzerinde kalan doku kalıntısı miktarı grup 2'den daha az saptanmıştır (P<0,001).

Sonuç: Ultrasonun iki boyutlu görüntü vermesi göz önüne alındığında brakial pleksus blok uygulamalarında işlem sırasında iğne yönlendirme sayısı ne kadar az olursa çevre dokulara daha az zarar verilecektir dahası muhtemel mekanik sinir hasarı olasılığı da azalacaktır

Anahtar kelimeler: İnfraklaviküler blok, Elektron mikroskopi, Nöronal hasar

Introduction

Applications of peripheral block are frequently used in anesthesia practice. Over time, the use of ultrasound has gained a stronger ground in regional anesthesia applications, in which various effects such as shortening the time to onset of the block [1], high rates of block success [2], and postoperative analgesia [3,4] have been reported. Furthermore, with the use of ultrasound during the procedure, there are advantages such as reducing the number of needle manipulations and shortening the duration of the procedure. There are limited data related to the occurrence and frequency of neurological complications. In peripheral block applications, the nerve to be blocked is located with the neurostimulation technique and ultrasound guidance with the aid of peripheral block needles. Peripheral block applications, both with the use of the neurostimulation technique and the use of ultrasound under current conditions, are performed more safely and with lower complication rates. However, as ultrasound provides a 2-dimensional image of the vascular, neural, and muscular structures together, complications such as vascular access, direct nerve damage with the needle and intraneural injection may be seen [5]. It has been reported that fewer needle manipulations during peripheral block under ultrasound guidance will reduce the risk of mechanical nerve damage [6,7].

The use of electron microscopy has been helpful for better understanding of the ultrastructure and associated details related to peripheral nerves. Findings obtained with electron microscopy can be of guidance in physiological, pharmacological, and mechanical complications related to regional and peripheral blocks [8].

In the current study, two techniques used in infraclavicular brachial plexus block were compared. The aim was to evaluate which technique caused less tissue damage through post-procedural examination of the peripheral block needles used during the procedures under an electron microscope.

Materials and methods

This study included 30 patients aged between 18-70 years who were to undergo elective forearm or hand surgery with infraclavicular brachial plexus block. Patients were excluded from the study if they did not wish to participate, if they were pregnant, had neuromuscular disease, a history of infraclavicular region surgery, nerve damage or neurological disease, bleeding disorder or coagulopathy, a history of allergy to local anesthetic drugs, an infection in the needle entry site or any contra-indications to regional anesthesia.

Block administration protocol

Patients were admitted to the preoperative block room, intravenous vascular access was obtained from the back of the hand, through which an infusion of 0.9% NaCl was started at the rate of 3ml/kg/hour. Throughout the procedure, nasal O_2 (2L/min) was administered and patients were monitored with electrocardiography, pulse oximetry, and non-invasive blood pressure measurements. All blocks were performed by a single anesthetist (BB), using a 21-gauge 100 mm peripheral block needle (Stimuplex® A, B. Braun Melsungen AG, Germany). During administration of the peripheral block, an ultrasound device (Esaote MyLab Five, Italy) with a 10MHz linear probe was used. The ultrasound probe was placed parasagittally immediately medial to the coracoid process using the previously described coracoid technique [9]. After visualization of the subclavian artery and the surrounding brachial plexus cords, 25 ml of 0.5% bupivacaine was administered to the subclavian artery at 6 and 9 o'clock levels in Group 1 and 2, 6 and 9 o'clock levels in Group 2. The duration of the block procedure, time to onset, and complications such as vascular punction during the procedure and paresthesia were noted. After completion of the peripheral block application, the peripheral block needle used was numbered and prepared for electron microscopic examination.

Electron microscopic examination of the block needles

The needles used in the peripheral block application were fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde for 24 hours, washed in phosphate buffer (pH: 7.4), then dehydrated in increasing concentrations of acetone. They were then post-fixed in 1% osmium tetroxide for one hour, washed in phosphate buffer (pH: 7.4), and dehydrated again in increasing concentrations of acetone. The samples were then attached to metal stubs with double-sided adhesive bands. Using a BIO-RAD (England) sputter apparatus, the samples to be examined were coated with gold at a thickness of 100 Angstrom. The prepared materials were examined with a Fesem Zeiss Gemini 500 (Germany) scanning electron microscope. Photographs were taken at x60, x1000, and x5000 magnification, numbered and examined by another researcher (ÖFB). Evaluations were made with respect to the deformation of the needle surface on the images at x60 and x1000 magnification. The amount of soft tissue remaining on the tip of the needle was evaluated under x5000 magnification and classified using a 5-point Likert scale (1: none, 2: minimal, 3: moderate, 4: mostly, 5: completely).

Statistical analysis

Data obtained in the study were analyzed statistically using IBM SPSS v. 22 software (IBM SPSS for Windows, IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). Conformity of the data to normal distribution was assessed with the Shapiro-Wilk test. Group comparisons of variables showing normal distribution were made using the Independent Samples t-test. Statistical parameters were stated as mean and standard deviation mean (SD) values. For comparisons of variables not showing normal distribution, the Mann Whitney U-test was applied. Statistical parameters were stated as median (25%-75% quartiles) values. The relationships between group distributions of categorical variables were examined with the Chi-square test and the Fisher Exact test. A value of P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Scanning electron microscopic evaluation made of the needles used in 2 different techniques of infraclavicular brachial plexus block showed that the amount of tissue residue remaining on the needle in Group 1 was significantly less than that in group 2 (P<0.001). Duration of procedure was shorter in Group 1 (P=0.025). The onset time of the block was less in group 2 (P=0.001) (Table 1). No deformation or breakage of the needle

surface were determined on the images at x60 and x1000 magnification in either one of the groups (Figure 1). Findings of tissue residue were observed on all the needles on images magnified at x5000 (Figure 2). Paresthesia was observed during the procedure in 2 patients in Group 2.

Table 1: Patient and block characteristics, t	tissue residue or	the needles
---	-------------------	-------------

		Group 1	Group 2	P-value
Procedure time b min	Median(Q1-Q3)	4.00(3.00-4.00)	4.00(4.00-5.00)	0.025*
Block onset time b min	Median(Q1-Q3)	14.00(13.00-14.00)	12.00(12.00-12.00)	0.001*
Gender ^c Female	n(%)	7(46.7)	5(33.3)	0.456
Male	n(%)	8(53.3)	10(66.7)	
Tissue residue b	Median(Q1-Q3)	2.00(2.00-3.00)	4.00(4.00-4.00)	< 0.001*

^a Independent samples t test, ^b Mann-Whitney U test, ^c Chi-Square test, ^d Fisher exact test, * Difference between the groups is statistically significant; Median(Q1-Q3): Median (25% quartile-75% quartile)



Figure 1: Images of a Group 1 needle at x60 and x1000 magnification. At x1000 magnification, mostly epithelial residue can be seen on the needle tip



Figure 2: Electron microscope image of needle tips at x5000 magnification

Discussion

In peripheral blocks administered under ultrasound guidance, one of the most significant complications is mechanical nerve damage related to the needles used. When it is considered that ultrasound provides a 2-dimensional image, the fewer the number of needle manipulations made during the procedure of brachial plexus block application, the less damage will be made to the surrounding tissues, thus reducing the possibility of mechanical nerve damage.

With ultrasound guidance it is usually difficult to differentiate neural structures from other soft tissues, and despite real-time ultrasonographic imaging in clinical practice, it may not be possible to prevent complications such as contact of the needle to the nerve and epineurium injury. In the literature related to peripheral blocks with ultrasound guidance, there are studies that have reported peripheral nerve damage, unintended intraneural injections, and the anatomic and histological properties of these nerves [10,11]. Hara et al. [12] reported the frequency of unintended intraneural injection as 16.3% in sciatic nerve block administered under ultrasound guidance in subgluteal approach. In a study of interscalene and supraclavicular brachial plexus blocks, Liu et al. [13] reported unintended intraneural injection at the rate of 17%. In both studies, the intraneural injections in these patients did not reportedly result in clinical neural injury during the postoperative period. The most likely reason for this was stated as the fact that intraneural injections were made within the neural connective tissue and there was no damage to the neural fascicles. In this study, electron microscope examination of the needles used in infraclavicular block showed that the tissue residue on the needle tips, as seen at x5000 magnification in both groups, was of connective tissue in character.

Previous studies have not shown any superiority between the methods of single, double or triple injections [14,15]. Bowens et al. [16] reported that the single injection technique used in the posterior cord in the infraclavicular block had high success rates. In accordance with these data in literature, by examining the block needles used in infraclavicular blocks achieved with double and triple injections, the effects formed in the neural structures or soft tissues during these procedures were evaluated. In the electron microscopic examination of the needle tips of Group 2 at x5000 magnification, where triple injections were made, a significantly greater amount of tissue residue was observed on the needle tips. When the course of the brachial plexus in the upper extremity and the surrounding soft tissue and the proximity to vascular structures are taken into consideration, it can be said that if the number of needle manipulations is reduced during block application, less damage will be incurred.

In a cadaver study of upper extremity blocks administered under ultrasound guidance, Sermeus et al. [17] found the incidence of intraneural injection higher in procedures performed with a direct approach with ultrasonographic guidance to the target nerve compared to those performed with a tangential approach. In the current study, the possibility of needle contact with the brachial plexus was increased in Group 2, where local anesthetic agents were administered at 2, 6 and 9 o'clock levels of the subclavian artery. Especially in maneuvers which consider the medial cord as the target, the risk of direct contact with the medial cord increases. Paresthesia was observed in 2 patients in Group 2 in this study.

Limitations

Limitations of this study include the lack of histological examination of tissue residues at the tip of the needle. Further randomized controlled studies may be planned in the future.

Conclusion

In peripheral blocks administered under ultrasound guidance, it is recommended to use additional techniques such as real-time peripheral nerve stimulator, injection pressure monitorization and hydro-localization to reduce the incidence of intraneural injection. Decreasing needle manipulations will prevent damaging of the surrounding connecting tissue and lessen the possibility of the needle causing mechanical damage in the peripheral nerves.

References

- Casati A, Danelli G, Baciarello M, et al. A prospective, randomized comparison between ultrasound and nerve stimulation guidance for multiple injection axillary brachial plexus block. Anesthesiology. 2007;106:992–6.
- Perlas A, Brull R, Chan VW, McCartney CJ, Nuica A, Abbas S. Ultrasound guidance improves the success of sciatic nerve block at the pooliteal fossa. Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine. 2008;33:259–65.
- Schate nerve block at the populear lossa. Regional Anestnesia and Pain Medicine. 2008;33:259–65.
 Oberndorfer U, Marhofer P, Bosenberg A, et al. Ultrasonographic guidance for sciatic and femoral nerve blocks
- in children. British Journal of Anaesthesia. 2007;98:797–801.
 Marhofer P, Sitzwohl C, Greher M, Kapral S. Ultrasound guidance for infraclavicular brachial plexus
- anaesthesia in children. Anaesthesia. 2004;59:642–6.
 5. Hadzic A, Sala-Blanch X, Xu D. Ultrasound guidance may reduce but not eliminate complications of peripheral nevre blocks. Anesthesiology. 2008;108:557–8.

- Neal JM, Bernards CM, Hadzic A, et al. Asra practice advisory on neurologic complications in regional anesthesia and pain medicine. Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine. 2008;33:404–15.
- Bernards CM, Hadzic A, Suresh S, Neal JM. Regional anesthesia in anesthetized or heavily sedated patients. Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine. 2008;33:449–60.
- Reina, Miguel Angel, et al. Electron microscopy and the expansion of regional anesthesia knowledge. Techniques in Regional Anesthesia and Pain Management. 2002;6(4):165-71.
- Taboada M, Rodriquez J, Amor M. Is ultrasound guidance superior to conventional nerve stimulation for coracoid infraclavicular brachial plexus block? Reg Anesth Pain Med. 2009;34:357–60.
 Liu SS, YaDeau JT, Shaw PM, Wilfred S, Shetty T, Gordon M. Incidence of unintentional intraneural injection
- Liu SS, YaDeau JT, Shaw PM, Wilfred S, Shetty T, Gordon M. Incidence of unintentional intraneural injection and postoperative neurological complications with ultrasound-guided interscalene and supraclavicular nerve blocks. Anaesthesia. 2011;66:168–74.
- blocks. Anaesthesia. 2011;66:168–74.
 11.Robards C, Hadzic A, Somasundaram L, et al. Intraneural injection with low-current stimulation during popliteal sciatic nerve block. Anesthesia and Analgesia. 2009;109: 673-7.
- populati sciarc nerve block. Anesinesia and Anargesia. 2009;105: 075-7.
 12. Hara K, Sakura S, Yokokawa N, Tadenuma S. Incidence and effects of unintentional intraneural injection
- during ultrasound guided subgluteal sciatic nerve block. Reg Anesth Pain Med. 2012;37:289-93.
 13. Desgagnes MC, Levesque S, Dion N, et al. A comparison of a single or triple injection technique for ultrasound-guided infraclavicular block: a prospective randomized controlled study. Anesth Analg.
- 2009;109:668-72.
 14. Tran de QH, Bertini P, Zaouter C, Munoz L, Finlayson RJ. A prospective, randomized comparison between single and double injection ultrasound-guided infraclavicular brachial plexus block. Reg Anesth Pain Med. 2010;35:16-21.
- Fredrickson MJ, Wolstencroft P, Kejriwal R, Yoon A, Boland MR, Chinchanwala S. Single versus triple injection ultrasound-guided infraclavicular block: confirmation of the effectiveness of the single injection technique. Anesth Analg. 2010 Nov;111(5):1325-7.
- 16. Bowens C Jr, Gupta RK. et al. Selective local anesthetic placement using ultrasound guidance and neurostimulation for infraclavicular brachial plexus block. Anesth Analg 2010;110:1480–5
- Sermeus LA, Sala-Blanch X, McDonnell JG, Lobo CA, Nicholls BJ, van Geffen GJ, et al. Ultrasound-guided approach to nerves (direct vs. tangential) and the incidence of intraneural injection: a cadaveric study. Anaesthesia. 2017 Apr;72(4):461-9.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Journal of Surgery and Medicine e-ISSN: 2602-2079

Hydatidiform mole in Duhok, Iraq: Frequency, types and histopathological diagnostic features

Irak, Duhok'ta hidatidiform mol: Sıklığı, tipleri ve histopatolojik tanısal özellikler

Rana Mumtaz Matlob¹, Mayada Ilias Yalda¹, Zihel Hassan Hussein¹, Tamara Qais Faraj²

 ¹ Department of Medicine, University of Duhok, Duhok, Iraq
 ² Department of Pharmacy, University of Duhok, Duhok, Iraq

> ORCID ID of the author(s) RMM: 0000-0002-0933-8724 MIY: 0000-0003-2778-9147 ZHH: 0000-0001-8791-4160 TQF: 0000-0002-2831-0778

Corresponding author / Sorumlu yazar: Rana Momtaz Matlob Address / Adres: Department of Medicine, University of Duhok, Duhok, Iraq e-Mail: rana.matlob@uod.ac

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical approval was obtained from the local Ethics Committee. Etik Kurul Onayı: Etik onay, yerel Etik Kuruldan alınmıştır.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/7/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 07.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s)

Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



Abstract

Aim: There is a worldwide variation in the distribution of molar pregnancy with respect to its type. Difficulties in obtaining accurate data about miscarriage make the precise incidence uncertain. The aim of this study was to estimate the frequency of Hydatidiform mole among the miscarriages and deliveries in Duhok province, estimate their main types, partial or complete, and correlate them with histopathological diagnostic features.

Methods: This cross-sectional study was conducted between June 1, 2016 and September 1, 2019 and included Hydatidiform mole cases from the main histopathological centers in Duhok and Zakho. All childbirths and miscarriages were evaluated within the same areas and during the same period. Samples were examined histologically and divided into three groups as partial, complete, and indeterminate molar types, after which their correlation with the main histopathological features were examined. Additional efforts were made to identify the indeterminate cases, like the use of P57 marker.

Results: The frequency of Hydatidiform mole was less than 1%. Complete type represented 43% of the cases with a relatively high percentage of indeterminate molar pregnancies (26%). The highest percentage of women belonged to the 20-30 years-old group. The most common histological feature was circumferential trophoblastic proliferation.

Conclusion: The frequency of Hydatidiform mole in Duhok was within the world range, with a relatively high percentage of indeterminate types. More efforts should be made to establish an accurate diagnosis depending on histopathological features and additional markers like P57 should be used.

Keywords: Hydatidiform mole, Frequency, Types, Histopathology

Öz

Amaç: Molar gebeliğin türüne göre dağılımında dünya çapında bir farklılık vardır. Düşükle ilgili doğru veri elde etmedeki zorluklar, kesin insidansı belirsiz kılar. Bu çalışmanın amacı, Duhok eyaletindeki düşükler ve doğumlar arasındaki Hidatidiform mol sıklığını tahmin etmek, ana tiplerini, kısmi, tam veya belirsiz olarak sınıflamak ve histopatolojik tanı özellikleri ile ilişkilendirmekti.

Yöntemler: Bu kesitsel çalışma, 1 Haziran 2016 ile 1 Eylül 2019 tarihleri arasında Duhok ve Zakho'daki ana histopatolojik merkezlerden Hydatidiform mol vakalarında yapıldı. Tüm doğumlar ve düşükler aynı bölgelerde ve aynı dönemde değerlendirildi. Örnekler histolojik olarak incelendi ve kısmi, tam ve belirsiz molar tipler olarak üç gruba ayrıldı, daha sonra ana histopatolojik özelliklerle korelasyonları incelendi. Belirsiz vakaları tanımlamak için, P57 markörünün kullanımı gibi ek tetkikler uygulandı.

Bulgular: Hidatidiform mol sıklığı % 1'den azdı. Tam tip, nispeten yüksek oranda belirsiz molar gebeliklere (% 26) sahip olguların % 43'ünü temsil etmekteydi. Kadınların çoğunlukla 20-30 yaş grubundaydı. En sık görülen histolojik özellik çevresel trofoblastik proliferasyon idi.

Sonuç: Duhok'taki Hydatidiform mol sıklığı, belirsiz türlerin nispeten yüksek bir yüzdede görülmesiyle, dünya aralığındadır. Histopatolojik özelliklere bağlı olarak doğru tanı koymak için daha fazla çaba gösterilmeli ve P57 gibi ek belirteçler kullanılmalıdır. Anahtar kelimeler: Hydatidiform mole, Frekans, Tipleri, Histopatoloji

J Surg Med. 2020;4(1):9-11.

Introduction

There are broad variations in the distribution of Hydatidiform mole (HM) pregnancy worldwide, with higher incidences in certain parts of Asia, Africa and other developing countries. However, the methodological problems in obtaining curettage samples from all patients with miscarriage make the accuracy of the incidence and rates unclear [1]. In developed countries, the incidence of complete Hydatidiform mole (CM) is around 1–3/1000 pregnancies and those of partial Hydatidiform mole (PM) is approximately 3/1000 pregnancies [2]. The primary estimated frequency in developing countries 10 times less than some Asian or African countries [3,4].

The CM type is associated more with invasive subsequent complication compared to PM, which is probably correlated with the male origin of the DNA [5,6]. The complete type carries about 15% increased risk of developing malignancy, while the same risk for the partial type is considerably lower [7]. Management, including the use of chemoprophylaxis treatment after evacuation and follow-up, differ according to the subtype of molar pregnancy [8]. Therefore, distinguishing between these two types is significant to prevent the unnecessary use of chemotherapy or malignant changes.

This study aimed to estimate a primary frequency of HM among the miscarriage cases and labors in Duhok province and the surrounding districts including Zakho, detect the percentages of the subtypes and correlate them with age and important histopathological features.

Materials and methods

Ethical approval was obtained from the official Ethics Committee for Research in Duhok and scientific approval was obtained from the Scientific Committee for Research in College of Medicine/ University of Duhok.

HM cases from different histopathological centers in Duhok and the surrounding districts including Zakho were collected between June 01, 2016 and September 01, 2019 for retrospective evaluation. All diagnosed HM cases were included without any exclusion criteria. All recorded miscarriages and the number of childbirths were counted within the same areas during the same period, including alive and still births, based on the official center of health protection in Duhok to estimate the frequency of HM.

Samples were divided according to histological examination into partial, complete, and unclassified types, which were considered as indeterminate HM. The histopathological features present in the report and used for diagnosis included cistern formation, trophoblastic and circumferential proliferation, and presence of gross, grapelike vesicles. All these correlated with various subtypes of HM. Additional efforts were made to identify indeterminate cases, such as the use of P57 as a marker.

Statistical analysis

All obtained data were analyzed using the IBM SPSS software (Version 22). Descriptive data were presented as numbers and percentages. Cross table tests were performed with P-value at <0.05 indicating a significant difference.

Results

The total number of the HM diagnosed and confirmed by histopathology centers, collected from June 1,2016 until September 1, 2019 was 140. The number of miscarriages was 610, while there were 146,015 births recorded during the same period (Officially obtained from the Preventive Affairs Directorate in Duhok which included Duhok province and the surrounding villages and districts, including Zakho, and the refugee camps). Based on these numbers, the frequency of HM would approximately be 0.095%, which is less than 1%.

There were 43 partial HM and 61 CM cases, in addition to the 36 indeterminate HM cases. Figure 1 presents the percentages of these 3 diagnoses.



Figure 1: The frequencies and percentages of the diagnosed types of hydatidiform mole

The mean age of all patients at time of diagnosis was 27.6 years. The mean age of PM at diagnosis was 25.1 years, while that of CM was 28.1 years. The highest percentages of HM, PM, and CM (53.6%, 62.8% and 50.8% respectively) were seen in the age group between 20 and 30 years, as seen in Table 1.

Table 1: The types of Hydatidiform	mole in relation to the age of the patient
------------------------------------	--

	21					0	1	
Age	Parti	al	Com	plete	Indeter	rminate	Total	
	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
>20	7	16.3	13	21.3	4	11.1	24	17.1
20-30	27	62.8	31	50.8	17	47.2	75	53.6
30-40	7	16.3	7	11.5	9	25	23	16.4
40-50	2	4.6	10	16.4	6	16.7	18	12.9
Total	43	100	61	100	3 6	100	140	100

The major features used in the histological reports for the diagnosis of HM and differentiation between PM and CM are listed in Table 2. Except for circumferential trophoblastic proliferation and gross vesicle formation, all other features were seen in relatively high percentages in all types of HM and no statistically significant difference was detected among distinct types. Vesicles were seen grossly in 46.5% and 68.9% of PM and CM cases respectively, while circumferential trophoblastic proliferation were encountered histologically in 2.3% and 55.7% of PM and CM cases, respectively. These values were statistically significant. Out of 140 cases, P57 was used only in 3 cases (2.1%) to confirm the type of HM.

Table 2: The main gross and histological features used for the diagnosis and the differentiation of Hydatidiform mole types

Gross and	Partia	al	Co	mplete	P-value ¹	Indet	erminate
histological	n	%*	n	%**		n	% ***
features							
Gross Vesicles	20	46.5	42	68.9	0.01	20	55.6%
					Significant		
Cistern	41	95.3	54	88.5	0.20	20	55.6%
formation					Not significant		
Trophoblastic	43	100	56	91.8	0.10	36	100%
proliferation					Not significant		
Circumferential	1	2.3	34	55.7	0.05	14	38.9%
trophoblastic					Significant		
proliferation							

*Frequency of encounter among partial Hydatidiform moles (43), ** Frequency of encounter among complete Hydatidiform moles (61), *** Frequency of encounter among indeterminate moles (36), ¹*P*-value: between partial and omplete types

Discussion

This study examined the diagnosis and registration of HM cases in Duhok province including Zakho, and the refugee camps, to establish a primary frequency of HM, its types, and the accuracy of diagnosis. The strength of this study lied in the collaboration from different official registration centers.

The main limitation to this study was the probable shortage of obtaining data from all miscarriages. Although there are strict orders from the directory of health to send the products of conception of all miscarriages to histopathology laboratories, the private clinics do not usually comply. However, the same problem is encountered throughout many areas all over the world [1-4,9-12]. The incidence of HM in this study was approximately 0.095%, which is less than 1%. Some authors reported a wide range of incidence of HM, from 23 to 1299 cases per 100,000 pregnancies [13], while others found a significantly lower incidence in Europe and the United States than that from Asia, Africa and South America [2,3-14].

Joneborg et al. [9] stated the following: [We found evidence of a significant temporal increase in the incidence rate of HM, which could not fully be explained by an increase in maternal age over time. Changes in diagnostic methods probably contributed to the increased incidence rate of PM]. Even if the causes of varying incidences have not been clear, there were different explanations. Brown et al. [10] suggested that dietary and nutritional causes may affect the etiology. It is hard to compare the incidences of molar pregnancy from different types of studies, which is why several studies proposed diverse reasons: the inadequate description of the population at risk, the differences in the definition of the disease, the frequent changes in the diagnostic tools over time and the variation in the methodological designs [9-12].

CM was the commonest type in this study (43%) followed by PM (31%). HM was mostly seen in the age group of 20-30 years, with a mean age of 27.6 years. The fact that HM is more common at the extremes of reproductive age and that women under 20 or over 40 years of age have a higher risk [15] may change. Recently, and in agreement with our result, a Swedish study conducted in Stockholm found a significant increase in the age of HM diagnosis [9]. Similarly, another study determined the median maternal age of molar pregnancy as about 27 years and nearly 91% of cases occurred in females aged 18 to 40 years [16].

In the current study more than quarter of the cases (26%) were diagnosed as HM without determining the type. The diagnosis and sub-classification of HM is becoming more difficult due to the early pregnancy ultrasound examinations, which leads to the early evacuation of HM before the development of trophoblast proliferation [17]. Several authors have concluded that the diagnosis of HM depending on morphological features alone is defective and personally variable [18,19].

The histological features of circumferential trophoblastic proliferation and gross vesicle formation were seen more in CM, as well as in other types. No other features were significantly different among subtypes. Despite the relatively high percentage of indeterminate HM, p57 test was performed to only 3 out of 140 HM cases (2.1%).

The risk of gestational trophoblastic neoplasms, including choriocarcinoma, is much higher after the CM (reaching to 30 %) than PM (about 0.5-5 %), which renders accurate diagnosis important [18-20].

Limitations

People who live in Duhok belong to different castes. Plenty refugees from other parts of Iraq and Syria who escaped adjacent war-torn areas live in Duhok as well, but samples were collected from different Histopathology centers in Duhok and Zakho centers only. Refugees in different camps with complaints of bleeding were referred to specialized private Obstetrics and Gynecology Centers to undergo curettage. Unfortunately, there is no specialized hospital inside the camps for refugees. In this study, we were unable to address patients directly. Most cases weren't included in this study due to the need of obtaining a special and formal permit to research or enter refugee camps, which is difficult.

Conclusions

The correct diagnosis may strongly require additional immunohistochemical techniques to perform the p57 marker [20] test or molecular analysis including flow-cytometry, hybridization, or polymerase chain reaction (PCR) [17]. For all these reasons, it is highly recommended to use more of these above-mentioned techniques, especially the PCR, to establish diagnosis in problematic cases.

References

- Igwegbe AO, Eleje GU. Hydatidiform mole: a review of management outcomes in a tertiary hospital in southeast Nigeria. Ann Med Health Sci Res. 2013;3(2):210-4.
- 2. Seckl MJ, Sebire NJ, Berkowitz RS. Gestational trophoblastic disease. Lancet. 2010;376:717-29.
- Boufettal H, Coullin P, Mahdaoui S, Noun M, Hermas S, Samouh N. Complete hydatiforme mole in Morocco: epidemiological and clinical study. J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod (Paris). 2011;40:419-29.
- Steigrad SJ. Epidemiology of gestational trophoblastic diseases. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2003;17:837-47.
 Savage P, Lumsden A, Dickson S, Iyer R, Everard J, Coleman R, et al. The relationship of maternal age to
- molar pregnancy incidence, risks for chemotherapy and subsequent pregnancy outcome. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2013;33:406-11.
- 6. Hui P, Buza N, Murphy K, Ronnett B. Hydatidiform Moles: Genetic Basis and Precision Diagnosis. Annu Rev Pathol. 2017;12:2449-85.
- Kani K, Lee J, Dighe M, Moshiri M, Kolokythas O, Dubinsky T. Gestatational trophoblastic disease: multimodality imaging assessment with special emphasis on spectrum of abnormalities and value of imaging in staging and management of disease. Curr Probl Diagn Radiol. 2012;41:1-10.
- Deng L, Yan X, Zhang J, Wu T. Combination chemotherapy for high-risk gestational trophoblastic tumour. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009;2:51-96.
- Joneborg U, Folkvaljon Y, Papadogiannakis N, Lambe M, Marions L. Temporal trends in incidence and outcome of hydatidiform mole: a retrospective cohort study. Acta Oncol. 2018;57(8):1094-9.
- Brown J, Naumann R, Seckl M, Schink J. 15 years of progress in gestational trophoblastic disease: scoring, standardization, and salvage. Gynecol Oncol. 2017;144(1):200–7.
- 11.Eysbouts Y, Bulten J, Ottevanger P. Trends in incidence for gestacol Oncol. 2016;140(1):70–5. 12.Matsui H, Kihara M, Yamazawa K, Mitsuhashi A, Seki K, Sekiya S. Recent changes of the incidence of
- Matsu H, Khiata M, Tahazawa K, Misuhashi A, Sex K, Sexiya S. Recen charges of the include of complete and partial mole in Chiba prefecture. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 2007;63(1):7-10.
 Altieri A, Franceschi S, Ferlay J, Smith J, Vecchia L. Epidemiology and aetiology of gestational trophoblastic
- diseases. The Lancet. Oncology. 2003;4(11):670-8. 14. Soares P, Maestá I, Costa O, Charry R, Dias A, Rudge M. Geographical distribution and demographic
- characteristics of gestational trophoblastic disease. JRM. 2010;55(7–8):305–10.
 15.Salerno A. The incidence of gestational trophoblastic disease in Italy: a multicenter survey. J Reprod Med. 2012; 57:204–6.
- 16. Sebire N, Foskett M, Fisher R, Rees H, Seckl M, Newlands E. Risk of partial and complete hydatidiform molar pregnancy in relation to maternal age. An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2002;109(1):99-102
- Landolsi H, Missaoui N, Brahem S, Hmissa S, Gribaa M. Pathology research and practice the usefulness of p57 KIP2 immunohistochemical staining and genotyping test in the diagnosis of the hydatidiform mole. Pathol Res Pract. 2011;207:498–504.
- 18. Popiolek D, Yee H, Mittal K, Chiriboga L, Prinz M, Caragine T, et al. Multiplex short tandem repeat DNA analysis confirms the accuracy of p57 KIP2 immunostaining in the diagnosis of complete hydatidiform mole. Hum Pathol. 2006;37:1426–34.
- Fukunaga M, Katabuchi H, Nagasaka T, Mikami Y, Minamiguchi S, Lage J. Interobserver and intraobserver variability in the diagnosis of hydatidiform mole. Am J Surg Pathol. 2005;29(7):942-47.
- Banet N, DeScipio C, Murphy K, Beierl K, Adams E, Vang R, Ronnett B. Characteristics of hydatidiform moles: analysis of a prospective series with p57 immunohistochemistry and molecular genotyping. Mod Pathol. 2014;27(2):238-54.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Journal of Surgery and Medicine --ISSN: 2602-2079

Prevalence of human pseudocholinesterase (butyrylcholinesterase) deficiency in central Anatolian people: A cross-sectional study

Orta Anadolu toplumunda human psödokolinesteraz (butirilkolinesteraz) eksikliğinin yaygınlığı

Muzaffer Gencer¹, Ayşe Yeşim Göçmen²

o la

¹ Department of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Istinye University, Medical Faculty, Istanbul, Turkey	Abstract
² Department of Biochemistry, Bozok University, Medical Faculty, Yozgat, Turkey	Aim: Human pseudocholinesterase (PChE) is an enzyme responsible for hydrolysis of the muscle relaxant drugs like succinylcholine and mivacurium. PChE deficiency, which may lead to prolonged apnea, may occur due to hereditary or acquired causes. In our study, we aimed to investigate the prevalence of human pseudocholinesterase (PChE) enzyme deficiency around the central Anatolia region
ORCID ID of the author(s)	and present our results in light of the literature.
RMM: 0000-0002-0933-8724 MIY: 0000-0003-2778-9147 ZHH: 0000-0001-8791-4160 TQF: 0000-0002-2831-0778	Methods: This cross-sectional study included 936 patients (age 18-70 years) who underwent any elective surgery under general anesthesia between August 2015 and September 2019. Human PChE level, plasma PChE activity, the human PChE activity/albumin, serum liver and kidney function tests were analyzed from blood samples. Human PChE enzyme deficiency and possible association of the PChE deficiency with other values was also investigated. The normal value of PChE was considered to range from 4650 U/L to 10,440 U/L. Results: PChE activity was decreased in 19 (1.9%) of the 936 patients (442 males and 494 females). There was no statistically
	significant difference between the PChE levels in terms of gender (P =0.236). The mean human PChE activity of all patients was 7.490 (0.980). The PChE activity of 22 (2.35%) and 58 patients (6.4%) were below 5.000 U/ml and 6.000 U/, respectively. A statistically significant difference was found between serum urea, creatinine and human PChE levels (P =0.034, P =0.236, respectively). However, PChE deficiency had no correlation with liver function tests such as AST and ALT (P =0.432, P =0.022, respectively). Conclusion: PChE deficiency can be observed in preoperatively evaluated patients and may cause serious life-threatening conditions, including respiratory failure and prolonged apnea.
	Keywords: Human butyrylcholinesterase, Central Anatolian people, Pseudocholinesterase deficiency, Succinylcholine
	Öz
Corresponding author / Sorumlu yazar: Muzaffer Gencer Address / Adres: İstinye Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi, Anestezi Anabilim Dalı, Aşık Veysel Mh, S. Demirel Cd. No: 1, 34517, Esenyurt, İstanbul, Türkiye e-Mail: dr.m.gencer07@gmail.com Ethics Committee Approval: This study was approved by the Ethics committee of the Bozok University Medical Faculty (date: 08/ 06/ 2015, number: 27/09). Etik Kurul Onayı: Çalışma Bozok Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi etik kurulu tarafından onaylandı (tarih: 08/06/2015, sayı: 27/09).	Amaç: Human psödokolinesteraz (PChE), süksinilkolin ve mivakuryum gibi kas gevşeticilerin yıkımından sorumlu bir enzimdir. PChE eksikliği genetik kökenle veya edinilmiş sebeplerle ortaya çıkabilir ve bu durum uzamış apneye yol açabilir. Biz çalışmamızda, orta Anadolu bölgesinde Human psödokolinesteraz (PChE) enzim eksikliğinin sıklığını araştırmayı ve literatür ışığında sunmayı amaçladık. Yöntemler: Bu enine-kesitsel çalışmada, Ağustos 2015 ve Eylül 2019 arasında genel anestezi altında herhangi bir elektif cerrahi geçiren 18-70 yaş arasındaki toplam 936 hasta çalışmaya dahil edildi. Hastaların kan örneğinde human PChE düzeyi, plazma PChE aktivitesi, human PChE aktivitesi / serum albümin düzeyi, serum karaciğer ve böbrek fonksiyon testleri analiz edildi. Human PChE enzim eksikliği ve serumda ölçülen diğer değerler ile muhtemel ilişkisi de ayrıca araştırıldı. PChE normal değeri 4650 U/L-10440 U/L olarak kabul edildi. Bulgular: PChE enzim aktivitesi, toplam 936 hastanın (442 erkek, 494 bayan) 19'unda (%1,9) normalin altındaydı. Cinsiyet açısından PChE düzeyleri arasında anlamlı fark yoktu (<i>P</i> =0,236). Hastaların 22'sinde (%2,35) PChE aktivitesi 5,000 U/ml' in altındaydı. 58 (%6,4) hastada ise PChE aktivitesi 6,000 U/L' in altında ölçüldü. Human PChE seviyesi ile serum üre ve kreatinin arasında istatistiki olarak önemli fark saptandı (sırasıyla, <i>P</i> =0,034, <i>P</i> =0,236). Ancak PChE enzim eksikliğinin AST ve ALT gibi karaciğer fonksiyon testleri ile ilişkisi saptanmadı (sırasıyla, <i>P</i> =0,432, <i>P</i> =0,022). Sonuç: Psödokolinesteraz enzim eksikliği preoperatif hastalarda gözlenebilir ve uzamış apne ve solunum desteği dahil yaşamı tehdit eden ciddi sonuçlara sebep olabilir. Anahtar kelimeler: Human bütirilkolinesteraz, Orta Anadolu toplumu, Psödokolinesteraz eksikliği, Süksinilkolin
Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir. Published: 1/15/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 15.01.2020	
Copyright © 2020 The Author(s) Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 40) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.	

Introduction

Human pseudocholinesterase (PChE), also known as butyrylcholinesterase (BChE) or plasma cholinesterase is a drug metabolizing enzyme responsible for hydrolysis of the muscle relaxant drugs like succinylcholine and mivacurium [1,2]. PChE deficiency is rare condition which may occur due to hereditary or acquired causes and is typically diagnosed only after exposure to succinylcholine or mivacurium. Although many physiopathological conditions may affect BChE synthesis or activity, the main cause of BChE deficiency is hereditary. Succinylcholine is short-time anesthetic agent used for rapid intubation, which normally provides motor block lasting for 10-12 minutes when used in standard doses (1 mg/kg, IV). PChE deficiency leads to prolonged motor block associated with succinylcholine and mivacurium. The major presenting symptom is prolonged skeletal muscle paralysis including the diaphragm and intercostal muscles, which are required for spontaneous breathing [3]. Deficiency due to any cause can lead to prolonged apnea and paralysis following administration of succinylcholine and mivacurium [4]. Patients with PChE deficiency will often be admitted to the intensive care unit and need continuous ventilator support postoperatively until muscle strength is restored [5]. Human PChE is a glycoprotein enzyme that is synthesized by the liver and immediately released into the plasma [6]. The plasma half-life has been estimated as approximately 12 minutes. Initial dose of succinylcholine is rapidly hydrolyzed by PChE within 10 to 13 minutes during which 90 % of the muscle strength is restored. Deficient PChE activity is usually considered to be caused by several allelic mutations in butyrylcholinesterase (BChE) gene, which provides instructions on how to make the enzyme pseudocholinesterase [7]. This study was designed to evaluate the PChE deficiency in middle Anatolian people for the first time. In addition, changing PChE levels were investigated with regards to liver and kidney function tests. In this study, we aimed to make anesthesiologists, specially trained nursing staff, and physicians of the intensive care unit aware of PChE deficiency and the significance of anesthetic management.

Materials and methods

This cross-sectional study was conducted between August 12, 2015, and September 20, 2019, and approved by the Ethics committee of the Bozok University Medical Faculty (date: 08/06/2015, number: 27/09). Preoperatively assessed 936 patients (442 men and 494 women) with a mean age of 44.85 years (18-70 years) were enrolled in the study group. The study was performed in the Central Anatolia Region of Turkey.

The participants were fully informed about the aim and scope of the study and the tests to be performed. Informed consent forms were obtained from all participants. Patients aged 18-70 years scheduled for any elective surgery under general anesthesia were included. Patients who use acetylcholinesterase inhibitors, anticholinesterases, cytotoxic agents, metoclopramide, steroids, ester-type local anesthetics, hexafluronium, pancuronium, oral contraceptives, or antidepressants, those with liver or renal diseases, malnutrition, malignancy, extensive burn injuries. pregnant patients and those who underwent cardiopulmonary bypass were excluded. After physical examination, venous blood samples were collected for total blood count and biochemical tests (AST, ALT, albumin, BUN, urea and creatinine clearance). Fasting blood samples were drawn from all subjects between 7:00 AM and 8:00 AM, and immediately sent to the hospital laboratory for evaluation. A specimen of clotted blood was centrifuged at 3.000 g for 10 minutes for serum assessment, which was stored at -70° C until analysis.

Laboratory analysis for PChE activity was conducted by obtaining the plasma sample and performing a qualitive test of PChE activity. Moreover, quantitative testing via colorimetry was performed to determine the actual amount of PChE present in the sample.

Statistical analysis

Data analysis was performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 16.0 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA). Data was reported as mean (standard deviation) or percentages (number of patients) as appropriate unless otherwise specified. The Kolmogorov–Smirnov goodnessof-fit test was used to evaluate normality of the data. Correlation coefficients were derived by using Pearson's correlation test.

In the power analysis based on the data of previous studies and the population of region, a sample size of 866 patients were needed with 90% power (1- β err prob=0.90) and 5% error margin (α err prob=0.05). 936 patients were enrolled in the study after taking possible loss of data into consideration.

Results

Nine hundred thirty-six preoperative subjects (442 males and 494 females) were recruited, with a mean age of 44.85 years (18-70 years). Demographic characteristics of the patients are presented in Table 1.

Among all patients, the PChE values of 19 individuals (1.9 %) were below normal (range: 4650 U/L to 10,440 U/L). No significant difference was found between PChE levels in terms of gender (P=0.236) (Table 2).

Table 1: Demographic	data of the patients

		Gender					
	Male	Male (n=442)		ale (n=494)	Total (n=936)		
Age (years) ≤15	n	%	n	%	n	%	
≤15	64	14.4	56	11.3	120	12.8	
16-40	213	48.3	246	49.8	459	49.1	
41-64	119	26.9	154	31.2	273	29.2	
≥65	46	10.4	38	7.7	84	8.9	

Table 2: Comparison of Pseudocholinesterase (PChE) values in terms of gender

		PChE (
	Norm	nal	Low	,	P-value
Sex	n	%	n	%	
Male (n=442)	431	97.5	11	2.5	0.236
Female (n=494)	486	98.4	8	1.6	0.230

The mean human PChE activity of all patients was 7.490 (0.980). The PChE activity of 22 (2.35%) and 58 patients (6.4%) were below 5.000 U/ml and 6.000 U/, respectively. PChE activity measurements are presented in Table 3. Table 3: Pseudocholinesterase activity measurements

	PChE activity (U/ml)					
Value (U/ml)	<4.8	4.8-6	6-7	7-8	8-9	>9
Number	18	62	176	352	294	34
%	1.9	6.6	18.8	37.6	31.4	3.63

PChE: Pseudocholinesterase

The mean value for human PChE activity/albumin ratio of all patients was 1.657. The PChE activity/albumin ratio was measured under 1.200 in 12 (1,28%) patients and under 1,300 in 28 (2,99%) patients (Table 4).

Human PChE activity was found to significantly and positively correlate with plasma PChE levels, albumin, PChE activity/albumin ratio, urea and creatinine levels. Similarly, the human plasma PChE levels correlated with PChE activity, albumin, and creatinine. A statistically significant difference was found between serum urea, creatinine and human PChE levels (P=0.034, P=0.236, respectively). Serum creatinine, albumin, PChE activity, urea, alanine aminotransferase (ALT), aspartate transaminase (AST), and PChE measurements are presented in Table 5.

Table 4: The human Pseudocholinesterase (PChE) activity / albumin values

			PChE activ	ity / albumin		
Range	<120	120-130	130-140	140-180	180-200	>200
Number	12	28	58	622	160	56
%	1.28	2.99	6.19	66.45	17.09	5.98
PChE: Pseudo	cholinester	ase				
Table 5: Eva	luation of	f blood creatii	nine, albumin,	PChE activit	y, urea, ALT	AST, PChE

Table 5: Evaluation	of blood	creatinine,	albumin,	PChE a	activity,	urea, Al	LT, AST, PC	hE
						n		

	Minimum	Maximum	Mean (SD)	<i>P</i> -value			
Creatinine (mg/dl)							
Male (n=442)	0.43	5.23	0.79 (0.33)	0.236			
Female (n=494)	0.38	4.92	0.72 (0.38)				
Albumin (g/dl)							
Male (n=442)	3.01	6.39	4.55 (0.55)	0.654			
Female (n=494)	3.34	7.12	5.15 (0.68)				
PChE activity (U/L)							
Male (n=442)	4.42	9.59	7.49 (0.98)	0.124			
Female (n=494)	4.16	8.64	6.86 (0.77)				
Urea (mg/dl)							
Male (n=426)	5	92	14.12 (7.29)	0.034			
Female (n=452)	6	98	17.42 (8.42)				
ALT							
Male (n=430)	6	331	21.93 (21.6)	0.022			
Female (n=474)	8	298	17.83 (18.5)				
AST							
Male (n=432)	7	395	23.71 (22.97)	0.432			
Female (n=488)	8	356	22.63 (20.81)				
PChE (ng/ml)							
Male (n=442)	9.51	75.57	25.68 (10.13)	0.452			
Female (n=494)	8.63	72.43	24.57 (9.18)				
PChE: Pseudocholinesterase, ALT: Alanine aminotransferase, AST: Aspartate aminotransferase							

Discussion

The normal value of plasma PChE value ranged from 4650 U/L to 10,440 U/L [8]. The main result of our study was that, of all 936 patients, 19 patients (1.9%) had decreased PChE values. In our country, a study on PChE deficiency was conducted by Yildirim et al. [9] in 2009, in which the incidence enzyme deficiency was reported as 3.77% in Sivas province.

We performed a qualitative test to determine PChE activity in the patients' plasma samples and used quantitative testing by colorimetry to detect the actual amount of PChE. The dibucaine inhibition test is one of the most used tests, and measures PChE inhibition by dibucaine. Dibucaine, an aminoamide local anesthetic, may be used to determine the activity of the atypical variants of the PChE. Although dibucaine will inhibit of the normal variant of the PChE by 80%, it will reduce the activity of the atypical variants of the PChE by 80%, it will reduce the activity of the atypical variants of the PChE to much smaller degrees (heterozygotes by 60%, homozygotes by 30%) [10].

PChE deficiency is usually genetic in origin, and arises from inherited, acquired, and iatrogenic causes [6]. In inherited PChE deficiency, succinylcholine and mivacurium cannot be hydrolyzed by atypical PChE. The majority of people (96%) are homozygous for the normal PChE genotype and the remaining individuals (4%) carry 1 or much more of the atypical gene alleles [11]. A small minority of the people (0.2%, 1 per 480) carry both enzymes (heterozygous), and these patients hydrolyze succinylcholine in a longer time. The ratio of carrying homozygous and heterozygous alleles for abnormal PChE is 1 per 3200 and 1 per 500, respectively, and these patients cannot break down the succinylcholine and mivacurium [12]. Homozygotes may present with neuromuscular blockade for clinically significant longer durations, such as 3 hours after standard succinylcholine dosing [13]. Patients with atypical homozygous genotype do not only have reduced serum cholinesterase activities but also their elimination rate for some pharmacologically potent drugs decrease drastically [14].

JOSAM)

A recent study revealed that there is a close relationship between number of multiple mutations in the collagen Q (COLQ) gene. A large number of multiple mutations in the COLQ gene may cause an abnormal release of cholinesterase, resulting in decreased serum PChE content associated with PChE deficiency [15].

Butyrylcholinesterase gene (BChE) is located at chromosome 3 (3q26.1-26.2) and has newly discovered significant variants such as the atypical (A-variant), the Kalow (K-variant), the fluoride (F-variant) and the silent (S-variants) variants. Atypical (A-variant) and Kalow (K-variant) are the most common BChE gene variants in the white population. Especially the atypical variant is most frequently related to prolonged apnea. Recent studies have revealed that new variants of the BChE gene may cause PChE deficiency and lead to the prolonged effect of succinylcholine or mivacurium eventually [2]. Atypical BChE gene is two times more common in males than in females (1/2 ratio) [16]. The patient's ethnic origin plays a significant role in PChE deficiency. Ethnic populations with the highest prevalence for PChE deficiency are Caucasian males of European descent, native Alaskan ethnicities, and Persian Jewish community [17].

Drugs that inhibit the enzyme's activity include acetylcholinesterase inhibitors (neostigmine, pyridostigmine, physostigmine, and edrophonium), anticholinesterases (especially echothiophate), cytotoxic agents such as cyclophosphamide, steroids, ester-type local anesthetics, pancuronium, oral contraceptives and antidepressants (fluoxetine, sertraline) [18]. Acquired causes, including chronic infections, liver disease, renal disease, malnutrition, pregnancy, malignancy, hemodialysis, extensive burn injuries, and myocardial infarction or cardiopulmonary bypass, can reduce PChE levels [19,5]. In patients with PChE deficiency, the use of cocaine can lead to sudden cardiac death. In these patients, the non-depolarizing muscular blocker mivacurium should not be used during anesthesia induction, but other non-depolarizing muscular blockers such as rocuronium, vecuronium and atracurium may be used safely in this period [18]. When prolonged neuromuscular paralysis associated with the use of succinylcholine or mivacurium occurs, complete recovery is generally achieved following the spontaneous return of muscle function in patients with careful monitoring and mechanical respiratory ventilation support [20]. Patients should be sedated during mechanical ventilator support. Fresh frozen plasma may also be administered to these patients to facilitate the recovery of muscle function [21]. In BChE deficiency, the use of Recombinant BChE injection is an interesting approach, but it is not performed in daily practice due to production difficulties and non-cost-effectiveness [22].

A peripheral nerve stimulator can be used for repeated evaluation of motor function [13]. Since PChE deficiency is associated with inheriting an abnormal variant of the BChE gene, family members of patients with PChE deficiency should be recommended to undergo laboratory testing. Moreover, the Association of Anesthesiology of Great Britain and Ireland require the usage of neuromuscular blockade monitoring devices throughout all anesthetic procedures, including regional and sedative anesthesia [23].

One of the main results in our study is the significant positive correlation of PChE activity with plasma PChE, albumin, BChE activity/albumin, and creatinine. PChE activity is not significantly correlated with liver function tests, which can be derived from the advanced liver failure patients who were excluded from this study. A recent study conducted by Abdullayev et al. [24], investigating the likely relationship between pseudocholinesterase deficiency and other laboratory tests, revealed a significant relationship between AST, urea levels and PChE. However, they could not detect any relationship between PChE and ALT, INR, aPTT and creatinine levels. They concluded that enzyme deficiency incidence was 4.5 times higher in patients with high AST levels, and 9-fold higher among patients with high urea levels. Yildirim et al. [9] revealed that a decrease in PChE levels is related to older age, male gender, AST, ALT, urea, creatinine, PT and aPTT elevation. The incidence of PChE deficiency was observed to be three times higher in high AST levels, and 5 times higher in case of urea and creatinine elevation in blood sample.

PChE deficiency can be confused with different diagnoses such as residual neuromuscular blockade, the effect of residual fentanyl, myasthenia gravis, hypokalemia and hypermagnesemia [25]. Since PChE deficiency can be fatal if not recognized and treated properly, the pre-operative assessment should include family history of a genetic origin [5].

Limitations

No further genotype examination via genetic tests was performed in patients with PChE deficiency detected by laboratory testing. In patients with PChE deficiency, whether the failure is caused by hereditary or acquired etiology has not been investigated. Moreover, due to limited conditions, we did not have possibility to determine the plasma cholinesterase levels of family members of patients with PChE deficiency.

Conclusions

Anesthesia providers should familiarize themselves with the significance of a PChE deficiency, because PChE deficiency may become a life-threatening condition if the patient must undergo general anesthesia for surgery. For this reason, the anesthesiologist, specially trained nursing staff, and physicians of the intensive care unit should always consider using less neuromuscular blocking agents such as succinylcholine and mivacurium. Necessary measures should be taken for ventilator support due to the possibility of prolonged apnea. The patient with PChE deficiency and family members should be also educated about future anesthetic practices. Patients should be registered in a database for PChE deficiency.

References

 Andersson ML, Møller AM, Wildgaard K. Butyrylcholinesterase deficiency and its clinical importance in anaesthesia: a systematic review. Anaesthesia. 2019 Apr;74(4):518-28.

- Prevalence of human pseudocholinesterase deficiency
- Wichmann S, Færk G, Bundgaard JR. Patients with prolonged effect of succinylcholine or mivacurium had novel mutations in the butyrylcholinesterase gene. Pharmacogenet Genomics. 2016;26:351–6.
- Whittington JE, Pham HD, Procter M, Grenache DG, Mao RA. Patient with prolonged paralysis/commentary.commentary. clinical Chemistry. 2012;58(3):496-500.
- Liu QC, Chen F, Wu CY. CALCB splice region pathogenic variants leading to plasma cell neurotropic enrichment in type 1 autoimmune pancreatitis. Cell Death Dis. 2017;8:e2591.
 Stoelting RK, Hiller SC. Pharmacology and physiology in anesthesia practice (5th ed.). Philadelphia: Lippincott,
- Williams, & Wilkins, 2015.
 Zhang C, Cao H, Wan ZG, Wang J. Prolonged neuromuscular block associated with cholinesterase deficiency.
- Medicine (Baltimore). 2018 Dec;97(52):e13714.
 7. Soliday FK, Conley YP, Henker R. Pseudocholinesterase deficiency: A comprehensive review of genetic,
- ac~quired, and drug influences. American As~sociation of Nurse Anesthetists Journal. 2010;78(4):313-20. 8. Schmidt E, Henkel E, Klauke R, Lorentz K, Sonntag O, Stein W, et al. Proposal for standard methods for the
- determination of enzyme catalytic concentrations in serum and plasma at 37 degrees C. J Clin Chem Clin Biochem. 1990;28:805-8. 9. Yıldırım S, Şahin AF, Döngel İ, Erşan İ. Sivas ilinde psödokolinesteraz eksikliği görülme sıklığı ve ilişkili
- kinik parametreler. Turkiye Klinikleri J Anest Reanim. 2012;10:84-8.
 (10) Doolev M. Lamb HM. Donenezil: a review of its use in Alzheimer's disease. Drugs Agine. 2000 Mar;16(3):199-
- 226. 11.Hackett PJ, Sakai T. Pseudocholinesterase deficiency: a case report and literature review. Open J Anesthesiol.
- 2012;2(4):188-94.
 12.Thomsen JL, Nielsen CV, Eskildsen KZ, Demant MN, Gätke MR. Awareness during emergence from anaesthesia: significance of neuromuscular monitoring in patients with butyrylcholinesterase deficiency. Br J Anaesth. 2015 Jul;115 Suppl 1:i78-i88.
- Alvarellos ML, McDonagh EM, Patel S, McLeod HL, Altman RB, Klein TE. PharmGKB summary: succinylcholine pathway, pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics. Pharmacogenet. Genomics. 2015 Dec:25(12):622-30.
- 14. White SM. Pseudocholinesterase deficiency in specific populations. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2012 Apr;29(4):211.
- 15.Zhang QL, Xu MJ, Wang TL. Newly discovered COLQ gene mutation and its clinical features in patients with acetyl cholinesterase deficiency. J Integr Neurosci. 2018;6
- 16.Zhou W, Lv S. Delayed recovery from paralysis associated with plasma cholinesterase deficiency. Springerplus. 2016;5(1):1887.
- 17.Pseudocholinesterase enzyme deficiency. Genetics Home Reference. April 2012. http://ghr.nlm.nih.gov/condition/pseudocholinesterase-deficiency.
- 18. Lurati AR. Organophosphate exposure with pseudocholinesterase deficiency. Workplace Health Saf. 2013 Jun;61(6):243-5.
- 19.Ellison M, Grose B, Howell S, Wilson C, Lenz J, Driver R. Prolonged Paralysis Following Emergent Cesarean Section with Succinylcholine Despite Normal Dibucaine Number. WV Med J. 2016 Mar-Apr;112(2):44-6.
- 20.Yu R, Guo Y, Dan Y, Tan W, Mao Q, Deng G. A novel mutation in the BCHE gene and phenotype identified in a child with low butyrylcholinesterase activity: a case report. BMC Med. Genet. 2018 Apr;19(1):58.
- Naik B, Hirshhorn S, Dharnidharka VR. Prolonged neuromuscular block due to cholinesterase depletion by plasmapheresis. J Clin Anesth. 2002;14:381–4.
 Geyer BC, Larrimore KE, Kilbourne J, Kannan L, Mor TS. Reversal of succinylcholine induced apnea with an
- 22. Geyer BC, Larrimore KE, Kildourne J, Kannan L, Mor TS. Reversal of succinylcholine induced apnea with an organophosphate scavenging recombinant butyrylcholinesterase. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e59159.
- 23.Checketts MR, Alladi R, Ferguson K, Gemmell L, Handy JM, Klein AA, et al. Recommendations for standards of monitoring during anaesthesia and recovery 2015: Association of Anaesthetists of Great Britain and Ireland. Anaesthesia. 2016 Jan;71(1):85-93.
- 24.Abdullayev R, Küçükebo OB, Kaya R, Çelik B, Kuşderci H. Pseudocholinesterase Enzyme Deficiency in Adıyaman City Area. Turk J Anaesthesiol Reanim. 2015 Dec;43(6):381–6.
- 25.Human (butrylcholinesterase) Pseudocholinesterase Deficiency. Mayo Clinic. April 18, 2016; http://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/pseudocholinesterase deficiency/home/ovc-20200771.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper

Journal of Surgery and Medicine

The effect of dexpanthenol on the formation of epidural fibrosis in an experimental laminectomy model in rats

Deneysel epidural fibrosis modelinde dextpanthenol'ün epidural fibrosis oluşumu üzerine etkisi

Zahir Kızılay¹, Nesibe Kahraman Çetin², Soner Yaycıoğlu¹, Murat Özcan Yay¹, Hakan Öztürk³, Çiğdem Yenisey⁴

¹ Department of Neurosurgery, Aydin Adnan Menderes University, Aydin, Turkey ² Department of Pathology, Aydin Adnan Menderes University, Aydin, Turkey ³Department of Clinical Biostatistics, Aydin Adnan Menderes University, Aydin, Turkey ⁴Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Aydin Adnan Menderes University, Avdin, Turkey

> **ORCID ID** of the author(s) ZK: 0000-0002-2021-0406 NKC: 0000-0002-4549-1670 SY: 0000-0001-9230-1107 MÖY: 0000-0001-8990-7642 HÖ: 0000-0001-8112-4934 CY: 0000-0001-7693-641X

Corresponding author / Sorumlu yazar: Zahir Kızılay Address / Adres: Aydın Adnan Menderes Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi, Beyin Cerrahisi Anabilim Dalı Aydın, Türkiye e-Mail: zahir.kizilay@adu.edu.tr

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical approval was obtained from the Animal Ethics committee of Avdin Adnan Menderes University with the approval number of 64583101/2017/090 Etik Kurul Onayı: Etik onay, 64583101/2017/090 onay numarası ile Aydın Adnan Menderes Üniversitesi Hayvan Etik Kurulu'ndan alınmıştır

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/15/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 15.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s)

Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial+NDerivatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



Abstract

Aim: Epidural fibrosis, which develops after spinal surgery, is one of the factors which reduce the chances of successful surgery in the medium and long term by tightly surrounding the dura and spinal roots. In this experimental study, the aim was to compare the effects of local and systemic administration of dexpanthenol on epidural fibrosis formation in rats.

Methods: Twenty-eight rats were randomly divided into 4 equal groups (control, Spongostan, local dexpanthenol and systemic dexpanthenol) and laminectomy was performed at the T11 level. Local dexpanthenol (500mg/kg) was administered with Spongostan, and systemic dexpanthenol (500 mg/kg) was administered once a day for three weeks. Epidural fibrosis, arachnoidal involvement, fibroblast cell count, vascular endothelial growth factor, and hydroxyproline levels were evaluated.

Results: The grade of epidural fibrosis, fibroblast cell counts, and hydroxyproline levels were significantly lower in the systemic dexpanthenol groups (P=0.025).

Conclusion: Dexpanthenol may be used as potential agent for reducing epidural fibrosis. However, it should be administered more than once for it to take effect.

Keywords: Laminectomy, Epidural fibrosis, Fibroblast, Dexpanthenol, Rat

Öz

Amaç: Spinal cerrahi sonrası gelişen epidural fibrosis dura ve spinal köklerin çevresini sıkıca sararak orta ve uzun vadede cerrahinin balşarı şansını azaltan nedenlerden biridir. Bu nedenle, bu deneysel çalışmada, ratlarda local ve sistemik dekspanthenol uygulamasının epidural fibrosis olusumu üzerine etkisini karsılastırmak amac edinilmistir.

Yöntemler: Yirmi sekiz adet sıçan rastlantısal olarak 4 eşit gruba ayrıldı (Kontrol, spongostan, local dekspanthenol ve sistemik dekspanthenol) ve bütün sıçanların torakal 11 düzeyine laminektomi yapıldı. Local olarak dexpanthenol 500 mg/kg dan spongostan ile uygulandı. Sistemik olarak dexpanthanol, 500 mg/kg dan günde bir defa olmak üzere 3 hafta boyunca uygulandı. Epidural fibrosis, araknoid tutulum, fibroblast hücre sayısı, vasküler endotelyal büyüme faktörü ve hidroksiprolini çeriği değerlendirildi.

Bulgular: Epidural fibrosis derecesi, fibroblast hücre sayısı ve hidroksiprolin düzeyi istatistiksel olarak anlamlı düzeyde sistemik dekspanthenol grubunda düsüktü (P=0.025).

Sonuç: Dekspanthenol epidural fibrosisi azaltmak için potansiyel bir ajan olabilir, fakat bu etkinin ortaya çıkması için birden fazla sayıda verilmesi gereklidir.

Anahtar kelimeler: Laminektomi, Epidural fibrosis, Fibroblast, Dekspanthenol, Sıçan

Introduction

Failed back surgery syndrome (FBSS) is described as chronic back pain which persists after spinal surgery, with or without radicular pain [1]. In the literature, the main reported factor in the development of FBSS is extensive fibrotic tissue formation in the epidural distance after surgery, causing widespread adhesions and retractions that involve the neuronal roots and dura [2-4]. It has been reported that epidural fibrosis (EF) occurs after lumbar disc surgery at rates varying between 5% and 33%, and that it can vary depending on the surgery type [5]. Although it is not currently an effective treatment method, the best protection against EF is decreasing its formation [2,6,7]. Many etiological factors which could influence the formation of EF include epidural hematoma, removal of the epidural fat tissue, and paraspinal muscular fiber invasion.

Although the mechanism of EF formation has not been understood, many authors have shown the effect of fibroblast cell proliferation on formation of EF, focusing to decrease fibroblast proliferation and its production. In these studies, free fat grafts, anti-neoplastic and anti-inflammatory agents, Adcol-L, and numerous chemical agents were investigated. However, no standard treatment protocol has been established for humans [2,8-11]. Studies on EF continue to be conducted.

Dexpanthenol, also known as provitamin B5, is an alcohol analogue of pantothenic acid. Following oral or parenteral administration, it is transformed into pantothenic acid in the tissues and has frequently been used to enhance the recovery of skin injuries. Studies on dexpanthenol have shown its anti-oxidative and anti-inflammatory activity [12-15]. There is no information related to effect of dexpanthenol on EF formation.

In this study, we investigated the effects of the local and systemic administration of dexpanthenol in an empirical EF model and discussed the results in the light of the available literature.

Materials and methods

Animals

After receiving the approval of the Animal Ethics Committee (Approval Number 64583101/2017/090), all experimental protocols were followed according to the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. Twenty-eight adult female Wistar albino rats weighing 300 ± 50 g were used in this study, and they were housed under environmentally suitable conditions at 21–25°C with 50% humidity and a 12-hour light/dark cycles. The rats were provided with free access to food and water.

Groups

The rats were randomly divided into the following four groups (n=7 each) and were treated as indicated.

Group 1: Control (C). T11 total laminectomy was performed and the site was washed with saline.

Group 2: Spongostan (S), T11 total laminectomy was performed and saline was administered with spongostan on the laminectomy area.

Group 3: Local Dexpanthenol (D). T11 total laminectomy was performed and 500 mg/kg dexpanthenol

(Bepanthen injectable solution, Bayer Turk Chemical Co., Turkey) was applied with spongostan.

Group 4: Systemic Dexpanthenol (SD). T11 total laminectomy was performed, saline was applied with spongontan, and 500 mg/kg dexpanthenol was administered once a day for a total period of three weeks.

Surgical procedure and sample preparation

Intraperitoneal (IP) injection of a mixture of 10 mg/kg xylazine hydrochloride (BIOVETA plc, Czech Republic) and 50 mg/kg ketamine HCl (Ketasol, Richter Pharma, Austria) were administered for anesthesia five minutes before the surgery. The body temperatures of the rats were maintained at 37°C, and they were placed in the prone position. The laminectomy areas were shaved and disinfected with povidone-iodine. The same surgeon carried out all surgical procedures. An incision was performed through the skin along the T8-L3 levels. The thoracolumbar fascia and paravertebral muscles were dissected in a subperiosteal manner, reaching the T10-L2 laminae. Total laminectomy was performed at the T11 level. Cotton pads and water were applied to maintain hemostasis. The wounds were sutured in anatomical layers using a 5-0 polypropylene suture after administration of dexpanthenol. On postoperative day 21, the rats were euthanized by cervical dislocation under deep anesthesia. The vertebral columns of the rats were removed en *bloc* between T8 and L3.

Histopathological evaluation

The vertebral column from T9 to L1 including the paraspinal muscles and epidural scar tissue was removed en bloc and fixed in 10% neutral-buffered formalin solution. The samples were decalcified in 10% formic acid for approximately 10 days, after which tissue samples were collected from the laminectomy areas, washed with tap water, and routinely processed. Subsequently, the specimens were embedded in paraffin. The upright T11 vertebra was cut into 12 continuous transverse sections of 4 µm, among which six sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E), and the other six with Masson's trichrome stains. The H&E and Masson's trichrome-stained fibrous tissue sections were examined using an Olympus BX52 microscope, and images were captured with an Olympus DP 25 camera. The presence of arachnoidal involvement was also identified, and the extent of the EF and the dura mater was graded according to the following scale described by He et al. [16]. Grade 0: the dura mater was free of scar tissue; Grade 1: only thin fibrous bands were observed between the scar tissue and dura mater; Grade 2: continuous adherence was observed in less than two-thirds of the laminectomy defect; Grade 3: scar tissue adherence was considerable, affecting more than two-thirds of the laminectomy defect or the adherence extended to the nerve roots. At 400x magnification, fibroblast density was calculated in three fields of the laminectomy sites from each section.

Immunohistochemistry

The immunostaining was conducted at room temperature using a DAKO autostainer universal staining system (Autostainer Link 48 DAKO, Glostrup, Denmark). The 4- μ m thick paraffin-embedded sections were mounted on positively charged slides, deparaffinized in xylene, and subsequently dehydrated using a graded series of ethanol solutions. Then,

JOSAM

antigen retrieval was performed at 96°C in a 10 mM/L citrate buffer (pH 6) for 40 min in a thermostatic water bath (PT Link). The sections were incubated with vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (RB-9031, NeoMarkers, Fremont, CA, USA) for 60 minutes at room temperature. Positive and negative controls were included for each antibody and each batch of stained tissue. A streptavidin-biotin enhanced immunoperoxidase technique (K8000 Envision Flex, DAKO, Glostrup, Denmark) was used to detect the immunoreactions using an automated system. The sections were incubated with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) and counterstained lightly with hematoxylin to demonstrate the binding. Finally, the sections were dehydrated and mounted onto the slides. The positively immunostained slides were used as positive controls. Normal rabbit serum IgG was used to replace primary antibody as a negative control.

Evaluation of immunostaining

The slides were examined at low magnification (100x), areas that exhibited the highest staining intensity were considered "hot spots" and were further evaluated at high magnification (200x). The stained cell ratio was determined by counting at least 200 cells. When \geq 10% of the cells were stained with the marker, the staining was considered positive. The staining intensity at different magnifications was evaluated using the following scale: "weak," "moderate," and "strong;" visible at 200x, 100x, and 40x magnifications, respectively.

Hydroxyproline content analysis

Total collagen was determined by measuring the concentration of hydroxyproline in each specimen as described by Reddy et al. [17]. The samples (40 mg) homogenized in 100 μ l 2N NaOH were hydrolyzed by autoclaving at 120°C for 20 min. Then, 450 μ l chloramine-T was added to the hydrolysate, mixed gently, and oxidation was allowed to proceed for 25 min at room temperature. 500 μ l of Ehrlich's aldehyde reagent was added to each sample, mixed gently, and the chromophore was developed by incubating the samples at 65°C for 20 minutes. Absorbance of each sample was read at 550 nm using a spectrophotometer. Unknown concentrations of hydroxyproline in each tissue specimen were deduced from a standard calibration curve using L-hydroxyproline. The content of total collagen was calculated assuming that 14 percent of the total amino acids of collagen were hydroxyproline.

Statistical analysis

Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine whether the variables were normally distributed among groups. One-way ANOVA test was used in the groups showing normal distribution. Kruskall-Wallis H test was used if the group was non-normally distributed. Bonferroni corrected post-hoc test and Tamhane's T2 test were used for pairwise comparisons. Descriptive statistics for the variables were presented as median (25.-75. percentile) and Mean (Standard Deviation). *P-value* of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

Results

Complications associated with wound recovery and medical practice

Dexpanthenol did not induce any adverse effects in the wound area or peripheral tissues. In addition, no infections,

cerebrospinal fluid collections or hematoma were seen in the wound area.

Histopathological results

Grade 3 EF (Figures 1A and 1B) was observed in groups C, S, D and SD in five rats, two rats, five rats and one rat, respectively. Grade 2 EF (Figure 2A and 2B) was observed in groups C, S, D and SD in two, five, two and six rats, respectively. These results were significantly different between the groups (P=0.025) (Table 1). In addition, there was a statistically significant difference between groups D and SD.

Arachnoidal involvements were observed in two, one, two and one rats in groups C, S, D and SD, respectively, the difference between which was not significantly different (P=0.756).



Figure 1: (A) Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) and (B) Masson trichrome (both 100x magnification) staining of the epidural fibrosis in the laminectomy sites. Grade 3 fibrosis: scar tissue completely covered the laminectomy defects and adhered to the underlying dura mater (arrows)



Figure 2: (A) Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) and (B) Masson trichrome (both 100x magnification) staining of the epidural fibrosis in the laminectomy sites. Grade 2 fibrosis: scar tissue adhered to the underlying dura mater and covered less than two-thirds of the laminectomy sites (arrows)

Fibroblast count results

Fibroblast counts were 197.5 (190 - 200.5), 181 (173.5 - 188.5), 195.5 (193 - 196.5), and 171 (169.5 - 175.5), respectively, in groups C, S, D, and SD. These results were significantly different between the groups (P<0.001) (Figure 3A, 3B, 3C and 3D) (Table 2).

Immunohistochemistry results

The VEGF levels were evaluated in each group according to strong, moderate, and weak staining levels. Weak (Figure 4A) and moderate (Figure 4B) levels were observed in four and three rats in Groups C and S, respectively. Weak, moderate, and strong (Figure 4C) staining levels were observed in two, three, and two rats in Group D, respectively. Moderate and strong staining was observed in three and four rats in group SD, respectively. There was no statistically significant difference between the groups (P=0.068).



Figure 4: Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) immunostaining of the epidural fibrosis in the laminectomy sites. (4A) Weak, (4B) moderate, and (4C) strong staining (200x magnification).

Hydroxyproline results

Hydroxyproline values were found as 1.556 (1.081) μ gHyp/mg wet weight, 0.701 (0.309) μ gHyp/mg wet weight, 1.520 (0.346) μ gHyp/mg wet weight, and 0.414 (0.104) μ gHyp/mg wet weight, respectively, in groups C, S, D, and SD, which significantly differed (*P*=0.002) (Table 3).

Table 1: The grades of epidural fibrosis (EF) according to the He et al. [16]

	C (n=7)	S (n=7)	D (n=7)	SD (n=7)	P-value
EF grade	3 (3-3)a	2 (2-3)b,c	3 (2-3)a,b	2(2-2)b,c	0.025

Descriptive statistics for the variables were given as median (25,-75, percentile). Similar letters in the same line represent similarity, and different letters represent dissimilarity.

Table 2: Fibroblast counting in epidural fibrosis tissue

	-	-					
	C (n=7)	S (n=7)	D (n=7)	SD (n=7)	P-value		
Fibroblast	197.5	181	195.5	171	< 0.001		
Counting	(190-200.5) ^a	(173.5-188.5) ^{b,c}	(193-196.5) ^{a,b}	(169.5-175.5) ^c			
Descriptive statistics for the variables were given as median (2575. percentile). Similar letters in the same line represent similarity, and different letters represent dissimilarity.							
Table 2. Hy	drovuprolino oo	tont of the groups					

Table 3: Hydroxyproline content of the groups

	C (n=7)	S (n=7)	D (n=7)	SD (n=7)	P-value
Hydroxyproline	1.556	0.701	1.520	0.414	0.002
Content	$(1.081)^{a,b,c,d}$	$(0.309)^{b}$	$(0.346)^{\circ}$	$(0.104)^{b,d}$	
B 1.4		. ,			

Descriptive statistics on variables were given as mean (standard deviation). Similar letters in the same line represent similarity, and different letters represent dissimilarity.

Discussion

The effects of local and systemic administration of dexpanthenol on EF grade were demonstrated in this study. According to our results, EF grades decreased after systemic of administration dexpanthenol compared with local administration and control group. The decrease in hydroxyproline levels in group SD was a factor which reduced EF grades. However, many factors may be responsible for these results.

In the literature, a study conducted by Ermis et al. [13] using a bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis model showed that leukocyte infiltration and lung fibrosis rates were decreased in the dexpanthenol and bleomycin-treated group compared with the group treated with bleomycin alone. They also reported that this effect could be attributed to the combined anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects of dexpanthenol [13]. Previous studies supported the idea that dexpanthenol may have an effect in decreasing EF formation. In the literature, various studies have shown that decreases in the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-6, and transforming growth factor β particularly, might decrease the proliferation and differentiation of fibroblasts and EF [1,18-20]. However, in our study, local dexpanthenol was shown to increase the formation of EF, whereas systemic administration decreased it. In fact, our study results are not contrary to those in the literature because there are numerous possible explanations for these results. One of the probable causes is the method of administration. In a study by Ulger et al. [21] which investigated the effects of the local application of nebivolol and dexpanthenol on wound healing, it was reported that although this administration significantly decreased inflammation compared with the control group, fibrosis in the dexpanthenol-treated group was higher. The same study also reported that granulation and angiogenesis rates did not differ significantly between the control and dexpanthenol groups [21]. The study emphasized that local administration of dexpanthenol might increase fibrosis by supporting tissue fibroblasts despite its anti-inflammatory effects. The results of our study support those of Ulger et al. [21], because we have shown that local administration of dexpanthenol increases the level of hydroxyproline and fibroblast cell count in the laminectomy area. Moreover, in the previous study, authors reported that hydroxyproline levels indicate the amount of collagen and increased hydroxyproline levels are considered one of the most important signs in formation of EF. Therefore, our opinion is that increased level of hydroxyproline related to the local application of dexpanthenol might cause increased EF grade.

Another reason may be that the dose of dexpanthenol is responsible for the observed results. A previous study, conducted by Yardimci et al. [22], who showed that the administration of substantial amounts, even at the same dosage, might induce more obvious anti-fibrotic activity, supports this view. In our study, we also showed that the administration of substantial amounts of dexpanthenol caused a decrease in the level of hydroxyproline and fibroblast cell count in EF tissue. Our opinion is that when dexpanthenol is systemically administered more than once, it may be effective not only at a single stage of inflammation but at many stages at once. This is because a decrease in hydroxyproline levels suggests that inflammation and proliferation phases can be affected. The proliferation phase may be affected indirectly because fibroblasts, which are altered due to decreased pro-inflammatory cytokines, are more prominent in the proliferation phases of the inflammation. In the literature, previous studies have also reported that decreasing tumor necrosis alpha (TNF-a), interleukin (IL)-6, and transforming growth factor β particularly, might decrease the proliferation and differentiation of fibroblasts and EF [1,18-20]. In addition to this, authors have stated that the use of dexpanthenol decreased TNF- α and IL-1 β levels, neutrophil flow, and IL-6 synthesis [15,23].

Limitations

Although we showed for the first time that administration of systemic dexpanthenol had a negative effect of formation of epidural fibrosis, the study had some limitations. Firstly, different doses of dexpanthenol were not administered. Secondly, the molecular mechanisms were not investigated to reveal the action mechanism of dexpanthenol. Third, our sample size was small.

Conclusion

We demonstrated that dexpanthenol should be given more than once for its anti-inflammatory effect, for which the decrease of hydroxyproline and fibroblast cell count may be responsible. Also, dexpanthenol may be effective at various stages of inflammation and a potential agent for reducing EF.

References

- Lv P, Zhao J, Su W, Liang X, Zhang K. An experimental novel study: hyperbaric oxygen treatment on reduction of epidural fibrosis via a down-regulation of collagen deposition, IL-6, and TGF-β1. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol. 2015;25 Suppl 1:S53-8.
- Sandoval MA, Hernandez-Vaquero D. Preventing epidural fibrosis with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Eur Spine J. 2008;17(3):451-5.
- Mohi Eldin MM, Albed Razek NM. Epidural fibrosis after lumbar disc surgery: prevention and outcome evaluation. Asian Spine J. 2015;9(3):370-85.
- Ozkan U, Osun A, Samancioglu A, Ercan S, Firat U, Kemaloglu S. The effect of bevacizumab and 5fluorouracil combination on epidural fibrosis in a rat laminectomy model. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2014;18(1):95-100.
- Masopust V, Hackel M, Netuka D, Bradac O, Rokyta R, Vrabec M. Postoperative epidural fibrosis. Clin J Pain. 2009; 25(7):600-06.
- Golan A, Maymon R, Winograd I, Bukovsky I. Prevention of post-surgical adhesion formation using aspirin in a rodent model: a preliminary report. Hum Reprod. 1995;10(7):1797-800.
 Henderson R, Weir B, Davis L, Mielke B, Grace M. Attempted experimental modification of the
- Henderson R, Weir B, Davis L, Mielke B, Grace M. Attempted experimental modification of the postlaminectomy membrane by local instillation of recombinant tissue-plasminogen activator gel. Spine. 1983;18(10):1268-72.
- Gil GG, Scheck M, Kelley ET, Rodrigo JJ. Pedicle fat grafts for the prevention of scar in low-back surgery. A preliminary report on the first 92 cases. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1985;10(7):662-7.
 Chen H, Yan L, Wang J, Sun Y, Li X, Zhao S, et al. Methotrexate prevents epidural fibrosis through
- Chen H, Yan L, Wang J, Sun Y, Li X, Zhao S, et al. Methotrexate prevents epidural fibrosis through endoplasmic reticulum stress signalling pathway. Eur J Pharmacol. 2017;796:131-8.
- Kurt G, Aytar MH, Dogulu F, Cemil B, Erdem O, Baykaner MK, et al. A comparison of the local effectiveness of mitomycin C, aprotinin, and Adcon-L in an experimental peridural fibrosis. Surg Neurol. 2008;70(6):608-13.

- Kasımcan MO, Bakar B, AktaşS, Alhan A, Yılmaz A, Caydere M, et al. Effectiveness of the biophysical barriers on the peridural fibrosis of a postlaminectomy rat model: An experimental research. Injury. 2011;42(8):778-81.
- Karadag A, Ozdemir R, Kurt A, Parlakpinar A, Polat A, Vardi N, et al. Protective effects of dexpanthenol in an experimental model of necrotizing enterocolitis. J Pediatr Surg. 2015;50(7):1119-24.
 Ermis H, Parlakpinar A, Gulbas G, Vardi N, Polat A, Cetin A, et al. Protective effect of dexpanthenol on
- Ermis H, Parlakpinar A, Gulbas G, Vardi N, Polat A, Cetin A, et al. Protective effect of dexpanthenol on bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in rats. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol. 2013;386(12):1103-10.
 Zakaria MM, Hajipour B, Khodadai A, Afshari F. Ameliorating effects of dexpanthenol in cerebral ischaemia reperfusion-induced injury in rat brain. J Park Med Assoc. 2011;61(9):889-92.
- 15.Li-Mei W, Jie T, Shan-He W, Dong-Mei M, Peng-Jiu Y. Anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidative effects of dexpanthenol on lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury in mice. Inflammation. 2016;39(5):1757-63.
- He Y, Revel M, Loty B. A quantitative model of postlaminectomy scar formation.Effects of a nonsteroidalantiinflammatory drug. Spine (PhilaPa 1976). 1995;20(5):557-63.
 Reddy GK, Enwemeka CS. A simplified method for the analysis of hydroxyproline in biological tissues.
- Reddy GK, Enwemeka CS. A simplified method for the analysis of hydroxyproline in biological tissues ClinBiochem. 1996;29(3):225-9.
- Mantawy EM, Tadros MG, Awad AS, Hassan DA, El-Demerdash E. Insights antifibrotic mechanism of methyl palmitate: impact on nuclear factor kappa B and proinflammatory cytokines. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2012;258:134-44.
- Battegay EJ, Raines EW, Colbert T, Ross R. TNF-alpha stimulation of fibroblast proliferation. Dependence on platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) secretion and alteration of PDGF receptor expression. J Immunol. 1995; 154(11):6040-7.
- Pierce GF, Mustoe TA, Lingelbach J, Masakowski VR, Griffin GL, Senior RM, et al. Platelet-derived growth factor and transforming growth factor-beta enhance tissue repair activities by unique mechanisms. J Cell Biol. 1989;109(1):429-40.
- Ulger BV, Kapan M, Uslukaya O, Bozdag Z, Turkoglu A, Alabahk U, et al. A. Comparing the effects of nebivolol and dexpanthenol on wound healing: an experimental study. Int Wound J. 2016;13(3):367-71.
- 22. Yardimci I, Karakan T, Resorlu B, Doluoglu OG, Ozcan S, Aydin A, et al. The effect of intraurethral dexpanthenol on healing and fibrosis in rats with experimentally induced urethral trauma. Urology. 2015;85(1):274.e9-13.
- 23. Ozdemir R, Demirtas G, Parlakpinar H, Polat A, Tanbag K, Taslidere E, et al. Dexpanthenol therapy reduces lung damage in a hyperoxic lung injury in neonatal rats. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2016;29(11):1801-7.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Journal of Surgery and Medicine --ISSN: 2602-2079

Increased post-voiding residue and recurrent acute epididymitis: Are they causally related?

Rezidü idrar miktarı ve tekrarlayan akut epididimit arasında sebep-sonuç ilişkisi var mı?

Adem Sancı¹, Evren Süer¹

im: It is known that recurrent urinary tract infection (rUTI) is associated with increased post-voiding residue (PVR), however, the ume relationship is yet to be shown in adults for recurrent acute epididymitis. To the best of our knowledge, there are inadequate udies on this subject and they are mainly focused on the retrograde flow of the infected urine into the ejaculatory duct in terms of athophysiology. In this study, we aimed to evaluate the causal relationship between recurrent acute epididymitis and increased post- biding residue. In this retrospective cohort study, the data of 388 patients who received treatment for epididymitis in our polyclinic between 015 and 2018 were evaluated to determine that 72 were examined for lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS). Age, PSA level, Qmax alue, uroflowmetric pattern, post-voiding residual volume, International Prostate Symptom Scores (IPSS), and prostate volumes were corded. Patients were divided into acute (n=38, Group 1) and recurrent acute (n=34, Group 2) epididymitis groups for analysis. The atients in Group 2 were treated for epididymitis at least two times in the last six months or thrice a year. The patients in Group 1 were eated only once in a year. Chi-square (Fisher's exact test) and Student's t-test were used to compare categorical variables. A value of <0.05 was considered the threshold of statistical significance. esults: Age, PSA level, prostate volume, IPSS score, and peak flow did not significantly differ between the two groups. However, in terms of post-voiding residual urine volumes (<i>P</i> =0.029). The mean post-voiding residual volumes in atients with acute and recurrent acute epididymitis were 47.3 (16.2) ml and 178.2 (23.6) ml, respectively. onclusion: There is a relationship between increased post-voiding residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis. Patients who resent with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR. teywords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue teymords
udies on this subject and they are mainly focused on the retrograde flow of the infected urine into the ejaculatory duct in terms of athophysiology. In this study, we aimed to evaluate the causal relationship between recurrent acute epididymitis and increased post- biding residue. Iethods: In this retrospective cohort study, the data of 388 patients who received treatment for epididymitis in our polyclinic between 015 and 2018 were evaluated to determine that 72 were examined for lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS). Age, PSA level, Qmax alue, uroflowmetric pattern, post-voiding residual volume, International Prostate Symptom Scores (IPSS), and prostate volumes were corded. Patients were divided into acute (n=38, Group 1) and recurrent acute (n=34, Group 2) epididymitis groups for analysis. The atients in Group 2 were treated for epididymitis at least two times in the last six months or thrice a year. The patients in Group 1 were eated only once in a year. Chi-square (Fisher's exact test) and Student's t-test were used to compare categorical variables. A value of <0.05 was considered the threshold of statistical significance. esults: Age, PSA level, prostate volume, IPSS score, and peak flow did not significantly differ between the two groups. However, ere were significant differences in terms of post-voiding residual urine volumes ($P=0.029$). The mean post-voiding residual volumes in atients with acute and recurrent acute epididymitis were 47.3 (16.2) ml and 178.2 (23.6) ml, respectively. onclusion: There is a relationship between increased post-voiding residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis. Patients who resent with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR. 'eywords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue ' maq: Tekrarlayan idrar yolu enfeksiyonunun artmış rezidü idrar ile ilişkili olduğu biliniyor. Yetişkinlerde tekrarlayan akut epididimit in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazl
athophysiology. In this study, we aimed to evaluate the causal relationship between recurrent acute epididymitis and increased post- biding residue. Iethods: In this retrospective cohort study, the data of 388 patients who received treatment for epididymitis in our polyclinic between D15 and 2018 were evaluated to determine that 72 were examined for lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS). Age, PSA level, Qmax alue, uroflowmetric pattern, post-voiding residual volume, International Prostate Symptom Scores (IPSS), and prostate volumes were corded. Patients were divided into acute (n=38, Group 1) and recurrent acute (n=34, Group 2) epididymitis groups for analysis. The atients in Group 2 were treated for epididymitis at least two times in the last six months or thrice a year. The patients in Group 1 were eated only once in a year. Chi-square (Fisher's exact test) and Student's t-test were used to compare categorical variables. A value of <0.05 was considered the threshold of statistical significance. esults: Age, PSA level, prostate volume, IPSS score, and peak flow did not significantly differ between the two groups. However, ere were significant differences in terms of post-voiding residual urine volumes (<i>P</i> =0.029). The mean post-voiding residual volumes in atients with acute and recurrent acute epididymitis were 47.3 (16.2) ml and 178.2 (23.6) ml, respectively. onclusion: There is a relationship between increased post-voiding residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis. Patients who resent with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR. teywords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue t ma ç: Tekrarlayan idrar yolu enfeksiyonunun artmış rezidü idrar ile ilişkili olduğu biliniyor. Yetişkinlerde tekrarlayan akut epididimit in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazla çalışma yok ve bu yapılan kısıtlı sayıdaki
biding residue. Lethods: In this retrospective cohort study, the data of 388 patients who received treatment for epididymitis in our polyclinic between D15 and 2018 were evaluated to determine that 72 were examined for lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS). Age, PSA level, Qmax alue, uroflowmetric pattern, post-voiding residual volume, International Prostate Symptom Scores (IPSS), and prostate volumes were corded. Patients were divided into acute (n=38, Group 1) and recurrent acute (n=34, Group 2) epididymitis groups for analysis. The atients in Group 2 were treated for epididymitis at least two times in the last six months or thrice a year. The patients in Group 1 were eated only once in a year. Chi-square (Fisher's exact test) and Student's t-test were used to compare categorical variables. A value of <0.05 was considered the threshold of statistical significance. esults: Age, PSA level, prostate volume, IPSS score, and peak flow did not significantly differ between the two groups. However were were significant differences in terms of post-voiding residual urine volumes ($P=0.029$). The mean post-voiding residual volumes ir atients with acute and recurrent acute epididymitis were 47.3 (16.2) ml and 178.2 (23.6) ml, respectively. onclusion: There is a relationship between increased post-voiding residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis. Patients who resent with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR. teywords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue t t t t t t t t
biding residue. Lethods: In this retrospective cohort study, the data of 388 patients who received treatment for epididymitis in our polyclinic betweer D15 and 2018 were evaluated to determine that 72 were examined for lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS). Age, PSA level, Qmax alue, uroflowmetric pattern, post-voiding residual volume, International Prostate Symptom Scores (IPSS), and prostate volumes were corded. Patients were divided into acute (n=38, Group 1) and recurrent acute (n=34, Group 2) epididymitis groups for analysis. The atients in Group 2 were treated for epididymitis at least two times in the last six months or thrice a year. The patients in Group 1 were eated only once in a year. Chi-square (Fisher's exact test) and Student's t-test were used to compare categorical variables. A value o <0.05 was considered the threshold of statistical significance. esults: Age, PSA level, prostate volume, IPSS score, and peak flow did not significantly differ between the two groups. However were were significant differences in terms of post-voiding residual urine volumes ($P=0.029$). The mean post-voiding residual volumes in atients with acute and recurrent acute epididymitis were 47.3 (16.2) ml and 178.2 (23.6) ml, respectively. onclusion: There is a relationship between increased post-voiding residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis. Patients who resent with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR. teywords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue t ma ç: Tekrarlayan idrar yolu enfeksiyonunun artmış rezidü idrar ile ilişkili olduğu biliniyor. Yetişkinlerde tekrarlayan akut epididimi in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazla çalışma yok ve bu yapılan kısıtlı sayıdak
Iethods: In this retrospective cohort study, the data of 388 patients who received treatment for epididymitis in our polyclinic between 015 and 2018 were evaluated to determine that 72 were examined for lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS). Age, PSA level, Qmax alue, uroflowmetric pattern, post-voiding residual volume, International Prostate Symptom Scores (IPSS), and prostate volumes were corded. Patients were divided into acute (n=38, Group 1) and recurrent acute (n=34, Group 2) epididymitis groups for analysis. The atients in Group 2 were treated for epididymitis at least two times in the last six months or thrice a year. The patients in Group 1 were eated only once in a year. Chi-square (Fisher's exact test) and Student's t-test were used to compare categorical variables. A value of <0.05 was considered the threshold of statistical significance. esults: Age, PSA level, prostate volume, IPSS score, and peak flow did not significantly differ between the two groups. However were were significant differences in terms of post-voiding residual urine volumes ($P=0.029$). The mean post-voiding residual volumes ir atients with acute and recurrent acute epididymitis were 47.3 (16.2) ml and 178.2 (23.6) ml, respectively. onclusion: There is a relationship between increased post-voiding residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis. Patients who reservers: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue trewords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue trewords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue trewords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue trewords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue trewords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue trewords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue trewords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue trewords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue trewords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue trewords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue trewords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue trewords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue trewords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding re
D15 and 2018 were evaluated to determine that 72 were examined for lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS). Age, PSA level, Qmax alue, uroflowmetric pattern, post-voiding residual volume, International Prostate Symptom Scores (IPSS), and prostate volumes were corded. Patients were divided into acute (n=38, Group 1) and recurrent acute (n=34, Group 2) epididymitis groups for analysis. The atients in Group 2 were treated for epididymitis at least two times in the last six months or thrice a year. The patients in Group 1 were eated only once in a year. Chi-square (Fisher's exact test) and Student's t-test were used to compare categorical variables. A value os <0.05 was considered the threshold of statistical significance. esults: Age, PSA level, prostate volume, IPSS score, and peak flow did not significantly differ between the two groups. However were significant differences in terms of post-voiding residual urine volumes (P=0.029). The mean post-voiding residual volumes in atients with acute and recurrent acute epididymitis were 47.3 (16.2) ml and 178.2 (23.6) ml, respectively. onclusion: There is a relationship between increased post-voiding residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis. Patients who resent with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR. Iz Iz
alue, uroflowmetric pattern, post-voiding residual volume, International Prostate Symptom Scores (IPSS), and prostate volumes were corded. Patients were divided into acute (n=38, Group 1) and recurrent acute (n=34, Group 2) epididymitis groups for analysis. The atients in Group 2 were treated for epididymitis at least two times in the last six months or thrice a year. The patients in Group 1 were eated only once in a year. Chi-square (Fisher's exact test) and Student's t-test were used to compare categorical variables. A value o <0.05 was considered the threshold of statistical significance. esults: Age, PSA level, prostate volume, IPSS score, and peak flow did not significantly differ between the two groups. However is ere were significant differences in terms of post-voiding residual urine volumes (<i>P</i> =0.029). The mean post-voiding residual volumes in atients with acute and recurrent acute epididymitis were 47.3 (16.2) ml and 178.2 (23.6) ml, respectively. onclusion: There is a relationship between increased post-voiding residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis. Patients where event with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR.
corded. Patients were divided into acute (n=38, Group 1) and recurrent acute (n=34, Group 2) epididymitis groups for analysis. The atients in Group 2 were treated for epididymitis at least two times in the last six months or thrice a year. The patients in Group 1 were eated only once in a year. Chi-square (Fisher's exact test) and Student's t-test were used to compare categorical variables. A value o <0.05 was considered the threshold of statistical significance. esults: Age, PSA level, prostate volume, IPSS score, and peak flow did not significantly differ between the two groups. However ere were significant differences in terms of post-voiding residual urine volumes (<i>P</i> =0.029). The mean post-voiding residual volumes in atients with acute and recurrent acute epididymitis were 47.3 (16.2) ml and 178.2 (23.6) ml, respectively. onclusion: There is a relationship between increased post-voiding residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis. Patients whe resent with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR. !eywords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue !z maç: Tekrarlayan idrar yolu enfeksiyonunun artmış rezidü idrar ile ilişkili olduğu biliniyor. Yetişkinlerde tekrarlayan akut epididimi in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazla çalışma yok ve bu yapılan kısıtlı sayıdak
atients in Group 2 were treated for epididymitis at least two times in the last six months or thrice a year. The patients in Group 1 were eated only once in a year. Chi-square (Fisher's exact test) and Student's t-test were used to compare categorical variables. A value o <0.05 was considered the threshold of statistical significance. esults: Age, PSA level, prostate volume, IPSS score, and peak flow did not significantly differ between the two groups. However here were significant differences in terms of post-voiding residual urine volumes (<i>P</i> =0.029). The mean post-voiding residual volumes in atients with acute and recurrent acute epididymitis were 47.3 (16.2) ml and 178.2 (23.6) ml, respectively. onclusion: There is a relationship between increased post-voiding residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis. Patients whe resent with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR. 'eywords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue 'z maç: Tekrarlayan idrar yolu enfeksiyonunun artmış rezidü idrar ile ilişkili olduğu biliniyor. Yetişkinlerde tekrarlayan akut epididimi in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazla çalışma yok ve bu yapılan kısıtlı sayıdak
eated only once in a year. Chi-square (Fisher's exact test) and Student's t-test were used to compare categorical variables. A value o <0.05 was considered the threshold of statistical significance. esults: Age, PSA level, prostate volume, IPSS score, and peak flow did not significantly differ between the two groups. However ere were significant differences in terms of post-voiding residual urine volumes (<i>P</i> =0.029). The mean post-voiding residual volumes in atients with acute and recurrent acute epididymitis were 47.3 (16.2) ml and 178.2 (23.6) ml, respectively. onclusion: There is a relationship between increased post-voiding residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis. Patients who resent with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR. 'eywords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue 'z maç: Tekrarlayan idrar yolu enfeksiyonunun artmış rezidü idrar ile ilişkili olduğu biliniyor. Yetişkinlerde tekrarlayan akut epididimi in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazla çalışma yok ve bu yapılan kısıtlı sayıdak
<0.05 was considered the threshold of statistical significance. esults: Age, PSA level, prostate volume, IPSS score, and peak flow did not significantly differ between the two groups. However ere were significant differences in terms of post-voiding residual urine volumes (<i>P</i> =0.029). The mean post-voiding residual volumes in atients with acute and recurrent acute epididymitis were 47.3 (16.2) ml and 178.2 (23.6) ml, respectively. onclusion: There is a relationship between increased post-voiding residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis. Patients who resent with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR. 'eywords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue 'z maç: Tekrarlayan idrar yolu enfeksiyonunun artmış rezidü idrar ile ilişkili olduğu biliniyor. Yetişkinlerde tekrarlayan akut epididimi in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazla çalışma yok ve bu yapılan kısıtlı sayıdak
esults: Age, PSA level, prostate volume, IPSS score, and peak flow did not significantly differ between the two groups. However there were significant differences in terms of post-voiding residual urine volumes (<i>P</i> =0.029). The mean post-voiding residual volumes in atients with acute and recurrent acute epididymitis were 47.3 (16.2) ml and 178.2 (23.6) ml, respectively. onclusion: There is a relationship between increased post-voiding residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis. Patients who resent with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR. Teywords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue Te maç: Tekrarlayan idrar yolu enfeksiyonunun artmış rezidü idrar ile ilişkili olduğu biliniyor. Yetişkinlerde tekrarlayan akut epididimi in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazla çalışma yok ve bu yapılan kısıtlı sayıdak
tere were significant differences in terms of post-voiding residual urine volumes (<i>P</i> =0.029). The mean post-voiding residual volumes in atients with acute and recurrent acute epididymitis were 47.3 (16.2) ml and 178.2 (23.6) ml, respectively. onclusion: There is a relationship between increased post-voiding residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis. Patients who resent with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR. Teywords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue Tekrarlayan idrar yolu enfeksiyonunun artmış rezidü idrar ile ilişkili olduğu biliniyor. Yetişkinlerde tekrarlayan akut epididimi in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazla çalışma yok ve bu yapılan kısıtlı sayıdak
atients with acute and recurrent acute epididymitis were 47.3 (16.2) ml and 178.2 (23.6) ml, respectively. onclusion: There is a relationship between increased post-voiding residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis. Patients who resent with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR. teywords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue tz maç: Tekrarlayan idrar yolu enfeksiyonunun artmış rezidü idrar ile ilişkili olduğu biliniyor. Yetişkinlerde tekrarlayan akut epididimi in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazla çalışma yok ve bu yapılan kısıtlı sayıdak
onclusion: There is a relationship between increased post-voiding residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis. Patients whe resent with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR. Teywords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue Te maç: Tekrarlayan idrar yolu enfeksiyonunun artmış rezidü idrar ile ilişkili olduğu biliniyor. Yetişkinlerde tekrarlayan akut epididimi in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazla çalışma yok ve bu yapılan kısıtlı sayıdak
resent with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR. Teywords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue Te maç: Tekrarlayan idrar yolu enfeksiyonunun artmış rezidü idrar ile ilişkili olduğu biliniyor. Yetişkinlerde tekrarlayan akut epididimi in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazla çalışma yok ve bu yapılan kısıtlı sayıdak
resent with recurrent acute epididymitis should be scanned for urological pathologies which may cause increased PVR. Teywords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue Te maç: Tekrarlayan idrar yolu enfeksiyonunun artmış rezidü idrar ile ilişkili olduğu biliniyor. Yetişkinlerde tekrarlayan akut epididimin in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazla çalışma yok ve bu yapılan kısıtlı sayıdak
Yeywords: Epididymitis, Post-voiding residue IZ maç: Tekrarlayan idrar yolu enfeksiyonunun artmış rezidü idrar ile ilişkili olduğu biliniyor. Yetişkinlerde tekrarlayan akut epididimi in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazla çalışma yok ve bu yapılan kısıtlı sayıdak
iz maç: Tekrarlayan idrar yolu enfeksiyonunun artmış rezidü idrar ile ilişkili olduğu biliniyor. Yetişkinlerde tekrarlayan akut epididimi in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazla çalışma yok ve bu yapılan kısıtlı sayıdak
maç: Tekrarlayan idrar yolu enfeksiyonunun artmış rezidü idrar ile ilişkili olduğu biliniyor. Yetişkinlerde tekrarlayan akut epididimi in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazla çalışma yok ve bu yapılan kısıtlı sayıdak
in ise böyle bir durum henüz gösterilmemiş. Bildiğimiz kadarıyla bu konuyla ilgili çok fazla çalışma yok ve bu yapılan kısıtlı sayıdak
alışmaların çoğunda etyolojide ejekülatör kanala retrograd idrar akışı üzerinde durulmuş. Bu çalışmada tekrarlayan akut epididimit ile
tmış rezidü idrar (PVR) arasındaki olası nedensel ilişkiyi incelemeyi amaçladık.
öntemler: Çalışma retrospektif kohort olarak tasarlandı. 2015-2018 yılları arasında polikliniğimizde epididimit tedavisi gören 38
astanın verileri retrospektif olarak incelendi. Bu hastaların 72'si aynı zamanda alt üriner sistem semptomları (AUSS) açısından d
celenmişti. Yaş, PSA düzeyi, Qmax değeri, üroflowmetrik patern, işeme sonrası rezidüel hacim, IPSS Skorları ve prostat hacimler
aydedildi. Hastalar, dahil edilme kriterlerine göre akut ve tekrarlayan akut epididimiti olanlar olarak iki gruba ayrıldı. Analiz için
astalar akut (n=38, Grup 1) ve rekürren akut (n=34, Grup 2) epididimit olarak iki gruba ayrıldı. Grup 2'deki hastalar epididimit için so
tı ayda iki veya son bir yılda üç defa tedavi edildi. Grup 1'deki hastalar yılda sadece 1 kez tedavi edildi. Kategorik değişkenler
arşılaştırmak için ki-kare (Fisher's exact test) ve Student t-testi kullanıldı. P<0.05 değeri istatistiksel anlamlılık eşiği olarak kabu
tildi.
ulgular: Yaş, PSA düzeyi, prostat hacmi, IPSS skoru ve pik akım iki grup arasında anlamlı farklılık göstermedi. Bununla birlikte
eme sonrası rezidüel idrar hacimleri açısından anlamlı farklılıklar vardı (P=0.029). Akut ve rekürren akut epididimitli hastalarda
talama işeme sonrası rezidüel hacimler sırasıyla 47.3 (16.2) ml ve 178.2 (23.6) ml idi.
onuç: Artan işeme sonrası rezidüel idrar hacmi ile tekrarlayan akut epididimit arasında bir sebep-sonuç ilişkisi vardır. Tekrarlayan aku
bididimit ile başvuran hastalar, artmış PVR'ye neden olabilecek ürolojik patolojiler için taranmalıdır.
nahtar kelimeler: Epididimit, Artmış rezidü idrar
o as as ti ar ti u ei ti oi

How to cite / Attf icin: Sanct A, Süer E. Increased post-voiding residue and recurrent acute epididymitis: Are they causally related? J Surg Med. 2020;4(1):21-24.

Introduction

Epididymitis is an inflammation of the coiled tube (epididymis) at the back of the testicle that stores and carries sperm. Its incidence ranges from 25 to 65 cases per 10.000 adult males per year [1]. Signs and symptoms of epididymitis might include a swollen, hyperemic, or warm scrotum, scrotal pain, tenderness usually on one side, painful urination, an urgent or frequent need to urinate, and less commonly, fever. It can be acute, chronic, or recurrent [1,2]. Acute epididymitis is a clinical syndrome consisting of pain, swelling, and inflammation of the epididymis that lasts for less than 3 months. Chronic epididymitis is characterized by symptoms of discomfort and/or pain in the scrotum, testicle, or epididymis for more than 3 months [2]. Recurrent epididymitis considered as chronic epididymitis, but according to some authors, it is a clinical condition involving pain, swelling, hyperemic and warm scrotum, tenderness, fever lasting for less than 3 months like acute epididymitis, that is treated with antibiotics but can recur due to urological pathologies and anomalies after clinical recovery [7-9]. The pathophysiology of epididymitis remains unclear, although it is postulated to occur secondary to retrograde flow of infected urine into the ejaculatory duct [2]. Chronic infectious epididymitis is most frequently seen in conditions associated with a granulomatous reaction. Mycobacterium tuberculosis (TB) is the most common granulomatous disease affecting the epididymis and should be suspected, especially in men with a known history of or recent exposure to TB [3]. The most common isolated pathogens are C. trachomatis and N. gonorrhoeae along with sexually and non-sexually transmitted pathogens [4,5]. Non-sexually transmitted infectious causes of acute epididymitis are uncommon and include obstructive urinary disease, urinary tract surgery, prostate biopsy, urinary systemic tract catheterization, disease, and/or immunosuppression [5]. Epididymitis is diagnosed with clinical findings, but urine dipstick test, urine culture, urethral smear, and scrotal ultrasonography are helpful [5]. The treatment of epididymitis includes bed rest, scrotal elevation, analgesics, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, empirical antibiotics, correcting the underlying cause, and surgery [1,6]. To the best of our knowledge, there are a few published studies about the underlying causes of recurrent acute epididymitis in adults. Due to inadequate studies on this subject and the fact that authors are mainly focused on the retrograde flow of the infected urine into the ejaculatory duct in pathophysiology, we aimed to determine underlying causes of recurrent acute epididymitis and its relationship with post-voiding residual urine volume in order to choose the best treatment for patients and avoid epididymectomy.

Materials and methods

In this retrospective cohort study, 388 patients treated for epididymitis between June 2015 and May 2018 were evaluated. Patients who were older than 18 years of age were all included in this study. All patients had low urinary tract symptoms and were diagnosed by ultrasonography, urinalysis, and physical examination. All patients had swollen, hyperemic or warm scrotums, testicle pain, tenderness, and positive urine culture for bacteria or fungi. The patients in Group 2 (recurrent acute epididymitis, n=34) were treated for epididymitis at least two times in six months or thrice a year. The patients in Group 1 (acute epididymitis, n=38) were treated only once in a year. Patients younger 18 years, those with chronic epididymitis, sexually transmitted epididymitis, and negative urine cultures were excluded from the study. A total of 72 patients were included based on the inclusion and diagnostic criteria, thirtyfour of which were treated for epididymitis at least two times in six months or three times in a year (Group 2). There is no definitive description of recurrent acute epididymitis. Therefore, we classified the patients into two groups based on the definition of recurrent urinary tract infection in the EAU guideline [13,14]: Acute epididymitis (n=38, Group 1) and recurrent acute epididymitis (n=34, Group 2). Age, PSA level, Q_{max} value, uroflowmetric pattern, post-voiding residual urine volume, IPSS scores, prostate volume, and underlying causes were recorded.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with SPSS v25.0 for Windows (IBM Corp. Released 2018). Chi-square (Fisher's exact test) and Student's t-test were used to compare categorical variables. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

The mean ages of the first and second groups were 56.2 (15.2) years and 68.3 (14.6) years, respectively. The incidence of recurrent acute epididymitis was insignificantly higher in the older group (P=0.29). Epididymitis is more common between the ages of 18-50 [12]. The reason for the higher age average is that only patients with lower urinary tract symptoms were included in our study, who were all above 40 years of age. Mean PSA levels were 3.67 (1.26) and 3.09 (2.11) ng/mL in the first and second groups, respectively, which were similar (P=0.47). There were no significant differences in terms of prostate volumes, IPSS scores, and peak flow between the two groups (P=0.26, P=0.18, P=0.21), although mean prostate volume and IPSS score were greater in recurrent acute epididymitis patient group, in which all patients had severe LUTS. Most patients had normal voiding patterns and Q_{max} values were lower in patients with recurrent acute epididymitis. The mean post-voiding residual volumes in patients with acute and recurrent acute epididymitis were 47.3 (16.2) ml and 178.2 (23.6) ml, respectively (P=0.029). In addition, there were more underlying causes in patients with recurrent acute epididymitis (P=0.039): 1 patient had undergone transurethral resection of the prostate (TURP), 2 patients had undergone hypospadias repair and 1 patient had urethritis secondary to urethral stricture. 5 patients had neurogenic bladder, 11 patients had benign prostate hyperplasia and 6 patients had prostatic surgeries, such as transurethral electrovaporization of the prostate, TURP, or biopsy. The results and the underlying causes are summarized in Table 1 and Figure 1, respectively.





JOSAM

	Acute epididymitis		Recurrent acut		
	(n=38)		epididymitis (r	n=34)	
Parameters	Mean	n	Mean	n	P-value
Age	56.2(15.2)		68.3(14.6)		0.29
PSA Level (ng/mL)	3.67(1.26)		3.09(2.11)		0.47
Prostate volume (mL)	44.41(23.1)		61.33(21.95)		0.26
IPSS	8.1(4.7)		13.7(6.23)		0.18
Mild=0-7		16		12	
Moderate=8-19		19		12	
Severe=20-35		3		10	
Peak Flow (Q max)	18.2(11.1)		13.2(9.6)		0.21
Normal >15		30		21	
Obstructive<15		8		13	
Post voiding residual	47.3(16.2)		178.2(23.6)		0.029
urine volume (mL)					
Underlying causes		6		26	0.039
Urethral stricture		-		4	
Neurogenic bladder/CIC		1		5	
Vasculitis		1		-	
Prostatic surgery		1		5	
Following prostate		1		1	
biopsy					
BPH/BOO		2		11	

BOO: Bladder outlet obstruction, CIC: Clear intermittent catheterization, BPH: Benign prostatic hyperplasia, n: Number of patients

Discussion

Residual urine is defined as the volume of urine left in the bladder following urination. It is measured by the help of a catheter or ultrasonography. Catheterization allows for safer evaluation of PVR, however, it is time-consuming and carries complication risks, such as urethral injury, urinary tract infection and urethrorrhagia. Ultrasonographic examination of the bladder is a noninvasive, basic and easily-accessible method that requires a well-trained radiologist. However, its results depend on the performer, and it does not provide a definite result for PVR. Normal PVR urine volume is ≤ 50 ml, but there is no consensus on cut-off values. Increased PVR volume indicates problems with the emptying of the bladder. In men, it may be caused by various pathologies, such as benign prostate hyperplasia, bladder outlet obstruction, urethral or meatal stricture, underactive bladder, and neurogenic bladder [17]. The PVR volume significantly affects the quality of life due to the fact that increased PVR may reduce functional bladder capacity and cause symptoms of the lower urinary tract [21]. Current studies have shown that it is associated with many complications ranging from a simple lower urinary tract symptom to acute and chronic renal failure [24]. It is also reportedly associated with recurrent urinary tract infections. Dray et al. [23] reported that increased post-void urine residue was found to aggravate incontinence, as measured by the M-ISI (Michigan Incontinence Symptom Index) score and increase the risk of recurrent UTIs in selected MS (Multiple sclerosis) patients with LUTS. A PVR volume greater than 50 ml is considered an independent risk factor for rUTIs [18]. Some studies have shown that clinically asymptomatic adult men with a PVR of 180 ml or greater are at higher risk for bacteriuria [19]. High post-void residual (PVR) volumes can function as a reservoir for microorganisms because the infected urine cannot be emptied completely [20]. The pathophysiology of both acute and recurrent acute epididymitis remains unclear, but the theory of "retrograde flow of infected urine into the ejaculatory duct" is the most current one. All these studies and the pathophysiology of epididymitis suggest that there may be a relationship between the increased amount of residual urine and the development or recurrence of epididymitis. Some congenital abnormalities and low urinary tract pathologies have been associated with recurrent acute epididymitis in pediatric populations [7-10]. In adults, there are a few studies on recurrent acute epididymitis [15,16]. Hoeppner et al. [16] reported that among 336 men aged over 60 years presenting with acute/recurrent acute epididymitis, lower urinary tract obstruction was identified in 187(56%) patients, which was caused by benign prostate hyperplasia, prostate cancer, and/or urethral stricture. Our study is important for the following two reasons: First of all, to the best of our knowledge, there is no sufficient study to date on recurrent acute epididymitis and secondly, we found a relationship between residual urine volume and recurrent acute epididymitis, which confirms the theory of "retrograde flow of infected urine into the ejaculatory duct" in pathophysiology.

Limitations

However, our study has some limitations: Some data were missing due to its retrospective nature. Residual urine volume was measured only in patients with low urinary tract system symptoms, which decreased our sample size. Some of the patients in Group 1 may have had acute epididymitis attacks more than once, and it may not be recorded in the hospital registry, which may have led to statistically significant differences. It is not known whether the patients in Group 2 were previously treated for the pathologies leading to increased residual urine volume.

Conclusion

Based on our study, we believe that solving the underlying pathology which increases PVR will be the best treatment choice in patients with recurrent acute epididymitis. It is possible that microorganisms migrate from the bladder due to high post-voiding residual urine increase in patients with recurrent acute epididymitis. Evaluating the PSA level, prostate volume, IPSS, peak flow and post-voiding residual volume in patients with recurrent acute epididymitis will determine the correct approach to treatment, even if there are no lower urinary tract symptoms. Further, prospective studies with large patient series are required to shed light on the issue.

References

- 1. Cek M, Sturdza L, Pilatz A. Acute and chronic epididymitis. Eur Urol Suppl. 2017;16:124-31.
- Tracy CR, Steers WD, Costabile R. Diagnosis and management of epididymitis. Urol Clin North Am. 2008;35:101–8.
- Trojian TH, Lishnak TS, Heiman D. Epididymitis and orchitis: an overview. Am Fam Physician. 2009;79:583– 7.
- Harnisch JP, Berger RE, Alexander ER, Monda G, Holmes KK. Aetiology of acute epididymitis. Lancet. 1977 Apr 16;1(8016):819-21.
- Street E, Joyce A, Wilson J. Clinical Effectiveness Group, British Association for Sexual Health and HIV. BASHH UK guideline for the management of epididymo-orchitis. 2010. Int J STD AIDS. 2011 Jul;22(7):361-5.
 Nicholson A, Rait G, Murray-Thomas T, Hughes G, Mercer CH, Cassell J. Management of epididymo-orchitis
- Nicholson A, Rait G, Murray-Thomas T, Hughes G, Mercer CH, Cassell J. Management of epididymo-orchitis in primary care results from a large UK primary care database. Br J Gen Pract. 2010 Oct;60(579):e407-22.
- Weingartner K, Gerharz EW, Gillich M, Riedmiller H. Ectopic third ureter causing recurrent acute epididymitis. Br J Urol. 1998;81:164-5.
- Siegel A, Snyder H, Duckett JW. Epididymitis in infants and boys: Underlying urogenital anomalies and efficacy of imaging modalities. J Urol. 1987;138:1100-3.
- Kajbafzadeh AM, Shirazi M, Dianat S, Mehdizadeh M. Management of recurrent epididymitis in children: Application of neurovascular sparing vas clipping in refractory cases. J Ped Urol. 2011. Oct;7(5):552-8.
- 10. Madani A, Rahimzadeh N, Esfahani ST, Ataei N, Mohseny P, Kajbafzadeh A, et al. Posterior urethral valve in a child presenting as recurrent epididymo-orchitis. Arch Iran Med. 2008 Nov;11(6):662-4.
- Banyra O, Shulyak A. Acute epididymo-orchitis: staging and treatment. Cent European J Urol. 2012;65(3):139-43.
- 12. Luzzi GA, O'Brien TS. Acute epididymitis. BJU Int. 2001 May;87(8):747-55.
- Dason S, Dason JT, Kapoor A. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of recurrent urinary tract infection in women. Can Urol Assoc J. 2011 Oct;5(5):316-22.
- 14. Al-Badr A, Al-Shaikh G. Recurrent Urinary Tract Infections. Sultan Qaboos Univ Med J. 2013 Aug;13(3).
- 15. Mittemeyer BT, Lennox KW, Borski AA: Epididymitis: a review of 610 cases. J Urol 1966;95:390-2. 16. Höppner W, Strohmeyer T, Hartmann M, Lopez-Gamarra D, Dreikorn K. Surgical treatment of acute
- epididymitis and its underlying diseases. Eur Urol. 1992;22(3):218-21.
- Noguchi N, Chan L, Cumming RG, Blyth FM, Handelsman DJ, Waite LM, et al. Natural history of post-void residual urine volume over 5 years in community-dwelling older men: The Concord Health and Ageing in Men Project. Neurourol Urodyn. 2018 Mar;37(3):1068-73.
- Bergamin PA, Kiosoglous AJ. Non-surgical management of recurrent urinary tract infections in women. Transl Androl Urol. 2017;6(Suppl 2):S142-S152.
- José Carlos I. Truzzi, Flávio Mistreta R. Almeida, Eduardo Capati Nunes, Marcus V. Sadi. Residual Urinary Volume and Urinary Tract Infection—When are They Linked? J Urol. 2008 Jul;180(1):182-5.

- O'Grady F, Mackintosh IP, Greenwood D, Watson BW. Treatment of 'bacterial cystitis' in fully automatic mechanical modelsstimulating the conditions of bacterial growth in the urinary bladder. Br J Exp Pathol.1973;54:283-90.
- 21. Özlülerden Y, Toktaş C, Zümrütbaş AE, Gülten MC, Başer A, Yapıcı O, et al. Can feeling of incomplete bladder emptying reflect significant postvoid residual urine? Is it reliable as a symptom solely? Investig Clin Urol. 2018 Jan;59(1):38-43.
- 22. Caron F, Alexandre K, Pestel-Caron M, Chassagne P, Grise P, Etienne M. Highbacterial titers in urine are predictive of abnormal postvoid residual urine in patients with urinary tract infection. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2015;83(1):63-7.
- 23. Dray E, Cameron AP, Clemens JQ, Qin Y, Covalschi D, Stoffel J. Does Post-Void Residual Volume Predict Worsening Urologic Symptoms in Patients with Multiple Sclerosis? J Urol. 2018 Oct;200(4):868-74.
- 24.Sharma A, Garg G, Pandey S, Agarwal S, Sankhwar SN. Post Circumcision Meatal Stenosis Causing Renal Failure: A Preventable and Disastrous Complication. JOJ Case Stud. 2018;7(2):555708.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors. The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Journal of Surgery and Medicine

Ovarian reserve testing in the prediction of recurrent pregnancy loss

Tekrarlayan gebelik kaybını öngörmede over rezerv testlerinin kullanılması

Abstract

Sadık Kükrer¹, Sefa Arlıer¹, Seyfettin Senih Karaman¹

¹ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Adana City Education and Research Hospital, Adana, Turkey

> ORCID ID of the author(s) SK: 0000-0001-8465-3225 SA: 0000-0002-0019-8403 SSK: 0000-0002-5768-8470

Aim: Approximately 1-2% of reproductive women have faced recurrent pregnancy loss (RPL). Ovarian reserve testing in the prediction of recurrent pregnancy loss is not usually performed. In this study, we aim to evaluate whether there were any differences between patients with and without a history of recurrent pregnancy loss (RPL) with regards to anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH), follicle stimulating hormone (FSH), luteinizing hormone (Lh), estradiol (E2) levels and basal follicle count.

Methods: This case-control study was conducted between 1 January 2013 and 1 January 2015 in the Gynecology and Obstetrics Clinic of Adana Numune Training and Research Hospital. A total of 370 patients aged 17-37 years with a diagnosis of RPL during that 2-year period were contacted by telephone. Further evaluation was made of 40 patients who met the study criteria and gave verbal consent. Patients were called to the Gynecology Polyclinic for assessment on the 3rd day of their menstrual cycle, and a control group was formed of 40 patients with similar demographic characteristics who were referred to the Gynecology Polyclinic and met the study criteria.

Results: The mean basal follicle count was determined as 9.4 (2.7) in the study group and 8.9 (2.5) in the control group (P=0.092). The mean AMH values in the RPL and control groups were 3.50 (1.92) ng/mL and 3.66 (2.14) ng/mL, respectively (P=0.718). The mean FSH values in the RPL and control groups were 6.77 (1.87) mIU/mL and 7.01 (1.90) mIU/mL, respectively (P=0.494). Mean LH values were measured as 5.6 (1.8) mIU/mL in the study group and 4.9 (1.7) mIU/mL in the control group. Mean E2 values were 87.7 (83.9) pg/mL and 48.4 (27.9) pg/mL in the study and control groups, respectively.

Conclusion: While no difference was found between the RPL and control groups in respect of AMH and FSH values in the ovarian reserve tests, the basal follicle count of the patients with recurrent pregnancy loss was found lower than that of the control group. Keywords: Recurrent pregnancy loss, Ovarian reserve, AMH, Basal follicle count, FSH

Öz

Amaç: Üreme çağındaki kadınlarının yaklaşık %1-2'si tekrarlayan gebelik kaybı (RPL) ile karşı karşı yadır. Tekrarlayan gebelik kaybının öngörülmesinde yumurtalık rezerv testi genellikle yapılmaz. Bu çalışmamızda Antimüllerian hormon, follikül stimulant hormon, Lüteinizan hormon, Estradiol ve Bazal follikül sayısının tekrarlayan gebelik kabı olan ve olmayan hastalar arasında farklı olup olmadığının değerlendirilmesi amaclanmıştır.

Yöntemler: 2 yıllık sürede tekrarlayan gebelik kaybı tanısı konulan, yaşları 17-37 yaş arası 370 hasta telefonla aranarak ayrıntılı sorgulama sonucu çalışma kriterlerine uyan ve sözlü onamları alınan 40 hasta tekrar değerlendirilmek üzere mensrüel siklusun 3. günü jinekoloji polikiniğe davet edildi. Calısma grubu olarak alınan hastalarla avnı gün jinekoloji polikliniğine basvuran benzer demoğrafik özellikteki çalışma kriterlerine uyan 40 hasta kontrol grubu olarak oluşturuldu.

Bulgular: Tekrarlayan gebelik kaybı olan grupta ortalama bazal follikül sayısı 9,4 (2,7) adet, kontrol grubunda 8,9 (2,5) adet olarak ölçüldü. (P=0,092). Tekrarlayan gebelik kaybı olan grupta ortalama AMH değeri 3,50 (1.92) ng/mL, kontrol grubunda 3,66 (2,14) ng/mL, (P=0,718), FSH değeri tekrarlayan düşük yapan grupta 6,77 (1,87) mIU/mL, kontrol grubunda 7,01 (1,29) mIU/mL (P=0,494), LH değeri sırasıyla 5,6 (1,8) mlU/mL ve 4,9 (1,7) mlU/mL, E2 değeri sırasıyla 87,7 (83,9) pg/mL, 48,4 (27,9) pg/mL olarak ölçüldü. Sonuc: Over rezevr testlerinden tekrarlavan gebelik kaybı olan grup ile kontrol grubu arasında AMH, FSH değerleri arasında fark

bulunmazken, tekrarlayan gebelik kaybı olan grupta estradiol seviyesi daha yüksek, bazal follikül sayısı ise daha düşük bulundu. Anahtar kelimeler: Tekrarlayan gebelik kaybı, Over rezervi, AMH, Bazal follikül sayısı, FSH



Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Ethical Committee of Adana Numune Training and Research Hospital (2014/29).

Etik Kurul Onayı: Çalışma Adana Numune Eğitim ve Arastırma Hastanesi Etik Komitesi (2014/29) tarafından onaylanmıştır.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemislerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/20/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 20.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s)

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s) Published by JOSAM his is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative sommon Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivities License 40 (CC BY-NC-ND 40) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, ansform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal. trai



Introduction

The terminology of recurrent pregnancy loss (RPL) has still not been fully defined. To remove this confusion, in 2005, The European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE) recommended that the definition of RPL be accepted as 3 or more consecutive pregnancies lost before the 22nd week [1]. Several factors have been held responsible in the etiopathogenesis.

The factors which are primarily thought to be responsible are maternal and paternal chromosomal anomalies (this risk is greater in cases of marital consanguinity), autoantibodies, natural killer cell dysfunctions, abnormal HLA-G expression, hereditary or acquired thrombophilia, thyroid autoantibodies, polycystic ovary disease (PCOD), sperm DNA fragmentation, impaired endometrial receptivity, uterine malformations and lifestyle-associated problems such as excessive alcohol consumption or obesity [2].

Anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH), glycoprotein in structure, prevents the development of paramesonephric canals (Mullerian canals) in a male embryo and is encoded by the AMH gene in the transforming growth factor (TGF-beta) family. In the female fetus, it initiates the proliferation of granulosa cells of the preantral and small antral follicles towards the end of fetal life and particularly postnatally [3].

As females age, AMH within the follicle decreases along with AMH serum concentrations. Aging cases a gradual deterioration in oocyte quality. A stronger correlation is shown of oocyte quality and basal follicle count compared to E2 and FSH in this drop in AMH levels [4].

The formation of maternal non-disjunctions during oogenesis and the emergence of chromosomal abnormalities in the embryo which have developed as a result of impairments in the spindles may cause embryo and fetus losses [5,6]. In parallel with a decreasing ovarian reserve, the increasing rate of aneuploidy in oocytes has been shown to cause miscarriages as well as reduced fertility [7-9].

The aim of this study was to reveal whether or not there was a relationship between falling AMH levels due to a diminishing ovarian reserve and recurrent pregnancy loss. It was thought that different results may emerge as few previous studies have been made with selection and randomization of the study groups, and control groups have included very high AMH values such as in PCOD.

Materials and methods

This prospective case-control study was conducted between 1 January 2013 and 1 January 2015 in the Gynecology and Obstetrics Clinic of Adana Numune Training and Research Hospital. Patients aged 17-37 years with a diagnosis of recurrent pregnancy loss during that 2-year period were included as the study group, and contacted by telephone and recalled to the Gynecology Outpatient clinic for assessment on the 3rd day of their menstrual cycles. Of the total 370 patients with RPL in the previous 2 years, 158 presented at the outpatient clinic. A detailed anamnesis was taken from each patient. The previous tests were recorded and family history was questioned. A detailed gynecological examination was performed with transvaginal ultrasonography using a 5-7 MHz vaginal probe (TV-USG Mindray, DC-7 Nanshan Shenzhen P.R. China).

On day 3 of the menstrual cycle, between 08:00 and 12:00, a fasting venous blood sample was withdrawn into a sterile tube containing no other material (Becton-Dickinson, Vacutainer, Z). After waiting for 30 minutes, serum was separated by centrifugation at 2000 rpm. Analysis was made with chemoluminescence immunoassay method for endocrine tests such as FSH, LH, PRL, T3, T4, TSH (thyroid auto-antibodies were requested from those with impaired thyroid tests) (Roche Cobas 6000 e601, Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany).

A blood sample was concurrently obtained from all patients for AMH measurement. Serum was separated by centrifugation at 2000 rpm then stored at -20° until analysis. The AMH concentration was measured with the ELIZA enzyme immunoassay method (Immunotech, Beckman Coulter, Marseilles, France). Antiphospholipid antibody, HgbA1c (glycolised hemoglobin), liver function tests, hemogram and spermiogram tests were performed.

Exclusion criteria from the study included patients who were pregnant, smoked cigarettes or drank alcohol, those with marital consanguinity, with abnormal karyotype analyses, abnormal findings on trans-vaginal ultrasonography (an appearance consistent with endometrioma, hydrosalpinx, etc), a previous diagnosis of endometriosis, with partners with abnormal spermiograms, connective tissue or immunological diseases, systemic diseases (diabetes mellitus, hypertension, PCOD according to the Rotterdam criteria) or other endocrinological disorders, those without low values in 3 or more of the ESHRE criteria. those with an abnormal finding on hysterosalpingography (HSG), body mass index (BMI) >30, a history of gynecological surgery or if consent was not given for participation in the study.

The control group consisted of patients of similar age and demographic characteristics who attended the Gynecology outpatient and had no history of pregnancy loss, did not have PCOD and had a regular menstrual cycle. Fasting blood samples were drawn from both the patient and control groups in the morning of the 3rd day of the menstrual cycle.

Approval for the study was granted by the Ethics Committee of Adana Numune Training and Research Hospital. After detailed explanations, informed consent was obtained from all participants. In the control group, a record was made for each participant of age, menstrual status, number of pregnancy losses, smoking habits and alcohol habits. BMI was calculated from the height and weight values.

Forty patients and 40 control groups subjects who all met the study criteria were evaluated.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with Statistics Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) [SPSS 21 Inc., Chicago, IL, USA] software. Independent groups were compared with the Independent samples t-test. For non-parametric data, the Mann Whitney U-test and the Chi-square test were used. A value of P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

The study included 40 patients with recurrent pregnancy loss (RPL) and a control group of 40 healthy volunteers. The mean age was 30.2 (4.5) years in the study group and 28.3 (5.7) years in the control group. The mean BMI value was calculated as 22.6 (1.9) in the study group and 21.7(1.7) in the control group. The number of pregnancy losses was recorded as 3 in 27 patients, 4 in 9 patients, 5 in 3 patients and 6 in 1 patient. None of the study or control group subjects smoked cigarettes or consumed alcohol. The demographic characteristics and the laboratory findings of both groups are shown in Table 1.

The mean basal follicle count was measured as 9.4 (2.7) in the study group and 8.9 (2.5) in the control group, which were similar (P=0.092).

The mean AMH value was determined as 3.50 (1.92) ng/mL in the study group and 3.66 (2.1) ng/mL in the control group (P=0.718). The mean FSH value was determined as 6.77 (1.87) mIU/mL in the study group and 7.01 (1.29) mIU/mL in the control group (P=0.494). The distribution of the basal follicle count and AMH values is shown in Figure 1.

Table 1: Distribution of the demographic and laboratory values of both groups															
			Control group n=40				Study group n=40			Total		P-v	alue		
Age (years)			28.3 (5.7)				30.2 (1.9)			29.3 (5.2)		0.14	19		
AMH Level (ng/mL)			3.66 (2.1)				3.50 (1.9)			3.6 (2.0)		0.7	18		
FSH Level (mIU/mL)			7.0 (1.3)				6.7 (1.8)			6.9 (1.6)		0.49	∂ 4		
LH Level (mIU/mL)			4.5 (1.7)				5.6 (1.8)			5.3 (1.8)		0.60)7		
E2 Level (pg/mL)			48.4 (27.9)				87.7 (89.9)			68.0 (65.2)		<0.	001		
Basal follicle count			9.4 (2.8)					8.9 (2.5)			9.2 (2		0.0		
BMI			21.7 (1.7)					22.6 (1.9)			22.2 (1.8)	0.22	27	
Data as presented mean (SD), SD: Standard deviation, BMI: Body mass index															
	15,00-									0.0					
						0		0			D				
	12,50-				0		0			0	o		0		
unt							(6)	00			0		0		
basal follicle count				0	0	0	00	00	0	00					
licle	10,00				0	0	0	000	0 00		0 0				
fol	- 1		0	0.00	0	000	0	00	0	0					
sal	7,50-			000	0	0.000 0	0	0	0	0					
bas	1,10				0	0		0		c	0				
			0	00											
	\$,00-	60	0	60											
		٥	0												
		.00		2,0	0			4,00		6,00		8,00		10,00	

AMH values

Figure 1: Distribution of basal follicle count and AMH values

Discussion

Reduced rates of becoming pregnant, together with increased rates of the birth of infants with anomalies and rates of miscarriage are seen with increasing age and decreasing ovarian reserve [10,11]. The probable reason for this is thought to be the diminished quality of the eggs remaining in the reduced ovarian reserve associated with increasing age [12]. The extended exposure of eggs to toxic mutant agents due to increased maternal age may be the cause of a deterioration in quality due to DNA damage and the formation of DNA methylation [13].

Basal follicle count and 3^{rd} day FSH values have been used for many years in the determination of ovarian reserve. AMH measurement, which is strongly correlated with antral follicle count, has started to be used routinely in many clinics at the start of IVF treatment besides the determination of ovarian reserve, especially in patients with PCOD and before endometrioma surgery [14]. As AMH measurement can be made on any day of the cycle, it has the advantage of facilitating analysis in patients where the ovarian reserve is evaluated. Previous studies related to AMH have generally been conducted on infertile patient groups [4].

Most studies of patients with a diagnosis of endometriosis have included a pre and post- surgical evaluation of ovarian reserve. In studies by Chang et al, the relationship between laparoscopic cystectomy and ovarian reserve was investigated with 3D-USG evaluation of the ovarian volume and AMH levels. A decrease in serum AMH levels on the 7th postoperative day was determined in both groups of patients with ovarian cysts and no endometrioma. At the 3rd postoperative month, this fall in the AMH levels had increased to 65% of the preoperative level. However, in that study, no detailed information was available with respect to the history of pregnancy loss [15].

The vast majority of these cases of RPL may be due to reasons such as defective chromosomes carried by the mother or father, genetic damage occurring in the formation of the embryo, maternal metabolic or endocrine diseases, maternal hereditary or acquired thrombophilic diseases, functional or structural defects in the uterus or endometrium or maternal immune disorders. Despite a comprehensive investigation of patients, the etiology of recurrent miscarriage is not identified in 50% of cases [16].

Furthermore, it has recently been shown that apoptosis mechanisms play a significant role in placental development and differentiation and tissue homeostasis. The interaction of Fas ligand (fasL) with decidual cells in the uterine wall internal layer was seen to provide down-regulation on the active leukocytes in that area. This adjusts the levels of cytokines such as TGF-beta and IL-10 and provides trophoblastic invasion in an appropriate form. Leukocyte infiltration into the implantation area occurs when this substance is absent or decreased in decidual cells [17].

It has been suggested in previous research that the inhibition of trophoblastic invasion with this mechanism could be a possible reason for recurrent pregnancy loss. Some studies have also implied that the decrease in bcl-2 expression and increase in bax expression in decidual cells could be the reason for RPL [18]. Studies on the subject will shed light on the molecular mechanism and treatment choices in RPL.

In patients with high AMH levels, a greater number of follicles can be obtained with gonadotropin stimulation in IVF treatment. The rate of success with live births can be predicted when the AMH cut-off level is taken as 7.5pmol/L (1.05ng/mL). A relationship has been shown between AMH and oocyte quality which is not affected by the age of the woman. This relationship has been shown to be particularly stronger with follicular fluid AMH level rather than serum AMH level [19].

Prior studies have suggested that low anti-Mullerian hormone level (≤ 0.4 ng/mL) is associated with an increased risk of miscarriage [20]. In the current study, a statistically significant relationship was determined between AMH and the antral follicle count. Similarly, in another study, a statistically significant correlation was found between the AMH level and antral follicle count [21]. Studies have been conducted on the correlation of premature ovary ageing and RPL, the reduction shown in oocyte number and quality with this ageing of the ovaries and the level of serum FSH as an indirect indicator of this disorder [22]. In a study where young oocytes were donated to patients over 40 years of age who were undergoing IVF treatment, the rate of pregnancy loss was determined as 11.1% in the follow-up of those who became pregnant. This finding suggests that maternal and paternal factors together could play a role in spontaneous abortion [23]. Despite the reporting of various data regarding Ychromosome micro-deletions, sperm DNA fragmentation due to oxidative stress, sperm morphological impairments, reduced concentration and impaired sperm motility which could cause RPL, no clear findings have emerged of the role of sperm in unexplained RPL [24]. In the current study, as it was considered that impaired sperm parameters could be associated with the result, RPL patients with impaired spermiogram parameters were excluded from the study.

Previous results reveal that maternal diminished ovarian reserve and low AMH level is related with increased risk of embryo aneuploidy in women of advanced age [25]. On the contrary, recent studies concluded that maternal serum AMH levels may not be a marker for fetal aneuploidy and healthy fetuses [26].

In another study of the relationship of AMH level and pregnancy loss, one hundred fifty-five RPL patients were examined. In a univariate logistic regression, AMH value <1 ng/mL was found related to diminished likelihood of live birth (OR 0.38; CI 0.16-0.87, P=0.03) [27]. Although the AMH level of the RPL group was slightly lower, it was not statistically significant.

In our present study, estradiol levels were found to be statistically significant between the study and control groups. We believe that this difference should be investigated in large patient populations whether the difference is incidental or not from the study group.

Several studies have researched the correlation between AMH and other markers of ovarian reserve. The correlation of AMH and different sizes of antral follicle has been previously investigated and the strongest correlation was found to be between AMH and antral follicles >5-6 mm in size, with the correlation coefficient reported to be as low as 0.41. The lack of an international assay standard for AMH measurements may explain these different results [28].

Limitations

One of the limitations of the study was the relatively small number of patients and the fact that it was single-centered.

Conclusion

While a significant correlation was determined between RPL and antral follicle count, the fact that no significant correlation was determined between high serum FSH level and low serum AMH level suggests that several complex agents other than diminished ovarian reserve could play a role in recurrent pregnancy loss. There is a need for further studies including molecular and genetic examinations to clarify the etiopathogenesis.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Ümit Ali Kayışlı for his contribution to this research.

References

- Jauniaux E, Farquharson RG, Christiansen OB, Exalto N. Evidence-based guidelines for the investigation and medical treatment of recurrent miscarriage. Hum Reprod. 2006;21:2216-22.
- Ford HB, Schust DJ. Recurrent pregnancy loss: etiology, diagnosis, and therapy. Rev Obstet Gynecol. 2009;2:76-83.
- Vigier B, Picard JY, Tran D, Legeai L, Josso N. Production of anti-Mullerian hormone: another homology between Sertoli and granulosa cells. Endocrinology. 1984;114:1315-20.
- Nardo LG, Gelbaya TA, Wilkinson H, Roberts SA, Yates A, Pemberton P, et al. Circulating basal anti-Mullerian hormone levels as predictor of ovarian response in women undergoing ovarian stimulation for in vitro fertilization. Fertil Steril. 2009;92:1586-93.
- 5. Grol R. Personal paper. Beliefs and evidence in changing clinical practice. BMJ. 1997;315:418-21.
- 6. van den Boogaard E, Goddijn M, Leschot NJ, Veen F, Kremer JA, Hermens RP. Development of guideline-
- based quality indicators for recurrent miscarriage. Reprod Biomed Online. 2010;20:267-73.
 McCormack CD, Leemaqz SY, Furness DL, Dekker GA, Roberts CT. Anti-Mullerian hormone levels in recurrent embryonic miscarriage patients are frequently abnormal, and may affect pregnancy outcomes. J Obstet Gvnaecol. 2019;39:623-7.
- Jiang X, Yan J, Sheng Y, Sun M, Cui L, Chen ZJ. Low anti-Mullerian hormone concentration is associated with increased risk of embryonic aneuploidy in women of advanced age. Reprod Biomed Online. 2018;37:178-83.
- increased risk of embryonic aneuploidy in women of advanced age. Reprod Biomed Online. 2018;37:178-83.
 Lin PY, Huang FJ, Kung FT, Chiang HJ, Lin YJ, Lin YC, et al. Evaluation of serum anti-Mullerian hormone as a biomarker of early ovarian aging in young women undergoing IVF/ICSI cycle. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2014;7:e345-53.
- Murugappan G, Shahine L, Lathi RB. Antimullerian hormone is a predictor of live birth in patients with recurrent pregnancy loss. Fertil Res Pract. 2019;5:2.
- McCormack CD, Leemaqz SY, Furness DL, Dekker GA, Roberts CT. Anti-Mullerian hormone levels in recurrent embryonic miscarriage patients are frequently abnormal, and may affect pregnancy outcomes. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2019;39:623-7.
- 12. Lyttle Schumacher BM, Jukic AMZ, Steiner AZ. Antimullerian hormone as a risk factor for miscarriage in naturally conceived pregnancies. Fertil Steril. 2018;109:1065-71 e1.
- Hongdong L, Guini H, Zheng G. Age-related DNA methylation changes in peripheral whole blood. Yi Chuan. 2015;37:165-73.
- Tremellen K, Zander-Fox D. Serum anti-Mullerian hormone assessment of ovarian reserve and polycystic ovary syndrome status over the reproductive lifespan. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2015;55:384-9.
- Chang HJ, Han SH, Lee JR, Jee BC, Lee BJ, Suh CS, et al. Impact of laparoscopic cystectomy on ovarian reserve: serial changes of serum anti-Mullerian hormone levels. Fertil Steril. 2010;94:343-9.
- Garrido-Gimenez C, Alijotas-Reig J. Recurrent miscarriage: causes, evaluation and management. Postgrad Med J. 2015;91:151-62.
- Qiu Q, Yang M, Tsang BK, Gruslin A. Fas ligand expression by maternal decidual cells is negatively correlated with the abundance of leukocytes present at the maternal-fetal interface. J Reprod Immunol. 2005;65:121-32.
- Liu Z, Sun QH, Yang Y, Liu JM, Peng JP. Effect of IFNgamma on caspase-3, Bcl-2 and Bax expression, and apoptosis in rabbit placenta. Cytokine. 2003;24:201-9.
- Iliodromiti S, Kelsey TW, Wu O, Anderson RA, Nelson SM. The predictive accuracy of anti-Mullerian hormone for live birth after assisted conception: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the literature. Hum Reprod Update. 2014;20:560-70.
- Lyttle Schumacher BM, Jukic AMZ, Steiner AZ. Antimullerian hormone as a risk factor for miscarriage in naturally conceived pregnancies. Fertil Steril. 2018;109:1065-71 e1.
- 21. Barbakadze L, Kristesashvili J, Khonelidze N, Tsagareishvili G. The correlations of anti-mullerian hormone, follicle-stimulating hormone and antral follicle count in different age groups of infertile women. Int J Fertil Steril. 2015;8:393-8.
- Yuan X, Lin HY, Wang Q, Li TC. Is premature ovarian ageing a cause of unexplained recurrent miscarriage? J Obstet Gynaecol. 2012;32:464-6.
- Remohi J, Gallardo E, Levy M, Valbuena D, de los Santos MJ, Simon C, et al. Oocyte donation in women with recurrent pregnancy loss. Hum Reprod. 1996;11:2048-51.
 Robinson L, Gallos ID, Conner SJ, Rajkhowa M, Miller D, Lewis S, et al. The effect of sperm DNA
- 24. Kobinson L, Gallos ID, Conner SJ, Rajkňowa M, Miller D, Lewis S, et al. The effect of sperm DNA fragmentation on miscarriage rates: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod. 2012;27:2908-17. 25. Jiang X, Yan J, Sheng Y, Sun M, Cui L, Chen ZJ, Low anti-Mullerian hormone concentration is associated with
- Jiang X, Tan J, Sheng T, Sun M, Cui L, Chen ZJ. Low anti-Multifan nonnone concentration is associated with increased risk of embryonic aneuploidy in women of advanced age. Reprod Biomed Online. 2018;37:178-83.
 Plante BJ, Beamon C, Schmitt CL, Moldenhauer JS, Steiner AZ. Maternal antimullerian hormone levels do not
- predict fetal aneuploidy. J Assist Reprod Genet. 2010;27:409-14. 27. Murugappan G, Shahine L, Lathi RB. Antimullerian hormone is a predictor of live birth in patients with recurrent rorenancy loss. Fertil Res Pract. 2019;5:2.
- Chang HJ, Han SH, Lee JR, Jee BC, Lee BI, Suh CS, et al. Impact of laparoscopic cystectomy on ovarian reserve: serial changes of serum anti-Mullerian hormone levels. Fertil Steril. 2010;94:343-9.
- This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Journal of Surgery and Medicine -ISSN: 2602-2079

Imaging-guided percutaneous vertebral and paravertebral lesion biopsy: A single center experience

Görüntüleme eşliğinde perkütan vertebral ve paravertebral lezyon biyopsileri: Tek merkez deneyimi

Onur Taydaş¹, Ömer Faruk Ateş¹, Osman Kındır¹

¹ Department of Radiology, Sakarya University,	Abstract							
Sakarya, Turkey	Aim: Percutaneous needle biopsy has been used successfully in the diagnosis of vertebral, paravertebral and disc diseases in recent years							
ORCID ID of the author(s)	as it is a minimally invasive, safe, and effective method. The aim of this study was to share our experience with imaging-guided							
OT: 0000-0002-9881-7240	percutaneous vertebral and paravertebral biopsies.							
ÖFA: 0000-0002-0281-1128 OK: 0000-0003-0768-7346	Methods: Images and data of 10 patients who underwent percutaneous vertebral and paravertebral biopsies between January 2018 and December 2019 were screened retrospectively through the hospital registry. The anatomical location of the lesion, guideline imaging method, number of samples taken, whether there were any complications after the procedure, needle diameter used, hemoglobin (Hb) values before and after the procedure were recorded. Results: Among 10 patients included in the study, 3 (30%) were male and 7 (70%) were female. The mean age of the patients was 63.5 (8.6) years. Biopsies were performed under computerized tomography and ultrasound guidance in nine patients and one patient, respectively. The lesion was located at the thoracic level in 4 patients (40%) and at the lumbar level in 6 patients (60%). Two samples were obtained from all patients. There were no complications. The mean Hemoglobin (Hb) values before and after the procedure were 10 (1.1) mg/dL and 10.2 (1.4) mg/dL, respectively, which were similar (P =0.91). 18G needle was used in all patients. Conclusion: Imaging-guided percutaneous vertebral and paravertebral biopsy is a safe and effective method which allows sampling for cytological, histological, and microbiological analysis. In the future, imaging techniques and biopsies will be increasingly used in the diagnosis of vertebral and paravertebral lesions. Keywords: Percutaneous biopsy, Vertebrae, Imaging							
	Öz							
	Amaç: Bu çalışmadaki amacımız giderek daha yaygın olarak kullanılan görüntüleme eşliğindeki perkütan vertebral ve paravertebral biyopsi deneyimimizi paylaşmaktır. Yöntemler: Ocak 2018 - Aralık 2019 tarihleri arasında görüntüleme eşliğinde perkütan vertebral ve paravertebral biyopsi yapılan toplam							
Commence dia a such as / Samuely suspense	10 hastaya ait görüntüler ve veriler hastane bilgi sistemi üzerinden retrospektif olarak tarandı. Lezyon anatomik lokasyonu, kılavuz							
Corresponding author / Sorumlu yazar: Onur Taydaş Address / Adres: Sakarya Üniversitesi Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi Radyoloji Anabilim Dalı, Sakarya, Türkiye e-Mail: taydasonur@gmail.com Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was obtained from the Non-Interventional Research Ethics Committee of Sakarya University Faculty of Medicine. Etik Kurul Onayı: Sakarya Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Girişimsel Olmayan Araştırmalar Etik Kurulu'ndan etik kurul izni alınmıştır.	görüntüleme yöntemi, örnek alınma sayısı, işlem sonrası komplikasyon olup olmadığı, kullanılan iğne çapı, işlem öncesi ve sonrası hemoglobin (Hb) değerleri kaydedildi. Bulgular: Çalışmaya dahil edilen 10 hastadan 3'ü (%30) erkek, 7'si (%70) kadındı. Hastaların yaş ortalaması 63,5 (8,6) idi. 9 hastaya BT kılavuzluğunda, 1 hastaya ise USG kılavuzluğunda işlem yapılmıştı. 4 hastada (%40) lezyon torakal seviyede iken 6 hastada lezyon lomber seviyede idi (%60). Hastaların tamamından 2 kez örnek alınmıştı. Hiçbir hastada komplikasyon mevcut değildi. İşlem öncesi ortalama Hb değeri 10 (1,1) iken işlem sonrası Hb değeri 10,2 (1,4) olarak bulundu. İşlem öncesi ile sonrası saptanan Hb değerleri arasında anlamlı farklılık saptanmadı (<i>P</i> =0,91). Hastaların tamamında 18G iğne kullanıldı. Sonuç: Görüntüleme eşliğinde perkütan vertebral ve paravertebral biyopsiler güvenli ve etkin bir yöntem olup sitolojik, histolojik ve mikrobiyolojik analiz için örnek alınmasına imkan sağlamaktadır. Gelecekte görüntüleme yöntemleri ve biyopsi sistemlerinde yaşanacak gelişmelerle birlikte görüntüleme eşliğinde yapılan biyopsiler vertebral ve paravertebral lezyonların tanısında giderek daha fazla tercih edilecektir. Anahtar kelimeler: Perkütan biyopsi, Vertebra, Görüntüleme							
Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir. Published: 1/20/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 20.01.2020								
Copyright © 2020 The Author(s) Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDervatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.								

(JOSAM)

Introduction

Percutaneous needle biopsy has been used successfully in the diagnosis of vertebral, paravertebral and disc diseases in recent years as it is a minimally invasive, safe, and effective method. Thanks to the advances in needle technology from past to present, enough specimens have been obtained for pathological examination. In addition, multiple biopsies can be obtained from the same site thanks to the coaxial technique. Guiding imaging methods include fluoroscopy, computed tomography (CT), ultrasonography (US) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) [1].

Although advances in technology in imaging modalities increase lesion detectability, due to the low specificity of these methods, histological confirmation is still required in many uncertain cases [2]. In addition, the presence of specific gene mutations in metastatic lesions or the detection of microbial agents in infective pathologies change treatment plans and prognosis [3]. Advantages of percutaneous biopsies include lower morbidity and mortality rates compared to open surgical biopsies, being cheaper and taking shorter. In that regard, imaging-guided percutaneous biopsy should be the first method for tissue sampling. Percutaneous biopsy of bone lesions can be performed under the guidance of various imaging methods such as fluoroscopy, computed tomography (CT), ultrasonography (US) and magnetic resonance (MR). CT is the most widely used guide imaging method in spinal biopsies [4].

The aim of this study was to share our experience with imaging-guided percutaneous vertebral and paravertebral biopsies, which are more widely used every day.

Materials and methods

This retrospective cohort study has been approved by the local ethics committee (Sakarya University Faculty of Medicine Ethics Committee, 26/12/2019, E16091) and conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki (2000). Informed consent was waived because of the retrospective nature of the study.

Images and data of 10 patients who underwent percutaneous vertebral and paravertebral biopsy performed in the interventional radiology department of Sakarya University Training and Research Hospital between January 2018 and December 2019 with various indications were reviewed retrospectively on the hospital registry. The anatomical location of the lesion, guideline imaging method, number of samples taken, whether there were any complications after the procedure, needle diameter used, hemoglobin (Hb) values before and after the procedure were recorded.

Biopsies were performed under CT or US guidance. Modality selection was made according to the location of the lesion. Before the procedure, routine blood tests and bleeding parameters were requested from the patients. Patients were all monitored during the procedure. 2% prilocaine was used for local anesthesia (Citanest, AstraZeneca, Turkey).

CT-guided biopsies were performed on a 64-detector device (Aquilion64, Toshiba Medical Systems, Japan). Prebiopsy images were obtained after the patient was placed on the table in prone form. According to this image, radiopaque grid was placed on the patient's skin. Local anesthesia was administered after the site was cleaned. All biopsies were performed with the coaxial bone biopsy system (Ostycut, Bard Biopsy, USA). The specimens were fixed with formalin. US-guided biopsy was performed using a 3.5MHz convex probe with the Esaote MyLab 50 device (Esaote S.p.A, Italy). Biopsy was obtained with 18G fully automatic biopsy needle (Geotek, Turkey). The specimens were fixed with formalin.

Statistical analysis

MedCalc (Medcalc ver.12, Ostend, Belgium) was used for statistical analysis. Descriptive statistics were presented as median (minimum – maximum) and mean (standard deviation). Categorical variables were stated as frequencies and percentages. Correlation analysis was performed using the Pearson correlation coefficient. The Independent samples t-test was used for comparison of continuous variables with normal distribution in the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests. A value of P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Among 10 patients included in the study, 3 (30%) were male and 7 (70%) were female. The mean age of the patients was 63.5 (8.6) years. Nine patients underwent CT-guided and 1 patient underwent US-guided percutaneous lesion biopsy (Figure 1, 2). The lesion was at the thoracic level in 4 patients (40%) and the lumbar level in 6 patients (60%). Two samples each were obtained from all patients. There were no procedure-related complications in any patient. The mean Hb values before and after the procedure were 10 (1.1), 10.2 (1.4) mg/dL, respectively, which were similar (P=0.91). 18G needle was used in all patients. The indication for biopsy was spondylodiscitis in 6 patients (60%) and metastasis in 4 patients (40%). Patient data are summarized in Table 1.



Figure 1: Sagittal (a) and axial (b) postcontrast fat-suppressed T1-weighted magnetic resonance images show contrast enhancement at two different levels (arrows). The same patient underwent computed tomography-guided percutaneous biopsy (c)



Figure 2: Ultrasonographic image of the paravertebral mass (a) and percutaneous biopsy procedure (b).

-(JOSAM)

Table 1: Patient data

ruote it ruu	one autu							
Patient no	Age	Gender	Modality	Location	Indication			
1	67	F	CT	T10-11	Spondylodiscitis			
2	54	F	CT	L4-5	Spondylodiscitis			
3	56	F	CT	L3-4	Spondylodiscitis			
4	80	F	CT	L2	Spondylodiscitis			
5	62	F	CT	L3-4	Suspected metastasis			
6	63	Μ	CT	T8-9	Suspected metastasis			
7	66	Μ	CT	L3-4	Spondylodiscitis			
8	79	F	CT	T12-L1	Spondylodiscitis			
9	59	F	CT	L1-2	Suspected metastasis			
10	64	М	US	T11	Suspected metastasis			
CT: Computed tomography, US: Ultrasonography								

Discussion

The most important result in our study was that there were no complications after the procedure and no decrease in hemoglobin compared to pre-procedural values. Percutaneous biopsy of the musculoskeletal system has a lower complication rate than open biopsies [1]: Complications are less than 1% in percutaneous vertebral biopsies [5]. Most of the complications occur in the thoracic vertebra due to the proximity of major vascular structures, pleura, lung and posterior mediastinum [6]. Percutaneous biopsy of vertebral, paravertebral and disc diseases may cause hemorrhage due to vascular structures such as the aorta and its branches (such as vertebral arteries, segmental arteries) and venous plexuses (internal and external venous plexuses, azygos system). In addition, spinal root injuries and adjacent organ (lung, kidney, etc.) injuries, fractures, bone and soft tissue infections, pneumothorax, spinal cord injury, meningitis may also be seen [7].

There are many studies in the literature about percutaneous vertebral biopsies performed with the help of imaging. In a recent study by Yang et al. [4], including 247 spinal tumor biopsies, the diagnostic success rate was 80%. This rate was 77% in the study of Wu et al. [8] and 77.14% in the study of Puri et al. [9]. The factors affecting diagnostic success were listed as size, bone matrix and definitive diagnosis of lesion in the study of Yang et al. [4]. In the study of Gul et al. [10], the success rate was found to be 80% and the only factor that had a significant relationship with success was reported as lesion histopathology. In a recent study by Kasalak et al. [11], which included 64 patients with suspected spondylodiscitis, only 31.3% had culture positivity. However, 96.9% of culture positive patients were treated appropriately. Therefore, the importance of biopsy has been emphasized in guiding the treatment [11]. In the meta-analysis performed by Pupabiool et al. [12], the sensitivity and specificity of the imaging-guided biopsies performed for spontaneous vertebral osteomyelitis were reported as 52.2% and 99.9%, respectively. Therefore, it can be considered that this method should be used especially in the presence of strong clinical suspicion.

As with all biopsies, the most crucial step in vertebral biopsies is correct planning. Meticulously planned and performed biopsy is essential for accurate diagnosis. Before the procedure, the patient and all imaging studies should be evaluated in detail. Additional imaging studies should be performed if necessary. As a result of these evaluations, the necessity of biopsy should be decided by considering the right indication and contraindicated conditions or profit-loss ratio. After the biopsy decision is taken, the most appropriate biopsy site should be determined with convenient imaging modality [13]. The approach depends on the location of the lesion, which should be adapted for each patient. The patient should be informed about the procedure and detailed information should be given before, during, and after the procedure and written consent must be obtained. Laboratory parameters related to coagulation of the patient should be at optimal values and the anticoagulant used should be discontinued before the procedure. If necessary, preprocedural sedation should be administered [14].

Depending on the localization of the pathology, in vertebral biopsies, the patient is usually placed in the prone position on the processing table. CT images are obtained, and a radiopaque marker is placed on the skin above the localization of the pathology. To reach the pathology, the optimal cross-section and angle away from the neurovascular bundle is determined over the skin. This area is cleaned and covered. After local anesthesia, a small skin incision is performed. The biopsy needle is directed towards the lesion under CT control. The type of needle used depends on the character of the lesion and the preference of the treating physician. In general, the needle should be of sufficient length to reach the lesion and of sufficient diameter to receive a sufficient amount of sample. Coaxial technique is generally used for sampling. Thus, multiple samples can be made using the same entry point. The distance of the needle to adjacent tissues should be checked by CT to avoid possible complications. Once the lesion is reached, sampling should be performed with aspiration or tru-cut needles [12,15].

Limitations

There were some limitations of our study: The first was the small number of patients included in the study, and the second was its retrospective nature. More comprehensive and prospective studies can be planned with regards to this subject. Another important limitation is that the biopsy and microbiological results of the patients could not be obtained, hence, could not be included in the study.

Conclusion

Imaging-guided percutaneous vertebral and paravertebral biopsies are safe and effective methods which allow sampling for cytological, histological, and microbiological analyses. The teamwork of patients, interventional radiologists, pathologists, oncologists, and surgeons is important in the application of this method. In the future, imaging techniques and biopsies will be increasingly used in the diagnosis of vertebral and paravertebral lesions.

References

- Pohlig F, Kirchhoff C, Lenze U, Schauwecker J, Burgkart R, Rechl H, et al. Percutaneous core needle biopsy versus open biopsy in diagnostics of bone and soft tissue sarcoma: a retrospective study. Eur J Med Res. 2012;17:29.
- Takenaka D, Ohno Y, Matsumoto K, Aoyama N, Onishi Y, Koyama H, et al. Detection of bone metastases in non-small cell lung cancer patients: comparison of whole-body diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI), whole-body MR imaging without and with DWI, whole-body FDG-PET/CT, and bone scintigraphy. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2009;30:298-308.
- Suva LJ, Washam C, Nicholas RW, Griffin RJ. Bone metastasis: mechanisms and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2011;7:208-18.
- Yang SY, Oh E, Kwon JW, Kim HS. Percutaneous Image-Guided Spinal Lesion Biopsies: Factors Affecting Higher Diagnostic Yield. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2018;211:1068-74.
- Rimondi E, Rossi G, Bartalena T, Ciminari R, Alberghini M, Ruggieri P, et al. Percutaneous CT-guided biopsy of the musculoskeletal system: results of 2027 cases. Eur J Radiol. 2011;77:34-42.
 Rimondi E, Staals EL, Errani C, Bianchi G, Casadei R, Alberghini M, et al. Percutaneous CT-guided biopsy of
- Kimondi E, Staals EL, Erran C, Biarchi C, Casade K, Albergnini M, et al. Percutaneous C1-guided biopsy of the spine: results of 430 biopsies. Eur Spine J. 2008;17:975-81.
 Lis E, Bilsky MH, Pisinski L, Boland P, Healey JH, O'Malley B, et al. Percutaneous CT-guided biopsy of
- Lis E, blisky MH, Pisitiski L, Boland P, Healey JH, O'Manley B, et al. Percutaneous C r-guided biopsy of osseous lesion of the spine in patients with known or suspected malignancy. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2004;25:1583-8.
- Wu JS, Goldsmith JD, Horwich PJ, Shetty SK, Hochman MG. Bone and soft-tissue lesions: what factors affect diagnostic yield of image-guided core-needle biopsy? Radiology. 2008;248:962-70.
- Puri A, Shingade VU, Agarwal MG, Anchan C, Juvekar S, Desai S, et al. CT-guided percutaneous core needle biopsy in deep seated musculoskeletal lesions: a prospective study of 128 cases. Skeletal Radiol. 2006;35:138-43.
- 10.Gul SB, Polat AV, Bekci T, Selcuk MB. Accuracy of Percutaneous CT-Guided Spine Biopsy and Determinants of Biopsy Success. J Belg Soc Radiol. 2016;100:62.

- 11.Kasalak O, Wouthuyzen-Bakker M, Adams HJA, Overbosch J, Dierckx R, Jutte PC, et al. CT-guided biopsy in suspected spondylodiscitis: microbiological yield, impact on antimicrobial treatment, and relationship with outcome. Skeletal Radiol. 2018;47:1383-91.
- 12.Pupaibool J, Vasoo S, Erwin PJ, Murad MH, Berbari EF. The utility of image-guided percutaneous needle aspiration biopsy for the diagnosis of spontaneous vertebral osteomyelitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Spine J. 2015;15:122-31.
- 13.Filippiaid DK, Charlanpopoulos G, Mazioti A, Keramida K, Kelekis A. Bone and Soft-Tissue Biopsies: What You Need to Know. Semin Intervent Radiol. 2018;35:215-20.
- 14. Filippiadis D, Mazioti A, Kelekis A. Percutaneous, Imaging-Guided Biopsy of Bone Metastases. Diagnostics (Basel). 2018;8. 15.Gogna A, Peh WC, Munk PL. Image-guided musculoskeletal biopsy. Radiol Clin North Am. 2008;46:455-73.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors. The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.
Journal of Surgery and Medicine

Evaluation of anxiety sensitivity, depression, and personality characteristics in chronic subjective dizziness patients

Kronik subjektif dizziness hastalarında anksiyete duyarlılığı, depresyon ve kişilik özelliklerinin değerlendirilmesi

Yunus Kantekin¹, Özgül Karaaslan², Hakan Dağıstan¹, İlknur Haberal Can¹

¹ Department of Otorhinolaryngology and Head and Neck Surgery, Bozok University, Faculty of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey

Abstract

² Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, Bozok University, Yozgat, Turkey ORCID ID of the author(s) YK: 0000-0003-4332-725X

ÖK: 0000-0003-0829-5088 HD: 0000-0003-4717-5337 İHC: 0000-0002-9944-196X Aim: Dizziness and vertigo are among the most common symptoms in otolaryngology, neurology and psychiatry clinics. In this study, it was aimed to evaluate anxiety sensitivity, depression and personality traits in patients who were followed up with chronic subjective dizziness

Methods: Fifty-one patients with dizziness complaints for at least 3 months and no history of peripheral vestibular disease were enrolled to the patient group, and 51 healthy controls were enrolled to the control group of this case-control study. Anxiety Sensitivity Index-3 (ASI-3), Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI), Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) and Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ) scale forms were applied to the patient and control groups by a psychiatrist.

Results: There was no statistically significant difference in ASI-3 between the groups (P=0.119). In the patient group, the BAI values were found higher than the control group (P<0.001). While BDI values between the patient and control groups were similar, there was a trend for higher depression scores in the patients compared with the healthy individuals (P=0.052).

Conclusion: As a result, the presence of anxiety symptoms and neurotic personality characteristics may worsen dizziness development or disease progression. In the treatment of dizziness patients without neurological and otologic problems, a multidisciplinary approach will provide positive contributions to the course of the disease and to the quality of life of the patients. Keywords: Dizziness, Anxiety sensitivity, Personality traits, Depression

Öz

Amaç: Dizziness ve vertigo otolaringoloji, nöroloji ve psikiyatri kliniklerinde en sık görülen semptomlar arasındadır. Bu çalışmada kronik subjektif dizziness hastalarında anksiyete duyarlılığı, depresyon ve kişilik özelliklerinin değerlendirilmesi amaçlanmıştır.

Yöntemler: Periferik vestibüler hastalık hikayesi olmayan en az 3 aydır süren subjektif dizziness şikayeti olan 51 hasta ile 51 sağlıklı gönüllü çalışmaya dahil edildi. Anksiyete Duyarlılığı İndeksi-3 (ASI-3), Beck Anksiyete Ölçeği (BAI), Beck Depresyon Ölçeği (BDI) ve Eysenk Kişilik Envanteri (EPQ) psikiyatri uzmanı tarafından hasta ve kontrol grubuna uygulandı.

Bulgular: Gruplar arasında anksiyete duyarlılık indeksi-3 ölçeğinde anlamlı farklılık bulunmadı (P=0.119). Hasta grubunda BAI değerleri kontrol grubuna göre istatiksel olarak anlamlı yüksekti (P<0.001). BDI değerleri hasta grubunda kontrol grubuna göre daha yüksek olmasına rağmen aradaki fark istatiksel olarak anlamlı değildi (P=0.052).

Sonuç: Sonuç olarak anksiyete semptomu ve nevrotik kişilik özelliklerinin varlığı dizziness gelişimini ya da hastalığın seyrini kötüleştirebilir. Nörolojik ve otolojik problemi olmayan dizziness hastalarının tedavisinde multidisipliner yaklaşım hastalığın seyri ve hastaların yaşam kalitesi üzerine olumlu katkılar sağlayacaktır.

Anahtar kelimeler: Dizziness, Anksiyete duyarlılığı, Kişilik özellikleri, Depresyon

Corresponding author / Sorumlu yazar: Yunus Kantekin Address / Adres: Bozok Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi, Kulak Burun Boğaz ve Baş Boyun Cerrahisi Anabilim Dalı, Yozgat, Türkiye e-Mail: ykantekin@yahoo.com

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was obtained from Bozok University Medical Faculty Non-Invasive (Interventional) Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Date and Number: 04.04.2017, 2017-10 / 06) Etik Kurul Onayı: Bozok Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi İnvaziv (Girişimsel) Olmayan Klinik Araştırmalar Etik Kurulu'ndan (Karar No: 2017-10/06 Tarih: 04.04.2017) etik kurul izni alınmıştır.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/20/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 20.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s)

Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerviatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, ransform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercial without permission from the journal. This is an open access



How to cite / Attf için: Kantekin Y, Karaaslan Ö, Dağıstan H, Can İH. Evaluation of anxiety sensitivity, depression and personality characteristics in chronic subjective dizziness patients. J Surg Med. 2020;4(1):33-37.

JOSAM

Introduction

Dizziness and vertigo are among the most common symptoms in otolaryngology, neurology, and psychiatry clinics, which affect the daily activities of patients and decrease their quality of life. Chronic subjective dizziness (CSD) can be defined as chronic non-vertiginous dizziness syndrome or unsteadiness that is present throughout the day for 3 months or more [1]. Patients complain of dizziness when they are standing and vertigo when they walk. Patients' complaints increase at shopping centers where they are exposed to visual stimuli, while looking at the computer screen or reading books [2]. Patients' own movements and visual environmental stimuli usually activate dizziness.

Dizziness is the general name of the sense of disorientation. Vertigo is the subgroup of dizziness, which can be expressed as a misperception of the movement itself or object, which is the incompatibility between vestibular, visual, and somatosensory systems. Dizziness is often called non vertiginous imbalance [3]. Prospective studies have also reported that acute anxiety and hypervigilance lead to persistent dizziness [4].

Anxiety sensitivity is a fundamental fear that persists in the character of a person. People with elevated levels of anxiety sensitivity are immediately alerted to their fears when they experience anxiety, which in turn exacerbates their anxiety [5]. Some authors describe anxiety sensitivity as a "fear of fear" or "fear of anxiety" [6]. It has been stated that people with high anxiety may have low anxiety sensitivity or vice versa [7]. The view that anxiety sensitivity is different from anxiety is more consistent and matches with personal observations.

In approximately 30–50% of patients with vertigo/dizziness, complaints are not fully explained by a vestibular deficit or a defined organic illness, but instead are related to psychiatric disorders [8]. In a study of 189 patients with dizziness who had anxiety disorder in terms of psychiatric subgroups, they found anxiety and phobic disorder in 56 patients, somatoform disorder in 53 patients and depressive disorder in 20 patients [9].

Anxiety was investigated in normal subjects with postural control, along with those with anxiety disorder and vestibular disorder. Patient with anxiety disorder have more balance disorders than normal individuals. It has been reported that balance disorders are improved when anxiety disorders of these patients are treated [10].

While assessing the personality traits, different measurement scales can be used, such as Temperament and Character Scale (TCS), which is another scale for measuring personality traits that was used by Akçay et al. [11] in one of their studies. We used the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ) for this study, and aimed to evaluate anxiety sensitivity, depression symptoms and accompanying personality factors in patients with complaints of dizziness lasting for at least 3 months.

Materials and methods

Fifty-one patients with dizziness complaints lasting for at least 3 months and 51 healthy volunteers aged between 18-65 years were included in this study between April-December 2017. It was conducted at department of otolaryngology. Informed consents were obtained from all participants. Patients with systemic diseases such as hearing loss, tinnitus, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, coronary heart disease in addition to dizziness complaint, and those who had previously experienced head and ear trauma, ear surgery, those with peripheral vestibular disease history, alcohol consumers and smokers were not included in the study. A complete head and neck examination was performed in all participants. Audiometry, tympanometry, acoustic reflex, spontaneous nystagmus and Dix Hallpike tests and ear Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) results were normal in both the patient and control groups. Anxiety Sensitivity Index-3 (ASI-3), Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI), Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) and EPQ scale forms were applied to the patient and control groups by a psychiatrist.

Anxiety Sensitivity Index-3 (ASI-3)

This a self-assessment scale used to measure anxiety sensitivity with its physical, social, and cognitive aspects. It is easily applicable, short, and understandable. Subjects may fill it out themselves. A five-point Likert type (0=very small, 4=very large) scale is used for 18 items. The total score of the scale is the sum of the scores of each item. High scores indicate increased anxiety sensitivity and Turkish form has no cut-off score. ASI-3 showed a high internal consistency, Cronbach's alpha coefficient was calculated as 0.930, and test-retest reliability was found to be very good (r=0.64, P<0.001). Taylor et al. [12] developed the test, after which Mantar et al. [13] adapted it for Turkey.

Eysenck Personality Questionnaire

Francis et al. [14-16] reviewed the EPQ and the short form (48 items) of same questionnaire and created the reviewed short form, which consists of 24 items and assesses personality in 3 main factors: extroversion, neuroticism, psychoticism. In this questionnaire where each factor is evaluated with 6 items, participants are asked to answer Yes (1) - No (0) to 24 questions. Points for each personality attribute range from 0 to 6. Turkish validity and reliability study was performed by Karanci et al. [17].

Beck Depression Inventory

It was developed by Beck et al. [18] to assess somatic, emotional, cognitive, and motivational symptoms seen in depression. The BDI is a scale consisting of 21 self-assessment sentences and each symptom category has four options. Each item is scored between 0-3 points, and the total score ranges between 0-63. Turkish validity and reliability studies were conducted [19], for which the cut-off point was determined as 17.

Beck Anxiety Inventory

It was developed by Beck et al. [20] to measure the prevalence of anxiety symptoms experienced by the individual. BAI, based on self-reporting, consists of 21 items. Each item is scored between 0 and 3 and the total score ranges from 0 to 63. The high scores on the scale indicate the severity of the anxiety experienced by the individual. Turkish validity and reliability study was conducted by Ulusoy et al. [21].

Statistical analysis

Data analysis was performed using the IBM SPSS statistics 22.0 software (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY). Descriptive

statistics methods were used to evaluate frequency, percentage, mean, standard deviation, median, quaternary separation. Chisquare (χ^2) test was used to evaluate qualitative data. The conformity of data to normal distribution was evaluated by Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests. Independent Samples t-test and Mann-Whitney U tests were used for continuous normally distributed data and non-normally distributed data, respectively. Spearman Rho correlation test was utilized to evaluate interrelationships between variables. Pvalues <0.05 are considered significant.

Power analysis was conducted with G*Power 3.1.9.2 software. The power of this data was calculated as $1-\beta=0.99$ with $n1=51, n2=51, \alpha=0.05$ and an effect size of d=1.0.

Results

Fifty-one patients with dizziness and 51 healthy individuals were included in this study as the patient and control groups, respectively. The number of females and males in the control and study groups were 33 (64.7%), 18 (35.2%) and 37 (72.5%), 14 (27.5%), respectively, with a significant dominance of females in both groups (P=0.009). Groups were similar in terms of age (P=0.258) and ASI-3 (P=0.119) scores. Mean BAI scores (68.6%) were higher in the patient group (P < 0.001) (Figure 1). There was a trend for higher BDI values in the patient group compared to the control group (P=0.052). There was no significant difference in EPQ neuroticism, statistically extraversion and psychoticism between the patient and control groups (P=0.334, P=0.789, P=0.116 respectively) (Table 1).



Figure 1: Comparison of Beck Anxiety Index between groups (Group I: Patients, Group II: Control)

Table 1: Sociodemographic data and scale results in patient and control group

JOSAM

		Patient (n=51)	Control (n=51)	P-value
Gender	Female	37 (72.5%)	33 (64.7%)	0.009 ^a
	Male	14 (27.5%)	18 (35.2%)	
Age (Year)		45.1(13.3)	42.3(11.1)	0.258 ^b
ASI-3		22 (16 - 39)	17 (10 - 34)	0.119 °
BAI		23 (12 - 32)	10 (5 - 14)	0.000 °
BAI Group	Normal	8 (15.7%)	19 (37.3%)	0.000 ^a
	Mild	8 (15.7%)	22 (43.1%)	
	Moderate	35 (68.6%)	10 (19.6%)	
BDI		14 (7 - 21)	9 (4 - 14)	0.052 °
BDI Group	Normal	19 (37.3%)	29 (56.9%)	0.070 ^a
	Mild	18 (35.3%)	15 (29.4%)	
	Moderate	11 (21.6%)	3 (5.9%)	
	Severe	3 (5.9%)	4 (7.8%)	
EPQ	Neuroticism	4 (2 - 5)	3 (2 - 5)	0.334 °
	Extraversion	4 (2 - 5)	4 (2 - 5)	0.789 °
	Psychoticism	2 (1 - 3)	1 (1 - 2)	0.116 ^c

Mean (SD), EPQ: Eysenck Personality Questionnaire, BDI: Beck Depression Inventory, ASI-3: Anxiety Sensitivity Index-3, BAI: Beck Anxiety Inventory, ^a: Chi-Square Test (n/%), ^b: Independent Samples T Test, ^c: Mann-Whitney U Test [Median (Interquartile Range)]

When the patient group was evaluated among itself, a positive correlation was detected between the female gender and ASI-3(P=0.006, r=-0.379), BAI (P=0.005, r=-0.391), BDI (P=0.001, r=-0.468) scores, and neuroticism (P=0.008, r=-0.366). ASI-3 and BAI (P<0.001, r=0.665), BDI (P<0.001 r=0.607), neuroticism (P<0.001 r=0.506) were also found to positively correlate, along with BAI, BDI (P<0.001 r=0.679), and neuroticism (P<0.001, r=0.600). BDI and neuroticism were positively correlated as well (P<0.001, r=0.674).

When the control group was evaluated among itself, a positive correlation was detected between the female gender and neuroticism (P=0.005, r=-0.388). ASI-3 and BAI (P<0.001, r=0.545), BDI (P=0.001, r=0.438), neuroticism (P=0.029, r=0.306) were also found to positively correlate, along with BAI, BDI (P=0.001, r=0.467), neuroticism (P<0.001, r=0.637), and extraversion (P=0.006, r=-0.378). BDI was found to positively correlate with neuroticism (P=0.003, r=0.413) and psychoticism (P=0.027, r=0.309), while neuroticism negatively correlated with extraversion (P=0.006, r=-0.381) (Table 2).

		Gender	Age	Anxiety Index-3	Sensitivity Beck Inventory	Anxiety Beck Inventory	Depression EPQ Neuroticism	EPQ Extraversion	EPQ Psychoticisn
atient Group									
ender	r	1.000							
	P-value								
ge (Year)	R	-0.158	1.000						
	P-value	0.267							
nxiety Sensitivity		-0.379	0.161	1.000					
ndex-3 (ASI-3)	P-value	0.006	0.258						
eck Anxiety		-0.391	0.213	0.665	1.000				
ventory (BAI)	P-value	0.005	0.134	0.000					
eck Depression		-0.468	0.299	0.607	0.679	1.000			
ventory (BDI)	P-value	0.001	0.033	0.000	0.000				
PQ Neuroticism	R	-0.366	-0.005	0.506	0.600	0.674	1.000		
	P-value	0.008	0.974	0.000	0.000	0.000			
PQ Extraversion	R	0.164	-0.110	-0.087	-0.147	-0.240	-0.219	1.000	
	P-value	0.251	0.442	0.543	0.304	0.089	0.123		
PQ Psychoticism	R	0.122	-0.106	-0.042	0.004	0.091	0.006	0.096	1.000
	P-value	0.395	0.461	0.768	0.980	0.525	0.965	0.504	•
ontrol Group	_								
ender	R	1.000							
	P-value	•							
.ge (Year)	R	-0.151	1.000						
	P-value	0.289	•						
nxiety Sensitivity		-0.048	0.155	1.000					
ndex-3 (ASI-3)	P-value	0.737	0.279		4 000				
eck Anxiety		-0.142	0.081	0.545	1.000				
ventory (BAI)	P-value	0.320	0.570	0.000		1 000			
eck Depression		-0.233	-0.012 0.932	0.438	0.467	1.000			
iventory (BDI)	P-value R	0.099		0.001 0.306	0.001	0.413	1.000		
PQ Neuroticism		-0.388	-0.116		0.637		1.000		
DO Entrovension	P-value	0.005	0.416	0.029	0.000	0.003	-0.381	1.000	
PQ Extraversion	R R undern	-0.112	-0.022	-0.074 0.608	-0.378	-0.065			
DO Doughotision	P-value	0.435	0.876		0.006	0.652	0.006	. 0.057	1.000
PQ Psychoticism	R P-value	0.274 0.052	-0.127 0.374	0.050 0.727	0.129 0.366	0.309 0.027	-0.001 0.993	-0.057 0.692	1.000
	r-value	0.052	0.574	0.727	0.500	0.027	0.995	0.092	

Discussion

Symptoms of dizziness usually consist of nonspecific complaints. Otolaryngologists often direct their attention to inner ear pathologies, however, neurological, cardiological and psychiatric pathologies underlying dizziness should be taken into consideration for correct diagnosis and treatment. Dizziness can be seen at various ages from adolescents to elder adults. It is usually seen between the ages of 40-50 with most of the patients (60-70%) being females [22]. The mean age of the patients in our study was 45.1 (13.3) years. The greater number of women in our study can be explained by the fact that dizziness is more common in women than in men.

Although the relationship between visual, vestibular symptoms and anxiety has been studied recently, the relationship between anxiety and visio-vestibular system has been known for many years [23].

Anxiety's effect on postural control was investigated in normal subjects, and in those with anxiety and vestibular disorders. In patients with anxiety disorder, balance disorder is seen more than normal individuals. It has been reported that balance disorders are cured when anxiety disorders of these patients are treated [10].

Studies in vestibular and psychiatric patients have supported the relationship between balance control systems and anxiety [24]. In addition, patients with vestibular dysfunction are more susceptible to anxiety development than patients without vestibular dysfunction [25]. Patients with chronic dizziness also have higher anxiety levels than patients with other vestibular disorders [10].

In a study of the role of emotional disorders in the extent of dizziness, Roh et al. [26] found that chronic dizziness patients had higher anxiety depression levels and emotional distress and stated that emotional distress extends the duration of dizziness.

The long duration of dizziness complaints affects patients' daily physical activities, work life and quality of life. Dizziness may cause anxiety development or anxiety can cause extension of dizziness. Dizziness, vertigo, and imbalance are also complaints that can be seen in anxiety disorders. One of the main symptoms of panic attacks is dizziness. Therefore, in recent years, the relationship between vestibular functions and anxiety and the psychological factors that cause CSD to appear and continue have been studied [27]. In a study of 105 patients with dizziness diagnosis, Odman et al. [28] found that 79.3% of the patients also had anxiety and/or depression.

Staab et al. [1] found that hospital anxiety depression scores were higher in the CSD group in their study evaluating anxiety and personality characteristics in 40 patients. A study in which Chiarella et al. [29] assessed personality factors in patients with CSD found that anxiety, neuroticism, and openness scores were higher in CSD patients.

In this study, BAI was found significantly higher in the patient group. BDI showed a trend for higher depression scores in patients compared with the healthy group.

Best et al. [25] reported that in a study of psychiatric morbidity and comorbidity in patients with vestibular disorders, these psychiatric disturbances were reactivated after the onset of vestibular symptoms in patients with depression and somatoform disorders. In addition, psychiatric evaluation was deemed necessary to maintain the treatment more effective in dizziness patients with known psychiatric disorders.

The combination of anxiety and dizziness is one of the areas of common interest of otolaryngology and psychiatry. Until recently, the nature of the relationship between these two conditions has not been fully elucidated. The findings of the multidisciplinary study of the otorhinolaryngology, neurology and psychiatry can solve the complexity of "dizziness-anxietypersonality traits" by providing a better understanding of the pathophysiology.

Limitations

The limitations of the study include the fact that the sample group was relatively small. The psychiatric evaluation was not made by face-to-face interviews with these patients, and no evaluation regarding treatment was made. There is a need for prospective studies involving treatment for a longer period with a broader sample group.

Conclusion

The presence of anxiety symptoms may play a role in worsening of the course of the disease in dizziness. Using a multidisciplinary approach in the treatment of dizziness patients without neurological and otologic problems, and the use of treatment options such as drugs or cognitive behavioral therapies in the treatment of psychiatric patients will contribute positively to the chronicity of the disease, hospitalizations and the quality of life of the patients.

References

- 1. Staab JP, Rohe DE, Eggers SDZ, Shepard NT, Anxious, introverted personality traits in patients with chronic subjective dizziness. J Psychosom Res. 2014;76:80-3.
- Honaker JA, Gilbert JM, Staab JP. Chronic subjective dizziness versus conversion disorder: Discussion of clinical findings and rehabilitation. Am J Audiol. 2010;19:3-8.
- 3. Post RE, Dickerson LM. Dizziness: A diagnostic approach. Am Fam Physician. 2010;82:361-8
- 4. Indovina I, Riccelli R, Chiarella G, Petrolo C, Augimeri A, Giofrè L, et al. Role of the insula and vestibular system in patients with chronic subjective dizziness: an fMRI study using sound-evoked vestibular stimulation. Front Behav Neurosci. 2015;9:1-12
- 5. Reiss S, Peterson RA, Gursky DM, McNally RJ. Anxiety sensitivity, anxiety frequency and the predictions of fearfulness. Behav Res Ther 1986;24:1-8 6. Starcevic V, Berle D. Cognitive specificity of anxiety disorders: a review of selected key constructs. Depress
- Anxiety. 2006;23:51-61. 7. Cox BJ, Endler NS, Norton GR, Swinson RP. Anxiety sensitivity and nonclinical panic attacks. Behav Res
- Ther. 1991;29:367-9.
- 8. Lahmann C, Henningsen P, Brandt T, Strupp M, Jahn K, Dieterich M, et al. Psychiatric comorbidity and psychosocial impairment among patients with vertigo and dizziness. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2015;86:302-8
- 9. Eckhardt-Henn A, Breuer P, Thomalske C, Hoffmann SO, Hopf HC. Anxiety disorders and other psychiatric subgroups in patients complaining of dizziness. J Anxiety Disord. 2003;17:369-88.
- 10. Staab JP. The influence of anxiety on ocular motor control and gaze. Curr Opin Neurol. 2014;27:118-24. 11.Akcay BD, Gül VO, Özer S.Temperament and character traits in patients with anorectal disorder. J Surg Med
- 2018;2(1):17-22 12. Taylor S, Zvolensky MJ, Cox BJ, Deacon B, Heimberg RG, Ledley DR, et al. Robust dimensions of anxiety sensitivity: Development and initial validation of the Anxiety Sensitivity Index-3. Psychol Assess. 2007;19:176-88.
- 13.Mantar A, Yemez B, Alkin T. The validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the anxiety sensitivity index-3. Turk Psikiyatri Derg. 2010;21:225-34.
- 14 Francis LJ, Brown LB, Philipchalk R. The development of an abbreviated form of the revised Evsenck personality questionnaire (EPQR-A): Its use among students in England, Canada, the U.S.A. and Australia. Pers Individ Dif. 1992:13:443-9
- 15.Eysenck HJ, Eysenck SBG. Manual of the Eysenck personality questionnaire (junior and adult). London: Hodder and Stoughton; 1975
- 16.Eysenck SBG, Eysenck HJ, Barrett P. A revised version of the psychoticism scale. Pers Individ Dif. 1985;6:21-
- 17.Karanci AN, Dirik G, Yorulmaz O. Reliability and validity studies of Turkish translation of Eysenck Personality Questionnaire Revised-Abbreviated. Turk Psikiyatri Derg. 2007;18:254-61.
- 18.Beck AT, Ward CH, Mendelson M, Mock J, Erbaugh J. An inventory for measuring depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 1961;4:561-71.
- 19.Hisli N. The validity and reliability of Beck Depression Inventory for University Students. Psikol Derg. 1989.7.3-13 20.Beck AT, Epstein N, Brown G, Steer RA. An inventory for measuring clinical anxiety: psychometric properties.
- J Consult Clin Psychol. 1988;56:893-7 21.Ulusov M, Sahin N, Erkmen H. Turkish version of the Beck Anxiety Inventory: psychometric properties. J
- Cogn Psychother. 1998;12:163-72.
- 22. Ruckenstein M, Stabb J. Chronic subjective dizziness. Otolaryngol Clin North Am. 2009;42:71-7 23.Riccelli R, Indovina I, Staab JP, Nigro S, Augimeri A, Lacquaniti F, et al. Neuroticism modulates brain visuo-
- vestibular and anxiety systems during a virtual rollercoaster task. Hum Brain Mapp. 2017;38:715-26. 24.Balaban CD, Jacob RG. Background and history of the interface between anxiety and vertigo. J Anxiety Disord.
- 2001;15:27-51 25.Best C, Eckhardt-Henn A, Tschan R, Dieterich M. Psychiatric morbidity and comorbidity in different vestibular
- vertigo syndromes: Results of a prospective longitudinal study over one year. J Neurol. 2009;256:58-65. 26.Roh KJ, Kim MK, Kim JH, Son EJ. Role of Emotional Distress in Prolongation of Dizziness : A Cross
- Sectional Study. J Audiol Otol. 2018;22:6-12.

27.Viaud-Delmon I, Venault P, Chapouthier G. Behavioral models for anxiety and multisensory integration in Animals and humans. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol Psychiatry. 2011;35:1391-9.
 Ződman M, Maire R. Chronic subjective dizziness. Acta Otolaryngol. 2008;128:1085-8.
 Chiarella G, Petrolo C, Ricelli R, Giofre L, Olivadese G, Gioacchini F. Chronic subjective dizziness: Analysis

of Underlying Personality Factors. 2016:403-8.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors. The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Suggested citation: Patrias K. Citing medicine: the NLM style guide for authors, editors, and publishers [Internet]. 2nd ed. Wendling DL, technical editor. Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US); 2007-[updated 2015 Oct 2; cited Year Month Day]. Available from: http://www.nlm.nih.gov/citingmedicine

Journal of Surgery and Medicine --ISSN-2602-2079

Beta hemolytic *Streptococci* strains isolated from clinical specimens, their characteristics and antibiotic susceptibility

Klinik örneklerden izole edilen beta-hemolitik Streptokok suşları, özellikleri ve antibiyotik duyarlılığı

Çiğdem Arabacı¹, Kenan Ak¹

¹ Department of Medical Microbiology Laboratory,	Abstract
Okmeydani Training and Research Hospital, University of Health Sciences, Istanbul, Turkey	Aim: Beta Hemolytic Streptococcus (BHS) species play a role in many infections, such as urinary tract infection, skin/soft tissue
University of Health Sciences, Istanbul, Turkey	infections, neonatal meningitis, sepsis, pneumonia as well as upper respiratory tract infections like tonsillopharyngitis. The aim of this
ORCID ID of the author(s)	study was to determine the types of BHS species, their infectious characteristics and antibiotic susceptibility profiles in clinical
CA: 0000-0003-0050-3225	specimens.
KA: 0000-0001-5863-3685	Methods: In this cross-sectional study, infectious features of 1276 streptococcus strains isolated from 1110 (87%) outpatients and 166
	(13%) inpatients between January 2014 and June 2019 at our laboratory and antimicrobial susceptibility of the 320 strains were analyzed retrospectively.
	Results: Retrospective analysis of 1276 BHS isolates revealed that 48.6% were group B, 33.9% were group A, 9.6% were group F, 5.7% were group C and 2.2% were group G BHS. Among isolated BHS infections, 42.9% caused urinary tract infection, 34.6% caused tonsillitis/tonsillopharyngitis, 15.7% were isolated from skin/soft tissue infections, 3% were found in the bloodstream, and 1% in meningitis, pneumonia, conjunctivitis, and peritonitis. About 2.8% Group B Streptococcus were considered vaginal colonization. Among all patients, 11.2% had more than one underlying disease. All isolates were susceptible to penicillin, vancomycin, linezolid and tigecycline. Erythromycin, clindamycin, and tetracycline resistance rates were determined as 5%, 2%, 40% respectively for Group A and 34%, 11%, 90%, respectively for Group B Streptococcus.
	Conclusion: Early diagnosis and appropriate antibiotherapy are important parameters in the management of streptococcal infections. Although there is no penicillin resistance in beta-hemolytic <i>streptococci</i> , we think that antibiotic susceptibility should be closely
	monitored due to increasing clinical failures, penicillin Minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) values, and macrolide and fluoroquinolone resistance, especially in Group B Streptococcus.
	Keywords: Antibiotic susceptibility, Infection, Beta hemolytic Streptococcus spp
Corresponding author/Sorumlu yazar:	Öz
Çiğdem Arabacı Address/Adres: Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi, Okmeydani Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi, Tibbi Mikrobiyoloji Laboratuvarı Bölümü, Darülaceze Caddesi, No: 27, Şişli, İstanbul, Türkiye e-Mail: cigdem.arabaci@okmeydani.gov.tr	Amaç: Beta Hemolitik Streptococcus (BHS) türleri, idrar yolu enfeksiyonu, cilt/yumuşak doku enfeksiyonları, tonsillofarenjit gibi üst solunum yolu enfeksiyonları, yenidoğanda menenjit, sepsis ve pnömoni gibi birçok enfeksiyonda rol oynar. Bu çalışmanın amacı klinik örneklerden izole edilen BHS türlerini, enfeksiyon özelliklerini ve antibiyotik duyarlılık profillerini belirlemektir. Yöntemler: Laboratuvarımızda Ocak 2014 - Haziran 2019 tarihleri arasında, 1110 (%87) ayaktan ve 166 (%13) yatarak tedavi gören hastadan izole edilen 1276 beta hemolitik streptokok (BHS) suşu, özellikleri ve 320 suşun antimikrobiyal duyarlılığı retrospektif olarak
Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Local Ethics Committee (date: 17.12.2019; number: 1513) and performed according to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki. Etik Kurul Onay: Bu çalışma, yerel etik kuruldan onay aldı (tarih: 17.12.2019; sayı: 1513) ve Helsinki Deklarasyonu'ndaki rehber ilkelere uygun olarak	incelendi. Çalışmanın tipi kesitsel çalışmadır. Bulgular: Toplam 1276 BHS izolatının; %48,6 grup B, %33,9 grup A, %9,6 grup F, %5,7 grup C ve %2,2 grup G BHS idi. İncelenen BHS enfeksiyonlarının; %42,9'u idrar yolu enfeksiyonu, %34,6'sı tonsillit/tonsillofarenjit, %15,7'si citl/yumuşak doku enfeksiyonu, %3' ü kan dolaşımı enfeksiyonu ve %1'i menenjit, pnömoni, konjonktivit ve peritonit idi. %2,8 Grup B Streptokok izolatı vajinal kolonizasyon olarak kabul edildi. Hastaların %11,2'sinde birden fazla altta yatan hastalık vardı. Tüm izolatlar penisilin, vankomisin, linezolid ve tigesikline duyarlıydı. Eritromisin, klindamisin ve tetrasiklin direnci Grup A Streptokok ve Grup B Streptokok için sırasıyla %5, %2, %40 ve %34, %11, %90 olarak belirlendi.
yapıldı. Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması	Sonuç: Erken tanı ve uygun antibiyoterapi streptokok enfeksiyonlarının tedavisinde önemli parametrelerdir. Beta-hemolitik streptokoklarda penisilin direnci olmasa da, klinik başarısızlıkların varlığı, özellikle Grup B Streptokok 'da penisilin Minimal İnhibitör Konsantrasyonu (MİK) değerlerinin artışı, makrolid ve florokinolon direncinin artması nedeniyle antibiyotik duyarlılığının yakından
bildirmemişlerdir.	izlenmesi gerektiğini düşünüyoruz.
	Anahtar kelimeler: Antibiyotik duyarlılığı, Enfeksiyon, Beta hemolitik Streptococcus spp
Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal	
destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.	
□ Published: 1/23/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 23.01.2020	
Copyright © 2020 The Author(s) Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NOPervisives License 4.0 (CC	

This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NorCommercial Noberitatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



How to cite/Attf için: Arabacı Ç, Ak K. Beta hemolytic *Streptococci* strains isolated from clinical specimens; their characteristics and antibiotic susceptibility. J Surg Med. 2020;4(1):38-42.

Introduction

Streptococcus spp are common in nature. They can also be found in the normal flora of the human mouth, pharynx, lower gastrointestinal tract and vagina. Streptococci can cause serious life-threatening infections such as necrotizing fasciitis, endocarditis, newborn meningitis, sepsis and pneumonia, as well as upper respiratory infections such as tonsillopharyngitis. Among streptococci, beta hemolytic streptococci (BHS) constitute an important group causing invasive infections. They are divided into sera-groups (A through H and K through V) by antigenic differences in their cell wall carbohydrates by Lancefield, and the most common causative agents of infection in humans are the A, B, C and G groups [1]. The increase in invasive BHS infections worldwide has increased the importance of early diagnosis and treatment in life-threatening infections [2,3]. In this study, we aimed to evaluate the clinical characteristics and determine the antibiotic susceptibility patterns of patients with BHS isolated in their clinical specimens.

Materials and methods

In this study, infectious features of 1276 streptococcus strains isolated from 1110 (87%) outpatients and 166 (13%) inpatients between January 2014 and June 2019 at the medical microbiology laboratory of our hospital and antimicrobial susceptibility of the 320 strains were analyzed retrospectively.

Samples were fixed in 5% sheep blood agar medium and placed in a waxed jar, which would provide 5-10% CO2 medium, and incubated in 37 °C oven for 24 hours. At the end of incubation, colonies with β -hemolysis were evaluated. Of these colonies, gram positive cocci that formed chains and were negative for catalase were grouped with streptococcal slide agglutination kit (Streptococcal latex test, Plasmatec, UK). 5% sheep blood Müeller Hinton Agar was used for antibiotic susceptibility test. The prepared suspension from 24-hour pure cultures of strains at 0.5 McFarland tube turbidity was spread on the medium. For penicillin G sensitivity, the gradient test strip (ETEST, Biomerieux, France) and discs for other antibiotics (BD BBL Sensi-Disc, USA) were placed in the medium with the help of dispenser at enough distances from each other. The petri dishes were incubated in a 37 °C oven for 24 hours and the disc diffusion results were evaluated by measuring zone diameters. The points where the inhibition ellipse formed around the gradient test strip intersect with the E test strip were determined as the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of the antibiotic. Evaluations were made according to the European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST) criteria [4]. Penicillin G MIC values were recorded in all BHS isolates. The highest and lowest MIC values were defined as MIC range. MIC values that inhibited 50% and 90% of BHS growth were considered MIC₅₀ and MIC₉₀, respectively. D test was used to determine erythromycin-inducible clindamycin resistance (MLS_B). %5 sheep blood Mueller-Hinton agar, erythromycin (15 µg) and clindamycin (2 µg) discs were placed at a distance of 12-15 mm between the outer edges of each other. Inducible MLS_B was defined as a bulging on the side facing erythromycin within the clindamycin zone and D test was considered positive. If the strains were resistant to both erythromycin and clindamycin, they were regarded as $CMLS_B$ phenotype. The M phenotype was considered erythromycin-resistant and clindamycin-susceptible if there was no bulging on the zone [5].

Statistical analysis

The total number of beta hemolytic streptococci, the biological samples they produced within the specified period and antibiotic susceptibility were calculated and percentages were found for each.

Results

Among 1276 strains in the study, 48.6% (n=620) were as Group B Streptococcus (GBS), 33.9% (n=432) were Group A (GAS), 9.6% Streptococcus (n=123) were Group F Streptococcus (GFS), 5.7% (n=73) were Group C Streptococcus (GCS) and 2.2% (n=28) were defined as Group G Streptococcus (GGS) (Figure 1). Among determined BHS infections, 42.9% (n=547) were urinary tract infections, 34.6% (n=441) were tonsillitis/tonsillopharyngitis, 15.7% (n=200) were skin/soft tissue infections, 3% (n=39) were bloodstream infections, and 1% (n=13) were meningitis, pneumonia, conjunctivitis and peritonitis (Table 1). Among GBS isolates, 2.8% (n=36) were considered vaginal colonization.



Figure 1: Distribution of Streptococci subgroups

Upon evaluation of the reproduction of BHS in blood and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) samples, which were considered invasive infections, 42 (3.3%) patients had sepsis/bacteremia and meningitis. Seven of these patients had neonatal sepsis and 3 had neonatal meningitis. Diagnoses of inpatients were skin and soft tissue infection in 45.7%, sepsis/bacteremia in 23.4%, genitourinary tract infection in 21.9%, respiratory tract infection in 6%, meningitis in 1.8%, conjunctivitis and peritonitis in 1.2%. Outpatients included in the study were diagnosed with genitourinary system infection (48.8%), tonsillitis/tonsillopharyngitis (37%) and skin and soft tissue infections (14.2%).

Table 1: Distribution of isolated BHS strains

Material	GAS	GBS	GCS	GFS	GGS	Total (n=1276)
	(n=432)	(n=620)	(n=73)	(n=123)	(n=28)	
Throat	312	2	30	79	18	34.6% (n=441)
Urine	9	533	0	5	0	42.9% (n=547)
Tissue /Abscess	94	25	43	30	8	15.7% (n=200)
Blood	8	21	0	8	2	3.0% (n=39)
Vagina	0	36	0	0	0	2.8% (n=36)
Sputum	8	0	0	0	0	0.06% (n=8)
CSF	0	3	0	0	0	0.02% (n=3)
Sterile body fluid	1	0	0	1	0	0.02% (n=2)
CSF: Cerebrospinal fluid						

The rate of patients with more than one underlying disease was 11.2% (n=143). It was diabetes in 32.2% (n=46), kidney and ureteral stones in 21% (n=30), trauma and surgery in 20.3% (n=29), malignancy in 16% (n=23), renal failure in 6.3% (n=9), autoimmune diseases in 3.5% (n=5) and HIV in 0.7% (n=1). Among 9992 throat cultures, 4.4% (n=437) had BHS growth. Among strains, 70.5% were GAS, 18.0% were GFS, 6.9% were GCS, 4.1% were GGS, and 0.5% was GBS.

JOSAM)

Antibiotic susceptibility testing was performed for 200 GBS, 100 GAS and 20 GCS, GGS, and GFS BHS isolates over a five-year period. All isolates studied for antibiotic susceptibility were susceptible to penicillin, vancomycin, teicoplanin, linezolid and tigecycline. Penicillin G minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) results of 320 BHS strains and their erythromycin, clindamycin, tetracycline, levofloxacin, and nitrofurantoin disc diffusion results are shown in Table 2. Since all BHS isolates were susceptible to vancomycin, teicoplanin, tigecycline and linezolid by disc diffusion method, they are not shown in table 2. In five erythromycin resistant GAS, two CMLS_B, two M phenotypes and one IMLS_B were identified. Sixty-eight erythromycin resistant GBS isolates consisted of 38 IMLS_B, 21 CMLS_B and 9 M phenotypes. One CMLS_B was detected among GCS and two CMLS_B and one M phenotype were identified among three erythromycin resistant GGS.

Table 2: Antimicrobial resistance	pattern in Beta-hemolytic	Streptococci (n=320)
ruble 2. 7 minineroblar resistance	pattern in Deta nemorytic	<i>Sucprococci</i> (n= <i>520</i>)

	haa i					
	MIC value (Disc diffusion		
	MIC range	MIC_{50}	MIC ₉₀	Susceptible	Intermediate	Resistant
				(%)	(%)	(%)
GAS (n=100)						
Penicillin G	0.004-0.047	0.008	0.023	100	-	-
Erythromycin	-	-	-	95	0	5
Clindamycin	-	-	-	98	0	2
Tetracycline	-	-	-	54	6	40
Levofloxacin	-	-	-	97	2	1
Nitrofurantoin	-	-	-	100	0	0
GBS (n=200)						
Penicillin G	0.016-0.125	0.047	0.094	100	-	-
Erythromycin	-	-	-	64	2	34
Clindamycin	-	-	-	89	0	11
Tetracycline	-	-	-	9.5	0.5	90
Levofloxacin	-	-	-	74	1	25
Nitrofurantoin	-	-	-	99	0	1
GCS (n=4)	-					
Penicillin G	0.012-0.047	0.012	0.032	100	-	-
Erythromycin	-	-	-	75	0	25
Clindamycin	-	-	-	75	0	25
Tetracycline	-	-	-	50	0	50
Levofloxacin	-	-	-	100	0	0
Nitrofurantoin	-	-	-	100	0	0
GFS (n=8)	-					
Penicillin G	0.016-0.047	0.023	0.023	100	-	-
Erythromycin	-	-	-	100	0	0
Clindamycin	-	-	-	100	0	0
Tetracycline	-	-	-	50	0	50
Levofloxacin	-	-	-	100	0	0
Nitrofurantoin	-	-	-	100	0	0
GGS (n=8)	-				-	-
Penicillin G	0.008-0.047	0.012	0.016	100	-	-
Erythromycin	-	-	-	62.5	0	37.5
Clindamycin	-	-	-	75	ů 0	25
Tetracycline	-	-	_	50	Ő	50
Levofloxacin	-	-	-	100	ů 0	0
Nitrofurantoin	-	-	-	100	0	0
			DO		oup C Streptococc	

GAS: Group A Streptococcus, GBS: Group B Streptococcus, GCS: Group C Streptococcus, GFS: Group I Streptococcus, GGS: Group G Streptococcus, MIC: Minimal inhibitory concentration

Discussion

In this study, we analyzed the general clinical features and antibiotic susceptibility pattern of BHS in a tertiary center and determined that the most common isolates were GBS and GAS; the most common infections were urinary tract infection and tonsillitis/tonsillopharyngitis, and among throat cultures the most common group was GAS. All BHS isolates were susceptible to vancomycin, teicoplanin, linezolid and tigecycline.

Invasive GAS infections continue to be associated with increased morbidity and mortality rates worldwide. There are an estimated 10649-13434 cases in the United States that result in 1136-1607 deaths each year. It is similar to the incidence of invasive GAS in Canada (4.3/100000) and to many European countries (2-4/100000). In the same study, they found that in the presence of underlying comorbid diseases, mortality rates increased in elderly and long-term patients in nursing homes [6]. In another study, it was emphasized that bacteremia due to GAS most commonly developed secondary to soft tissue infections, and diabetes mellitus was the most common comorbidity [7]. Similarly, in our study, diabetes was the most common comorbidity for all infections. In another study examining GAS, GBS, GCS and GGS bacteremia, cardiovascular diseases, malignancy, and diabetes mellitus were the most common underlying diseases. They concluded that the most common infection was skin/soft tissue infections and moreover, urinary tract infections were more common in the GBS group (12.4%) than the other groups [8]. In a study of Topkaya et al. [9] including 46 microbiology laboratories from different regions, only 65 invasive GAS isolates were identified within a year, and they concluded that invasive GAS infection incidence was low in Turkey. We detected invasive BHS infections in 3.3% of 1276 streptococcus strains. In a recent meta-analysis, clarithromycin was reported as a valid, effective, and largely well-tolerated treatment option for GAS pharyngitis patient who cannot benefit from other agents [10]. In our study, in five erythromycin resistant GAS, two CMLS_B, two M phenotypes and one IMLS_B were identified.

In the study conducted by Unlu et al. [11], 9 (5.6%) of the 161 streptococci strains isolated from the throat samples were GAS, 64 (39.7%) were GBS, two (1.2%) were GCS and three (1.8%) Type D, two (1.2%) GGS, 57 (35.4%) were viridians streptococci and 24 (14.9%) were pneumococci. Among isolated streptococci, the most common infections were urinary tract infections (n=52; 32.2%), skin/soft tissue infection (n=48; 29.8%) and pneumonia (n=25; 15.5%). They detected more than one underlying disease in 87 (54%) patients. Penicillin resistance was found to be 0% and 4.9% in GAS and GBS isolates, respectively. Similarly, in our study, the most frequently isolated group was GBS, and the most common infections were urinary tract infection and skin/soft tissue infection. In our study, an underlying disease was detected in 11.2% of the patients, while this rate was 54% in the above-mentioned study. In our study, the absence of viridians streptococci and pneumococci, and the inclusion of throat samples may cause this rate to be low. Almost all of our throat specimens were isolated from outpatients who had no underlying disease. In recent years, GBS has been identified as one of the most common pathogens responsible for maternal and neonatal infections.

Although there is not enough data about GBS colonization in developing countries, it is known that 20-30% of women are colonized by GBS in developed countries. Maternal intrapartum GBS colonization is the primary risk factor for early-onset GBS infection in infants. It is estimated that 1-2% of infants born from colonized mothers with GBS will develop early-onset GBS infection, including neonatal pneumonia, sepsis and meningitis, when untreated or inadequate measures are

taken. Severe GBS infections may result in neonatal mortality or permanent damage [12]. In a study of Karadag et al. [13] GBS colonization was detected in 3% of 300 pregnant women in labor in Turkey. Antibiotic susceptibilities of the strains isolated in the same study were studied. While resistance to penicillin G, ampicillin, meropenem and vancomycin was not detected, they found 89% resistance to tetracycline and 22% resistance to erythromycin and clindamycin. In the study of Karadeniz et al. [14], the prevalence of GBS was found to be 8% in pregnant women and 5% in newborn babies, and they reported that none of the newborns with GBS colonization developed infection in one month following birth. In our study, three neonatal meningitis and seven newborn sepsis cases due to GBS were detected. However, colonization in mothers is unknown. In our study, in almost all patients with streptococcal genitourinary tract infection, GBS were found responsible. The presence of an underlying urological pathology was found in many of the cases followed up for urinary tract infections. In a study of Shayanfar et al. [15], the prevalence of GBS in females with urinary tract infection was 8.92% and GBS was highly susceptible to cephalothin, norfloxacin, ampicillin, nitrofurantoin and vancomycin. In our study, GBS isolates were highly susceptible to Penicillin G, nitrofurantoin and clindamycin.

In recent years, the incidence of invasive infections involving GCS and GGS has increased. They lead to clinical infection presentations like GAS [16]. In our study, GCS and GGS were isolated from soft tissue infections, similar to GAS. Bacteremia due to GGS was secondary to the internal prosthesis device. In a recent study from India, Srilaka et al. [17] reported that the highest percentage of streptococci isolated was from throat swabs (35.5%), followed by sputum (15.9%), urine (14.1%), blood (10.5%), pus(8.6%), cerebrospinal fluid (6.4%), bronchoalveolar lavage (5.9%) and endotracheal tips (3.2%). The highest percentage of BHS belongs to GCS (74, 33.6%), followed by GGS (51, 23.2%), GBS (42, 19.1%), GFS (28, 12.7%), GAS (21, 9.5%) and GDS (4, 1.8%). Shahin et al. [18] reported that GCS, GFS, and GGS were common pathogens in patients with an underlying malignancy, and they are usually associated with other pathogens requiring combinatorial therapeutic strategies.

In our study, it was found that 31.6% (n=25) of GFS positive throat isolates were from Family Medicine clinics and isolated from routine samples taken during the recruitment examinations. This may suggest that GFS are colonized in the throat and not clinically important in this population. However, lung abscess associated with GFS has been reported in literature and for that reason, clinicians should be aware of more dangerous infections associated with GFS [19].

All BHS were susceptible to penicillin. In a recent review, after 70 years of use, penicillin was still defined as universally active against GAS, GCS and GGS. However, therapeutic failures were recorded in 2-28% of pharyngitis cases [20]. On the other hand, GBS with reduced susceptibility to penicillin were described in previous literature [21]. Levofloxacin resistance in GBS may also cause important clinical problems in future. In this study we defined a high levofloxacin resistance rate of 25% in GBS. Previously some genetic mutations were reported to be associated with fluoroquinolone resistance in GBS [22]. Lee et al. [23] reported the levofloxacin resistance as 4.8% in 188 GBS isolates. However, Wang et al. [24] reported that 40 GBS isolates recovered from infected neonates less than 3 months of age were susceptible to levofloxacin. Recently Seki et al. [21] reported an increased tendency to multidrug resistance (to both macrolides and fluoroquinolones) reaching approximately 10% in GBS.

Limitations

There are some limitations of this study. First this is a single center, retrospective study. Secondly, the number of isolates with antibiotic susceptibility results was low. Although penicillin resistance was not found in among BHS, we think that antibiotic susceptibility should be closely monitored due to the increased clinical failures, penicillin MIC values, macrolide, and fluoroquinolone resistance, especially in GBS.

Conclusions

As a result, infections due to *streptococci* may be seen in a wide variety ranging from tonsillitis, tonsillopharyngitis, necrotizing fasciitis, and sepsis to invasive infections such as meningitis. These invasive infections may result in serious mortality and morbidity, especially in the presence of underlying Early comorbid diseases. diagnosis and appropriate antibiotherapy are important parameters in the management of streptococcal infections. It should be noted that soft tissue infections such as surgical site infection and necrotizing fasciitis due to GAS may progress rapidly. Newborn infections are especially important for GBS. Therefore, vaginal and rectal colonization should be investigated during pregnancy and necessary precautions should be taken according to the result.

References

- 1. Facklam R. What Happened to the Streptococci: Overview of Taxonomic and Nomenclature Changes. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2002:15(4):613-30.
- 2. Oppegaard O, Mylvaganam H, Kittang BR. Beta- haemolytic group A, C and G streptococcal infections in Western Norway: a 15-year retrospective survey. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2015;21:171-7.
- 3. Cossette AC, Carignan A, Mercier A, Desruisseaux, C, Valiquette L, Pe'pin J. Secular trends in incidence of invasive beta hemolytic streptococci and efficacy of adjunctive therapy in Quebec, Canada, 1996- 2016. Plos One, 2018;13(10):e0206289.
- Susceptibility 4. The European Committee Antimicrobial Testing EUCAST on http://www.eucast.org/fileadmin/src/media/PDFs/EUCAST_files/Breakpoint_tables/v_8.1_Breakpoint_Tables.p df. Accessed 24 Dec 2019.
- Steward CD, Raney PM, Morrell AK, Williams PP, McDougal LK, Jevitt L, et al. Testing for induction of clindamycin resistance in erythromycin resistant isolates of Staphylococcus aureus. J Clin Microbiol. 2005;43(4):1716-21
- Nelson G, Pondo T, Toews KA, Farley MM, Lindegren ML, Lynfield ML, et al. Epidemiology of Invasive Group A Streptococcal Infections in the United States, 2005–2012. Clin Infec Diseases. 2016;63(4):478-86.
- 7. Hupp JA, Kallstrom G, Myers JP. Streptococcus pyogenes: Review of 68 Episodes Over 10-Year Period in a Large Community Teaching Hospital Bacteremia in Adults in the 21st Century: Review of 68 Episodes Over 10-Year Period in a Large Community Teaching. Infect Dis Clin Pract. 2018;26(1):31-4.
- 8. Takakura S, Gibo K, Takayama Y, Shiiki S, Narita N. Clinical characteristics of Streptococcus pyogenes Streptococcus agalactiae and Streptococcus dysgalactiae subsp. equisimilis bacteremia in adults: A 15-year
- retrospective study at a major teaching hospital in Okinawa, Japan. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2017;4(1):559. 9. Eren Topkaya A, Balıkçı A, Aydın F, Hasçelik G, Kayman T, Kesli R, et al. Türkiye'de invaziv streptokok enfeksiyonlarının epidemiyolojisi, klinik ve mikrobiyolojik özellikleri: 2010-2011. Mikrobiyol Bul. 2014:48(1):1-13.
- 10. Hoban DJ, Nauta J. Clinical and Bacteriological Impact Of Clarithromycin In Streptococcal Pharyngitist
- Findings From A Meta-Analysis Of Clinical Trials. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2019;13:3551-8. 11. Ünlü F, Özgenç O, Arı A, Coşkuner SA, Avcı M. Boğaz dışı klinik örneklerden izole edilen streptokok suşları ve oluşturdukları enfeksiyonların özellikleri. Med Bull Haseki. 2017;55:292-8.
- 12. Wang P, Tong JJ, Ma XH, Song FL, Fan L, Guo CM, et al. Serotypes, Antibiotic Susceptibilities, and Multi-Locus Sequence Type Profiles of Streptococcus agalactiae Isolates Circulating in Beijing, China. Plos One. 2015:10(3):e0120035
- 13. Yılmaz Karadağ F, Hızel K, Gelisen O. Doğum evlemindeki gebelerde Grup B Streptokok kolonizasyonu. J Turk Soc Obstet Gynecol. 2013;10(1):16-20.
- 14. Karadeniz M. Akın Ekmekcioğlu Y. Öztürk R. Tokuc G. Özgüner A. Gebelerde ve venidoğan bebeklerinde Grup B Streptokok (St. Agalactiae) sıklığının araştırılması. South Clin Ist Euras. 1998;9:683-6.
- 15. Shayanfar N, Mohammadpour M, Hashemi-Moghadam SA, Ashtiani MT, Mirzaie AZ, Rezaei N. Group B streptococci urine isolates and their antimicrobial susceptibility profiles in a group of Iranian females: prevalence and seasonal variations. Acta Clin Croat. 2012;51(4):623-6.
- 16. Oppegaard O, Mylvaganam H, Skrede S, Christoffer P, Kittang BR. Emergence of a Streptococcus dysgalactiae subspecies equisimilis stG62647-lineage associated with severe clinical manifestations. Sci Rep. 2017;7:7589.
- 17. Srikala VS, Sharma KK, Ramakrishna N, Katyarmal DT, Jayaprada R. Biochemical and serological characterisation of beta haemolytic streptococci from various clinical samples in a tertiary care hospital, South India. J Clin Sci Res. 2019;8:16-23.
- 18. Shahin AV, Saba M, Greene JN, A Retrospective Chart Review on the Clinical Characteristics and Outcomes of Cancer Patients With Group C, F, or G β-Hemolytic Streptococcal Infections. Infect Dis Clin Pract. 2019:27(4):205-10.
- 19. Gogineni VK, Modrykamien A. Lung Abscesses in 2 Patients With Lancefield Group F Streptococci
- (Streptococcus milleri Group). Respiratory Care. 2011;56(12):1966-9. 20. Bonofiglio L, Gagetti P, García Gabarrot G, Kaufman S, Mollerach M, Toresani I, et al. Susceptibility to βlactams in β-hemolytic streptococci. Rev Argent Microbiol. 2018;50(4):431-5

- 21. Seki T, Kimura K, Reid ME, Miyazaki A, Banno H, Jin W, et al. High isolation rate of MDR group B
- Streptococci with reduced penicillin susceptibility in Japan. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2015;70:2725-8.
 Wang YH, Chen CL, Hou JN, Wang YR, Lin TY, Wang MH, et al. Serotype distribution and resistance genes associated with macrolide and fluoroquinolone resistance in Streptococcus agalactiae isolates from a hospital in southern Taiwan. Biomed J. 2015;38(3):215-20. 23.Lee WT, Lai MC. High prevalence of Streptococcus agalactiae from vaginas of women in Taiwan and its
- Licker WT, Ear MC, High Profinate of Disprotectar against the Fourier form ruginal of the sector of t Infect Dis. 2015;37:115-8.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors. The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Suggested citation: Patrias K. Citing medicine: the NLM style guide for authors, editors, and publishers [Internet]. 2nd ed. Wendling DL, technical editor. Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US); 2007-[updated 2015 Oct 2; cited Year Month Day]. Available from: http://www.nlm.nih.gov/citingmedicine

Journal of Surgery and Medicine

The relationship between maternal and neonatal vitamin B12 and folate levels, anthropometric measurements, and metabolic indicators

Annelerdeki vitamin B12 ve folat düzevlerinin, yenidoğanlardaki vitamin B12 ve folat düzevleri, antropometrik ölçümler ve metabolik belirteçlerle ilişkisi

Emel Kabakoğlu Ünsür¹, Burçin Kınaş², Fatma Kutlusoy³, Ülkü Aksoy⁴, Kıvanç Şahin⁵, Tolga Ünsür⁶, Hüseyin Aksoy⁷, Nilgün Tekkeşin⁸

¹ Department of Pediatrics, Acıbadem Hospital, Kayseri, Turkey ² Department of Biochemistry, Memorial Hospital, Kayseri, Turkey ³Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Acıbadem Hospital, Kavseri, Turkev ⁴ Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Memorial Hospital, Kayseri, Turkey ⁵Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Erkilet Maternity and Children Hospital, Kayseri, Turkey ⁶ Department of Pediatrics, Erkilet Maternity and Children Hospital, Kayseri, Turkey ⁷ Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Kayseri City Hospital, Kayseri, Turkey ⁸ Department of Biochemistry, Memorial Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey

> ORCID ID of the author(s) EKÜ: 0000-0002-5816-7554 BK: 0000-0002-9490-7089 FK: 0000-0001-7008-4973 ÜA: 0000-0003-1010-9248 KŞ: 0000-0002-9402-5887 TÜ: 0000-0001-6032-462X HA: 0000-0003-3467-3783 NT: 0000-0001-8115-9643

Corresponding author/Sorumlu yazar: Emel Kabakoğlu Ünsür Address/Adres: Acıbadem Üniversitesi, Acıbadem Kayseri Hastanesi, Çocuk Sağlığı ve Hastalıkları Anabilim Dalı, Melikgazi Mahallesi, Mustafa Kemal Paşa Blv. No:1, 38030 Melikgazi, Kayseri, Türkiye e-Mail: emelunsur@yahoo.com.tr

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Ethic committee of Memorial Kayseri Hospital (Date: 01/29/2016 - No: 2016/1). Etik Kurul Onayı: Bu çalışma, Kayseri Memorial Hastanesi Etik Kurulu'ndan (Tarih: 29.01.2016 - No: 2016/1) onay aldı.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek

almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir. Previous presentation: This article was presented on Erciyes Pediatrics Winter Congress 2017 (Kayseri, Turkey).

Önceki sunum: Bu makale 2017 Erciyes Pediatri Kış Kongresinde (Kayseri, Türkiye) bildiri olarak sunulmustur

Published: 1/24/2020

Yayın Tarihi: 24.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s)

Copyright © 2020 The AUDALAS, Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NOBerviatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remis, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly diet. The work common be used commercially without permission from the journal.



Abstract

Aim: The nutritional imbalances in pregnancy may lead to metabolic problems in newborns, which may cause obesity during childhood and later in life. It is aimed to determine the maternal levels of folate, vitamin B12 at birth and to investigate the correlation between neonatal anthropometric measurements, and metabolic indicators such as serum lipid profile and insulin resistance.

Methods: A total of 102 mothers and newborns were enrolled in this prospective cohort study. The demographic, obstetric features, serum levels of vitamin B12, folate, glucose, high-density lipoprotein (HDL), low-density lipoprotein (LDL), triglycerides, cholesterol, insulin, homocysteine, and homeostatic model assessment (HOMA-IR) were noted. For vitamin B12, levels, ≥191 ng/L were accepted as normal. The correlation between maternal levels of vitamin B12, folate, anthropometric measurements, and metabolic indicators of newborns were evaluated.

Results: Body mass index (P=0.004), serum insulin levels (P=0.012), HOMA-IR (P=0.001), and homocysteine (P=0.001) were increased in neonates born from mothers with lower serum levels of vitamin B12. The maternal vitamin B12 levels were positively. strongly correlated with neonatal vitamin B12 levels (r=0.719, P<0.001). There was an inverse, weak correlation between maternal vitamin B12 levels and neonatal serum insulin levels (r=-0.221, P=0.025), HOMA-IR (r=-0.249, P=0.011), and homocysteine (r=-0.394, P<0.001). Maternal folate levels were strongly, positively correlated with neonatal folate (r=0.735, P<0.001); weakly, positively correlated with neonatal vitamin B12 (r=0.327, P=0.001); moderately, inversely correlated with neonatal homocysteine (r=-0.505, P<0.001).

Conclusion: Optimizing intake of these vitamins levels during pregnancy is important to reduce the neonatal metabolic abnormalities, which may lead to obesity later in life.

Keywords: Pregnancy, Vitamin B12, Folate, Neonates, Insulin resistance, Metabolic indicators

Öz

Amaç: Gebelikteki besin dengesizlikleri yenidoğanın gelecek yaşamında obeziteye neden olan metabolik problemlere yol açabilir. Çalışmamızda, gebeliğin sonunda annelerdeki folik asit, B12 vitamini düzeylerini belirlemek, yenidoğanın antropometrik ölçümleri, serum lipit profili, insülin direnci gibi metabolik göstergeleri arasındaki iliskivi arastırmak amaclandı.

Yöntemler: Toplam 102 anne ve bebek prospektif kohort calısmaya dahil edildi. Demografik, obstetrik özellikler, serum B12 vitamini, folat, glikoz, yüksek yoğunluklu lipoprotein (HDL), düşük yoğunluklu lipoprotein (LDL), trigliseritler, kolesterol, insülin, homosistein ve homeostatik model değerlendirmesi (HOMA-IR) not edildi. B12 vitamini için, ≥191 ng/L seviyeleri normal olarak kabul edildi. Maternal vitamin B12 ve folat seviyeleri ile yenidoğanların metabolik göstergeleri, antropometrik ölçümleri arasındaki ilişki araştırıldı.

Bulgular: Serum vitamin B12 düzeyi düşük olan annelerden doğan bebeklerde vücut kitle indeksi (P=0,004), serum insülin düzeyleri (P=0,012), HOMA-IR (P=0,001) ve homosistein (P=0,001) düzeyleri artmış olarak saptandı. Maternal B12 vitamini düzeylerinin, yenidoğan B12 vitamini düzeyleri ile kuvvetli korelasyon (r=0,719, P<0,001); serum insülin (r=-0,221, P=0,025), HOMA-IR (r=-0,249, P=0,011), homosistein (r=-0,394, P<0,001) seviyeleri arasında ters zayıf bir korelasyon saptandı. Maternal folat düzeyleri neonatal folat düzeyleri ile kuvvetli pozitif (r=0,735, P<0,001); yenidoğan B12 vitamini düzeyleri ile zayıf pozitif (r=0,327, P=0,001); neonatal homosistein seviyeleri ile orta derecede ters korelasyon gösterdi (r=-0,505, P<0,001).

Sonuç: Gebelik döneminde annelerde vitamin değerlerinin optimal seviyelerde tutulması, bebeklerin gelecek yaşamlarında obeziteye yol açabilecek metabolik dengesizliklerini azaltmak açısından önemlidir.

Anahtar kelimeler: Gebelik, Vitamin B12, Folat, Yenidoğan, İnsülin direnci, Metabolik belirteçler

Introduction

Obesity is a major cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide [1]. The prevalence of obesity in the pediatric population exhibits a noteworthy, global increase. Childhood obesity is linked with not only obesity in adulthood, but also increased risk for various metabolic disorders. The nutritional imbalances in pregnancy may lead to decreased serum levels of high-density lipoproteins (HDL), increased triglyceride levels as well as abnormal birth weight [2]. These alterations may enhance the occurrence of obesity, coronary heart disease, type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM) and deterioration of cognitive functions in the later life [3].

Maternal nutritional habits and vitamin deficiencies at the beginning of pregnancy may be related to imbalances of vitamin B12 and folate metabolism [4]. The low levels of vitamin B12, and elevated levels of folate may lead to insulin resistance and metabolic disorders in infants [5-7]. Experimental studies demonstrated that deficiency of vitamin B12 was accompanied by high adiposity, insulin resistance, high blood pressure, and impaired lipid metabolism [8-10]. Low levels of vitamin B12 during pregnancy may alter the methylation pattern of insulin-like growth factor-2 (IGF-2) and influence fetal growth [11], while also restricting the synthesis of Sadenosylmethionine (SAMe), thus leading to increased biosynthesis of cholesterol [12].

Recent studies indicated that vitamin B12 insufficiency during pregnancy was common even in non-vegetarian populations, and that the concentrations of vitamin B12 decreased from the first to the third trimester. No consistent association was reported between vitamin B12 deficiency and birth weight, and the metabolic indicators of newborn such as insulin resistance and blood lipid profiles [13,14].

Our purpose was to assess the correlation between the maternal levels of vitamin B12 and folate, fetal anthropometric measurements at birth, and metabolic indicators such as blood lipid profile, insulin resistance.

Materials and methods

Study design

This prospective cohort was implemented between January 2016 and April 2016 in the pediatric departments of our tertiary care center following the approval of Ethical committee of our institution (Ethic committee of Memorial Hospital-29.01.2016-No:2016/1). Written informed consent was obtained from every participant. All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendment or comparable ethical standards.

Initially, 125 women admitted for pregnancy follow-up were enrolled in the study. Since 23 pregnant women declined to participate in the trial, our study group comprised 102 cases with a mean age of 29.15 (4.52) years. A questionnaire form that reviews the socio-demographic features (age, education level, body height, pre-pregnancy body weight, gravida, parity and gestation age, lifestyle, pregnancy history, comorbidities before pregnancy, use of medications before and during pregnancy,

family history, and nutritional habits) were filled for every participant. The body-mass indices (BMI) of the pregnant women at the beginning of pregnancy and on the day of labor were noted. Blood samples were collected from brachial veins after at least six hours of fasting and centrifuged within 5 min at 4000 rpm and 4°C. The sera were stored at -80°C until analysis. The serum levels of vitamin B12, folate, glucose, high-density lipoproteins (HDL), low-density lipoprotein (LDL), triglycerides, cholesterol, insulin, and homocysteine were measured in pregnant women. Homeostatic model assessment insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) was evaluated for every participant.

The data on anthropometric measurements of the newborns, including birthweight (g), length (cm) and head circumference, were recorded immediately after birth by a trained assistant. The serum levels of vitamin B12, folate, HDL, LDL, triglycerides, glucose, cholesterol, insulin, and homocysteine were measured from the cord blood of newborns. HOMA-IR levels were assessed for every newborn.

Serum studies

Serum levels of glucose, cholesterol, triglycerides, HDL, and LDL were studied by a commercially available kit (GMI Inc., Bunker, Minnesota, USA). Fried Ewald formula was employed for measurement of LDL cholesterol, whereas HOMA-IR was assessed with Homeostasis Model Assessment 2 computer model (HOMA 2), based on fasting blood glucose and insulin levels [15-17].

Electrochemiluminescence immunoassay method was utilized for studying serum levels of insulin, vitamin B12 and folate (Roche Cobas e411 Immunology Analyzer, Roche Diagnostics, Basel, Switzerland). For vitamin B12, levels \geq 191 ng/L were accepted as normal. The homocysteine levels from serum and cord blood were investigated using the microparticle enzyme immunoassay (MEIA) method (Abbot IMX[®], Abbott Lab., Abbott Park, IL, USA).

Exclusion criteria were unwillingness to participate, presence of a chronic disease and use of medications other than multivitamin or folate supplements for the mothers, and congenital anomalies and prematurity for the newborns.

Statistical analysis

Analysis of data was performed by IBM Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) Statistics v.21 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Quantitative variables are presented as mean (standard deviation) or median, minimum, and maximum values, while categorical variables are expressed as number and percentage. The assumption of normality needed for the utility of parametric tests has been investigated with the Shapiro – Wilks test. The significance of the difference between two groups was evaluated with either T-test or Mann Whitney U test. The significance of the correlation between variables was assessed using Pearson or Spearman correlation coefficient. *P*value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

A total of 102 mothers and their newborns were analyzed. An overview of maternal and neonatal baseline descriptive data is presented in Table 1. The mean maternal age was 29.15 (4.52) years (range: 19-49); the mean BMI values before and at the end of pregnancy were 25.1 kg/m² (3.9) and

 30.5 kg/m^2 (3.7), respectively. While none of the mothers used vitamin B12 supplements, 55.4% of the mothers used folate supplements, and 5 (4.9%) of the mothers were vegetarian. The mean vitamin B12 level of the mothers were 228.3 ng/ml; 32 (31.4%) mothers had low vitamin B12. The mean folate level was 15.1 μ g/ml. None of the mothers had low folate levels. The mean gestational age of the newborns was 38.8 (0.8) weeks. The mode of delivery was cesarean section (C/S) in 73 cases (71.6%), and vaginal delivery (28.4%) in 29 cases.

The baseline descriptive data for neonates is presented in Table 2. The pregnant women gave birth to 45 female (44.1%) and 57 male (55.9%) neonates. The average BMI of neonates was 13.18 (1.27) kg/m².

Table 3 displays the serum maternal and neonatal levels of vitamin B12, folate and other markers. The mean serum levels of vitamin B12 in the mother and newborn were 246.37 ng/ml (99.12) and 460.7 ng/ml (339.95), respectively. The mean maternal and neonate folate levels were 15.89 μ g /ml (4.36), and 18.90 µg /ml (2.22), respectively.

Table 1: Baseline descriptive data of mothers in our series (n=102)						
Variable		Mean (SD)	Min – Max			
Age		29.15 (4.52)	19 - 49			
BMI (before pregna	ncy)	25.12 (3.93)	43 - 86			
BMI		30.6 (3.79)	22 - 42			
Gravidity		1.64 (1.04)	1 - 7			
Gestational age (we	eks)	38.77 (0.82)	38 - 41			
		Number	Percentage			
Educational level	PS	7	6.9			
	SS	49	48.0			
	University	46	45.1			
Mode of delivery	Vaginal	29	28.4			
	C/S	73	71.6			
Folate use	No	45	44.1			
	Yes	57	55.9			
Vegetarian	No	97	95.1			
	Yes	5	4.9			
Smoking	No	94	92.2			
	Yes	8	7.8			

BMI: body-mass index, PS: primary school, SS: secondary school, C/S: cesarean section

Table 2: Baseline descriptive	information for newbo	rns in our series (n=102)

Variat	bles	Mean (SD)	Min – Max
Body-mass index (kg/m ²)		13.18 (1.27)	10.15 - 16.55
Head circumference (cm)			30 - 37
		Number	Percentage
Sex	Female	45	44.1
	Male	57	55.9

SD: Standard deviation

LDL

Insulin

HOMA-IR

124.81 (36.71) 14.5 [2 - 114]

Maternal and neonatal vitamin B12 and folate levels

Table 3: Serum levels of laboratory parameters under investigation

JOSAM

	1	
Variable	Maternal	Neonatal
Vitamin B12 (ng/ml)	246.37 (99.12)	460.7 (339.95)
Folate (µg/ml)	15.89 (4.36)	18.90 (2.22)
Glucose (mg/dl)	82.36 (16.17)	71.75 (26.42)
Cholesterol (mg/dl)	258.67 (45.76)	60.93 (15.65)
TG (mg/dl)	265.72 (89.23)	28.82 (16.01)
HDL (mg/dl)	73.93 (19.51)	29.91 (10.83)
LDL (mg/dl)	134.73 (41.98)	25.25 (8.44)
Insulin (mIU/l)	20.12 (19.43)	12.16 (11.55)
HOMA-IR	4.31 (6.33)	2.34 (2.89)
Homocysteine (µmol/l)	5.46 (2.75)	5.53 (1.56)
TG: triglyceride, HDL: high-d	ensity lipoprotein, L	DL: low-density lipoprote

stasis model assessment insulin resistance

The distribution of maternal serum parameters with respect to cut-off points is shown in Table 4. The results indicated that 32 pregnant women (31.4%) had low levels of vitamin B12 (<191 ng/ml). Notably, serum folate levels were sufficient (\geq 4.9 µg/ml) in all pregnant women.

Table 4. The distribution of maternal serum parameters with respect to cut-off points

Variable		Number	Percentage
Body-mass index (kg/m ²)	18.5 - 24.9	6	5.9
	25 - 29.9	39	38.2
	≥ 30	57	55.9
Vitamin B12 (ng/ml)	< 191	32	31.4
	≥ 191	70	68.6
Folate (µg/ml)	< 4.9	0	0.0
	≥ 4.9	102	100.0
Glucose (mg/dl)	≤ 125	99	97.1
	> 125	3	2.9
Cholesterol (mg/dl)	≤ 200	5	4.9
	> 200	97	95.1
TG /mg/dl)	≤ 150	9	8.8
	> 150	93	91.2
HDL (mg/dl)	≤ 40	1	1.0
	> 40	101	99.0
LDL (mg/dl)	< 130	50	49.0
	≥ 130	52	51.0
Insulin (mIU/l)	< 10	29	28.4
	≥ 10	73	71.6
HOMA-IR	< 2	34	33.3
	≥ 2	68	66.7
Homocysteine (µmol/l)	≤ 15	101	99.0
	> 15	1	1.0

TG: triglyceride, HDL: high-density lipoprotein, LDL: low-density lipoprotein, HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment insulin resistance

Table 5 demonstrates a comparative analysis of descriptive and laboratory parameters with respect to maternal and newborn serum vitamin B12 levels. In terms of maternal vitamin B12 levels, BMI, serum vitamin B12, insulin, homocysteine and HOMA-IR were found to differ significantly in neonates. Newborns of mothers with lower serum vitamin B12 levels (<191 ng/ml) had remarkably higher BMI (P=0.004), higher levels of insulin (P=0.012), HOMA-IR (P=0.001), homocysteine (P=0.001) and lower levels of serum vitamin B12 (*P*<0.001).

Table 5: Comparative analysis of descriptive and laboratory parameters with respect to maternal and newborn serum vitamin B12 levels

25.33 (9.36)

8.45 [0 - 68]

1.20 [0 - 20]

	Mat	ernal	P-value	Ne	eonatal	P-value
	<191 ng/ml	≥191 ng/ml		<191 ng/ml	≥191 ng/ml	
Age	28.59 (3.93)	29.40 (4.77)	0.406	-	-	-
BMI	25.45 (3.83)	24.97 (3.99	0.570	-	-	-
BMI**	30.83 (3.52)	30.5 (3.93)	0.681	13.70 (1.10)	12.93 (1.27)	0.004
Folate	15.30 [5 - 20]	18.25 [7 - 20]	0.097	20 [10 - 20]	20 [13 - 20]	0.230
Glucose	82 [50 - 186]	81.5 [60 - 126]	0.845	63 [48 - 156]	65.5 [26 - 156]	0.405
Cholesterol	251.53 (35.48)	261.93 (49.65)	0.289	61.81 (14.63)	60.53 (16.18)	0.703
TG	290.19 (109.77)	254.53 (76.40)	0.061	26.5 [11 - 99]	25 [7 - 84]	0.662
HDL	71.16 (18.08)	75.20 (20.12)	0.334	27.5 [10 - 55]	28 [11 - 66]	0.806

0.107

0.968

0 700

139.26 (43.67) 13.95 [2 - 112]

2 60 [0 - 25]

3.15 [0 - 52] 5.65 [2.8 - 29.6] 0.001 4.9 [2.9 - 8.8] 6.27 (1.73) Homocysteine 0.109 5.19 (1.36) 0.001 BMI*: body-mass index before pregnancy, BMI**: BMI on the day of labour, TG: triglyceride, HDL: high-density lipoprotein, LDL: low-density lipoprotein, HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment insulin

0.880

0.012

Table 6: An overview of maternal and neonatal serum vitamin B12 and folate levels with respect to various characteristics of the mother

11.25 [4 - 65]

25.09 (6.07)

2 2 [0 - 15]

		Maternal	Aaternal			Neonatal			
		Vitamin B12	P-value	Folate	P-value	Vitamin B12	P-value	Folate	P-value
Mode of delivery	V	211 [99 - 571]	0.873	14.8 [5 - 20]	0.013	373 [123 - 1916]	0.659	20 [14 - 20]	0.280
	C/S	227 [59 - 563]		18.9 [7 - 20]		368 [98 - 1983]		20 [10 - 20]	
Folate use	No	224 [59 - 571]	0.928	15.5 [5 - 20]	0.151	378 [98 - 1916]	0.835	20 [13 - 20]	0.652
	Yes	227 [99 - 563]		18.6 [7 - 20]		368 [123 - 1983]		20 [10 - 20]	
Vegetarian	No	227 [59 - 571]	0.125	17.5 [5 - 20]	0.887	371 [98 - 1983]	0.303	20 [10 - 20]	0.718
-	Yes	158 [120 - 370]		14.1 [11 - 20]		231 [182 - 1715]		20 [14 - 20]	
Smoking	No	227 [59 - 571]	0.463	16.9 [5 - 20]	0.097	366 [98 - 1983]	0.538	20 [10 - 20]	0.317
-	Yes	195 [99 - 352]		19.85 [11 - 20]		389 [123 - 771]		20 [14 - 20]	

An outline of maternal and neonatal serum vitamin B12 and folate levels with respect to various characteristics of the mother is given in Table 6. Notably, mothers who gave birth via C/S had higher levels of folate than those who underwent vaginal delivery (P=0.014). Interestingly, folate supplementation did not yield a significant difference in neither maternal (P=0.151) nor neonatal (P=0.652) serum folate levels.

The results of correlation analysis for maternal serum levels of folate and vitamin B12 and neonatal biomarkers is shown in Table 7. We noted that maternal vitamin B12 levels was positively and strongly correlated with neonatal vitamin B12 levels (r=0.719, P<0.001). There was an inverse and weak correlation between maternal vitamin B12 levels and neonatal serum levels of insulin (r=-0.221, P=0.025), HOMA-IR (r=-0.249, P=0.011) and homocysteine (r=-0.394, P<0.001). Maternal folate levels were strongly and positively correlated with neonatal folate (r=0.735, P<0.001), weakly and positively correlated with neonatal vitamin B12 (r=0.327, P=0.001), moderately and inversely correlated with neonatal homocysteine (r=-0.505, P<0.001).

Table 7: Analysis of the correlation between maternal serum levels of vitamin B12 and folate and neonatal variables under investigation

	Maternal	vitamin B12	Maternal	folate
Neonatal	r	P-value	r	P-value
Vitamin B12	0.719	< 0.001	0.327	0.001
Folate	0.118	0.236	0.735	< 0.001
Glucose	0.062	0.538	0.007	0.947
Cholesterol	0.004	0.971	0.073	0.463
TG	0.035	0.728	-0.165	0.097
HDL	-0.049	0.623	0.077	0.441
LDL	0.078	0.434	0.043	0.668
Insulin	-0.221	0.025	0.084	0.400
HOMA-IR	-0.249	0.011	0.050	0.617
Homocysteine	-0.394	< 0.001	-0.505	< 0.001

TG: triglyceride, HDL: high-density lipoprotein, LDL: low-density lipoprotein, HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment insulin resistance, correlation coefficients (r): 1 - 0.90: very strong association; 0.89 - 0.70: strong association; 0.69 - 0.40: moderate association; 0.39 - 0.20: weak association; 0.19 - 0.0: no associations

Discussion

Suboptimal concentrations of vitamin B12 may be independently associated with abnormal birth weight, an adverse lipid profile, and higher insulin resistance in neonates. Therefore, that may serve as surrogate markers for metabolic disorders such as obesity, type 2 diabetes, and metabolic syndrome in later life in many populations [2]. We investigated the serum levels of vitamin B12 and folate in pregnant women to investigate whether they are correlated with metabolic indicators and fetal anthropometric measurements at birth. Results of the current study imply that low levels of maternal vitamin B12 were associated with an increased likelihood of obesity and glucose intolerance in neonates.

There is an association between vitamin B12 levels and indicators of metabolic risk (such as lipid profiles) at birth [2]. The increased levels of homocysteine in the patients with low vitamin B12 suggest that these low levels can be clinically significant and represent a frank insufficiency at the tissue level [2,15]. The recent studies have reported a rate of 40% for low vitamin B12 level in mothers, which was attributed to hemodilution, changes in binding proteins, active transport to the fetus as well as consumption of processed foods and improved hygiene [2,18].

Adaikalakoteswari et al. [2] proposed that decreased levels of maternal vitamin B12 were linked with fetal insulin resistance, lower HDL and higher triglycerides. Similarly, an experimental study demonstrated that adverse lipid profile was detected in rats born to vitamin B12 restricted dams [19]. It can be postulated that low maternal vitamin B12 status may unfavorably influence the lipid profile in the newborn. We observed that maternal vitamin B12 levels were positively correlated with neonatal vitamin B12 levels and inversely correlated with neonatal insulin, HOMA-IR, and homocysteine levels. On the other hand, no remarkable association could be established between maternal and neonatal lipids. Further trials are warranted to unveil the roles of lipids in vitamin B12, folate and glucose metabolism during pregnancy.

Supplementation of vitamin B12 and folate in pregnant women may be useful for reduction of metabolic risks for neonate and achievement of more favorable perinatal outcomes. Our data is important since we observed that maintenance of sufficient folate levels in the mother was accompanied with adequate folate level and diminution of homocysteine in the neonate. Maternal vitamin B12 levels were inversely correlated with neonatal head circumference and neonatal triglyceride levels. Thus, we speculate that maternal vitamin B12 supplementation is crucial for regulation of favorable fat and glucose metabolisms in the newborn.

Interestingly, the relationship between maternal folate and neonatal homocysteine became insignificant when maternal homocysteine level was included in the analysis. Hence, the effect of folate on neonatal homocysteine may be mediated through maternal homocysteine while the impact of vitamin B12 may be partly independent of it. In accordance with this data, low levels of maternal vitamin B12 were predictive for hyperhomocysteinemia in both the newborns and the mothers [20].

Vitamin B12 is supposed to be the strongest driver of homocysteine, and an established metabolic risk factor [5,21]. There is a strong inverse correlation between maternal vitamin B12 and neonatal homocysteine levels [2]. In the relevant literature, BMI was higher in patients with low vitamin B12 [22]. However, the causality of this association has not been yet elucidated. The biochemical basis for increased metabolic risk due to low vitamin B12 may be due to 2 pathways: Vitamin B12 is a cofactor for conversions of homocysteine to methionine and methyl malonyl Co-A to succinyl Co-A. Thus, oxidation of free fatty acids will be impaired, and lipogenesis will occur in the case of deficiency of vitamin B12 [5]. Low maternal vitamin B12 and high folate status may be involved in the epidemic of adiposity and type 2 DM. Our data is coherent with these results.

Our results imply that the dietary supply of methyl donors like folate and vitamin B12 during pregnancy is necessary for normal growth, development, and physiological functions of newborn. Maternal deficiency of vitamin B12 was reflected as higher BMI, increased levels of insulin, HOMA-IR and homocysteine in neonates. Therefore, we suggest that monitorization of maternal vitamin B12 and replacement of any deficiency detected during pregnancy may avoid further adverse metabolic consequences in the newborn. Deficiency of vitamin B12 is particularly associated with altered lipid profile and increased metabolic risk [12]. Sukumar et al. [23] suggested that vitamin B12 insufficiency during pregnancy was common even in non-vegetarian populations and there was no clear association

between vitamin B12 and low birth weight. Vitamin B12 exhibits a crucial function in adipose metabolism, and its deficiency causes increased levels of homocysteine and cholesterol. There were remarkable associations of vitamin B12 deficiency with BMI, triglycerides, and total cholesterol [12]. Thus, maintenance of adequate levels of vitamin B12 during periconceptional period is important and special risk groups such as vegetarians and patients with malabsorption need to be evaluated carefully [12]. However, we did not come across any adverse metabolic outcome due to a vegetarian diet.

Experimental studies have shown that maternal folic acid supplementation can alter DNA methylation and gene expression in the developing fetus, which may confer disease susceptibility later in life. Maternal folic acid supplementation affects tissue folate concentrations, DNA methylation and gene expression in the offspring in a gestation-period-dependent and organ-specific manner [24]. Even though low maternal folate levels were initially correlated with metabolic risk markers in the newborn, these associations became invisible after regression analysis [2]. A folate supply may contribute to the implantation and development of the placenta and improvement of the endothelial function [25]. There is a remarkable interaction between metabolisms of folate and vitamin B12 and a high folate intake may hinder the hematologic and neurodegenerative symptoms of vitamin B12 deficiency. The investigation of the link between sociodemographic factors with vitamin B12 status revealed that gender and income were not associated with serum vitamin B12 levels. On the other hand, obesity was negatively correlated with vitamin B12 status [26]. We suggest that maternal supplementation of vitamin B12 and folate may be the initial step in the combat with obesity and DM.

Limitations

The modest sample size and data restricted to the experience of a single institution. Furthermore, the impact of confounding variables such as social, environmental, genetic, metabolic, and ethnic factors may have affected our results. Hence, interpretation of our results must be made cautiously. Further multi-centric trials on larger series are warranted to identify the consequences of deficiencies of folate and vitamin B12 in pregnant women.

Conclusion

The main strength of this study was the investigation of the relationship between multiple metabolic indicators and folate, vitamin B12. In conclusion, we suggest that the achievement of optimal serum levels of vitamin B12 and folate during pregnancy are important for reducing the likelihood of neonatal DM and obesity. Identification of deficiency of these vitamins in the periconceptional period is important to provide adequate nutritional support to avoid obesity and related metabolic morbidities. Levels of vitamin B12 may have a significant potential to affect the health of future offspring. Policies and recommendations should be developed for food fortification and supplement use to decrease risks for metabolic hazards such as type 2 DM, obesity, and cardiovascular diseases.

The achievement of optimal serum levels of vitamin B12 and folate during pregnancy are important for reducing the likelihood of neonatal glucose metabolism abnormalities and obesity in later life. Identification of deficiency of these vitamins

References

- Raimi TH, Dada SA, Solanke A. Positive association of neck circumference and cardiometabolic risk factors in Ekiti, Nigeria. J Surg Med. 2018;2(3):218-22.
- Adaikalakoteswari A, Vatish M, Lawson A, Wood C, Sivakumar K, McTernan PG, et al. Low maternal vitamin B12 status is associated with lower cord blood HDL cholesterol in white Caucasians living in the UK. Nutrients. 2015;7:2401-14.
- Roseboom TJ, Painter RC, van Abeelen AF, Veenendaal MV, de Rooij SR. Hungry in the womb: What are the consequences? Lessons from the dutch famine. Maturitas. 2011;70:141–5.
- Saravanan P, Yajnik CS. Role of maternal vitamin B12 on the metabolic health of the offspring: A contributor to the diabetes epidemic? Br J Diabetes Vasc Disease. 2010;10:109–14.
- Yajnik CS, Deshpande SS, Jackson AA, Refsum H, Rao S, Fisher DJ, et al. Vitamin B12 and folate concentrations during pregnancy and insulin resistance in the offspring: The pune maternal nutrition study. Diabetologia. 2008;51:29–38.
- Stewart CP, Christian P, Schulze KJ, Arguello M, LeClerq SC, Khatry SK, et al. Low maternal vitamin B-12 status is associated with offspring insulin resistance regardless of antenatal micronutrient supplementation in rural Nepal J Nutr. 2011;141:1912–7.
- Krishnaveni GV, Veena SR, Karat SC, Yajnik CS, Fall CH. Association between maternal folate concentrations during pregnancy and insulin resistance in Indian children. Diabetologia. 2014;57:110–21.
- Sinclair KD, Allegrucci C, Singh R, Gardner DS, Sebastian S, Bispham J, et al. DNA methylation, insulin resistance, and blood pressure in offspring determined by maternal periconceptional B vitamin and methionine status. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2007;104:19351–6.
- Garcia MM, Gueant-Rodriguez RM, Pooya S, Brachet P, Alberto JM, Jeannesson E, et al. Methyl donor deficiency induces cardiomyopathy through altered methylation/acetylation of PGC-1alpha by PRMT1 and SIRT1. J Pathol. 2011;225:324–35.
- Kumar KA, Lalitha A, Pavithra D, Padmavathi IJ, Ganeshan M, Rao KR, et al. Maternal dietary folate and/or vitamin B12 restrictions alter body composition (adiposity) and lipid metabolism in Wistar rat offspring. J Nutr Biochem. 2013;24:25–31.
- Ba Y, Yu H, Liu F, Geng X, Zhu C, Zhu Q, et al. Relationship of folate, vitamin B12 and methylation of insulin-like growth factor-II in maternal and cord blood. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2011;65:480–5.
- Adaikalakoteswari A, Finer S, Voyias PD, McCarthy CM, Vatish M, Moore J, et al. Vitamin B12 insufficiency induces cholesterol biosynthesis by limiting s-adenosylmethionine and modulating the methylation of SREBF1 and LDLR genes. Clin Epigenetics. 2015;7:14.
- Halicioglu O, Sutcuoglu S, Koc F, Ozturk C, Albudak E, Colak A, et al. Vitamin B12 and folate statuses are associated with diet in pregnant women, but not with anthropometric measurements in term newborns. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2012;25:1618-1621
- 14.Sukumar N, Rafnsson SB, Kandala NB, Bhopal R, Yajnik CS, Saravanan P. Prevalence of vitamin B-12 insufficiency during pregnancy and its effect on offspring birth weight: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr. 2016;103:1232-51. Erratum in: Am J Clin Nutr. 2017;105:241.
- 15. Johnson R, McNutt P, MacMahon S, Robson R. Use of the Friedewald formula to estimate LDL-cholesterol in patients with chronic renal failure on dialysis. Clin Chem. 1997;43:2183-4.
- Hermans MP, Levy JC, Morris RJ, Turner RC. Comparison of tests of beta-cell function across a range of glucose tolerance from normal to diabetes. Diabetes. 1999;48:1779-86.
- Hermans MP, Levy JC, Morris RJ, Turner RC. Comparison of insulin sensitivity tests across a range of glucose tolerance from normal to diabetes. Diabetologia. 1999;42:678-87.
- Wallace JM, Bonham MP, Strain J, Duffy EM, Robson PJ, Ward M, et al. Homocysteine concentration, related B vitamins, and betaine in pregnant women recruited to the Seychelles child development study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008;87:391–7.
- Kumar KA, Lalitha A, Pavithra D, Padmavathi IJ, Ganeshan M, Rao KR. Maternal dietary folate and/or vitamin B12 restrictions alter body composition (adiposity) and lipid metabolism in Wistar rat offspring. J Nutr Biochem. 2013;24:25–31.
- Molloy AM, Mills JL, Cox C, Daly SF, Conley M, Brody LC, et al. Choline and homocysteine interrelations in umbilical cord and maternal plasma at delivery. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005;82:836–42.
- Wald DS, Law M, Morris JK. Homocysteine and cardiovascular disease: Evidence on causality from a metaanalysis. BMJ. 2002;325:1202.
- 22.Schaefer-Graf UM, Meitzner K, Ortega-Senovilla H, Graf K, Vetter K, Abou-Dakn M, et al. Differences in the implications of maternal lipids on fetal metabolism and growth between gestational diabetes mellitus and control pregnancies. Diabet Med. 2011;28:1053–9.
- 23. Sukumar N, Rafnsson SB, Kandala NB, Bhopal R, Yajnik CS, Saravanan P. Prevalence of vitamin B-12 insufficiency during pregnancy and its effect on offspring birth weight: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr. 2016;103:1232-51.
- 24. Ly A, Ishiguro L, Kim D, Im D, Kim SE, Sohn KJ, et al. Maternal folic acid supplementation modulates DNA methylation and gene expression in the rat offspring in a gestation period-dependent and organ-specific manner. J Nutr Biochem. 2016;33:103-10.
- Fekete K, Berti C, Cetin I, Hermoso M, Koletzko BV, Decsi T. Perinatal folate supply: relevance in health outcome parameters. Matern Child Nutr. 2010;2:23-38.
- outcome parameters. Matern Child Nutr. 2010;2:23-38.
 26. MacFarlane AJ, Greene-Finestone LS, Shi Y. Vitamin B-12 and homocysteine status in a folate-replete population: results from the Canadian Health Measures Survey. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;94:1079-87.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Suggested citation: Patrias K. Citing medicine: the NLM style guide for authors, editors, and publishers [Internet]. 2nd ed. Wendling DL, technical editor. Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US); 2007-[updated 2015 Oct 2; cited Year Month Day]. Available from: http://www.nlm.nih.gov/citingmedicine

Journal of Surgery and Medicine

Risk factors for bacteremia following endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography

Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography sonrası gelişen bakteriyemide eşlik eden risk faktörleri

Ayhanım Tümtürk¹, Çiğdem Ataman Hatipoglu²

¹ Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Turkiye Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey ² Ankara Training and Research Hospital, Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Ankara, Turkev

> ORCID ID of the author(s) AT: 0000-0002-0653-6725 CH: 0000-0002-1104-8232

Abstract

Aim: Bacteremia after endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) is a serious complication, but its risk factors have not yet been clearly defined. In this study, we aimed to determine the incidence of bacteremia and associated risk factors after ERCP. Methods: This retrospective-cohort study was conducted between January 2017 and December 2018. Patients who had no signs of infection before the procedure and who developed bacteremia after the procedure were included in the study. For each patient who developed bacteremia, two randomized control patients who underwent ERCP and did not develop bacteremia were selected to compare risk factors, clinical and laboratory findings.

Results: A total of 91 bacteremia attacks were detected in 86 of the 4237 patients who underwent ERCP procedure. Bacteremia rate after ERCP was 2%. In multivariate analysis, the age of the patient, presence of biliary tract cancer, cholecystitis / cholangitis, pancreatitis and biopsy were determined as significant risk factors for post-ERCP bacteremia (P=0.009, P<0.001, P=0.008, P=0.002 and P=0.014 respectively).

Conclusion: The development of bacteremia after ERCP significantly increases the risk of mortality. The mean age of the patients who died was older. This result supports the use of prophylactic antibiotics especially in elderly patients. We think that knowledge of potential ERCP complications and risk factors may help reduce the incidence and severity of complications. Keywords: Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography, Bacteremia, Risk factors

Öz

Amaç: Endoskopik retrograd kolanjiyopankreatografi (ERCP) sonrası bakteriyemi ciddi bir komplikasyondur, ancak bu komplikasyon için risk faktörleri henüz net olarak tanımlanmamıştır. Bu çalışmada ERCP sonrası bakteriyemi ve ilişkili risk faktörlerinin insidansını belirlemeyi amaçladık

Yöntemler: Bu retrospektif-kohort çalışma Ocak 2017-Aralık 2018 tarihleri arasında yapıldı. İşlem öncesi enfeksiyon belirtisi olmayan ve işlem sonrası bakteriyemi gelişen hastalar çalışmaya alındı. Bakteriyemi gelişen her hasta için ERCP uygulanan ve bakteriyemi geliştirmeyen iki randomize kontrol hastası risk faktörlerini, klinik ve laboratuvar bulgularını karşılaştırmak için seçildi.

Bulgular: ERCP prosedürü uygulanan 4237 hastanın 86'sında toplam 91 bakteriyemi atağı tespit edildi. ERCP sonrası bakteriyemi oranı % 2 olarak bulundu. Cok değişkenli analizde, haştanın yaşı, şafra yolları kanşeri, koleşiştit / kolanjit, pankreatit ve biyopşi bakteriyemi için anlamlı risk faktörleri olarak bulundu (sırasıyla P=0,009, P<0,001, P=0,008, P=0,002 ve P=0,014)

Sonuç: ERCP sonrası bakteriyemi gelişimi mortalite riskini önemli ölçüde artırmaktadır. Çalışmamızda, kaybedilen hastaların yaş ortalaması daha büyüktü. Bu sonuç, özellikle yaşlı hastalarda profilaktik antibiyotik kullanımını destekler niteliktedir. Potansiyel ERCP komplikasyonları ve risk faktörleri hakkındaki bilgi sahibi olmanın, komplikasyon insidansını ve şiddetini azaltmaya yardımcı olabileceğini düsünüvoruz.

Anahtar kelimeler: Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography, Bakteriyemi, Risk faktörleri

Corresponding author/Sorumlu vazar: Ayhanım Tümtürk Address/Adres: Türkiye Yüksek Ihtisas Eğitim ve Arastırma Hastanesi, Enfeksiyon Hastalıkları ve Klinik Mikrobiyoloji Kliniği. 06230 Ankara, Türkiye e-Mail: ayhanim06@yahoo.com.tr

Ethics Committee Approval: This study was conducted with the approval of the Ethics Committee (SBÜ Ankara Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, approval number:22.10.2018-58/29620911-929).

Etik Kurul Onayı: Bu çalışma Etik Kurul onayı ile yapıldı (SBÜ Ankara Yüksek İhtisas Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi, onay numarası: 25.10.2018-58 / 29620911-929).

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/28/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 28.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s)

Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives License 40 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



Introduction

Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) is a complex interventional procedure that is frequently used for diagnosis and treatment of pancreatic-biliary diseases [1-2]. Although the scope of its use increases daily due to advances in technology, ERCP remains an invasive procedure with potential complications including infection, bleeding, pancreatitis, and perforation [3]. Approximately 500,000 ERCP procedures are performed annually in the United States, with an ERCP-related complication rate of 4% to 10.3% and a mortality rate between 0.05% and 1% [4]. The most serious complication following ERCP is bloodstream infections (BSI). Although the actual incidence of BSI after ERCP is unknown, researchers have reported the incidence of bacteremia in different populations as ranging between 2.2% and 21% [4-6]. Enteric bacteria enter the biliary tree hematogenously or after endoscopic or radiological manipulation [7]. It has been reported that septic complications after ERCP are more common in patients with obstructed biliary ducts and inadequate drainage during the procedure [4,8]. ERCP bacteremia is reportedly more common during combined use of percutaneous and endoscopic procedures, placement of stent for malignant stenosis, presence of jaundice, in case of incomplete or unsuccessful biliary drainage or when the procedure is performed by less experienced doctors [7-9]. Sepsis is the most common cause of death associated with ERCP [8]. Risk factors need to be well known to improve the reliability of the ERCP procedure [10].

Few data are available on the rates of post-ERCP bacteremia. In this study, we aimed to determine the frequency of bacteremia after ERCP and associated risk factors in a tertiary branch hospital.

Materials and methods

This study was conducted between January 2017 and December 2018 in a tertiary branch hospital where ERCP was performed intensively. A total of 4237 ERCP procedures performed during this period were evaluated. Patients who did not have any pre-procedural sepsis-related symptoms and signs or any microorganism reproduction in their blood culture were included in the study. Patients did not receive routine empirical antibiotic treatment before ERCP. Bacteremia was defined as the presence of positive bacterial cultures (excluding contamination) in blood samples obtained from patients with postoperative fever, according to the definition of blood stream infection by the National Health Safety Network (CDC-NHSN) [11]. Patients with a fever of > 38.0 °C, tremors in the first 30 days after ERCP procedure and positive blood cultures were included in the study. Patients with a proven infection at another site after ERCP were excluded. Age, ERCP indication, isolated microorganisms, and risk factors for bacteremia were recorded. For the identification of microorganisms, Phoenix 100 (Becton Dickinson, USA) automated system was used.

The distribution of microorganisms in patients who developed bacteremia after ERCP was evaluated. The characteristics of patients who developed and died of bacteremia after ERCP were compared with those of patients who lived. For each patient who developed bacteremia, two randomized patients who underwent ERCP with no postprocedural bacteremia were selected as controls. A total of 172 patients were included in the control group. Patients with and without bacteremia after ERCP were compared in terms of risk factors, clinical and laboratory findings, and mortality rates.

Statistical analysis

Differences were assessed using a Pearson χ^2 test or Fisher's exact test (when expected cell frequencies were <5) in categorical variables and independent t-test in non-categorical variables. SPSS version 20.0 was used for all statistical analyses. *P*-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

A total of 4237 ERCP procedures were performed in our hospital between January 2017 and December 2018 under elective conditions, during which 91 bacteremia attacks in 86 patients were detected after the procedure. The rate of bacteremia after ERCP was 2%. Among 86 patients who developed post-ERCP bacteremia, 31 were female (36%) and 55 were male (64%). The patients' ages ranged from 20 to 95 years with a mean age of 65.36 (16.2) years. The median time for development of bacteremia after ERCP was 6 days. When bacteremia episodes were analyzed, it was found that 79% were gram-negative and 21% were gram-positive bacteremia. The most frequently isolated agent was Escherichia coli (32 isolates, 35%), followed by Klebsiella pneumonia (19%) with 18 isolates and Pseudomonas aeruginosa (18%) with 17 isolates (Table 1).

The most common risk factors in patients who developed bacteremia after ERCP were history of prior ERCP (52%), presence of a biliary stone (51%), stent (48%), cholecystitis / cholangitis (37%) and diabetes (31%). The distribution of microorganisms in patients with bacteremia after ERCP, according to the most common risk factors, is shown in Table 2.

Table 1: Distribution of the microorganisms in patients who developed bacteremia after ERCP

Microorganisms	No (%) of microorganisms
Gram positive microorganisms	
Enterococcus spp	8/91 (8.79%)
Staphylococcus spp	8/91 (8.79%)
Steamto account own	2/01 (2 200/)

Streptococcus spp	3/91 (3.30%)
Gram negative microorganisms	. ,
Escherichia coli	32/91 (35.16%)
Klebsiella pneumonia	18/91 (19.78%)
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	17/91 (18.68%)
Acinetobacter baumannii	2/91 (2.20%)
Stenotrophomonas maltophilia	2/91 (2.20%)
Proteus spp	1/91 (1.10%)

Table 2: The most common microorganisms according to risk factors in patients with bacteremia after ERCP

Microorganism	Risk Factors Malign biliary stricture (n:33)	DM (n:27)	Stent (n:42)	Prior ERCP (n:45)	Biliary stone (n:44)	Cholecystitis cholangitis (n:32)	Exitus / (n:20)
E. coli	10 (30%)	14 (52%)	15 (36%)	18 (40%)	15 (34%)	12 (37.5%)	2 (10%)
Klebsiella spp.	8 (24%)	4 (15%)	11 (26%)	11 (24%)	8 (18%)	7 (21.9%)	4 (20%)
Pseudomonas spp.	9 (27%)	2 (7%)	12 (29%)	12 (27%)	8 (18%)	6 (18.8%)	4 (20%)
Enterococcus spp.	6 (18%)	-	2 (5%)	2 (4%)	3 (7%)	2 (6.2%)	2 (10%)
Staphylococcus spp.	1 (3%)		2 (5%)	2 (4%)	6 (14%)	4 (12.5%)	2 (10%)

The mean age of patients with post-procedural bacteremia was higher than those without (P=0.007). There was no difference in terms of gender between those with and without bacteremia. The risk of bacteremia was 5.7 fold higher in the presence of biliary tract cancer (P<0.001), (OR: 5.7, 95% CI: 2.925-11.017), 2.1 fold higher in the presence of cholecystitis / cholangitis (P=0.01) (OR: 2.09, 95% CI: 1.186 -3.682) and 3.5 fold higher in patients with cirrhosis, which was not statistically

significant (P=0.122) (OR: 3.5, 95% CI: 0.811-14.908). Bacteremia risk significantly increased in patients with pancreatitis (P=0.003). The risk of bacteremia was 2.9 times higher in patients who underwent diagnostic biopsy of intrahepatic or extrahepatic biliary tracts during ERCP, which was significant (P=0.03). In those with bacteremia, mortality risk was 25.8 times higher (P<0.001) (OR: 25.8, 95% CI: 5.857-113.274), CRP elevation was 49 fold (OR: 49.1, 95% CI: 6.677-361.460), WBC elevation (leukocytosis), 8.7 fold (OR: 8.7, 95% CI: 4.207-18.067), bilirubin elevation, 8.7 fold (OR: 8.7, 95% CI: 4.723-16.093) and ALP elevation, 4.2 fold (OR: 4.2, 95% CI: 2.277-7.763) (P<0.001 for all) (Table 3).

Multivariate analysis showed that the age of patients, presence of biliary tract cancer, cholecystitis / cholangitis, pancreatitis and biopsy were significant risk factors for the development of bacteremia (P=0.009, P<0.001, P=0.008, P=0.002 and P=0.014, respectively).

Among 86 patients who developed bacteremia after ERCP, all-cause 30-day mortality rate was 23% (n: 20). Of the 20 patients who died within 30 days, 11 had malignant biliary stenosis (55%). Klebsiella, Pseudomonas (each in 4 patients, 20%) and E. coli (in 2 patients, 10%) were the most common causative agents.

In terms of gender, no difference was found between patients who lived and those who died within 30 days (p> 0.05). The mean age of non-survivors (71.9 (12.2) years) was higher than survivors (63.3 (16.8) years) (P=0.039). In patients who died, the incidences of biliary tract cancer was 2.4 times higher, diabetes mellitus, 1.6 times higher, and biopsy, 1.8 times higher than those who lived; however, no statistically significant difference was found between non-survivors and survivors in terms of risk factors or laboratory findings (Table 4).

Table 3: Comparison of baseline characteristics, laboratory findings, risk factors and mortality $% \label{eq:comparison}$

Characteristic	Patients with bacteremia	Patients without bacteremia	P-value
	(n:172) %	(n:86) %	
Age, mean	59.05	65.36	0.007
Male sex	55.2	64	0.181
Biliary tract cancer	9.9	38.4	< 0.001
Diabetes mellitus	24.4	31.4	0.233
Common bile duct stone	56.4	51.2	0.426
Cholecystitis/cholangitis	22.1	37.2	0.010
Pancreatitis	8.1	24.4	0.003
Liver cirrhosis	1.7	5.8	0.122
Presence of stent	52.3	48.8	0.597
ERCP before processing	55.2	52.3	0.659
Biopsy	5.2	14	0.030
Exitus	1.2	23.3	< 0.001
Laboratory findings			
Increased white blood cell (N: $3.9-11.7 \times 103/\mu$ L)	7.0	39.5	< 0.001
Increased C-reactive	63.4	98.8	< 0.001
protein			
(N: <5 mg/L)	30.2	79.1	< 0.001
Increased total bilirubin			
(N: 0.3-1.2 mg/dl)	51.2	81.4	< 0.001
Increased alkaline			
phosphatase	28.5	10.5	0.002
(N: 30-120 U/L)			
Increased amylase			
(N: 28-100 U/L)			
Mean white blood cell	7.3	10.8	< 0.001
Mean C-reactive protein	24	141	< 0.001
Mean total bilirubin	2.03	6.02	< 0.001
Mean alkaline phosphatase	194	306	0.006
Mean amylase	103	70	0.074
-			

Table 4: Comparison of the baseline characteristics, laboratory findings, risk factors for bacteremia between living and deceased patients

bacterenna between nving and d	eceased patients		
Characteristic	Living patients	Deceased patients	P-value
	(n:66) %	(n:20) %	
Age, mean	63.38	71.90	0.039
Male sex	68.2	50.0	0.223
Biliary tract cancer	33.3	55.0	0.138
Diabetes mellitus	28.8	40.0	0.502
Common bile duct stone	54.5	40.0	0.376
Cholecystitis/cholangitis	36.4	40.0	0.976
Pancreatitis	10.6	0	0.193
Liver cirrhosis	6.1	5.0	1.000
Presence of stent	51.5	40.0	0.518
ERCP before processing	57.6	35.0	0.130
Biopsy	12.1	20.0	0.462
Laboratory findings			
Increased white blood cell	39.4	40.0	1.000
(N: 3.9-11.7 x103/µL)			
Increased C-reactive protein	98.5	100	1.000
(N: <5 mg/L)			
Increased total bilirubin	80.3	75.0	0.844
(N: 0.3-1.2 mg/dl)			
Increased alkaline	81.8	80.0	1.000
phosphatase			
(N: 30-120 U/L)	10.6	10.0	1.000
Increased amylase			
(N: 28-100 U/L)			
Mean white blood cell	10.6	11.2	0.609
C-reactive protein mean	137.9	150.6	0.586
Mean total bilirubin	6.2	5.4	0.647
Mean alkaline phosphatase	280.8	389.3	0.370
Mean amylase	2.1	61.4	0.742
-			

Discussion

JOSAM

Although ERCP is a semi-critical procedure, various instruments such as wire, stent, and balloon are pushed along a long duodenoscope through an elevator mechanism to enter a sterile ductal environment [12]. The colonization and incomplete sterilization of the complex mechanism at the end of this duodenoscope used in the procedure has been held responsible for the transmission of infections [12]. In recent years, multidrug microorganisms and carbapenem-resistant resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE) have been reported to cause duodenoscope-related infections [12]. In our study, we found carbapenem resistance in 61.1% (11/18) of Klebsiella spp. isolates. Four of these 11 patients died. Three of the 32 E. coli isolates were also resistant to carbapenem (9.4%).

Our incidence of bacteremia after ERCP was 2%, which was similarly reported as 3.1% in the study of Kwak et al. [3], 2.24% in that of Anderson et al. [5] and 3.56% in that of Du et al. [6]. Worldwide, ERCP mortality ranges from 0 to 1.5% and can be caused by any complication. Mortality rate is generally high in therapeutic procedures [13]. In the study performed by Borges et al. [13], infection rate after ERCP was reported as 3%, bacteremia rate as 0.5% and mortality rate as 1.5%. In a 10-year retrospective study by Coelho-Prabhu et al. [4], post-ERCP infection and 30-day mortality rates were 1.5% and 2.4%, respectively. Although the reported frequency of clinically significant iatrogenic infections after ERCP is limited (1-3%), sepsis represents a common cause of death [14]. In our study, 30day mortality rate was 23% in patients who developed bacteremia after ERCP. In a study by Novello et al. [15] including 2010 patients who underwent ERCP, septic complications were reported in 51 patients (2.5%), and 16 patients (31%) with tumor obstruction died within 30 days after ERCP.

The microorganisms responsible for infection after ERCP are Enterobacteriaceae (especially Escherichia coli and Klebsiella spp), alpha hemolytic streptococci, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Enterococcus spp and Staphylococcus epidermidis JOSAM)-

[8]. In our study, analysis of the bacteremia episodes after ERCP revealed that 79% were gram negative and 21% were gram positive bacteremia. The most isolated microorganisms were E. coli (35.16%), Klebsiella pneumonia (19.78%) and Pseudomonas aeruginosa (18.68%). In the study of Kwak et al. [3], the most common microorganisms in bacteremia episodes after ERCP were listed as E. coli, Klebsiella and Pseudomonas, akin to our study. Novello et al. [15] reported that P. aeruginosa was the most common causative agent, with a rate of 30%. Blockage of the bile duct system due to strictures, stones and tumors has been shown to be associated with bacteriobilia. Increasing the intrabiliary pressure (>25 mmHg) results in biliovenous reflux and bacteremia in patients with infected bile [16]. Specific risk factors for post-procedural infection include stenting in malignancy, presence of obstructed ducts and jaundice, combined percutaneous endoscopic procedures, primary sclerosing cholangitis, and incomplete or unsuccessful biliary drainage [14]. In our study, malignant biliary stenosis, preexisting stents, recurrent ERCP procedures, and presence of stones in the biliary system were the most common risk factors in patients with post-ERCP bacteremia. Contaminated duodenoscopes, biliary stent placement, diagnosis of cholangiocarcinoma and active inpatient status were reported as risk factors for transmission of CRE infection in a single-center case series of 115 patients with ERCP-associated CRE bacteremia [12]. In patients with cholangiocarcinoma, there is a risk of sepsis, especially when intrahepatic biliary tract cannot be drained, in which case administration of intrahepatic contrast agent should be avoided [8-9]. It has been reported that the best predictor for development of infectious complications after ERCP is the confirmation that biliary tract obstruction is not fully resolved, and prophylactic antibiotic treatment reduces the risk of bacteremia after ERCP but does not affect overall mortality [17]. Dutta et al. [18] reported that sepsis may develop in the presence of abnormal biliary and pancreatic ducts after ERCP and appropriate antibiotic treatment should be initiated after the procedure.

Routine prophylactic antibiotics were not administered before ERCP in our center. In meta-analyses, the benefit of routine prophylactic antibiotic use before ERCP was not shown [9]. A retrospective review of 11,484 ERCPs over a 11-year period in a single institution assessed the role of antibiotics in cholangitis prevention, and showed that although the rate of routine prophylactic antibiotic use decreased from 95% to 25% over the years, the reduction of infection rate was limited (0.48% to 0.25%). In the multivariate analysis of the study, the risk of infection was found to be high only in transplant recipients who underwent biliary intervention [9]. The American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE) also does not recommend antibiotic prophylaxis in patients with biliary obstruction in which complete biliary drainage was provided by ERCP [8]. However, Thosani et al. [19] recommend the use of prophylactic antibiotics before the procedure, especially in elderly patients, patients who had been previously stented and those who underwent intraductal stone lithotripsy.

In our study, the presence of presence of biliary tract cancer, cholecystitis / cholangitis and pancreatitis, as well as biliary biopsy obtained during the procedure were found to be associated with the development of post-ERCP bacteremia. In a prospective study, Mollison et al. [20] reported that patients with biliary obstruction and those who underwent therapeutic endoscopic procedures were at the highest risk for bacteremia. In their study including 55 patients who developed sepsis after ERCP, Deviere et al. [21] reported that the incidence of septicemia was more prominent in malignant obstruction than in benign obstruction (% 21 versus % 3; P<0.01) mainly due to drainage problems associated with tumor infiltration. They also stated that the previous diagnostic ERCP procedure without drainage was associated with the development of septicemia after therapeutic ERCP. In our study, WBC, CRP, bilirubin, and alkaline phosphatase levels were significantly higher in patients who developed post-ERCP bacteremia. In their study, Kwak et al. [3] reported that alkaline phosphatase level was high in post-ERCP bacteremia. Motte et al. [22] did not detect any statistically significant difference between WBC, bilirubin, and alkaline phosphatase levels in patients with sepsis after endoscopic biliary stent implantation. In a study in which Rupp et al. [23] investigated risk factors associated with biliary infection, they found that serum CRP levels were increased in patients with bactobilia.

Limitations

The principal limitation of our study is its retrospective nature. In addition, the synergistic effects of multiple risk factors which may have led to post-ERCP complications were not analyzed. The third limitation was the usage of a single center's patient data, which increased the possibility of selection bias.

Conclusions

The development of bacteremia after ERCP significantly increases the risk of mortality. The mean age of the patients who died was older. This result supports the use of prophylactic antibiotics, especially in elderly patients. We think that knowledge of potential ERCP complications and risk factors may help reduce the incidence and severity of complications.

References

- 1. Ong TZ, Khor JL, Selamat DS, Yeoh KG, Ho KY. Complications of endoscopic retrograde cholangiography in
- the post-MRCP era: a tertiary center experience. World J Gastroenterol. 2005 Sep 7;11(33):5209-12.
 Calışkan YK, Kalaycı MU. Can failure of choledochal cannulation in endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography be prevented? J Surg Med. 2018;2(3):253-6.
- Kwak MS, Jang ES, Ryu JK, Kim YT, Yoon YB, Park JK. Risk factors of post endoscopic retrograde cholanejopancreatography bacteremia. Gut Liver. 2013 Mar;7(2):228-33.
- Coelho-Prabhu N, Shah ND, Van Houten H, Kamath PS, Baron TH. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography: utilisation and outcomes in a 10-year population-based cohort. BMJ Open. 2013 May 31;3(5).
- Anderson DJ, Shimpi RA, McDonald JR, Branch MS, Kanafani ZA, Harger J, et al. Infectious complications following endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography: an automated surveillance system for detecting postprocedure bacteremia. Am J Infect Control. 2008 Oct;36(8):592-4.
 Du M, Suo J, Liu B, Xing Y, Chen L, Liu Y. Post-ERCP infection and its epidemiological and clinical
- Du M, Suo J, Liu B, Xing Y, Chen L, Liu Y. Post-ERCP infection and its epidemiological and clinical characteristics in a large Chinese tertiary hospital: a 4-year surveillance study. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017 Dec 29;6:131.
- Szary NM, Al-Kawas FH. Complications of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography: how to avoid and manage them. Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y). 2013 Aug;9(8):496-504.
 Pannu HK, Fishman EK. Complications of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography: spectrum of
- Pannu HK, Fishman EK. Complications of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography: spectrum of abnormalities demonstrated with CT. Radiographics. 2001 Nov-Dec;21(6):1441-53.
- Anderson MA, Fisher L, Jain R, et al. ASGE Standards of Practice Committee. Guideline complications of ERCP. Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;75(3):467-73.
- Jain PK, Vinay BN. Indications and complications of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography procedures in a tertiary care centre. Int J Adv Med. 2016 Nov;3(4):838-41.
 Identifying Healthcare-associated Infections (HAI) for NHSN Surveillance.
- https://www.cdc.gov/hns/pdfs/pscmanul/2psc_identifyinghais_nhsncurrent.pdf. Accessed 30 Aug 2017. 12. Tarnasky PR, Kedia P. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography complications: Techniques to reduce
- risk and management strategies. Gastrointest Interv. 2017;6:37–53. 13.Borges AC, Almeida PC, Furlani SMT, Cury MS, Pleskow DK. ERCP performance in a tertiary Brazilian Center: Focus on New Risk Factors, Complications and Quality Indicators. Arq Bras Cir Dig. 2018 Jun
- 21;31(1):e1348. 14. Tonolini M, Pagani A, Bianco R. Cross-sectional imaging of common and unusual complications after understand and the hearing and the hearing and the section 2016 here (2):222-28
- endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. Insights Imaging. 2015 Jun;6(3):323-38.
 15. Novello P, Hagége H, Ducreux M, Buffet C, Choury A, Fritsch J, Liguory C, Jacques L, Etienne JP. Septicemias after endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. Risk factors and antibiotic prophylaxis. Gastroenterol Clin Biol. 1993;17(12):897-902.
- 16. Wobser H, Gunesch A, Klebl F.Prophylaxis of post-ERC infectious complications in patients with biliary obstruction by adding antimicrobial agents into ERC contrast media- a single center retrospective study. BMC Gastroenterol. 2017 Jan 13;17(1):10.

- 17. Juan J Vila, Everson LA Artifon, Jose Pinhata Otoch. Post-endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography complications: How can they be avoided? World J Gastrointest Endosc. 2012 Jun 16;4(6):241-6.
- B. Dutta SK, Cox M, Williams RB, Eisenstat TE, Standiford HC. Prospective evaluation of the risk of bacteremia and the role of antibiotics in ERCP. J Clin Gastroenterol. 1983 Aug;5(4):325-9.
- 19. Thosani N, Zubarik RS, Kochar R, Kothari S, Sardana N, Nguyen T, et al. Prospective evaluation of bacteremia rates and infectious complications among patients undergoing single-operator choledochoscopy during ERCP. Endoscopy. 2016 May;48(5):424-31.
- Mollison LC, Desmond PV, Stockman KA, Andrew JH, Watson K, Shaw G, et al. A prospective study of septic complications of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 1994 Jan-Feb;9(1):55-9.
- 21. Devière J, Motte S, Dumonceau JM, Serruys E, Thys JP, Cremer M. Septicemia after endoscopic retrograde
- Cholangiancreatography. Endoscopy. 1990 Mar;22(2):72-5.
 Motte S1, Deviere J, Dumonceau JM, Serruys E, Thys JP, Cremer M. Risk factors for septicemia following endoscopic biliary stenting. Gastroenterology. 1991 Nov;101(5):1374-81.
- 23. Rupp C, Bode K, Weiss KH, Rudolph G, Bergemann J, Kloeters-Plachky P, et al. Microbiological Assessment of Bile and Corresponding Antibiotic Treatment: A Strobe-Compliant Observational Study of 1401 Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiographies. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016 Mar;95(10):e2390.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Suggested citation: Patrias K. Citing medicine: the NLM style guide for authors, editors, and publishers [Internet]. 2nd ed. Wendling DL, technical editor. Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US); 2007-[updated 2015 Oct 2; cited Year Month Day]. Available from: http://www.nlm.nih.gov/citingmedicine

Journal of Surgery and Medicine •15SN-2602-2079

Vertebral fractures and spinopelvic parameters in patients with osteoporosis

Osteoporozlu hastalarda vertebral kırıklar ve spinopelvik parametreler

Abstract

Türkan Turgay¹, Mehmet Ali İkidağ², Pınar Günel Karadeniz³, Murat Ulutaş⁴

¹ Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, SANKO University, Faculty of Medicine, Gaziantep, Turkey

² Department of Radiology, SANKO University, Faculty of Medicine, Gaziantep, Turkey
³ Department of Biostatistics, SANKO University,

Faculty of Medicine, Gaziantep, Turkey Department of Neurosurgery, SANKO University, Faculty of Medicine, Gaziantep, Turkey

> ORCID ID of the author(s) TT: 0000-0002-6348-3340 MAİ: 0000-0003-4004-9645 PGK: 0000-0003-3768-2351 MU: 0000-0001-8156-5393

Corresponding author/Sorumlu yazar: Türkan Turgay Address/Adres: SANKO Üniversitesi Sani Konukoğlu

Address/Adres: SANKO Universitesi Sani Konukoğlu Araştırma ve Uygulama Hastanesi, Fizik Tedavi ve Rehabilitasyon, 27090, Şehitkamil, Gaziantep, Türkiye e-Mail: turkanturgay@icloud.com

Ethics Committee Approval: The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of SANKO University (Decision No: 04; Date: 2018/10/22). Etik Kurul Onayı: Çalışma protokolü SANKO Üniversitesi Etik Komitesi tarafından onaylandı (Karar No: 04; Tarih: 2018/10/22).

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/30/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 30.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s) Published by JOSAM

Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-Noberivatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



Aim: Bone mineral density (BMD) generally assesses fracture risk in the elderly but is not included in assessment of vertebral fracture status. In this study we aimed to investigate spinal alignment and pelvic orientation in patients with osteoporosis and identify indicators of vertebral fractures (VFs).

Methods: Seventy patients above 50 years of age with osteoporosis were included in this retrospective cohort study. Patients were allocated to two groups comprising 29 patients with and 41 patients without VFs. Demographic and clinical characteristics and back pain scores evaluated by Visual Analogue Scale were obtained by scanning patient files. Sagittal vertebral axis (SVA), spinal and pelvic parameters were evaluated with lateral radiography. All parameters and their effect of VFs were compared in both groups.

Results: Femoral neck BMD, sacral slope, lumbar lordosis, and pain scores were significantly different in patients with and without VFs (P=0.016, P=0.010, P<0.001, respectively). However, no significant difference was observed in terms of lumbar spine BMD, pelvic tilt, pelvic incidence, and thoracic kyphosis (P=0.394, P=0.313, P=0.258, P=0.341, respectively). Sacral slope and lumbar lordosis were positively correlated in patients with and without VFs (r=0.54, P=0.003 and r=0.50, P=0.001, respectively). SVA>50 mm and pain scores were predictors of VFs according to results of logistic regression.

Conclusion: The spinal deformity in patients with osteoporosis may be explained by the spinal parameters. In our study, we concluded that pain and sagittal imbalance in osteoporosis patients are important parameters for vertebral fractures.

Keywords: Osteoporosis, Sagittal balance, Spinopelvic parameters, Vertebral fracture

Öz

Amaç: Kemik mineral yoğunluğu (KMY) genellikle yaşlı bireylerin kırık riski değerlendirmesini gösterir ancak vertebral kırık durumunun değerlendirilmesini içermez. Biz bu çalışmada osteoporozlu hastalarda spinal sagital denge bozukluğu ve pelvik uyum bozukluklarını araştırmayı ve vertebral kırıkların (VK) tahmini göstergelerini tanımlamayı amaçladık.

Yöntemler: Bu retrospektif kohort çalışmada 50 yaş üzeri 70 osteoporoz hastası dahil edildi. Hastalar vertebral kırıkları olan; 29 VK(+) ve olmayan; 41 VK(-) olmak üzere iki gruba ayrıldı. Demografik ve klinik özellikler ile Görsel Analog Skala ile ölçülen sırt ağrısı skorları dosya taraması yolu ile elde edildi. Lateral radyolojik inceleme ile sagital vertebral aks (SVA), spinal ve pelvik parametreler değerlendirildi. Tüm parametreler her iki grupta da karşılaştırıldı ve bu parametrelerin VK üzerindeki etkisi analiz edildi.

Bulgular: Vertebral kırığı olan ve olmayan hastalarda femur boynu KMY, sakral eğim, lomber lordoz ve ağrı skorlarının anlamlı derecede farklı olduğu bulundu (sırasıyla P=0.016, P=0.032, P=0.010, P<0.001). Bununla birlikte, lomber omurga KMY, pelvik

tilt, pelvik insidans ve torakal kifoz açısından anlamlı bir fark gözlenmedi (sırasıyla P=0.394, P=0.313, P=0.258, P=0.341). Sakral eğim ile lomber lordoz arasında pozitif anlamlı bir korelasyon bulunmuştur (sırasıyla r=0.54, P=0.03 ve r=0.50, P=0.001). Lojistik regresyon sonuçlarına göre SVA >50 mm ve ağrı skorları VK'ın belirleyicileriydi.

Sonuç: Osteoporozlu hastalarda omurga deformitesi omurga parametreleriyle açıklanabilir. Çalışmamızda osteoporoz hastalarında ağrı ve sagital dengesizliğin, vertebral kırıkların göstergeleri olduğu sonucuna varıldı.

Anahtar kelimeler: Osteoporoz, Sagital denge, Spinopelvik parametreler, Vertebral kırık

Introduction

Osteoporosis leading to an increased risk of fracture and poor posture is a global health problem involving more than 200 million people, the incidence of which is predicted to considerably increase by the year 2050 [1]. Impaired spinal biomechanics and spinal imbalance are important causes of vertebral fractures (VFs) and morbidity in patients with osteoporosis [2]. Studies have shown that when a vertebral fracture develops, the fracture risk increases more with the number of previous vertebral fractures, especially within the first year [3,4]. The increased fracture risk may not always be explained by low bone mineral density (BMD) [5]. Spinal curvature and load-bearing capacity of the spine are also thought to contribute to VFs [6]. On the other hand, thoracic kyphosis is another risk factor for a new vertebral fracture independent of BMD [7,8].

Various postural changes, such as increase in lumbar lordosis, posterior tilt or rotation of the pelvis, extension of the hip, flexion of knees and dorsiflexion of ankles, may occur due to an increase in thoracic kyphosis [9-14]. Additionally, patients with sagittal malalignment often present with pain, poor balance, and gait disturbance [15]. Numerous studies on spinopelvic parameters have shown that these measurements may change with age, gender, weight, and pelvic morphology [16,17].

Sagittal imbalance causes displacement of the sacrum and pelvis in case of loss of normal lumbar lordosis, or an increase in thoracic kyphosis, or both [18]. Many studies on spinal sagittal imbalance and radiographic spinopelvic parameters have investigated older populations but there are few studies on the effect of these parameters on VFs in osteoporotic patients.

In our study, we aimed to determine the importance of sagittal balance, lumbar lordosis, and thoracic kyphosis in patients with osteoporosis and whether these parameters in the osteoporotic spine are predictive factors in the development of spontaneous VFs.

Materials and methods

Patients who were referred to SANKO University, Sani Konukoğlu Research and Practice Hospital, Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation outpatient clinic between May-October 2018 were included in this retrospective cohort study. A total of 70 (67 females; 3 males) patients underwent BMD measurement and digital x-rays radiographs. Back pain scores, previously evaluated by visual analogue score (VAS) (0-10 cm) [19], were recorded from patient files. All subjects were diagnosed with osteoporosis based on BMD diagnostic criteria [20]. Radiographic investigation of the anteroposterior and lateral whole spine, including hip joints, were investigated to assess VFs. Demographic and anthropometric measurements consisting of age, gender, height, and weight were obtained from the patient files. Body mass index values (BMI) [21] were calculated from measured BMD scans. The patients were divided into two groups as those with and without at least one vertebral asymptomatic collapse fracture (VFs (+) group and VFs (-) group, respectively). We excluded patients with a history of VFs secondary to trauma or an accident, who underwent instrumented fusion surgery, immobile patients, those with concomitant medical conditions such as metastatic disease or hyperparathyroidism, chronic alcohol users, smokers and those using corticosteroids for more than 3 months. Patients with documented VFs within the last 6 months were also excluded to avoid biased results in pain scores.

Bone mineral density measurement

Lumbar spinal bone mineral density (LSBMD) and femoral neck bone mineral density (FNBMD) of the nondominant proximal femur were measured by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) (GE-Lunar DPX). BMD measurements (g/cm^2) at the lumbar spine and hip were used to diagnose osteoporosis [22]. T-score of at least -2.5 standard deviations or below were considered as the presence of osteoporosis.

Spinal and pelvic parameters

Lumbar lordosis, thoracic kyphosis, pelvic tilt, pelvic incidence, and sacral slope were measured using a picture achieving computer system (Angora Viewer Version 2.1.11, Data-med).

Lumbar lordosis is defined as the angle between superior endplate of L1 and the superior endplate of S1, and thoracic kyphosis is measured from the superior endplate of T4 to the inferior endplate of T12 using Cobb's method [23].

The three pelvic parameters measured in this study included pelvic tilt, pelvic incidence, and sacral slope. Pelvic tilt (PT) is a positional pelvic parameter represented by the angle between the line joining the bicoxofemoral axis with the midpoint of the S1 endplate. Pelvic incidence (PI) is a morphologic parameter to define lumbar alignment. PI angle indicates the ability of posterior pelvic rotation, which is determined by the angle between the line joining hip axis, center of the S1 endplate and the line orthogonal to the S1 endplate. The pelvic retroversion of patients with small PI has a small compensatory mechanism to achieve sagittal balance. Sacral slope is a positional parameter, as well as the PT. SS is measured by the angle between the sacral endplate and the horizontal plane (Figure 1) [24].



Figure 1: Sagittal curvatures of the spine and pelvic parameters: Lumbar lordosis angle (LLA) and thoracic kyphosis (TK), sacral slope (SS), pelvic tilt (PT), pelvic incidence (PI), sagittal vertical axis (SVA) and C7 plumb line [24]

Sagittal global balance of the spine

Sagittal balance is most often assessed by determining the sagittal vertical axis (SVA) which corresponds to the horizontal distance between the C7 plumb line and the posterosuperior S1 corner (Fig 1) [24]. Osteoporotic patients were separated into the sagittal balance and sagittal imbalance group based on SVA (SVA≤50 mm, SVA>50 mm, respectively) [25]. Demographic and radiological measurements were compared between the groups.

Vertebral fractures

The thoracolumbar spine lateral view x-rays (T4 to L5) were interpreted by radiologists. Genant's method was used to quantify the VFs of the patients [26]. In this classification, vertebral fracture is based on the vertebral shape, with respect to vertebral height loss involving the anterior, posterior, and/or middle vertebral body.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 23. In univariate analysis, independent samples t-test and Mann-Whitney U tests were used for normally and nonnormally distributed data, respectively. Descriptive statistics were expressed as median (minimum-maximum) values. Chisquare test with continuity correction was used for categorical variables. A multiple logistic regression was performed to identify indicators of VFs. After univariate analysis, variables with *P*-values <0.10 were included in the logistic model [27]. Forward conditional multiple logistic regression analysis was used to develop a determinative model. *P*-values <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Results

The mean ages of all osteoporotic patients, as well as those with and without VFs were 69.9 (9.4), 72.24 (9.44) and 68.17 (9.17) years, respectively. There was no statistically significant difference between two groups with respect to age (P=0.075). Our radiologists identified 29 patients with grade 2-3 fractured vertebrae on whole spine lateral radiography. Twentyseven (40.3%) of 67 female patients and 2 of 3 male patients had VFs, among which 15 had thoracic, 11 had lumbar and 3 had both thoracic and lumbar VFs (Table 1).

Mean height, weight, and BMI values of the 70 patients were 153.7 (6.7) cm, 69.3 (12.5) kg and 29.4 (5.6) kg/m², respectively. Median VAS back pain score was 7 (3-10) for all patients. Parameters of patients with and without VFs and comparisons of two groups are summarized in Table 2. Patients with and without fractures were found to be significantly different in terms of FNBMD, sacral slope, lumbar lordosis, and VAS scores (P=0.016, P=0.032, P=0.010, P<0.001, respectively). In addition, the two groups significantly differed with respect to SVA>50 mm and \leq 50 mm (P<0.001).

Correlation coefficients between sacral slope and lumbar lordosis both in patients with and without VFs were r=0.54; P=0.003 and r=0.50; P=0.001, respectively. There were no correlations between VAS score and the other spinopelvic parameters in patients with VFs (Table 3).

Based on univariate analysis, a multiple logistic regression was performed for age, FNBMD, sacral slope, lumbar lordosis, VAS and SVA>50mm, which showed that SVA>50 mm (P=0.003) and VAS (P=0.001) were predictors of vertebral fracture in osteoporotic patients (Table 4). The risk of VFs in patients with SVA>50 mm was approximately 10 times higher than for those with SVA≤50 mm. In patients with higher VAS scores, the risk was 2 times higher than in patients with lower

----- Consel along over along statistically significant with

VAS scores. Sacral slope was also statistically significant with an odds ratio of 1, which is why it may be considered ineffective on VFs.

Table 1: Distribution of levels in patients with vertebral fractures

Levels of vertebrae fractures	n (%)
Т9	3 (5)
T10	10 (16)
T11	14 (22)
T12	10 (16)
L1	8 (13)
L2	5 (8)
L3	2 (3)
L4	9 (14)
L5	2 (3)

T: Thoracic vertebrae, L: Lumbar vertebrae, n: number (%)

Table 2: Characteristics of patients

	Vertebral fractures (+) (n=29)	Vertebral fractures (-) (n=41)	P-value
Age	72.24 (9.44)	68.17 (9.17)	0.075 ^a
Height (cm)	153.59 (8.85)	153.76 (4.87)	0.926 ^a
Weight (kg)	68.69 (12.82)	69.66 (12.41)	0.752 ^a
BMI (kg/m ²)	29.35 (6.23)	29.49 (5.23)	0.923 ^a
Lumbar spine BMD	-2.7 (-4.4; 0)	-2.8 (-4.2; -1.5)	0.394 ^b
Femoral neck BMD	-2.5 (-3.7;-0.3)	-1.6 (-4.0; 0.1)	0.016 ^b
Sacral slope	38.31 (8.75)	43.63 (10.82)	0.032 ^a
Pelvic tilt	18 (6; 36)	15 (7; 34)	0.313 ^b
Pelvic incidence	58.07 (11.80)	61.29 (11.54)	0.258^{a}
Thoracic kyphosis	40.34 (10.57)	37.83 (10.96)	0.341 ^a
Lumbar lordosis	36.38 (12.68)	44.56 (12.81)	0.010^{a}
SVA>50 mm	24 (82.8%)	14 (34.1%)	<0.001°
VAS Score	8 (4; 10)	5 (3; 10)	<0.001 ^b
Mean (Standard Deviatio	n, Median (Min; Max)), n: nu	mber (%), a Independent samp	les t-test, ^b Manr

Mean (Standard Deviation, Median (Min; Max)), n: number (%), a Independent samples t-test, b Mann-Whitney U test, c Chi-square test with continuity correction, SVA: Sagittal vertebral axis

Table 3: Correlations between VAS and spinopelvic parameters in patients with vertebral fractures

		Sacral slope	Pelvic tilt	Pelvic incidence	Thoracic kyphosis	Lumbar lordosis	SVA (mm)
VAS	r	0.229	-0.151	0.058	0.022	-0.200	0.300
	р	0.232	0.435	0.765	0.909	0.918	0.114

SVA: Sagittal vertebral axis, VAS: Visual analogue score

Table 4: Results of logistic regression

Variables	Coefficient	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval	P-value
Sacral slope	-0.101	0.904	0.842-0.970	0.005
SVA>50 mm	2.334	10.317	2.159-49.307	0.003
VAS	0.757	2.132	1.361-3.339	0.001
Constant	-2.677	2.034		0.154

SVA: Sagittal vertebral axis, VAS: Visual analogue score

Discussion

This study assessed VFs with or without sagittal balance and compared spine curvatures and pelvic parameters in osteoporotic patients over 50 years of age. We found that VFs significantly varied in patients with sagittal imbalance, FNBMD and pain. Lumbar lordosis and sacral slope were also found to differ significantly associated with VFs of the spine in osteoporotic patients.

Osteoporosis reduces trabecular thickness and connectivity in bone mass and microarchitecture leading to increased vertebral fragility and fracture risk [28]. Loss of physiological curves in the thoracic and/or lumbar spine causes an increase in the risk of vertebral fracture more than eight times in patients after the age of 50 years old [8].

It is not clear whether thoracic kyphosis is a potent determining factor for potential osteoporotic VFs [29]. In our study, it was found that there was no significant thoracic kyphosis in patients with VFs (+) compared to VFs (-) group.

Cortet et al. [30,31] examined the relationship between lordosis and osteoporosis, and found no difference in lumbar lordosis in patients with and without VFs. However, our results showed that lumbar lordosis has a strong impact on VFs: The VFs (+) group had a higher degree of lumbar lordosis than the VFs (-) group. This result suggests that hyperlordotic posture is a crucial factor which increases the risk of VFs. Besides, VF (-) group had high sacral slope without high pelvic tilt compared to VF (+) group. This could be due to several reasons: First, sagittal alignment in the VFs (-) group is characterized by a compensatory mechanism. An imbalance in thoracic hyperkyphosis patients with VFs can be concealed by changes such as lumbar spine flattening and pelvic orientation to maintain postural harmony.

It is known that sacral slope angle is strongly correlated with lumbar lordosis [32]. Spinopelvic harmony has the capability to compensate for sagittal imbalance of the spine through pelvic retroversion with change in sacral slope. We showed that lumbar lordosis was proportional to sacral slope angle.

Pelvic incidence (PI) is an important link between pelvic and spinal alignment parameters determining the capability of rotation of the pelvis around the femoral head's axis, which is the optimal way of compensation of sagittal alignment [33]. However, there was no statistically significant difference in the compensatory ability of pelvis retroversion between the two groups in our study.

The optimal value of the SVA varies widely among populations. The International Spine Study Group defines the radiographic criterion for spinal imbalance as $SVA \ge 50 \text{ mm} [25]$. As in many studies [33-35], we also considered SVA > 50 mm as the threshold for predicting sagittal imbalance. This indicates that spinal imbalance can be evaluated from the SVA on a standing lateral radiograph of the whole spine to estimate VF development in osteoporotic patients.

It is shown that BMI>25 is related to a higher likelihood of developing VFs among post-menopausal women with osteoporosis [36]. In contrast, our data showed that being overweight (BMI>25) and VFs were not associated in any of the groups. As shown in Table 1, the mean BMI was 29.35 (6.23) in the VFs (+) group and similarly, 29.49 (5.23) in the VFs (-) group.

In the present study, SVA was a worse identifier of patients with VFs. In other words, sagittal imbalance was higher in the osteoporotic patients with VFs than in the osteoporotic patients with no VFs. Previous studies showed that spinal sagittal balance is closely related with osteoporosis [37], akin to our findings. To a certain degree, a decrease of lumbar lordosis can be obviated by a coinciding decrease in sacral slope to obtain the spinal curvature and congruent posture [38].

In patients with VFs secondary to osteoporosis, impairments in physical function, health, quality of life, and survival correlate with spinal deformity [39]. Glassman et al. [40,41] observed that sagittal balance is associated with pain and mechanical stress on the vertebrae. However, in our study, there was no significant correlation between VAS and spinopelvic parameters in patients with VFs.

Our multiple logistic regression analysis including FNBMD, sacral angle, lumbar lordosis, increasing age, SVA and VAS score showed that VAS and SVA>50 mm were important predictive factors of VFs in osteoporotic patients. However, in our study, the statistical significance of FNBMD in the univariate analysis revealed that it should be considered in evaluation of the risk of VFs, even if LSBMD is normal or close to normal. In the literature, a significant relationship between age and spinal sagittal vertical axis has been reported; however, we found no such result [42]. In our study, the mean ages of patients with and without vertebral fractures were similar. Presumably, this is due to the fact that sagittal alignment is characterized by decrease in spinal mobility and compensatory mechanisms with aging.

Limitations

This study has some limitations regarding compensation of sagittal balance, spinal curvature and impact of osteoporotic VFs. First, we did not examine total countervailing changes like knee flexion and ankle extension. Second, since the spinal vertebral axis changes during walking, conventional radiography in standing position alone was not adequate for assessment of balance in patients. In addition, we carried out this study with a relatively small number of patients with osteoporosis. Therefore, further studies in larger populations are necessary to validate these findings.

Conclusions

This article shows that spinal imbalance and VAS are determining predictive parameters for VFs in patients with osteoporosis. The results suggest that clinicians should pay attention to sagittal imbalance, pain and FNBMD in osteoporotic patients even if they have normal LSBMD.

Acknowledgments

The article [24] (Journal name: Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery and Research, Publisher: BMC), in which figure 1 is used, is Open Access, is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

https://josr-online.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s13018-015-0305-6

References

- 1. Reginster JY, Burlet N. Osteoporosis: a still increasing prevalence. Bone. 2006;38:4-9.
- Yuan HA, Brown CW, Phillips FM. Osteoporotic spinal deformity: a biomechanical rationale for the clinical consequences and treatment of vertebral body compression fractures. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2004;17:236–42.
- 3. Lindsay R, Silverman SL, Cooper C, Hanley DA, Barton I, Broy SB, et al. Risk of new vertebral fracture in the year following a fracture. JAMA. 2001;285:320–3.
- Kerkeni S, Kolta S, Fechtenbaum J, Roux C. Spinal deformity index (SDI) is a good predictor of incident vertebral fractures. Osteoporos Int. 2009;20:1547–52.
- Siris ES, Genant HK, Laster AJ, Chen P, Misurski DA, Krege JH. Enhanced prediction of fracture risk combining vertebral fracture status and BMD. Osteoporos Int. 2007;18:761–70.
 Briggs AM, Greig AM, Wark JD. The vertebral fracture cascade in osteoporosis: a review of aetiopathogenesis.
- Briggs AM, Greg AM, wan JD. The vertexian nacture cascade in oscoporosits, a review of aetropathogenesis. Osteoporos Int. 2007;18:575–84.
 Roux C, Fechtenbaum J, Kolta S, Said-Nahal R, Briot K, Benhamou CL. Prospective assessment of thoracic
- kyphosis in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res. 2010;25:362–8.
 Kobayashi T, Takeda N, Atsuta Y, Matsuno T. Flattening of sagittal spinal curvature as a predictor of vertebral
- fracture. Osteoporos Int. 2008;19:65–9. 9. Roussouly P, Pinheiro-Franco JL. Sagittal parameters of the spine: biomechanical approach. Eur Spine J.
- 2011;2(Suppl 5):578-85. 10. Roussouly P, Nnadi C. Sagittal plane deformity: an overview of interpretation and management. Eur Spine J.
- 2010;19:1824-36. 11. Barrey C, Roussouly P, Le Huec JC, D'Acunzi G, Perrin G. Compensatory mechanisms contributing to keep the
- Barrey C, Roussouly P, Le Huee JC, D'Acunzi G, Perrin G, Compensatory mechanisms contributing to keep the sagittal balance of the spine. Eur Spine J. 2013;22(Suppl 6):S834–S841.
- Schwab F, Lafage V, Boyce R, Skalli W, Farcy JP. Gravity line analysis in adult volunteers: age-related correlation with spinal parameters, pelvic parameters, and foot position. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2006 Dec 1;31(25):E959-67.
- Schwab F, Lafage V, Patel A, Farcy JP. Sagittal plane considerations and the pelvis in the adult patient. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2009;34(17):1828-33.
- Geiger EV, Müller O, Niemeyer T, Kluba T. Adjustment of pelvispinal parameters preserves the constant gravity line position. Int Orthop. 2007;31:253–8.
- 15. Hirose D, Ishida K, Nagano Y, Takahashi T, Yamamoto H. Posture of the trunk in the sagittal plane is associated with gait in community- dwelling elderly population. Clin Biomech. 2004;19:57–63.
 16. Gelb DE, Lenke LG, Bridwell KH, Blanke K, McEnery KW, An analysis of sagittal spinal alignment in 100
- 16. Gelo DE, Lenke EG, Bridweit RH, Bianke K, McEnery KW. An analysis of sagittal spinal anginement in 100 asymptomatic middle and older aged volunteers. Spine. 1995;20:1351–8.
- 17. Jackson RP, Kanemura T, Kawakami N, Hales C. Lumbopelvic lordosis and pelvic balance on repeated standing lateral radiographs of adult volunteers and untreated patients with constant low back pain. Spine. 2000;25:575–86.
 18. Aneevine PD, O'Learv PT, Bridwell KH, Fixed saeittal imbalance. In: Herkowitz H. Garfin S, Eismont F, Bell
- 18. Angevine PJ, O'Leary PI, Bridwell RH. Fixed sagittal imbalance. In: Herkowitz H, Gartin S, Eismont F, Bell G, Balderston R, editors. Rothman-Simeone The Spine. 6th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier; 2011. p. 1285–1296.
 19. Hawker GA, Mian S, Kendzerska T, French M. Measures of adult pain: Visual Analog Scale for Pain (VAS)
- 19. Hawker GA, Mian S, Kendzerska I, French M. Measures of adult pain: Visual Analog Scale for Pain (VAS Pain), Numeric Rating Scale for Pain (NRS Pain), McGill Pain Questionnaire (MPQ), Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire (SF-MPQ), Chronic Pain Grade Scale (CPGS), Short Form-36 Bodily Pain Scale (SF-36 BPS), and Measure of Intermittent and Constant Osteoarthritis Pain (ICOAP). Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63(11):240-52.
- Cosman F, de Beur SJ, LeBoff MS, Lewiecki EM, Tanner B, Randall S, et al. Clinician's Guide to Prevention and Treatment of Osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int. 2014;25(10):2359-81.
- WHO expert consultation. Appropriate body-mass index for Asian populations and its implications for policy and intervention strategies. The Lancet. 2004;363(9403):157-63.

- 22. NIH consensus development panel. Osteoporosis prevention, diagnosis, and therapy. JAMA. 2001;285(6):785-
- 23. Cassar-Pullicino VN, Eisenstein SM. Imaging in scoliosis: what, why and how? Clin Radiol. 2002;57(7):543-62.
- Todd C, Kovac P, Swärd A, Agnvall C, Swärd L, Jon Karlsson, et al. Comparison of radiological spino-pelvic sagittal parameters in skiers and non-athletes. J Orthop Surg Res. 2015;(10):162.
- Schwab F, Ungar B, Blondel B, Buchowski J, Coe J, Deinlein D, et al. Scoliosis Research Society-Schwab adult spinal deformity classification: a validation study. Spine. 2012;37(12):1077–82.
 Genant HK, Wu CY, van Kuijk C, Nevitt MC. Vertebral fracture assessment using a semiquantitative
- Genant HK, Wu CT, van Kurjk C, Nevnt MC. Verteoral fracture assessment using a semiquantitative technique. J Bone Miner Res. 1993;8:1137-48.
- Zoran Bursac, C Heath Gauss, David Keith Williams, David W Hosmer. Purposeful selection of variables in logistic regression. Source Code Biol Med. 2008;3:17.
- 28. Marcus R. Clinical review 76: The nature of osteoporsis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1996;81(1):1-5.
 29. Huang MH, Barrett-Connor E, Greendale GA, Kado DM. Hyperkyphotic posture and risk of future osteoporotic
- Huang MH, Barrett-Connor E, Greendale GA, Kado DM. Hyperkyphotic posture and risk of future osteoporotic fractures. J Bone Miner Res. 2006;21(3):419-2.
 Cortet B, Houvenagel E, Puisieux F, Roches E, Garnier P, Delcambre B. Spinal curvatures and quality of life in
- sol. Orter b, Houvenager E, Pulsieux P, Romes E, Garmer P, Delcambre B. Spinal curvatures and quanty of the in women with vertebral fractures secondary to osteoporosis. Spine. 1999;24:1921-5.
- 31.Cortet B, Roches E, Logier R, Houvenagel E, Gaydier-Souquières G, Puisieux F, et al. Evaluation of spinal curvatures after a recent osteoporotic vertebral fracture. Joint Bone Spine. 2002;69:201–8.
- 32.Jackson RP, McManus AC. Radiographic analysis of sagittal plane alignment and balance in standing volunteers and patients with low back pain matched for age, sex, and size. A prospective controlled clinical study. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1994;19(14):1611-8.
- 33. Schwab FJ, Blondel B, Bess S, Hostin R, Shaffrey CI, Smith JS, et al. Radiographical spinopelvic parameters and disability in the setting of adult spinal deformity: a prospective multicenter analysis. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2013;38(13):E803-12.
- 34. Terran J, Schwab F, Shaffrey CI, Smith JS, Devos P, Ames CP, et al. The SRS-Schwab adult spinal deformity classification: assessment and clinical correlations based on a prospective operative and nonoperative cohort. Neurosurgery. 2013;73(4):559-68.
- 35. Lafage R, Schwab F, Challier V, Henry JK, Gum J, Smith J, et al. Defining Spino-Pelvic Alignment Thresholds: Should Operative Goals in Adult Spinal Deformity Surgery Account for Age? Spine. 2016;41:62-8.
- Thresholds: Should Operative Goals in Adult Spinal Deformity Surgery Account for Åge? Spine. 2016;41:62-8.
 36. Pirro M, Fabbriciani G, Leli C, Callarelli L, Manfredelli MR, Fioroni C, et al. High weight or body mass index increase the risk of vertebral fractures in postmenopausal osteoporotic women. J Bone Miner Metab. 2010;28(1):88-93.
- Lee JS, Lee HS, Shin JK, Goh TS, Son SM. Prediction of sagittal balance in patients with osteoporosis using spinopelvic parameters. Eur Spine J. 2013;22:1053–8.
 Jackson RP, Peterson MD, McManus AC, Hales C. Compensatory spinopelvic balance over the hip axis and
- Jackson RP, Peterson MD, McManus AC, Hales C. Compensatory spinopelvic balance over the hip axis and better reliability in measuring lordosis to the pelvic radius on standing lateral radiographs of adult volunteers and patients. Spine. 1998;23:1750–67.
- Silverman SL, Minshall ME, Harper KD, Xie S. The relationship of health-related quality of life to prevalent and incident vertebral fractures in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. Arthritis Rheum. 2001 Nov;44(11):2611-9.
- Glassman SD, Berven S, Bridwell K, Horton W, Dimar JR. Correlation of radiographic parameters and clinical symptoms in adult scoliosis. Spine. 2005;30:682–8.
- 41. Glassman SD, Bridwell K, Dimar JR, Horton W, Berven S, Schwab F. The impact of positive sagittal balance in adult spinal deformity. Spine. 2005;30:2024–9.
- 42. Takeda N, Kobayashi T, Atsuta Y, Matsuno T, Shirado O, Minami A. Changes in the sagittal spinal alignment of the elderly without vertebral fractures: a minimum 10-year longitudinal study. J Orthop Sci. 2009;14:748–53.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors. The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Suggested citation: Patrias K. Citing medicine: the NLM style guide for authors, editors, and publishers [Internet]. 2nd ed. Wendling DL, technical editor. Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US); 2007-[updated 2015 Oct 2; cited Year Month Day]. Available from: http://www.nlm.nih.gov/citingmedicine

Journal of Surgery and Medicine

Preoperative evaluation of the knowledge and concerns of gynecology patients regarding anesthesia: A questionnaire based observational study

Jinekoloji hastalarının preoperatif anestezi ile ilgili bilgi ve endişelerinin değerlendirilmesi: Bir anket çalışması

Buket Özyaprak¹, Nermin Kılıçarslan¹, Gönül Erkan²

¹ Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Bursa Yüksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Health Sciences University, Bursa, Turkey ² Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Ahi Evren Training and Research Hospital, Health

> ORCID ID of the author(s) BÖ: 0000-0002-6327-4573 NK: 0000-0002-5855-9099 GE: 0000-0002-2028-4288

Sciences University, Trabzon, Turkey

Corresponding author/Sorumlu yazar: Buket Özyaprak Address/Adres: Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi, Anesteziyoloji ve Reanimasyon Kliniği, Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi, Mimar Sinan Mahallesi, Emnivet Caddesi, Yıldırım, Bursa, Türkiye e-Mail: ozyaprakertugrul@gmail.com

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was conducted after the approval of Bursa Yüksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Health Sciences University Ethical Committee of Clinical Research, 2011-KAEK-25 2019/06-11. Etik Kurul Onayı: Çalışma, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Eğitim ve Arastırma Hastanesi, Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi Klinik Araştırmalar Etik Kurulu, 2011-KAEK-25 2019/06-11 onayından sonra

gerçekleştirildi.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/30/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 30.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s)

Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives License 40 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



Abstract

Aim: Anesthesiology is an advancing discipline that is progressively recognized by the society. Preoperative patients may have concerns about anesthesia as well as surgical operations. There are various surveys on this subject, in which the knowledge of the subjects about the anesthesiologist, anesthesia, and related concerns were questioned. In this study, we aimed to determine the knowledge, experiences and concerns of our female patients who were to undergo gynecological operations regarding the anesthesiologists and anesthesia with the questionnaire we conducted, and to contribute to the literature by evaluating our results and discussing the precautions to be taken. Methods: A questionnaire-based observational study method was used in this study. The questionnaire, which was developed by the

researchers, was conducted on the patients who were referred to the anesthesiology policlinic for gynecological operations and signed the informed consent forms. The patients were questioned in terms of knowledge and concerns about the anesthesiologist and anesthesia in general.

Results: This questionnaire was conducted on 150 patients. Seventy-eight percent of our patients were educated below high-school level, while 22% had high school diplomas or higher. 93.33% percent of our patients had already experienced anesthesia and 68% knew that it was administered by a specialist. The most common causes of worry on anesthesia and the operations included inability to regain consciousness (58%), followed by postoperative pain (52%). Less frequent anxiety factors were determined as nausea and vomiting after anesthesia and prior fasting.

Conclusion: As with all segments of the society, increasing the knowledge about anesthesia in women will reduce related anxiety. We believe that this information should be provided not only in polyclinic conditions but also through visual communication tools and brochures

Keywords: Anesthesia, Worry, Females, Questionnaire

Öz

Amaç: Anesteziyoloji günümüzde ilerlemekte olan ve toplum tarafından giderek de tanınan bir bilim dalıdır. Cerrahi öncesi hastaların cerrahi operasyonlar kadar anestezi uygulamaları konusunda da endişeleri olabilmektedir. Bu konuda yapılmış anket çalışmaları mevcuttur. Bu calısmalarda birevlerin anestezist, anestezi hakkındaki bilgisi ve anestezi ile ilgili kavgıları sorgulanmıştır. Biz de Jinekolojik operasyon geçirecek ve anestezi uygulanacak kadın hastalarda yaptığımız anket çalışmasıyla hastalarımızın anestezi doktoru ve anestezi ile ilgili bilgi ve deneyimlerini ve endişe nedenlerini belirlemeyi amaçladık. Sonuçlarımızı değerlendirmek ve alınabilecek önlemleri de tartışarak literatüre katkıda bulunmayı da amaçladık.

Yöntemler: Bu araştırma bir anket çalışması olarak planlanmıştır. Araştırmacılar tarafından geliştirilen anket anesteziyoloji polikliniğine jinekoloji operasyonu için başvuran ve bilgilendirilmiş onamları alınan hastalar üzerinde uygulanmıştır. Anket formu ile olguların anestezist ve anestezi ile ilgili bilgi ve kaygı nedenleri sorgulanmıştır.

Bulgular: Anket calışması toplam 150 hastava uvgulandı. Eğitim durumuna göre hastaların oranları %78 lise altı, %22 lise ve üstü saptandı. Anestezi deneyimini yaşayan hastalarımızın oranı %93.33'tür. Anestezi uygulamasının uzman doktor tarafından yapıldığı yanıtı ise %68 şeklindedir. Anestezi ve ameliyathane ile ilgili en fazla endişe veren durum %58 oranı ile uyanamama; ikinci sıklıkta endise nedeninin de %52 oranı ile postoperatif ağrı olduğu saptandı.

Sonuç: Toplumun her kesiminde olduğu gibi kadınlarda da anestezi uygulamaları hakkında bilgiyi artırmak anestezi ile ilgili kaygı veren durumları da azaltacaktır. Bu bilgilendirmenin yalnızca poliklinik koşullarında değil görsel iletişim araçları ve broşürler yoluyla da olması gerektiğini düşünüyoruz.

Anahtar kelimeler: Anestezi, Endise, Kadın, Anket

Introduction

The struggle against pain in human history has been quite challenging and the point we have reached today has been gained after long wars and experiences. In this process, any surgical experience was painful for the patient, and a major challenge for the surgeon. The first treatments for pain relief were alcohol, and opium-dipped sponges.

Joseph Priestley's description of oxygen in 1774 and his discovery of nitrous oxide in 1776 were turning points in the history of anesthesia. Horace Wells also performed painless tooth extraction using nitrous oxide in 1844. In 1913, Karl Connell developed the anesthesia machine [1,2]. The period of modern anesthesia developed between 1920 and 1940 and since 1937 "Anesthesiology" has been accepted as a scientific discipline globally [2].

Anxiety is a common emotional disorder among patients. There have been several studies related to anxiety for various types of diagnoses [3,4]. Since the 1970s, studies have been conducted on the level of knowledge on anesthesiologists and anesthesia applications, onto which research regarding patient satisfaction, measurement of preoperative anxiety and causes were added during later years [5-7]. With this in mind, we aimed to determine the knowledge and experiences of our female patients, who play significant roles in the upbringing of new generations, about anesthesiologists and anesthesia, and their causes of concern. Our purpose was to contribute to the literature by evaluating our results and discussing the precautions to be taken.

Materials and methods

The study was conducted after the approval of the local ethics committee (Bursa Yüksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Health Sciences University Ethical Committee of Clinical Research, 2011-KAEK-25 2019/06-11) was obtained, and consisted of patients who were to undergo elective gynecological operations under anesthesia in Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital. GPower 3.1 program was used to determine sample size, which revealed that 80 participants were needed for 0.5 effect size. Hence, we included 150 patients who were referred to our polyclinic for preanesthesia examination. Female patients who were older than 18 years with informed consent were included in the survey. The exclusion criteria included refusing to participate, a history of emergency surgery or a known psychiatric disorder, and lack of literacy.

Previous experience, information on the duties of anesthesiologists and causes of concern related to anesthesia were questioned in patients who were referred to the anesthesia outpatient clinic for preoperative examination. Participants were given a questionnaire which was developed by the researchers and were able to answer the questions without any influences. The questionnaire (Table 1), namely, Preoperative Evaluation of The Knowledge and Concerns of Gynecology Patients Regarding Anesthesia, was developed by the researchers based on the literature view [8-10]. A pilot study was done with 15 participants to evaluate the questionnaire's clarity. A revision was made due to feedbacks. The participants were told that they did not need to sign their names on the questionnaire, that their answers would not affect the service they would receive and were asked to express their real thoughts.

Statistical analysis

SPSS 21.0 (Statistic Inc. version Chicago, IL, USA) software was used for statistical analysis of the data. Descriptive statistics were expressed as mean (standard deviation) for continuous variables, and number of patients (%) for nominal variables. The results were considered statistically significant within a 95% confidence interval when *P*- value < 0.05.

within a 95% confidence interval when P -value <0.05.	
Table 1: Items of the questionnaire	
Questionnaire	
Gender:	
Age:	
Educational Level: Below High School High School Degree and Above	
Do you have a previous experience of anesthesia?	
a) Yes b) No	
Is there a family member who underwent anesthesia?	
a) Yes b) No	
Did you have any problems related to anesthesia?	
a) Yes b) No	
Do you know why you were referred to the anesthesia polyclinic?	
a) Yes b) No	
Were you informed about anesthesia?	
a) Yes b) No	
Who administers anesthesia in the operation rooms?	
a) Specialist b) Technician c) Nurse d) No idea	
Where does an anesthesiologist work?	
a) Operating rooms b) Operating rooms, polyclinics, and intensive care units c) No idea	
Do you know what the definition of an anesthesiologist is?	
a) Follows weakness and vital signs of the patient b) Administers anesthesia to the patient	
c) No idea What anesthetic method/s do you know?	
a) General b) Local/Regional c) General/Local/Regional d) No idea	
Circle the most suitable option which reflects your anxiety and concern level about anesthesia	
a) Not anxious b) A little anxious c) Anxious d) Very anxious	
Circle the most suitable option which reflects your anxiety and concern level about inability to regain	
consciousness	1
a) Not anxious b) A little anxious c) Anxious d) Very anxious	
Circle the most suitable option which reflects your anxiety and concern level about fasting before anesthesia	e
a) Not anxious b) A little anxious c) Anxious d) Very anxious	
Circle the most suitable option which reflects your anxiety and concern level about postoperative pain	
a) Not anyious h) A little anyious a) Anyious d) Vary anyious	

out postoperative pain a) Not anxious b) A little anxious c) Anxious d) Very anxious

- Circle the most suitable option which reflects your anxiety and concern level about nausea/vomiting after anesthesia
- a) Not anxious b) A little anxious c) Anxious d) Very anxious

Results

A total of 150 patients were surveyed. The mean age of the patients was 45.37 (10.79) years. All our patients were female. Among them, 78% were educated below high school, and 22% had high school degrees and above. Approximately 93% had previous anesthesia experience and 76% experienced it through a family member. Ninety-four of the cases stated that they did not experience any problems during general anesthesia while 6% stated that they did. Eighty-eight percent knew why they were referred to the anesthesia clinic while 12% did not. 54% patients stated that they were informed before referral to our clinic while 46% stated they were not (Table 2).

Of all patients, 68% stated that anesthesiologists administered anesthesia in the operation rooms (P < 0.001), 16% stated that it was the technicians, 2% stated it was the nurses and 14% of patients had no idea (Figure 1). Sixty-six percent stated that anesthesiologists worked in the operating rooms only (P < 0.001), while 12% wrote that they worked in the polyclinics and intensive care units along with the operating rooms. Twentytwo percent had no idea. The following answers were given question regarding the job of the anesthesiologist in the operation rooms: Follows wakefulness and vital signs (44%), administers anesthesia to the patient (42%), no idea (14%) (P=0.829).

Regarding the information of anesthetic methods, 56% knew about general anesthesia, 24% had information on local/regional anesthesia, 16% knew about both and 4% had no idea (Figure 2). General anesthesia was the significantly most commonly known among all (P<0.001).

JOSAM

The most common cause of concern regarding anesthesia was inability to regain consciousness (58%), followed by postoperative pain. The causes of concern and rates are presented in Table 3. Chi-square tests measuring anxiety levels regarding anesthesia revealed that there were significant differences between anxiety levels (P<0.001).

Table 2: Evaluation of patients' anesthetic histories and general information on anesthesia

		Yes		No		P-value
		n	%	n	%	
Do you have a previous experience of ane	sthesia?	140	93.33	10	6.67	< 0.001
Is there a family member who underwent	anesthesia?	114	76	36	24	< 0.001
Did you have any problems related to ane	sthesia?	9	6	141	94	< 0.001
Do you know why you were referred to the polyclinic?	e anesthesia	132	88	18	12	< 0.001
Were you informed about anesthesia?		81	54	69	46	0.424
Table 3: Evaluation of causes of concer operation	n and anxiety	levels	regard	ling a	nesthe	sia and the
Not any	kious A little	anxiou	s Anx	ious	Very	anxious
n 9	6 n	%	n	%	n	%

	11	70	11	70	п	70	11	70
Regarding anesthesia	23	15.33	24	16	31	20.67	72	48
Regarding inability to regain	24	16	18	12	21	14	87	58
consciousness								
Regarding prior fasting	45	30	69	46	27	18	9	6
Regarding postoperative pain	15	10	28	18.67	29	19.33	78	52
Regarding nausea/vomiting after	14	9.33	104	69.33	25	16.67	7	4.67
anesthesia								



Figure 1: The answers of the question regarding who administers anesthesia



Figure 2: Answers to the question about knowledge of anesthesia methods

Discussion

Preoperative evaluation, a clinical examination which is the responsibility of the anesthesiologist, is performed prior to the anesthesia in the patient to be operated [11]. However, there is little information about the anesthesiologist and various studies have shown that people believe that the anesthesiologist is not a medical doctor [8,9].

In a study conducted on 800 patients in 1991, Shevde et al. [5] reported the rate of knowing the role of the anesthesiologist as 68%. In another study, the rate of knowing that the anesthesiologist was a specialist was found to be 58%, and it was reported that this rate was lower compared to other specialties [12]. This can be attributed to the pre-operative exposure of patients to a complex environment. Many patients do not remember the anesthesiologist because they encounter a large number of hospital staff [13,14].

In our study, the mean age of the patients was 45.37(10.79) years. The fact that 92% of our patients had

previous experiences with anesthesia and 76% had experiences with a family member can be attributed to the lack of young patients. Despite the high rate of anesthesia experience, the question of who administers anesthesia in the operating room was not answered with "a specialist physician" by 32%. Only 68% gave the answer of an anesthesiologist. A statistically significant majority of the patients knew why they came to the anesthesia outpatient clinic. We thought that the high rate of prior anesthesia experience was effective in this result.

Various studies have been conducted on questioning the working places of anesthesiologists and results have been shared in the literature [9]. Demir et al. [9] argued that most of the patients knew that the anesthesiologist also worked outside the operating room (polyclinic, intensive care, pain treatment). In other studies, it was found that the patients thought that the anesthesiologists would only work in the operating room and did not know about other work areas, such as the intensive care unit, pain clinic, and interventional procedures [15-17]. The reasons may include the fact that anesthesia is a newly-recognized branch compared to other sciences, the anesthesiologists usually work as consultant physicians outside the operating room and consequently, they are rarely seen and recognized, and finally, that new working areas of the anesthesiologists have recently been added. In a different study, it was questioned whether the anesthesiologist had any other duties outside the operating room, and 19.6% patients responded "Yes" while 80.4% responded "No" [18]. In our study, 66% of our patients gave the response "operating room" while 22% of the patients stated that they had no idea. Only 12% of the patients reported knowing about outpatient clinics and intensive care units in addition to the operating room. These results are incompatible with the results of Demir et al. [9] and consistent with other study results.

We believe that the socioeconomic and educational level of the survey population are key factors in these differences. In their study, Tuba et al. [8] concluded that the accuracy of the answers given to the questions about the anesthesiologist and anesthesia increased with the level of education.

In our study, 78% were educated below high school, 22% had high school diplomas and above. This situation and the fact that the non-operating working areas are known at a rate of 12% makes the education level important, in accordance with the study performed by Tuba et al. [8].

In their study, Hariharan et al. [19] questioned the work performed by the anesthesiologist in the operating room, and 75% answered with consciousness follow-up and 62.8%, with vital signs follow-up. In our study, 44% stated that anesthesiologists follow wakefulness and vital signs, 42% stated that they administer anesthesia to the patients, 14% had no idea.

It is reported that general anesthesia, which is one of the anesthesia methods, is more widely known than local and regional anesthesia [9]. In addition, Demir et al. [9] state that women's knowledge level is higher than that of men's. The knowledge about general anesthesia was significantly higher in our patient group compared to local and regional anesthesia methods.

Patients are often anxious prior to anesthesia and operation. Concerns about surgical intervention and anesthesia

practice adversely affect the intraoperative period as well as postoperative recovery process [11]. In preoperative evaluation, diagnosis, general condition, comorbidities, medications, laboratory results and anesthesia risk are determined, and physical examination is performed. In addition, the psychological state of the patient is evaluated, and it is aimed to reduce the anxiety by giving information [11].

When the causes of anxiety related to anesthesia and operating room were questioned in our patients, it was found that the most worrying situation was the fear of not being able to regain consciousness. The second most frequent cause of anxiety was postoperative pain. Similar to these results, there are also reports in the literature that indicate fear of not being able to regain consciousness and postoperative pain are important causes of anxiety [6,18,19].

In their study in 1998, Chew et al. [6] reported pain as the most important cause of anxiety, while Hume et al. [20] reported waking up during surgery as an important cause of concern. While postoperative pain continues to be a cause of anxiety today, we believe that waking up during surgery is not a cause of concern due to the development of anesthetic agents.

Weis et al. [21] showed that the detailed information provided to the patients decreased anxiety in the preoperative and postoperative periods and that the recovery in the postoperative period was faster and less painful.

Different studies measuring preoperative patient satisfaction, causes and degrees of anxiety conclude that providing information is useful [11,22]. The introduction of the anesthesiologist and the information provided about anesthesia applications during preoperative examination plays a key role.

Increased treatment costs shorten the duration of hospital stay. Also, the fact that anesthesiologists do not visit the patients after the surgery prevents postoperative encounter. This is caused by the increased workload of anesthesiologists, like all healthcare workers, and because postoperative visits are not routine procedures.

Limitation

The limitation of our study is the lack of a postoperative survey conducted on the same patients. It is our belief that planning future studies in this regard will highly contributes to the literature.

Conclusion

This study shows that preoperative process is highly stressful for most patients. The lack of information about the above-mentioned concepts may be considered as one of the reasons of observed anxiety. Patients may be informed about anesthesiologists and their applications to reduce stress. Preoperative visits and visual communication tools and brochures may reduce the anxiety of patients regarding anesthesia and related processes. It is also expected to contribute positively to the recognition of the rapidly developing branch of anesthesiology and the anesthesiologists.

References

- Vincent JC. The History of Anesthesiology. In Principles of Anesthesiology. Philadelphia: Lea & Febiger, 1993;3-28.
 Leroy DV. History of Anesthetic Practice. In: RD Miller ed. Anesthesia. NewYork: Churchill Livingstone.
- Leroy DV. Filstory of Anesinetic Practice. In: RD Miller ed. Anestnesia. New Tork: Churchill Livingstone. 1994;9-19.
 Sait S, Trabulsi N, Zagzoog M, Mortada H, Altowaireb A, Hemdi A, et al. Prevalence of depression and anxiety
- San S, tratousi N, Zagoog M, Mortada H, Antowareo A, Henni A, et al. Prevalence of depression and anxiety disorders among bariartic surgery patients. J Surg Med. 2019;3(8):574-8.
 Taşdelen Y, Yağcı İ. Anxiety, depression, type D personality, somatosensory amplification levels and childhood
- rappenen 1, rager 1. Anxiety, depression, type D personality, somatosensory amplification lev traumas in patients with panic disorders. J Surg Med. 2019;3(5):366-70.

- Shevde K, Panagopoulos G. A Survey of 800 patients knowledge, attitudes, and concerns regarding anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 1991;73:190-8.
- Chew ST, Tan T, Tan SS. A survey of patients knowledge of anaesthesia and perioperative care. Singapore Med J. 1998;39:399-402.
- Miller KM, Wysocki T, Cassady JF, Cancel D, Izenberg N. Validation of measures of parents' preoperative anxiety and anesthesia knowledge. Anesth Analg. 1999;88:251-7.
- Yoldaş TK, Yoldaş M, Karagöz S, Güven AÇ, Çelik Y, Kızılkaya M, et al. Preanestezik değerlendirmede hastaların anestezi uygulamalarına ilişkin bilgi, deneyim ve kaygıları ile ilgili anket çalışması. Ege Journal of Medicine 2016;55(3):109-16.
- Demir A, Turan S, Balaban F, Karadeniz Ü, Erdemli Ö. Anestezi uygulamaları ile ilgili olarak preanestezik değerlendirme sırasında hastalarda yapılan anket çalışması. Türk Anesteziyoloji Derneği Dergisi. 2009;37(4):225-33.
- DZvurmaz S, Büykçoban S. Kırsal bir bölgede anesteziyoloji uygulamaları hakkındaki bilgi ve korkuları ile ilişkili faktörlerin değerlendirilmesi. Celal Bayar Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü Dergisi. 2018;5.3:99-106.
- Garcia-Miguel FJ, Serrano-Aguilar PG, Lopez-Bastida J. Preoperative assessment. Lancet. 2003;362:1749-57.
 Mathur SK, Dube SK, Jain S. Knowledge about anaesthesia and anaesthesiologist amongst general population in India. Indian Journal of Anaesthesia. 2009;53:179-86.
- 13. JG Laffey, M Coleman, JF Boylan, Patient's knowledge of perioperative care. Irish Journal of Medical Science. 2000;169 (2):113-8.
- 14. Sykes MK. Recognition of the anaesthetist (editorial). Anaesthesia. 1995;50(5):381-2

JOSAM

- 15. Tohmo H, Pälve H, Illman H. The work, duties and prestige of Finnish anesthesiologists: patient's view. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2003;47(6):664-6.
- 16.Swinhoe CF, Groves ER. Patients' knowledge of anaesthetic practice and the role of anaesthetists. Anaesthesia. 1994;49(2):165-6.
- Calman LM, Mihalache A, Evron S, Ezri T. Current understanding of the patient's attitude toward the anesthetist's role and practice in Israel: effect of the patient's experience. Journal of Clinical Anesthesia. 2003;15(6):451-4.
- Ölmez D, Yıldırım H. Hastaların anestezi, anestezist ve görevleri hakkındaki bilgi düzeyleri: Anket çalışması. Medikal Journal of İzmir Hospital. 2003;9(4):135-9.
 Hariharan S, Merritt-Charles L, Chen D. Patient perception of the role of anesthesiologists: a perspective from
- the Caribbean. Journal of clinical anesthesia. 2006;18(7):504-9. 20. Hume MA, Kennedy B, Asbury AJ. Patient knowledge of anaesthesia and peri-operative care. Anaesthesia.
- 1994;49:715-8. 21.Weis OF, Sriwatanakul K, Weintraub M. Reduction of anxiety and Postoperative analgesic requirements by audiovisual instruction. Lancet. 1983;1:43.
- 22. King MS. Preoperative evaluation. Am Fam Physician. 2000;62:387-96.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Suggested citation: Patrias K. Citing medicine: the NLM style guide for authors, editors, and publishers [Internet]. 2nd ed. Wendling DL, technical editor. Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US); 2007-[updated 2015 Oct 2; cited Year Month Day]. Available from: http://www.nlm.nih.gov/citingmedicine

Journal of Surgery and Medicine

Evaluation of deep vein thrombosis incidence with respect to age and gender in light of regional factors in central Anatolia: A populationbased study

Bölgesel etmenlerin ışığında iç anadolu bölgesinde derin ven trombozu insidansı ile yaş ve cinsiyete açısından değerlendirilmesi: Nüfus bazlı çalışma

Kıvanç Atılgan¹, Ertan Demirdaş², Cengiz Zafer Er³, Ferit Çiçekçioğlu³

¹ TOBB ETU Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular

Abstract

Surgery, Ankara, Turkey ² Gulhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Ankara,

Turkey ³ Bozok University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Yozgat, Turkey

> ORCID ID of the author(s) KA: 0000-0001-9907-9879 EA: 0000-0002-7854-3481 CZE: 0000-0001-7129-1157 FÇ: 0000-0002-4809-0100

Corresponding author/Sorumlu yazar: Kıvanç Atılgan Address/Adres: TOBB ETÜ Hastanesi. Kalp ve Damar Cerrahisi Kliniği, Ankara, Türkiye e-Mail: kivancatilgan@gmail.com

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was not received due to the retrospective design of the study.

Etik Kurul Onayı: Calışma tasarımı geriye dönük olduğundan etik kurul onayı alınmamıştır.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemislerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/31/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 31.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s)

Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-Noberviatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



Aim: Deep vein thrombosis (DVT) is a prevailing cause of serious complications such as pulmonary thromboembolism, venous ulcer, chronic venous insufficiency, venous gangrene and post-thrombotic syndrome, and significantly increased hospitalization costs. The aim of this study is to determine the incidence of DVT and regional effects for its development as well as evaluate its distribution in terms of age and gender in Yozgat, a city with a population of more than 500.000 people, which is considered to fairly represent Central Anatolia with regards to geography, economy, industry, age distribution, morbidity and mortality.

Methods: For this cross-sectional study, we included all DVT cases aged 15 years and older from Yozgat diagnosed in Bozok University, Faculty of Medicine, Research and Application Hospital and Yozgat State Hospital between September 2012-September 2016. Patients and diagnostic characteristics were retrieved from medical records. The distribution of DVT cases were evaluated in terms of age and gender according to the data derived from address-based population registration system of Turkish Statistical Institute (TUSI) 2016.

Results: One thousand two hundred and eighty-seven patients were enrolled in this research. DVT incidence increased with age and substantially accelerated above the age of 40. The overall DVT incidence was 1:1000 persons per year and slightly higher among the female population (1:1000 persons/year vs 0.9:1000 persons/year) (P=0.924). According to TUSI 2016, the mean body mass index (BMI) of females was significantly higher than that of males (29.2 (5.3) kg/m² and 26.7 (3.6) kg/m², respectively, P<0.001). In the region comprising Yozgat, Sivas and Kayseri, labor-force participation rate of females and males were 28% and 49.6%, respectively, which was a significant regional risk factor for DVT development.

Conclusion: It would be possible to decrease the incidence of DVT and the high hospitalization costs of related complications, most of which can be avoided with suitable prophylaxis based on more reliable results obtained from further research. Appropriate precautions should be taken after considering regional socioeconomic and sociocultural values

Keywords: Deep vein thrombosis, Incidence, Yozgat, Age, Gender, Body mass index

Öz

Amac: Derin ven trombozu pulmoner tromboemboli, venöz ülser, kronik venöz vetmezlik, venöz gangren ve posttrombotik sendrom gibi ciddi komplikasyonların güncel bir sebebini oluşturmaktadır. Bu çalışmanın amacı 500.000'den fazla nüfusa sahip, gerek coğrafik, ekonomik, endüstriel ve yaş dağılımı gerekse morbidite ve mortalite oranları açısından İç Anadolu Bölgesi'nin temsil edebilecek özelliklere sahip Yozgat ilinde derin ve trombozu (DVT) insidansını tanımlamak ve DVT gelişim üzerinde etkisi olan bölgesel etmenler üzerine vurgu yapmaktır.

Yöntemler: Bu araştırma kesitsel bir çalışma olarak planlanmıştır. Yozgat ilinde ikamet eden Bozok Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Araştırma ve Uygulama Hastanesi ile Yozgat Şehir Hastanesi'nde 2012 ve 2016 yılları arasında DVT tanısı almış 15 yaş ve üzeri bireyler calışmaya dahil edildi. Hastalar ve hasta verileri medikal kayıtlardan elde edildi. DVT dağılımı, Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu'na (TUSI) ait adrese dayalı nüfus dağılımı verileri kullanılarak yaş ve cinsiyet açısından değerlendirildi.

Bulgular: Çalışmaya 1287 hasta dahil edilmiştir. DVT dağılımı yaşlanma ile artış göstermekte özellikle 40 yaş üzerinde ciddi bir ivmelenme göstermektedir. Genel DVT insidansı 1/1000 hasta/yıl olarak belirlendi ve kadın nüfusta 1/1000 hasta/yıl iken erkek nüfusta 0.9/1000 hasta/yıl olarak tespit edildi (P=0,924). TUSI 2016 verilerine göre Yozgat, Sivas ve Kayseri illerinde ortalama beden kitle indeksi (BKI) kadın popülasyonda erkeklere göre daha yüksek idi, kadın popülasyonsa 29,2 (5,3) kg/m² iken erkek popülasyonda 26,7 (3,6) kg/m² (P<0,001) ve işgücü katılım oranı kadınlarda %28 iken erkeklerde %49,6 olarak tespit edildi. Bu durum DVT gelişiminde bölgesel etmenlerin etkinliğini ortava kovmaktadır.

Sonuç: Bölgesel sosyoekonomik ve sosyokültürel realiteler göz önünde bulundurularak ve daha geniş çaplı çalışmalar ile elde edilecek veriler ışığında önceden alınacak önlemler ile DVT insidansını ve uygun profilaktik yaklaşımlar ile birçoğu önlenebilir olan ve yüksek sağlık giderlerine sebep olan ilgili komplikasyonların önüne geçmek mümkündür.

Anahtar kelimeler: Derin ven trombozu, İnsidans, Yozgat, Yaş, Cinsiyet, Beden kitle indeksi

Introduction

Deep vein thrombosis (DVT) is the third most common cardiovascular disease, after ischemic cardiac diseases and stroke [1]. Despite many improvements in both medical and surgical management, DVT remains the cause of various serious complications, such as pulmonary thromboembolism, venous ulcer, chronic venous insufficiency, venous gangrene and postthrombotic syndrome, along with significantly increased hospitalization costs [2,3].

DVT is rarely observed under the age of 20. However, its incidence gains significant acceleration after the age of 40 and peaks after the age of 70 [4-8]. The incidence of DVT is similar between males and females, although it remains slightly higher among the reproductive female population, which evens out after menopause [4,7,9,10].

To the best of our knowledge, no extensive research has been conducted in Turkey on DVT incidence to this date, however, it is possible to see many examples in the literature from different countries. In this article, we aimed to research the incidence of DVT and evaluate its distribution with respect to gender and age in Yozgat, a city with a population of more than 500,000 people, which is thought to represent Central Anatolia in terms of geography, economy, industry, age distribution, morbidity, and mortality.

Materials and methods

DVT cases were classified as idiopathic and secondary. Any DVT caused by malignancy, trauma, surgery, immobility (due to paresis, paralysis, prolonged bedrest) within the last 3 months, pregnancy or puerperium at the time of the event, or oral contraceptives used at the time of the event or up to 1 month before the event was regarded as secondary DVT. A DVT case was regarded as idiopathic DVT in case of the absence of precipitating factors for a secondary DVT.

This cross-sectional study was conducted in Bozok University, Faculty of Medicine, Research and Application Hospital and Yozgat State Hospital, the only centers of cardiovascular surgery in Yozgat city, with the approval obtained from Local Health Authority in Yozgat Governorship (no: 21143511-030.04.01). Ethics committee approval was not received due to the retrospective study design.

One thousand two hundred eighty-seven patients who were referred to Bozok University, Faculty of Medicine, Research and Application Hospital and Yozgat State Hospital between September 2012-September 2016, diagnosed with DVT based on physical examination and imaging (colored Doppler ultrasonography (CDUS) and venous computerized tomographic angiography) and treated either as an outpatient or inpatient, were enrolled in this research. The patients under the age of 15 and those who were not diagnosed in Yozgat were excluded. The medical records of the patients were reviewed retrospectively by getting the official permissions of related clinics.

Demographic data (age, gender, coexisting diseases and body mass index (BMI)) and the distribution of DVT cases were evaluated in terms of age and gender according to the data of address-based population registration system of Turkish Statistical Institute (TUSI) in 2016.

In both Cardiovascular Surgery Departments, the routine DVT treatment protocol was the same as that stated in "National Treatment Guide of Peripheral Artery and Vein Diseases, 2016" published by Turkish Cardiovascular Surgery Association and National Vascular and Endovascular Surgery Association. Each DVT patient was treated with subcutaneous low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) for at least five days and per oral vitamin K antagonist (VKA) starting at the time of diagnosis. International normalized ratio (INR) was monitored each day and when INR level reached 2-3 on two consecutive measurements, LMWH was stopped and treatment was continued with VKA alone. Each patient used compression socks with a pressure of 20-30 mmHg and frequent mobilization was advised. VKA treatment was stopped in patients whose INR level could not provide the set point on four consecutive measurements, and new oral anticoagulant (NOAC) therapy was ordered in the presence of normal values of liver and renal function tests.

Pharmacomechanic thrombectomy procedure was performed to two patients with iliac vein thrombosis following gastrointestinal carcinoma and a major abdominal surgery.

Statistical analysis

To calculate incidence rates of first DVT event, we used the observed number of cases of first DVT as the numerator and the sum of individuals per year as the total resident population as the denominator. This data was obtained from the data of address-based population registration system of Turkish Statistical Institute (TUSI) in 2016

Incidence rates for DVT were standardized by using the direct method, applying the age-specific rates in each 5-year age group to the world (Segi) standard population aged 15 years and above.

All analyses were performed using MINITABTM Version 16. The Chi-square square test was used for the analysis of categorical data by creating crosstabs. Descriptive statistics were presented as frequency and percentages. For all tests, *P*-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Two samples test and t-test were used for demographic variables.

Results

The total sample comprised 1287 patients. Regarding the distribution of gender, 695 (54%) were female and 592 (46%) were male. The mean age of males and females were 54 (3.6) and 51 (2.3) years, respectively. Ninety-six (13.8%) females and 68 (11.4%) males were treated as in-patients (Table 1).

Accompanying diseases of the patients were shown in Table 1. There was not any statistically significant difference among the male and female patients in terms of diabetes mellitus (DM) (P=0.147), hypertension (HT) (P=0.074), cerebrovascular accident (CVA) (P=0.877), chronic renal failure (CRF) (P=0.162), peripheral arterial disease (PAD) (P=0.074), and left heart failure (LHF) (patients with left ventricle ejection fraction \leq 30% in transthoracic echocardiography) (P=0.987). However, among those with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), male patients had a significantly higher incidence of DVT compared to female patients (P=0.024). There was no

statistically significant difference between inpatient males and females (P=0.209).

The mean BMI of females and males were 29.2 (5.3) kg/m² and 26.7 (3.6) kg/m² respectively, (P<0.001) (Table 1).

Based on the data derived from TUSI, the overall incidence of DVT in Yozgat was one per 1000 persons-year, which was similar with the literature. DVT incidence increased with age and accelerated substantially especially above the age of 40 (Table 2).

DVT incidence was slightly higher among the female population (1:1000 persons/year vs 0.9:1000 persons/year) (*P*=0.924).

Table 1: Demographic data of DVT patients

Table 1: Demographic dat	a of DVT patients	
	n (%)	P-value
Age		
Female	51 (2.3)	0.501
Male	54 (3.6)	
Gender		
Female	695 (54)	0.924
Male	592 (46)	
Inpatient		
Female	96 (7)	0.209
Male	68 (5)	
DM		
Female	184 (14)	0.147
Male	136 (11)	
HT		
Female	206 (16)	0.074
Male	203 (16)	
COPD		
Female	33 (3)	0.024
Male	46 (4)	
CVA		
Female	27 (2)	0.877
Male	24 (2)	
CRF		
Female	11 (1)	0.162
Male	16(1)	
PAD		
Female	35 (3)	0.074
Male	44 (3)	
LHF		
Female	53 (4)	0.987
Male	45 (3)	
Major surgery history		
Female	61 (5)	0.749
Male	55 (4)	
Malignancy		
Female	86 (7)	0.812
Male	79 (6)	
Immobility		
Female	176 (14)	0.629
Male	154 (12)	
BMI		
Female	29.2 (5.3) kg/m ²	0.001
Male	26,7 (3,6) kg/m ²	
DVT incidence		
Female	1/1000	0.924
Male	0.9/1000	

DVT: Deep vein thrombosis, DM: Diabetes mellitus, HT: Hypertension, COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, CVA: Cerebrovascular accident, CRF: Chronic renal failure, PAD: Peripheral arterial disease, LHF: Left heart failure, BMI: Body mass index

Table 2: The distribution of DVT patients above 15 years of age in terms of age and gender according to the data derived from address-based population registration system of TUSI 2016

	The distribution of population over the age of 15 according to the data derived from address-based population registration system of TUSI 2016 (n/%)	The distribution of DVT patients above the age of 15 in terms of age and gender (n) - 4 years	The distribution of DVT patients above the age of 15 in terms of age and gender (Mean person/year)
The age of 15-39	157.455 / 47.9%	131	2/10000
Male	80.838 / 51.3%	58	1.7/10000
Female	76.617 / 48.7%	73	2.2/10000
The age of 40-49	49.879/ 15.2%	296	1.4/1000
Male	25.254/ 50.6%	136	1.3/1000
Female	24.625/49.4%	163	1.6/1000
The age of 50-59	48.761/ 14.8%	302	1.5/1000
Male	24.255/ 49.7%	145	1.5/1000
Female	24.506/ 50.3%	157	1.6/1000
The age of 60-69	40.335/ 12.3%	293	1.8/1000
Male	19.326/ 47.9%	132	1.7/1000
Female	21.009/ 52.1%	161	19/1000
Above the age of 70	32.464/ 9.9%	265	2/1000
Male	13.843/ 42.6%	123	2.2/1000
Female	18.621/47.4%	142	1.9/1000
Summary	328.894/ 100%	1287	1/1000
Male	163.516/ 49.7%	592	0.9/1000
Female	165.378/ 50.3%	695	1/1000
TUSI: Turkish Statistic	al Institute DVT: Deen vein th	rombosis	

USI: Turkish Statistical Institute, DVT: Deep vein thrombosis

Table 3: Characteristics of 1287 patients with DVT

JOSAM

	Idiopathic, n (%)	Secondary, n (%)	Total, n (%)
DVT	676 (53)	611 (47	1287 (100)
Female	372 (55)	323 (52)	695 (54)
Male	304 (45)	288 (48)	592 (46)
Median Age			
Female	52 (1.8)	50 (2.6)	51 (2.3)
Male	54 (2.6)	53 (3.7)	54 (3.6)
Location			
DVT Upper Extremity	6(1)	11 (2)	17(1)
DVT Abdominal	4(1)	7 (1)	11(1)
DVT Lower Extremity			
Proximal	452 (67)	421 (69)	873 (68)
Distal	214 (31)	172 (28)	386 (30)

Discussion

The annual cost of DVT and related complications in United States of America (USA) is about 7.5-39.5 billion American dollars and the preventable amount of this cost is about 2.5-19.5 billion American dollars [11-13]. It is possible to prevent one of every six-thromboembolic events with appropriate prophylactic treatment, which is administered to less than 55% of the patients eligible for prophylaxis [14-15].

The incidence of DVT is one per 1000 person-year [4,7,8,14]. In our study, the incidence of DVT in Yozgat was found to be the same with the literature.

There are various risk factors affecting the development of DVT. Advanced age is one of the most important independent risk factors of DVT. DVT is rarely observed under the age of 20 but the incidence starts increasing, particularly above the age of 40 [4-8]. The annual incidence of DVT in terms of age are 2-3 per 10000 persons-year (30-49 years of age), 5 per 10000 persons-year (50-59 years of age), 10 per 10000 persons-year (60-69 years of age) and 20 per 10000 persons-year (70-79 years of age) [4-6,8]. In an extended research of DVT patients conducted in 50 States and 400 hospitals in the USA between 1979 and 1999, Stein et al reported that the incidence of DVT above the age of 70 was 4 times higher than that under the age of 50 [16]. In our study, the incidence of DVT under the age of 40 was found to be two per 10000 persons-year, and showed an increase after the age of 40, reaching two per 1000 persons-year above the age of 70.

DVT incidence in reproductive females might be slightly higher than males but would even out after menopause. However, the overall DVT incidence in terms of gender is reported as 1.3 per 1000 persons-year among males and 1.1 per 1000 persons-year among females [4,7-10,17,18]. In this study, DVT incidence was found as 1 per 1000 persons-year among females and 0.9 per 1000 persons-year among males. Although it was not meaningful statistically, this result was different from the literature as being higher in female population.

Obesity is defined as BMI \geq 30 kg/m² and morbid obesity, as BMI \geq 40 kg/m². It is a major but preventable risk factor of DVT development. Obesity increases the risk of DVT development 2-3-fold, which is further escalated in morbid obese persons [19]. According to the data derived from TUSI 2014, in Turkey, the overall obesity rate among the general population above the age of 15 was 19.9%, 15.9% among males and 24.5% among females. In our study conducted in Yozgat, the mean BMI values of females and males were 29.2 (5.3) kg/m², and 26.7 (3.6) kg/m² respectively, the difference between which was statistically significant. According to the data of TUSI 2016, in the region consisting of Yozgat, Sivas and Kayseri, the labor-force participation rates of females and males were 28% and 49.6%, respectively. The number of females participating the labor-force is nearly the half of the male population in Central Anatolia Region, bringing forth a sedentary lifestyle, which would inevitably contribute to obesity development. Due to both high obesity and low labor-force participation rates of female population living in Yozgat, DVT incidence is higher in females than in males.

Although the physiomechanism has not been described properly, geographic circumstances have a considerable effect on DVT incidence. DVT is observed less in the seaside in comparison with inland [20,21]. Due to the harder environmental conditions, DVT incidence is observed 10-15% times higher in winter [22]. Given these circumstances, Yozgat has additional risk factors of DVT development, since it is away from the seaside with compelling winter conditions and a high altitude. That is why further larger-scale and comparative studies would provide more reliable and beneficial results.

COPD is a disease with acute exacerbations, most of which are related to infections. COPD is usually observed in advanced ages and is due to the lack of adequate mobilization and a strong history of tobacco consumption [23,24]. In a research conducted by Chen CY et al, the overall incidence rate of DVT was higher in patients with COPD, with 18.78 events per 10,000 persons-years [25]. In our study, male patients with COPD showed a significantly higher rate of DVT incidence in comparison with female patients with COPD. The higher rates of tobacco consumption starting from the childhood years among the male population might have been effective on this result. There was no statistically meaningful difference between male and female DVT patients in terms of other concomitant diseases.

Limitations

The main limitation of our study is misdiagnosed or undiagnosed DVT cases. Sometimes DVT, especially those with an atypical clinical progress, can be misdiagnosed and treated as soft tissue injury, myalgia, or orthopedic problems, etc. The thrombosis of gastrocnemius and soleus deep veins are responsible of approximately 60% of mid-calf deep vein thrombosis cases, which are reported as normal venous anatomy with CDUS.

Conclusion

DVT is a multifactorial disease capable of serious morbid or mortal complications. However, with proper precautions it is possible to prevent a remarkable amount of DVT cases and related complications. Thus, studies that consider the sociocultural, socioeconomic, and geographic data would provide more realistic results in terms of prevention and treatment of DVT and related complications.

References

- Goldhaber SZ. Venous thromboembolism: Epidemiology and magnitude of the problem. Best Practice & Research Clinical Haematology 2012;25:235–42.
 Albay A, Kanatsız B, Platin AR, Çakır HS, Oludağ G, Basat S. A case of Behcet's disease with upper extremity
- Albay A, Kanatsız B, Platin AR, Çakır HS, Oludağ G, Basat S. A case of Behcet's disease with upper extremity thrombosis. J Surg Med. 2018;2(1):35-7. doi: 10.28982/josam.358749.
- Polat A, Ketenciler S, Yücel C, Boyacioğlu K, Akdemir İ, Kük ZG, et al. Accelerated catheter-directed thrombolytic treatment in deep venous thrombosis: mid-term results. Turk Gogus Kalp Damar. 2015;23(3):485-92.
- Fowkes FJ, Price JF, Fowkes FGR. Incidence of Diagnosed Deep Vein Thrombosis in the General Population: Systematic Review. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2003 Jan;25(1):1-5.
 Hansson PO, Welin L, Tibblin G, Eriksson H. Deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism in the general
- Hansson PO, Welin L, Tibblin G, Eriksson H. Deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism in the general population. The study of men born in 1913. Arch Int Med. 1997;157:1665-70.

- Kniffin WD Jr, Baron JA, Barrett J, Birkmeyer JD, Anderson FA Jr. The epidemiology of diagnosed pulmonary embolism and deep venous thrombosis in the elderly. Arch Int Med. 1994;154:861-6.
 Silverstein MD, Heit JA, Mohr DN, Petterson TM, O'Fallon WM, Melton LJ 3rd. Trends in the incidence of
- deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism. A 25-year population-based study. Arch Int Med. 1998;158:585-93.
- Oger E. Incidence of venous thromboembolism: A community-based study in Western France. Thromb and Haemost. 2000;83:657-60.
- NordstroÈm M, Lindblad B, Bergqvist D, KjellstroÈm T. A prospective study of the incidence of deep vein thrombosis within a defined urban population. J Int Med. 1992;232:155-60.
- Nylander G, Olivecrona H. The phlebographic pattern of acute leg thrombosis within a defined urban population. Acta Chir Scand. 1976;142:505-11.
- 11. Kahn SR. Frequency and determinants of the posttrombotik syndrome after venous thromboembolism. Current Opinion in Pulmonary Medicine. 2006;12:299–303.
- Ruppert A, Steinle T, Lees M. Economic burden of venous thromboembolism: A systematic review. Journal of Medical Economics. 2011;14:65-74.
 Mahan CE, Holdsworth MT, Welch SM, Borrego M, Spyropoulos AC. Deep-vein thrombosis: A United States
- Mahan CE, Holdsworth MI, Welch SM, Borrego M, Spyropoulos AC. Deep-vein thrombosis: A United States cost model for a preventable and costly adverse event. Thromb Haemost. 2011;106(3):405-15.
- 14. Okuhara A, Navarro TP, Procópio RJ, Bernardes Rde C, Oliveira Lde C, Nishiyama MP. Incidence of deep vein thrombosis and quality of venous thromboembolism prophylaxis. Rev Col Bras Cir. 2014;41(1):2-6.
- Caprini JA, Tapson VF, Hyers TM, Waldo AL, Wittkowsky AK, Friedman R, et al. Treatment of venous thromboembolism: adherence to guidelines and impact of physician knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs. J Vasc Surg. 2005;42(4):726-33.
- 16.Stein PD, Hull RD, Kayali F, Ghali WA, Alshab AK, Olson RE. Venous thromboembolism according to age: The impact of an aging population. Archives of Internal Medicine. 2004;164:2260–5.
- 17. Anderson FA Jr, Wheeler HB, Goldberg RJ, Hosmer DW, Patwardhan NA, Jovanovic B. A population-based perspective of the hospital incidence and case-fatality rates of deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism. The Worcester DVT Study. Arch Intern Med. 1991;151:933–8.
- Cushman M, Glynn RJ, Goldhaber SZ, Moll S, Bauer KA, Deitcher S, et al. Hormonal factors and risk of recurrent venous thrombosis: the prevention of recurrent venous thromboembolism. Journal of thrombosis and Haemostasis: 2006;42:199-203.
- Klovaite J, Benn M, Nordestgaard BG. Obesity as a causal risk factor for deep venous thrombosis: A Mendelian randomization study. J Intern Med. 2015;277(5):573-84.
- 20. Cushman M. Epidemiology and Risk Factors for Venous Thrombosis. Semin Hematol. 2007;44(2):62-9.
- White RH, Zhou H, Murin S, Harvey D. Effect of ethnicity and gender on the incidence of venous thromboembolism in a diverse population in California in 1996. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis. 2005;93:298–305.
- 22. Bounameaux H, Hicklin L, Desmarais S. Seasonal variation in deep vein thrombosis. BMJ. 1996;312(7040):1227.
- 23. Shapira-Rootman M, Beckerman M, Soimu U, Nachtigal A, Zeina AR. The prevalence of pulmonary embolism among patients suffering from acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Emerg Radiol. 2015;22:257–60.
- 24. Bahloul M, Chaari A, Tounsi A, Baccouche N, Abid H, Chtara K, et al. Incidence and impact outcome of pulmonary embolism in critically ill patients with severe exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases. Clin Respir J. 2015;9:270–7.
- Chen CY, Liao KM. The Incidence of Deep Vein Thrombosis in Asian Patients With Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. Medicine (Baltimore). 2015;94(44):e1741.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Suggested citation: Patrias K. Citing medicine: the NLM style guide for authors, editors, and publishers [Internet]. 2nd ed. Wendling DL, technical editor. Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US); 2007-[updated 2015 Oct 2; cited Year Month Day]. Available from: http://www.nlm.nih.gov/citingmedicine

Journal of Surgery and Medicine

The effects of ozone therapy on postoperative adhesions and ovarian functions: An experimental study

Ozon terapinin postoperatif adezyon ve over fonksiyonları üzerindeki etkisi: Deneysel bir çalışma

Rulin Deniz¹, Yakup Baykus¹, Muhammet Bora Uzuner², Yasemen Adalı³

¹ Kafkas University School of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Kars, Turkey ² Kafkas University School of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Kars, Turkey ³ 18 Mart University, Faculty of Medicine, Department

of Pathology, Canakkale, Turkey

ORCID ID of the author(s)

RD: 0000-0002-7306-8212

YB: 0000-0001-5730-8477 MBU: 0000-0001-6557-3086

YA: 0000-0002-8004-7364

Abstract

Aim: Numerous methods are used to prevent the development of postoperative adhesion formation. There are few studies on the effects of ozone therapy on postoperative intraabdominal adhesions and ovarian functions. This study aimed to investigate the effects of ozone treatment on postoperative intraabdominal adhesions and ovarian roles in rats.

Methods: Twenty female Wistar albino rats were randomly allocated into two groups as laparotomy (Group 1, n: 10) and laparotomy + intraperitoneal ozone (Group 2, n: 10). After laparotomy, parietal peritoneum, uterus and adnexal surfaces were scraped in both groups Follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), Estradiol (E2), Lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH), Urea, and Creatinine levels were measured, and histopathological evaluation was performed. Both groups were compared concerning histopathological and biochemical findings.

Results: In the ozone-treated group, antioxidant levels (P=0.012) were significantly higher, and E2 levels (P=0.005) were substantially lower than the control group. There was no statistically significant difference between the two groups regarding FSH, Urea, Creatinine, and LDH (P=0.12, P=0.72, P=0.45, and P=0.79, respectively). Histopathologically, postoperative intraabdominal adhesion rates between the two groups were statistically similar.

Conclusion: Although there was no statistically significant difference, ozone therapy had a decreasing effect on severe fibrosis and congestion rates. Although there was no difference in FSH, low levels of E2 in Group 2 suggest that ozone treatment may have a protective effect on the ovaries. However, further studies are needed concerning adhesion formation and the impact on ovarian functions.

Keywords: Rats, Ozone, Adhesion

Öz

Amaç: Postoperatif adezyon gelişiminin önlenmesi için çok sayıda yöntem kullanılmaktadır. Ozon tedavisinin postoperatif batın içi adezvonlar ve over fonksivonlari üzerine etkileriyle ilgili literatürde az sayıda calısma meycuttur. Bu calısma, ozon tedavisinin ratlarda postoperatif batın içi adezyonlar ve over fonksiyonları açısından etkilerini araştırmayı amaçlamıştır.

Yöntemler: Yirmi adet dişi Wistar albino rat, laparotomi (Grup 1, n:10) ve laparotomi + intraperitoneal ozon (Grup 2, n:10) olacak sekilde rastgele iki gruba avrıldı. Laparotomi sonrası her iki grupta parietal periton, uterus ve adneksival vüzevler kazındı. Folikül uyarıcı hormon (FSH), Estradiol (E2) ve Laktat Dehidrojenaz (LDH), Üre ve Kreatinin seviyeleri ölcüldü, histopatolojik değerlendirme yapıldı. Her iki grup histopatolojik ve biyokimyasal bulgular açısından karşılaştırıldı.

Bulgular: Ozon tedavi grubunda antioksidan seviyeleri (P=0,012), kontrol grubuna göre anlamlı derecede yüksek, E2 seviyeleri (P=0,005) ise anlamlı derecede düşük bulundu. İki grup arasında FSH, Üre, Kreatinin, LDH açısından istatistiksel olarak anlamlı fark bulunmadı (sırasıyla P=0,12, P=0,72, P=0,45, P=0,79). Histopatolojik olarak her iki grup arasında postoperatif intraabdominal adezyon oranları istatistiksel olarak benzer saptandı.

Sonuç: Her ne kadar istatistiksel olarak anlamlı fark olmasa da ozon terapinin şiddetli fibrozis ve konjesyon oranlarında azaltıcı etkisinin olduğu tespit edildi. FSH açısından fark bulunmasa da Grup2'de E2 seviyelerinin düşük tespit edilmesi, ozon tedavisinin over fonksiyonları üzerinde koruyucu etki oluşturabileceğini akla getirmektedir. Ancak adezyon oluşumu ve over fonksiyonları üzerindeki etkiler acısından daha kapsamlı calısmalara ihtiyac vardır.

Anahtar kelimeler: Rat, Ozon, Adezyon

Corresponding author/Sorumlu vazar: Yakup Baykuş Address/Adres: Kafkas Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Kadın Hastalıkları ve Doğum Anabilim Dalı, Merkez, Kars, Türkiye e-Mail: dryakup01@hotmail.com

Ethics Committee Approval: Kafkas University Animal Experiments Local Ethics Committee, Decision No: 115, Approval Date: 27/10/2016. Etik Kurul Onayı: Kafkas Üniversitesi Hayvan Deneyleri Yerel Etik Kurulu, Karar No: 115, Onay Tarihi: 27/10/2016.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/31/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 31.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s)

Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives License 40 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



How to cite/Attf icin: Deniz R, Baykus Y, Uzuner MB, Adalı Y. The effects of ozone therapy on postoperative adhesions and ovarian functions: An experimental study. J Surg Med. 2020;4(1):66-70.

(JOSAM)

Introduction

Adhesions in the peritoneum are abnormal bonds emerging between the omentum, bowel loops, and the abdominal wall [1]. The etiology of peritoneal adhesions can be either congenital or acquired; among the acquired reasons are inflammatory events and surgical interventions [2]. Although almost 90-95% of the intra-abdominal adhesions develop after surgery, this debilitating process can also be expected after an intra-abdominal inflammatory process such as pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), diverticulitis, or spontaneous bacterial peritonitis [3-5].

Trauma to the peritoneal epithelium is blamed as the primary mechanism of adhesion formation, results in fibrin matrix accumulation in the damaged intra-abdominal planes. As a fibrinolytic agent, plasmin is not sufficient to prevent the process after surgery. Thus, the degradation collected deposits convert eventually to adhesions [3]. Diamond et al. [6], categorize peritoneal adhesions as two distinct forms. Type 1 entities involve adhesions at sites without any previous adhesions. They include type 1A without any past operative procedures at the area of the problem and type 1B with some preceding operative procedures at the zone of adhesions. Surgeons define adhesions depending on personal factors based on individual experiences and proficiency [7].

Peritoneal adhesions can be associated with many diseases ranging from enduring abdominal pain to infertility [8]. One of the most prevalent ailments observed is incomplete or complete bowel obstruction, which is usually located in the small bowel area. Almost 79% of the intestinal obstructions are due to post-surgical procedures [9].

Many studies have investigated the formation of peritoneal adhesions. However, there is no particular approach to prevent their development; there are controversies regarding the usefulness of the current preventive methods. Additionally, the majority of research concentrates on gynecological cases. Thus, there is a need for trustworthy recommendations and guidelines for patients receiving abdominal surgical interventions [10].

Researchers have investigated many agents for the prevention of post-surgical peritoneal adhesions. The main strategies in this effort were concerning fibrinolysis, coagulation, inflammation, collagen synthesis, or creating barriers between wound surfaces. The preventive approaches included mechanical barrier such as crystalloids, dextran, hyaluronic acid, cellulose, polytetrafluoroethylene, pure olive and and chemical agents such as non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medications, corticosteroids, calcium channel blockers, histamine antagonists, antibiotics, fibrinolytic substances, anticoagulants, antioxidants, hormones, vitamins, colchicine, and selective immunosuppressors [10,11].

Postoperative adhesions frequently develop after surgical procedures, and they most commonly affect the ovaries [5]. It was demonstrated that the reduction of adhesion reformation is more challenging than the prevention of adhesion formation, which can cause infertility [12].

Ozone (O_3) is a colorless gas, consisting of three oxygen atoms and a characteristic odor at room temperature [13]. Medical ozone is always used as a combination of ozone and oxygen with a concentration of 1 to 100 µg/ml (0.05–5 O_3). Besides its bactericidal, fungicidal, virostatic, and antioxidant properties, ozone improves blood circulation and activates the immune system [13]. Ozone therapy (OT) is widely used in medicine, such as for cardiovascular diseases, subcutaneous tissues, peripheral vascular diseases, neurological diseases, head and neck problems, as well as ailments of the orthopedic, gastrointestinal, or genitourinary systems [13]. However, few studies investigated the effects of ozone treatment on preventing postoperative intraabdominal adhesions [14].

Biochemical and histopathological findings suggest that ozone is effective against ovarian ischemia/reperfusion injury [15]. Ozone therapy could have beneficial effect on tubal occlusion, could protect from endometritis and vaginitis, might protect ovaries from ischemia and oocyte loss, and finally might lead to less formation of pelvic adhesions [16].

We hypothesized that ozone can prevent postoperative adhesion formation by preventing tissue damage caused by surgical interventions. Especially its antioxidant effects may help to obtain the desired results for a new clinical use. Thus, this study aimed to investigate the effects of ozone treatment on postoperative intraabdominal adhesions and ovarian roles in rats.

Materials and methods

Study design

The study was conducted in experimental design, at the operating room and research laboratories of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine of Kafkas University between October and December 2016. Study reporting was done per the PREPARE guideline [17]. The study protocol was approved by the Kafkas University Animal Experiments Local Ethics Committee (IRB number:115, Date: 10/27/2016). The rats received appropriate care per the institution's guidelines, as described in the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals of the National Institutes of Health.

Twenty female Wistar rats weighing 200–240 g (4–6 months old, obtained from Atatürk University Experimental Animal Production and Research Center, Erzurum, Turkey), were used in the study.

Before commencing the experiment, the rats were fed with standard rat food and water as needed and housed in animal cages with controlled temperature and alternating 12h light/dark cycle for one week. They were randomly divided into two groups containing ten rats each: sham and OT groups. The sham group received no treatment in the postoperative period, while the OT group received ozone treatment as described below. The primary outcome variables of the study were the severity of inflammation and fibrosis in the endometrium and cervix.

The procedure

After general anesthesia, induced by 50 mg/kg ketamine (Ketalar; Parke Davis, Eczacıbaşı, Istanbul, Turkey), and 10 mg/kg xylazine (Rompun; Bayer AG, Leverkusen, Germany) (Figure 1), the abdominal area was shaved and disinfected with iodine. Under sterile conditions, the abdomen was opened with a 3cm incision at the midline (Figure 2). Then, laparotomy was performed on the parietal peritoneum, the surface of the uterus was scraped, and the abdomen was sutured according to the anatomical layers with 4/0 polyglycolic acid suture materials (Vicryl, Ethicon, Somerville, NJ). Right after closing the JOSAM)

abdomen, an ozone/oxygen mixture at a dose of 0.7 mg/kg was applied intraperitoneally once-a-day for consecutive 4 days, followed by a total of 8 doses of weekly intraperitoneal ozone. Later, all animals were put in a warm incubator at 33 C for two hours. After 2h, they were returned to their cages, where clear water was given as needed for 24h. Then, the animals were fed standard rat food and water ad libitum. Two months later, the rats were sacrificed by cervical dislocation.



Figure 1: Administration of general anesthesia



Figure 2: The surgical procedure

Ozone therapy

Ozone was produced by an ozone generator (Ozonosan Photonic 1014; Hansler GmbH, Iffezheim, Germany), permitting control of the gas flow rate and ozone concentration in real-time by a built-in UV spectrometer. The ozone flow rate was preserved at 3 L/min, representing a concentration of 60 mg/mL with a gas mixture of 97% oxygen+3% ozone. Tygon polymer tubes and single-use silicon-treated, ozone-resistant polypropylene syringes were used throughout the reaction to guarantee ozone containment and sustained concentrations.

Blood and tissue sampling

Blood samples were collected from sacrificed rats in the sham and OT groups. Antioxidant (Mm), follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) (ng/mL), estradiol (E2) (ng/mL), urea (mg/dL), creatinine (mg/dL), and lactate dehydrogenase LDH (U/L) levels were measured.

The abdomen was re-opened to obtain tissue samples. The uterus, tubes, and ovaries were harvested and stowed at - 80 C until histopathological examination. The tissues were homogenized in phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) employing a homogenizer (Heidolph Diax 900; Heidolph Elektro GmbH, Kelhaim, Germany) on an ice cube. The homogenized tissues were centrifuged at 7530xg in 4 C for 10 minutes.

Variables

The primary outcome variables of the study were the severity (mild/moderate/severe) of inflammation and fibrosis in the endometrium and cervix. The secondary outcome variables were the macroscopic appearance of tuba, ovary, and intraabdominal adipose tissues. The independent study variable was study groups (sham and OT).

Statistical analysis

Data was entered into the computer and analyzed using the SPSS 25.0 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The findings were presented as frequencies, percentages, median, and Interquartile range (IQR). The normal distribution of the numerical data was analyzed by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The homogeneity of the variances was examined by the Levene's test. For the comparison of sham and OT groups, the independent samples Mann-Whitney U test was used for antioxidant, FSH, E2, urea, creatinine, and LDH levels, while the Fisher's Exact Test was used for comparing the severity of inflammation, congestion, and fibrosis. All hypotheses were two-sided, and a P-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Biochemical results

On the 19^{th} day in the ozone-treated group and on the 11^{th} day in the sham group, one rat died. Data of 9 rats in the ozone group and 9 in the sham group were analyzed. Antioxidant levels were significantly higher in the ozone group (median: 4.12, IQR: 0.93) than in the sham group (median: 2.86, IQR: 1.05) (Z=2.517, P=0.01). E2 levels were significantly lower in the ozone group (median: 108.96, IQR: 8.80) than in the sham group (median: 127.64, IQR: 17.77) (Z=2.782, P=0.005). There was no statistical difference between the other blood values between the groups (P>0.05). The comparison of biochemical blood values in the ozone and sham groups is given in Table 1.

Histological results

No statistically significant difference was found between the severity of congestion, inflammation, and fibrosis in the endometrium, cervix, and ovaries, in the ozone-treated and sham groups (P>0.05) (Table 2). Histological demonstrations of endometrium and cervix are shown in Figure 3A-D.

The appearance of all tubes was normal. Intraabdominal adipose tissues in the ozone and sham groups looked similar.

Table 1: Comparison of biochemical blood values in the ozone-treated and sham groups

		C	Broups			
	Ozone the	rapy	Sham			
	Median	IQR	Median	IQR	Z	P-value
Antioxidant (Mm)	4.12	0.93	2.86	1.05	2.52	0.012
FSH (ng/mL)	68.42	9.61	63.12	22.08	1.55	0.12
E2 (ng/mL)	108.96	8.80	127.64	17.77	2.78	0.005
Urea (mg/dL)	38.00	7.50	38.00	9.50	0.36	0.72
Creatinine (mg/dL)	0.50	0.08	0.47	0.04	0.75	0.45
LDH (U/L)	884.00	254.50	868.00	117.00	0.265	0.79
IOR: Interquartile range						

Table 2: Comparison of inflammation, congestion, and fibrosis of tissues of ozone therapy, and sham groups

		Groups					
		Ozone therapy		Sha	m		
		n	%	n	%	P-value*	
Endometrial inflammation	Mild	0	0.0	3	33.3	0.37	
	Moderate	7	77.8	5	55.6		
	Severe	2	22.2	1	11.1	0.00	
Endometrial congestion	Mild	6	66.7	2	22.2	0.26	
	Moderate Severe	1	11.1 22.2	3	33.3 44.4		
Endometrial fibrosis	Mild	2 5	22.2 55.6	4	44.4 44.4	0.69	
Endometrial fibrosis	Moderate	3	33.3	4 2	44.4 22.2	0.69	
	Severe	1	33.3 11.1	3	33.3		
Cervical inflammation	Mild	7	77.8	3	33.3	0.23	
Cervical inflation	Moderate	1	11.1	3	33.3	0.25	
	Severe	1	11.1	3	33.3		
Cervical fibrosis	Mild	5	55.6	4	44.4	0.69	
Cervical horosis	Moderate	3	33.3	2	22.2	0.09	
	Severe	1	11.1	3	33.3		
Ovarian congestion	Mild	3	33.3	5	55.6	0.35	
ovarian congestion	Moderate	0	0.0	1	11.1	0.35	
	Normal	6	66.7	3	33.3		
* Fisher's Exact Test		10		5	2010		


Figure 3A: Endometrial vascular congestion (black arrows) in SHAM group, H&E-100x



Figure 3B: Endometrial inflammation (white arrows) and fibrosis (black arrow) in the adhesion group, H&E- $100 \mathrm{x}$



Figure 3C: Cervical inflammation (white arrows) in SHAM group, H&E- 100x,



Figure 3D: Cervical inflammation (white arrows) and fibrosis (black arrow) in the adhesion group, H&E- 100 x

Discussion

Our results showed significantly higher antioxidant levels in the OT group compared to the sham group. However, the E2 levels were meaningfully lower in the OT group. A recent study reported that SOD, CAT, and GPx activities increased, and MDA levels decreased in the ozone group [18]. These results suggest that ozone increases plasma antioxidant levels by triggering various biochemical pathways. Therefore, it is stated that ozone therapy can have positive impacts on preventing intraabdominal adhesions. In a study conducted in rats, it was reported that ozone exposure caused immunohistochemical staining for alpha and beta estrogen receptors, and dopamine beta-hydroxylase was reduced as were alpha and beta estrogen receptor protein levels [19]. Although ozone therapy is used in a broad spectrum of medical specialties [14], it is noteworthy that its effects on reproductive hormones have been under-examined.

JOSAM

Postoperative intraabdominal adhesion rates of the OT and sham groups were similar. A study conducted by Uysal et al. [14] reported that medical ozone treatment decreases postoperative uterine adhesions. Di Filippo et al. [20] reported the reduced formation of postoperative peritoneal adhesions after application of 300 Mm/kg ozone, associated with decreased levels of ubiquitin and 20S proteasome subunit within the adhered tissues.

Many agents were studied for their potential effects in preventing post-surgical peritoneal adhesions. The sought roles of these substances in achieving fibrinolysis, hindering coagulation, decreasing the inflammatory response, constraining collagen synthesis, or creating a boundary between neighboring wound surfaces. The preventive approaches are grouped into four categories: general principles, surgical techniques, mechanical barriers, and chemical agents [10]. Nonetheless, none of these methods were proven effective under all circumstances [21].

Our interpretations of this study confirmed that ozone improved oxidative stress and peritoneal adhesion formation in rats, which underwent a post-surgical experimental adhesion procedure. A possible explanation for the favorable effects of ozone is its modulation of oxidative and anti-oxidative status by stimulating endogenous superoxide dismutase (SOD) and glutathione peroxidase (GPX) [22-25]. In fact, the antioxidant effects of ozone administration are already proven in different organs such as the kidneys [24], esophagus [26], and intestines [27].

E2 levels in this study were significantly lower in the ozone group compared to the sham group. Although no studies could be retrieved concerning the effects of ozone, E2, and the ovaries, theoretically, hormonal alterations may be expected after procedures affecting the ovaries [28]. However, the connection of ozone treatment and decreased E2 levels in cases with peritoneal adhesions remains obscure.

Limitations

Our study has some limitations. The sample size is quite small. There are no human studies on the subject. In addition, our study is an experimental study and the follow-up period of the study was short.

Conclusion

Considering that the rate of endometrial and cervical fibrosis in our study was around 44%, it can be concluded that ozone application in postoperative intraabdominal adhesion is better than other methods, except for surgical treatment. Consequently, OT considerably prevents postoperative intraabdominal adhesions in the experimental rat model. Thus, it seems logical that OT might be an add-on therapeutic modality in the prevention of postoperative intraabdominal adhesions. Nevertheless, further experimental, as well as clinical studies, are needed to determine the possible side effects and long-term consequences before safely suggesting the use of ozone in the prevention of adhesions in humans.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Assistant Professor Dr. Fatih Kara for evaluating the biochemical parameters.

References

- Arung W, Meurisse M, Detry O. Pathophysiology and prevention of postoperative peritoneal adhesions. World J Gastroenterol. 2011;17:545-53.
- Ellis H. The clinical significance of adhesions: focus on intestinal obstruction. Eur J Surg Suppl. 1997;577:5-9.
 Okabayashi K, Ashrafian H, Zacharakis E, Hasegawa H, Kitagawa Y, Athanasiou T, et al. Adhesions after abdominal surgery: a systematic review of the incidence, distribution and severity. Surg Today. 2014;44:405-20
- Zu.
 Diamond MP, Freeman ML. Clinical implications of postsurgical adhesions. Hum Reprod Update. 2001;7:567-
- To Diamond MP. Reduction of postoperative adhesion development. Fertil Steril. 2016;106:994-7.
- Diamond MP, Wexner SD, diZereg GS, Korell M, Zmora O, Van Goor H, et al. Adhesion prevention and reduction: current status and future recommendations of a multinational interdisciplinary consensus conference. Surg Innov. 2010;17:183-88.
- Gupta J. Chronic pelvic pain. In: Edmonds DK, Lees C, Bourne TH, Eds: Dewhurst's Textbook of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. Wiley: Blackwell; 2018. pp. 744-52.
- Gomez-Gil V, Garcia-Honduvilla N, Pascual G, Rodriguez M, Bujan J, Bellon JM. Peritoneal adhesion formation and reformation tracked by sequential laparoscopy: optimizing the time point for adhesiolysis. Surgery. 2010;147:378-91.
- Wilson MS, Ellis H, Menzies D, Moran BJ, Parker MC, Thompson JN. A review of the management of small bowel obstruction. Members of the Surgical and Clinical Adhesions Research Study (SCAR). Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 1999;81:320-8.
- 10.Schnuriger B, Barmparas G, Branco BC, Lustenberger T, Inaba K, Demetriades D. Prevention of postoperative peritoneal adhesions: a review of the literature. Am J Surg. 2010;201:111-21.
- 11.11.Ural DA, Saruhan H, Saygin İ, Aykan DA, Ural A, İmamoğlu M. Long-term outcomes of pure olive oil to prevent postoperative peritoneal adhesions in rats. J Surg Med. 2019;3:218-22.
- 12. diZerega GS. Contemporary adhesion prevention. Fertil Steril. 1994;61:219-35.
- 13.Smith NL, Wilson AL, Gandhi J, Vatsia S, Khan SA. Ozone therapy: an overview of pharmacodynamics, current research, and clinical utility. Med Gas Res. 2017;7:212-9.
- 14. Uysal B, Demirbag S, Poyrazoglu Y, Cayci T, Yesildaglar N, Guven A, et al. Medical ozone therapy decreases postoperative uterine adhesion formation in rats. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2012;286:1201-7.
- Sayar I, Bicer S, Gursul C, Gurbuzel M, Peker K, Isik A. Protective effects of ellagic acid and ozone on rat ovaries with an ischemia/reperfusion injury. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2016;42:52-8.
 Merhi Z, Garg B, Moseley-LaRue R, Moseley AR, Smith AH, Zhang J. Ozone therapy: a potential therapeutic
- Memi Z, Garg B, Moseley-Larkue K, Moseley AK, Simur AH, Zhang J. Ozone merapy: a potential inerapeutic adjunct for improving female reproductive health. Med Gas Res. 2019;9: 101–5.
 Smith AJ, Clutton RE, Lilley E, Hansen KEA, Brattelid T. PREPARE: guidelines for planning animal research
- Chillow RE, Liney E, Hansen KEA, Bratteniu T, PKEPAKE: guidelines for planning animal research and testing. Lab Anim. 2018;52:135-41.
 Chille D, Villeine JD, Schleiche L, Asulia MA, Damin N, Numeratarding Efforts of Occup. Theorem Abuse
- Ogut E, Yildirim FB, Sarikcioglu L, Aydin MA, Demir N. Neuroprotective Effects of Ozone Therapy After Sciatic Nerve Cut Injury. Kurume Med J. 2020;65:137-44.
- Guevara-Guzman R, Arriaga V, Kendrick KM, Bernal C, Vega X, Mercado-Gomez OF, et al. Estradiol prevents ozone-induced increases in brain lipid peroxidation and impaired social recognition memory in female rats. Neuroscience. 2009;159:940-50.
- 20.Di Filippo C, Capuano A, Rinaldi B, Luongo M, Lettieri B, Rossi F, et al. Intraperitoneal oxygen/ozone treatment decreases the formation of experimental postsurgical peritoneal adhesions and the levels/activity of the local ubiquitin-proteasome system. Mediators Inflamm. 2011;606718.
- Lalountas MA, Ballas KD, Skouras C, Asteriou C, Kontoulis T, Pissas D, et al. Preventing intraperitoneal adhesions with atorvastatin and sodium hyaluronate/carboxymethylcellulose: a comparative study in rats. Am J Surg. 2010;200:118-23.
- 22. Bocci VA. Scientific and medical aspects of ozone therapy. State of the art. Arch Med Res. 2006;37:425-35.
- Bocci V. Ozone as Janus: this controversial gas can be either toxic or medically useful. Mediators Inflamm. 2004;13:3-11.
- 24. Demirbag S, Uysal B, Guven A, Cayci T, Ozler M, Ozcan A, et al. Effects of medical ozone therapy on acetaminophen-induced nephrotoxicity in rats. Ren Fail. 2010;32:493-97.
- Souza YM, Fontes B, Martins JO, Sannomiya P, Brito GS, Younes RN, et al. Evaluation of the effects of ozone therapy in the treatment of intra-abdominal infection in rats. Clinics. 2010;65:195-202.
 Guven A, Gundogdu G, Sadir S, Topal T, Erdogan E, Korkmaz A, et al. The efficacy of ozone therapy in
- experimental caustic esophageal burn. J Pediatr Surg. 2008;43:1679-84. 27. Kesik V, Uysal B, Kurt B, Kismet E, Koscoglu V. Ozone ameliorates methotrexate-induced intestinal injury in
- 27. Kestev, O'sai D, Kui D, Kisike E, Kosogai V. O'zone anteriorates incinotexate-induced intestinatinjury in rats. Cancer Biol Ther. 2009;8:1623-28.
- Radwanska E, Headley SK, Dmowski P. Evaluation of ovarian function after tubal sterilization. J Reprod Med. 1982;27:376-84.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Journal of Surgery and Medicine

Evaluation of hand anomalies in children admitted to a tertiary health center in eastern Anatolia

Doğu Anadolu bölgesinde bir üçüncü basamak sağlık merkezine başvuran el anomalili çocukların değerlendirilmesi

Mehmet Rauf Koç¹, Sezai Özkan¹, Cihan Adanaş¹

¹ Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Van Yuzuncu Yıl University, Dursun Odabaş Medical Center, Turkey

ORCID ID of the author(s)

MRK: 0000-0002-8135-1368

SÖ: 0000-0003-4444-6939

CA: 0000-00023652-6077

Aim: Identification and treatment management of congenital or acquired hand anomalies are serious problems for orthopedic and plastic surgeons. With the start of medical education in hand surgery as a subspecialty, the number of hand surgeons has increased, and this problem has partially been removed. This study aimed to contribute to the epidemiologic data of our country by sharing admission times and types, treatment management, and demographic data of children admitted with hand anomalies to a tertiary health center in the light of the literature

Methods: Pediatric patients who were admitted with hand anomalies to the hand surgery clinic between 01.12.2018 and 01.12.2019 were included in this cross-sectional study. They were classified by extended OMT (Oberg, Manske, and Tonkin) classification by using the data obtained from the hospital registry. Patients' ages, genders, diagnoses, admission times, educational statuses, treatment plans and decisions of parents on the treatment were evaluated by a single hand surgeon available in the region.

Results: Out of approximately 1500 patients admitted to the hand surgery clinic, 49 patients between the ages of 0 and 18 with pediatric hand anomalies were included in the study. Out of 49 patients, 7 had acquired and 42 had congenital hand anomalies. The most common congenital anomaly was trigger finger. Eleven (22.5%) of the patients were at school age, 12 (24.5%) at pre-school age, and 26 (53%) were infants, aged 2 years and below.

Conclusion: It is highly important for patients with hand anomalies to reach the appropriate physician at the right time so that their treatment may be planned accordingly, the present anomaly does not delay the growth of the child, the deformity does not progress further and that these individuals can be brought into the society earlier. Therefore, we believe that the number of physicians should be increased due to the following reasons: Hand surgery is a new branch and these patients should be referred to subspecialists in accordance with the demands of the patients' parents. This branch is vital for the region, and there are patients still waiting for their already planned surgery.

Keywords: Congenital anomaly, Pediatric patient, Hand surgery

Corresponding author/Sorumlu yazar: Sezai Özkan Address/Adres: Van Yüzüncü Yıl Üniversitesi, Tıp

Fakültesi, Ortopedi ve Travmatoloji Bölümü, Tuşba 65080, Van, Türkiye e-Mail: doktorsezai@hotmail.com

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics approval was obtained from the Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Van Yüzüncü Yıl Üniversity (Date: 27 December 2019, no: 18-09). Etik Kurul Onayı: Etik onay Van Yüzüncü Yıl Üniversitesi Girişimsel Olmayan Klinik Araştırmalar Etik Kurulu'ndan alınmıştır (Tarih: 27 Aralık 2019, no: 18-09).

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemislerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/31/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 31.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s)

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s) Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial+Noberviatives License 40 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



Öz

Abstract

Amac: Konjenital veva edinsel el anomalilerinin tanımlanması ve tedavi vönetimi ortopedik ve plastik cerrahlar icin ciddi problemlerdir. El cerrahisinde tibbi eğitimin bir alt uzmanlık olarak başlamasıyla, el cerrahlarının sayısı artmış ve bu sorun kısmen giderilmiştir. Bu çalışma, el anomalisi ile üçüncü basamak bir sağlık merkezine başvuran çocukların kabul tiplerini, tedavi yönetimini, kabul sürelerini ve demografik verilerini literatür eşliğinde paylaşarak ülkemizin epidemiyolojik verilerine katkıda bulunmayı amaçlamıştır.

Yöntemler: 01.12.2018 - 01.12.2019 tarihleri arasında el cerrahisi kliniğine el anomalisi ile başvuran pediatrik hastalar bu kesitsel çalışmaya alındı. Hastaların dosya kayıt sistemlerinden elde edilen veriler kullanılarak uzatılmış OMT (Oberg, Manske, and Tonkin) sınıflandırmasına göre sınıflandırıldı. Hastaların yaşı, cinsiyeti, tanısı, kabul süresi, eğitim durumu, tedavi planlaması ve ebeveynlerin tedaviye iliskin kararları bölgede meycut tek el cerrahı tarafından değerlendirildi

Bulgular: El cerrahisi kliniğine başvuran yaklaşık 1500 hastadan 0 ile 18 yaşları arasında çocuk el anomalisi olan 49 hasta çalışmaya dahil edildi. 49 hastanın 7'sinde edinsel ve 42'sinde konjenital el anomalisi vardı. En sık görülen konjenital anomali tetik parmak idi. Hastaların 11'i (%22,5) okul cağında, 12'si (%24,5) okul öncesi yasta ve 26'sı (%53) 2 yas ve altı bebeklik döneminde idi

Sonuç: El anomalisi olan hastaların uygun zamanda uygun doktora ulaşmaları, deformitenin uygun zamanda tedavi olması, mevcut anomalinin çocuğun gelişimini engellememesi, deformitenin daha da büyümemesi ve bu bireylerin topluma erkenden kazandırılması açısından çok önemlidir. El cerrahisinin bölgede yeni bir oluşum olması, bu hastaların yan dal olan el cerrahisine yönlendirilmesi, ebeveynlerin bu yönde taleplerinin olması, halen planlanan ameliyatlarını bekleyen hastaların olması nedeniyle bölgede el cerrahın olması çok önemlidir ve bu nedenlerden dolayı hekim sayısının artırılması gerektiği kanaatindeyiz. Anahtar kelimeler: Konjenital anomali, Pediatrik hasta, El cerrahisi

Introduction

Upper extremity has functionally had a crucial role in people's daily life, even in the development of civilization throughout history. Identification of functions and structure of the hand, which plays the main role in the functional structure of human, has always been an object of interest and many studies on identification of hand deformities (congenital or acquired). determination of their frequencies among different races and societies, and treatment modalities have been performed. This study aimed to identify the frequency of patients admitted to the hand surgery center of our hospital with hand anomalies (after the specialist hand surgeon was appointed) and share our knowledge in light of the literature. Upper and lower extremity anomalies vary widely and these anomalies, whether congenital or acquired, cause loss of function and many psychological problems, thereby impairing the quality of life [1]. A study [2] evaluating the distribution of patients admitted with upper extremity injuries to the hand surgery clinic in terms of whether they were emergent or elective was performed in the region, however, epidemiologic evaluation of pediatric patients with hand anomalies according to patient group was not performed Many studies on hand anomalies and different incidences among different races and societies were reported in the literature [3-7].

This study aimed to identify the types of patients admitted with congenital [8] and acquired [9] anomalies within a year to the hand surgery clinic of a tertiary care university hospital serving approximately five cities. We believe that the data obtained from this study will be useful for future epidemiological studies and that knowledge of sociodemographic characteristics of these patients will be a guide in planning treatment services.

Materials and methods

This cross-sectional study was performed on patients admitted with congenital and acquired anomalies to our hand surgery clinic between December 2018-December 2019. Patients who were under the age of 18 and who did not complete the growth curve were included in the group. A total of 3 patients who were under the age of 18 with closed physes were excluded. In compliance with the distribution of the patients, patients admitted at the age of 1 month or below were evaluated as 1month old patients as there would not be any delay at the time of treatment. The study was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the local Ethics committee (no: 2019/18-09).

Data collection tools

Patients' ages, genders, diagnoses, etiologies, treatment statuses, the city where they came from, admission times, and whether there was any sequela due to delayed admission were recorded. Ages of all patients in the study were calculated in months. Diagnoses were classified according to the "Refinement of Oberg, Manske, and Tonkin (OMT) Classification (Extended Version)" (Table 1) [10,11]. Based on the treatment plan, patients were classified as the ones who were operated, the ones who refused treatment, the ones whose future surgery was planned and the ones with managed conservatively. Admission timing of the patients was divided into early, late, and normal timing for each patient group. Clinical evaluation was performed by a single physician with physical examination and comparative x-ray monitoring of both upper extremities.

 Table 1: Refinement of Oberg, Manske and Tonkin (OMT) Classification (Extended Version)

 1 Malformations

JOSAM

A. Fa	rmations
	ilure of axis formation/differentiation— entire upper limb
	1. Proximal-distal axis
	i. Brachymelia with brachydactyly
	ii. Symbrachydactyly
	iii. Transverse deficiency
	Amelia
	Clavicle
	Long/short above elbow
	Wrist
	Proximal/distal carpal row
	Metacarpal
	Proximal/middle/distal phalanx
	iv. Intersegmental deficiency
,	Phocomelia (total/proximal/distal)
	2. Radial-ulnar (anteroposterior) axis i. Radial longitudinal deficiency
	Thumb hypoplasia (with proximal limb involvement)
	ii. Ulnar longitudinal deficiency
	iii. Ulnar dimelia
	iv. Radioulnar synostosis
	v. Humeroradial synostosis
	Elbow ankyloses
	3. Dorsal-ventral axis
	i. Nail-patella, Fuhrmann, and Al-Awadi syndromes
	ii. Arthrogryposis
	iii. Absent/hypoplastic extensor/flexor muscles
4	4. Unspecified axis
	i. Undescended shoulder (Sprengel)
	ii. Abnormal shoulder muscles
	ilure of axis formation/differentiation— hand plate
1	1. Proximal-distal axis
	i. Brachydactyly
	ii. Symbrachydactyly
	iii. Transverse deficiency
	Wrist
	Proximal/distal carpal row
	Metacarpal
,	Proximal/middle/distal phalanx
4	 Radial-ulnar (anteroposterior) axis Radial (thumb) deficiency (no radius involvement, absent thumb, absent/hypoplas)
thenar m	
ulenai m	ii. Ulnar deficiency
	iii. Radial polydactyly
	iv. Triphalangeal thumb
	v. Ulnar polydactyly
	3. Dorsal-ventral axis
	i. Dorsal dimelia (palmar nail)
	ii. Hypoplastic/aplastic nail
	iii. Arthrogryposis
4	4. Unspecified axis
	a. Soft tissue
	i. Syndactyly
	ii. Camptodactyly
	iii. Thumb in palm deformity
	iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity
	iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency
	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly
	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity
	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis
	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex
	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand
	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synpolydactyly—central
2. Defor	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synpolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand
<u>2. Defor</u> A. Co	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synpolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations
A. Co	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synpolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations nstriction ring sequence
A. Co B. Tri	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synpolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations
A. Co B. Tri	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations nstriction ring sequence igger digits t otherwise specified
A. Co B. Tri C. No 3. Dyspl	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations nstriction ring sequence igger digits t otherwise specified
A. Co B. Tri C. No <u>3. Dyspl</u> A. Hy	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synoolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations mstriction ring sequence igger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy L. Whole limb
A. Co B. Tri C. No <u>3. Dyspl</u> A. Hy	iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency Clinodactyly Kiner deformity Metacarpal and carpal synostosis Complex Cleft hand Synoplydactyly—central Apert hand matrices restriction ring sequence tegger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy I. Whole limb Hemihypertrophy
A. Co B. Tri C. No <u>3. Dyspl</u> A. Hy	iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency Clinodactyly Kirner deformity Metacarpal and carpal synostosis Complex Cleft hand Synpolydactyly—central Apert hand mations nstriction ring sequence tigger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy I. Whole limb Hemilypertrophy Aberant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle
A. Co B. Tri C. No <u>3. Dyspl</u> A. Hy	iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency Clinodactyly Kirner deformity Kirner deformity Metacarpal and carpal synostosis Complex Ceft hand Synpolydactyly—central Apert hand mations mstriction ring sequence igger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy I. Whole limb Hemihypertrophy Apertant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle 2. Partial limb
A. Co B. Tri C. No <u>3. Dyspl</u> A. Hy	iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency Clinodactyly Kiner deformity Kiner deformity Metacarpal and carpal synostosis Complex Cleft hand Synoolydactyly—central Apert hand matical synoolidity matriction ring sequence giger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy L. Whole limb Hemihypertrophy Aberrant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle 2. Partial limb Marcodactyly
A. Co B. Tr C. No 3. Dyspl A. Hy	iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency Clinodactyly Kirner deformity Metacarpal and carpal synostosis Complex Cleft hand Synoplydactyly—central Apert hand mstriction ring sequence igger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy I. Whole limb Hemihypertrophy Aberrant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle 2. Partial limb Macrodactyly Aberrant intrinsic muscles of hand
A. Co B. Tr C. No <u>3. Dyspl</u> A. Hy B. Tu	iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synpolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations mstriction ring sequence igger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy I. Whole limb i. Hemihypertrophy ii. Aberrant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle 2. Partial limb i. Macrodactyly ii. Aberrant intrinsic muscles of hand morous conditions
A. Co B. Tri C. No <u>3. Dyspl</u> A. Hy B. Tu	iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency Clinodactyly Kirner deformity Kirner deformity Metacarpal and carpal synostosis Complex Cleft hand Synpolydactyly—central Apert hand mations mstriction ring sequence tagger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy I. Whole limb Hemihypertrophy Aberrant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle 2. Partial limb Macrodactyly Aberrant intrinsic muscles of hand morous conditions L Vascular
A. Co B. Tr C. No <u>3. Dyspl</u> A. Hy B. Tu	iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency Clinodactyly Kirner deformity Metacarpal and carpal synostosis Complex Cleft hand Synoolydactyly—central Apert hand matical synostopic s
A. Co B. Tr C. No 3. Dyspl A. Hy B. Tu	iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency Clinodactyly Kiner deformity Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex Cleft hand Synpolydactyly—central Apert hand mations mstriction ring sequence igger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy L. Whole limb Hemishypertrophy Aberrant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle 2. Partial limb Macrodactyly Aberrant intrinsic muscles of hand morous conditions L. Vascular Hemagioma Macrodactyly I. Hemagioma ii. Aberrant intrinsic muscles of hand morous conditions L. Vascular i. Hemagioma ii. Aberrant intrinsic muscles of hand morous conditions L. Vascular i. Hemagioma ii. Malformation
A. Co B. Tr C. No 3. Dyspl A. Hy B. Tu	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synpolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations nstriction ring sequence igger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy L. Whole limb i. Hemihypertrophy ii. Aberrant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle 2. Partial limb i. Macrodactyly ii. Aberrant intrinsic muscles of hand morous conditions L. Vascular i. Hemangioma ii. Maformation
A. Co B. Tr C. No 3. Dyspl A. Hy B. Tu	iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency Clinodactyly Kirner deformity Metacarpal and carpal synostosis Complex Cleft hand Synopolydactyly—central Apert hand mations mstriction ring sequence tigger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy I. Whole limb Hemilypertrophy Aberrant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle Partial limb Macrodactyly Aberrant intrinsic muscles of hand morous conditions I. Vascular Hemangioma Malformation Neurological Neurofibromatosis
A. Co B. Tr C. No 3. Dyspl A. Hy B. Tu	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations mstriction ring sequence giger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy I. Whole limb i. Hemihypertrophy i. Aberrant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle 2. Partial limb i. Maerodactyly ii. Aberrant intrinsic muscles of hand morous conditions I. Vascular i. Hemingioma ii. Malformation 2. Neurological i. Neurolibromatosis
A. Co B. Tr C. No 3. Dyspl A. Hy B. Tu	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kiner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synpolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations mstriction ring sequence igger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy I. Whole limb i. Hemihypertrophy ii. Aberrant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle Partial limb i. Macrodactyly ii. Aberrant intrinsic muscles of hand morous conditions I. Vascular i. Hemagioma ii. Malformation Neuroliptromatosis Connective tissue i. Jurential concertification
A. Co B. Tr C. No 3. Dyspl A. Hy B. Tu	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synpolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations nstriction ring sequence igger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy I. Whole limb i. Hemihypertrophy ii. Aberrant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle 2. Partial limb i. Macrodactyly ii. Aberrant intrinsic muscles of hand morous conditions 1. Vascular ii. Malformation 2. Neurological ii. Neurofibromatosis 3. Connective tissue i. Juvenile aponeurotic fibroma ii. Infantile digital fibroma
A. Co B. Tr C. No 3. Dyspl A. Hy B. Tu	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations mstriction ring sequence igger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy I. Whole limb i. Hemihypertrophy ii. Aberrant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle 2. Partial limb i. Macrodactyly ii. Aberrant intrinsic muscles of hand morous conditions Vascular i. Hemangioma ii. Malformation 2. Neurological i. Neurofibromatosis 3. Connective tissue i. Juvenile aponeurotic fibroma ii. Infantile digital fibroma
A. Co B. Tr C. No 3. Dyspl A. Hy B. Tu	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kiner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synpolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations mstriction ring sequence igger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy t. Whole limb i. Hemihypertrophy ii. Aberrant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle 2. Partial limb i. Macrodactyly ii. Aberrant intrinsic muscles of hand morous conditions t. Vascular i. Hemangioma ii. Malformation 2. Neurolboromatosis 3. Connective tissue i. Juvenile aponeurotic fibroma ii. Juvenile digital fibroma 4. Skeletal i. Ostochondromatosis
A. Co B. Tr C. No 3. Dyspl A. Hy B. Tu	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kiner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synpolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations mstriction ring sequence igger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy I. Whole limb i. Hemihypertrophy ii. Aberrant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle Partial limb i. Macrodactyly ii. Aberrant intrinsic muscles of hand morous conditions I. Vascular i. Melformation Neuroliptomatosis 3. Connective tissue i. Journile aponeurotic fibroma ii. Infantile digital fibroma Skeletal i. Osteochondromatosis
A. Co B. Tr C. No 3. Dyspl A. Hy B. Tu	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synpolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations mstriction ring sequence igger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy I. Whole limb i. Hemihypertrophy ii. Aberrant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle 2. Partial limb i. Macrodactyly ii. Aberrant intrinsic muscles of hand morous conditions 1. Vascular i. Neurofibromatosis 3. Connective tissue i. Juvenile aponeurotic fibroma ii. Infantile digital fibroma 4. Skeletal Osteochondromatosis ii. Enchondromatosis iii. Enchondromatosis
A. Co B. Tr C. No <u>3. Dyspl</u> A. Hy B. Tu	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations mstriction ring sequence igger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy L. Whole limb i. Hemihypertrophy I. Vaborant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle 2. Partial limb i. Macrodactyly i. Aberrant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle 2. Partial limb i. Hemangioma ii. Hemangioma ii. Natformation 2. Neurological i. Neurofibromatosis 3. Connective tissue i. Osteochondromatosis ii. Enchondromatosis ii. Enchondromatosis iii. Fibrous dysplasia iv. Epiphyseal abnormalities
A. Co B. Tr C. No 3. Dyspl A. Hy B. Tu	 iv. Deviated finger without skeletal deformity b. Skeletal deficiency i. Clinodactyly ii. Kirner deformity iii. Metacarpal and carpal synostosis c. Complex i. Cleft hand ii. Synpolydactyly—central iii. Apert hand mations mstriction ring sequence igger digits t otherwise specified asias pertrophy I. Whole limb i. Hemihypertrophy ii. Aberrant flexor/extensor/intrinsic muscle 2. Partial limb i. Macrodactyly ii. Aberrant intrinsic muscles of hand morous conditions 1. Vascular i. Neurofibromatosis 3. Connective tissue i. Juvenile aponeurotic fibroma ii. Infantile digital fibroma 4. Skeletal i. Osteochondromatosis ii. Enchondromatosis iii. Enchondromatosis

-(JOSAM)

Statistical analysis

The required statistical analyses were performed with SPSS 23 statistical software. Numerical variables were defined as mean (standard deviation) while categorical variables were presented in number and percentile. One-way analysis of variance (One-way ANOVA) was used to determine whether there was a difference between the ages in different classifications. Duncan multiple comparison test was used to determine the classifications that were important after analysis of variance. Fisher Exact test was used to determine whether there was a relationship between classifications and admission times, classifications and treatment status, treatment status according to the cities and between admission times according to the cities.

Results

Forty-nine patients were included in our study. Seven of the patients had acquired and 42 had congenital anomalies. According to the extended OMT classification, only one of the patients among the ones with acquired anomalies had camptodactlia and was suitable for Benson's classification type II. Four (8.16%) patients had an anomaly related to the wristforearm and 45 (91.84%) patients had an anomaly on their hand. The youngest patient was newborn and the oldest was 15 years old. There were no patients over 15 years of age in the included age range (0-18). The difference between classifications in terms of mean month was statistically significant (P < 0.001). The lowest and highest mean month values were obtained in 1.A.3.ii (Arthrogryposis) classification (mean: 1 month) and 3.A.2.i (Macrodactyly) classification (180)months/15 years), respectively. Eleven (22.5%) of the patients were at school age, 12 (24.5%) at pre-school age, and 26 (53%) were infants aged 2 years and below. Thirty-five (71.4%) patients were referred by another specialist physician, among which 13 were referred from pediatrics, 14 from plastic surgery and 8 from orthopedics. Other patients did not have any referral history. The evaluations of age distributions according to the classification are presented in Table 2.

Table 2: Age (month) distribution of our patients according to OMT Classification (Extended Version)

Diagnosis	n	Mean	SD	95% Confidence Interval for Mean		Minimum	Maximum
				Lower	Upper Bound		
				Bound			
1.B.4.a.i	4	44.500	45.8	-28.367	117.367	10	108
acquired	6	42.167	24.6	16.406	67.927	1	72
2.B	8	18.500	12.4	8.173	28.827	5	36
1.B.2.iii	3	104	81.7	-98.910	306.910	12	168
1.A.2.i	2	4.500	2.1	-14.559	23.559	3	6
1.A.3.ii	3	1		1	1	1	1
1.A.1.ii	3	39	26.7	-27.238	105.238	9	60
3.A.2.i	2	180		180	180	180	180
1.B.4.a.ii	2	102	25.5	-126.712	330.712	84	120
3.B.1.i	2	168		168	168	168	168
1.B.2.iv	2	84		84	84	84	84
3.B.4.i	2	96		96	96	96	96
2.A	2	60		60	60	60	60
1.B.4.c.i	2	2		2	2	2	2
1.B.2.v	2	20		20	20	20	20
1.A.2.iii	2	4		4	4	4	4
1.b.1.İ	2	6		6	6	6	6
Total	49	50.3	54.6	34.609	65.962	1	180

A statistically significant relationship was found between the classification and admission times (P<0.001). Patients with 2.A (Constriction ring sequence) and 1.B.2.v (Ulnar polydactyly) classifications were generally at normal times, those with 1.A.2.i [Radial longitudinal deficiency, Thumb hypoplasia (with proximal limb involvement)], 1.A.2.iii (Ulnar dimelia), 1.A.3.ii (Arthrogryposis), 2.B (Trigger digits), 1.B.4.a.i (Syndactyly), and 1.B.4.c.i (Cleft hand) were early and patients with acquired anomalies, namely, 3.B.4.i (Osteochonromatosis), 3.B.1.i (Hemangioma), 3.A.2.i (Macrodactyly) and 1.B.2.iv (Triphalangeal thumb) were late in presentation. The evaluation of treatment status according to the classification is presented in Figure 1. The relationship between the classification and sequela occurence was significant (P < 0.001). While there was sequela in patients with acquired anomalies, 3.A.2.i (Macrodactyly), 3.B.1.i 1.B.2.iv (Triphalangeal (Hemangioma), thumb), 3.B.4.i (Osteochonromatosis), and 1.B.4.c.i (Cleft hand), due to late admission, there was no sequela in other classifications. The relationship between classification and sequela is presented in Figure 2.

A significant relationship was found between the cities and admission times (P<0.001) (Figure 3). Patients coming from Bitlis and Igdir were gradually operated and those coming from Van and Hakkari were generally operated, or had their surgeries planned. The patient who were admitted with thumb hypoplasia and who came from Agri refused treatment, hence was not operated.

A statistically significant difference was found between the cities and admission times (P<0.001). Patients from Agri were admitted late, patients from Hakkari were mostly admitted early and patients from Van were mostly admitted late (Figure 4).



Figure 1: The evaluation of treatment status according to the classification
Bar Chart



Figure 2: The relationship between the classification and occurrence of sequel







Figure 4: Difference between the cities and admission times

Discussion

The department of hand surgery provides the diagnosis and treatment of hand, wrist, forearm, shoulder, brachial plexus and peripheral nerve injuries and diseases and congenital anomalies of upper extremity [9,12]. The first hand surgery clinic at the level of Ministry of Health and University in our country was founded at Ankara Numune Training and Research Hospital in September, 2009. When a specialist hand surgeon was appointed to the Ministry of Health University in Van in September 2017, a hand surgery clinic was founded. Around 1500 patients are admitted to the Hand Surgery Clinic annually [2].

Hand Surgery is a field that has recently become a subspecialty in our country. Although studies identifying the clinical and sociodemographic characteristics of the patients admitted to hand surgery clinic have been performed in detail, there is not any detailed study on pediatric patients with hand anomalies, especially in the Eastern Anatolia Region of Turkey. Many age groups from birth to the end of childhood were admitted to our clinic with hand and wrist anomalies. Of these patients who had to be mostly operated at pre-school ages or in infancy, 22.5% were admitted at school ages. One hundred percent could not yet be reached in this patient group, who must be examined by a specialist physician and referred without missing the diagnosis. Admission times significantly differ according to patient groups, which is also related to the fact that the diagnosis can be recognized by both the patients' relatives and physicians. When the children with congenital hand

anomalies are admitted later than the average surgical times of their present diseases, the functional and cosmetic success rate of the surgery decreases [13]. In the region, 22 (44.9%) of these patients with congenital hand anomalies exceeded this time. Sequelae were seen in patients with Madelung deformity, burn, contracture, swan neck deformity secondary to mallet finger, hemangioma in the wrist, triphalangeal thumb, osteochondromatosis and cleft hand due to late presentation. As patients in Hakkari, Van, Bitlis and Igdir preferred our clinic, most of them were either treated or their operations were planned. There was only one physician and some patients had to wait for their operations due to busyness. Patients from Hakkari were admitted early, while patients from Van and Agri were admitted late to our clinic in Van, which reveals that patients' relatives and/or physicians who would refer the patients are not aware enough. As the rate of being recognized in patients with additional pathology and syndrome was much, higher no delay was seen in their presentation. Presence of health insurance and parents being educated above high school have a positive effect on admission times. Congenital bilateral trigger finger was the most common anomaly. While especially grade 4 (Green Classification) presentations were more frequent, grade 2 and 3 were usually seen in the other finger. The possibility that this anomaly may be bilateral should be kept in mind in order to administer a complete treatment.

Limitations

JOSAM

The study was performed in a single center (as our clinic was the only hand surgery clinic in the region, no significant loss in the potential of patients was considered). Main limitations of our study may be that the number of patients was low, the 1-year duration of the study was short, and patients did not come from all Eastern Anatolia cities (due to probable conditions of transportation and closeness of other hospitals to other centers). Further studies are needed to contribute to the epidemiological data of our country in the future.

Conclusion

The facts that hand surgery is a new branch, patients in need of hand surgery should be referred from general examination to subspecialists, parents have demands on this direction, this branch with high work load and long learningcurve is extremely necessary for the region and that there are patients still waiting for their already planned surgery, suggest the need to increase the number of physicians. It is highly important for patients with hand anomalies to reach the appropriate physician at the right time so that their treatment can be planned to prevent the present anomaly from delaying the growth of the child without further progression. The aim is to bring these individuals into the society earlier. Therefore, we believe that identifying the frequency of these anomalies, increasing the awareness of the parents by improving the geographical as well as socioeconomic conditions, especially in rural areas, increasing the number admissions to the hospitals, evaluating the neonates in this regard and referring them to the related center early will contribute to the prevention of some progressive deformities and to the socioeconomic development of our country.

References

- Doğan E, Gül S, Çullu N, Doğan MM. Case of incomplete fibular hemimelia with tarsal coalition, pes planus, ball and socket ankle. J Surg Med. 2019;3(3):271-3.
 Arık H, Çoşkun T. Van İlindeki Bir Üniversite Hastanesinin El Cerrahisi Kliniğine Başvuran Hastaların Profili.
- Arık H, Çoşkun T. Van İlindeki Bir Üniversite Hastanesinin El Cerrahisi Kliniğine Başvuran Hastaların Profili. Van Tıp Derg. 2018;25(4):502-7.
- Ekblom AG, Laurell T, Arner M. Epidemiology of congenital upper limb anomalies in 562 children born in 1997 to 2007: a total population study from stockholm, sweden. J Hand Surg Am. 2010 Nov;35(11):1742-54.
- Goldfarb CA, Wall LB, Bohn DC, Moen P, Van Heest AE. Epidemiology of congenital upper limb anomalies in a midwest United States population: an assessment using the Oberg, Manske, and Tonkin classification. J Hand Surg Am. 2015;40(1):127-32.
- Koskimies E, Lindfors N, Gissler M, Peltonen J, Nietosvaara Y. Congenital upper limb deficiencies and associated malformations in Finland: a population-based study. J Hand Surg Am. 2011;36(6):1058-65.
- Pinto HB, Pais AP, Vitorio SC, Brandão R, Moreira AAD, Molinaro LR. Case study of congenital anomalies of the upper limb in reference ambulatory care facility. Acta Ortop Bras. 2018;26(5):325-7.
- Parker SE, Mai CT, Canfield MA, Rickard R, Wang Y, Meyer RE, et al. National Birth Defects Prevention Network. Updated National Birth Prevalence estimates for selected birth defects in the United States, 2004-2006. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. 2010;88(12):1008-16.
- Oberg KC, Feenstra JM, Manske PR, Tonkin MA. Developmental biology and classification of congenital anomalies of the hand and upper extremity. J Hand Surg Am. 2010;35(12):2066-76.
- Chu A, Chan J, Baxi O. Congenital Deformities of the Hands. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2020;67(1):85-99.
 Iba K, Horii E, Ogino T, Kazuki K, Kashiwa K. Congenital Hand Committee of Japanese Society for Surgery of
- 10. Dor R, HOMEE, OGHOEF, AZUREEN, KASHIWA K, CONGENITAL HARD COMMITTEE OF JAPANESE SOCIETY for Surgery of the Hand. The Classification of Swanson for Congenital Anomalies of Upper Limb Modified by the Japanese Society for Surgery of the Hand (JSSH). Hand Surg. 2015;20(2):237-50.
 11. Tonkin MA, Tolerton SK, Quick TJ, Harvey I, Lawson RD, Smith NC, et al. Classification of congenital
- Tonkin MA, Tolerton SK, Quick TJ, Harvey I, Lawson RD, Smith NC, et al. Classification of congenital anomalies of the hand and upper limb: development and assessment of a new system. J Hand Surg Am. 2013;38(9):1845-53.
- Leblebicioğlu G. Hand surgery in Turkey. The Journal of Hand Surgery. 2017;42(3):323.
 de Almeida CEF. Analysis of surgical results and of residual postoperative deformities in preaxial polydactyly of the hand. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2017;70(10):1420-32.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Journal of Surgery and Medicine

Morphometry of the external auditory canal: Radiological study

Dış kulak yolunun morfometrisi: Radyoloji çalışması

Selma Çalışkan¹, Hüseyin Çetin², Sinem Akkaşoğlu¹

¹ Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Medicine, Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University, Ankara, Turkey ² Department of Radiology, Faculty of Medicine, Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University, Ankara, Turkey

> ORCID ID of the author(s) SC: 0000-0002-5839-3172 HC: 0000-0001-8894-015X SA: 0000-0002-3371-4734

Corresponding author/Sorumlu yazar: Selma Çalışkan Address/Adres: Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt Üniversitesi, Tıp Fakültesi, Anatomi Anabilim Dalı, Bilkent, Ankara, Türkiye e-Mail: dr.slm.clskn@gmail.com

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was granted by Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University Yenimahalle Research and Training Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee. (Decision number: 2019/09-90). Etik Kurul Onayı: Etik kurul onayı Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt Üniversitesi Yenimahalle Eğitim Araştırma Hastanesi Etik Kurulu'ndan alındı (Numara: 2019/09-90).

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/31/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 31.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s) Published by JOSAM

This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



Abstract

Aim: Morphometry of the external auditory canal was not previously studied among the normal population in the literature. In this study we aimed to indicate normal values and age, gender, and side related changes of the external auditory canal of healthy individuals.

Methods: Computed Tomography (CT) images of 379 patients were evaluated in this cross-sectional study. Two diameters at three points were measured on sagittal images for each side: First point was at the level of the tympanic membrane where chorda tympani leaves the bony canal. The height (1a) and width (1b) were measured from the ground where the cylindrical view of EAC was most prominent. The second point was at isthmus level, where height (2a) and width (2b) were measured. The third point was the most lateral site of external auditory canal (EAC) at the level of the tympanomastoid suture where height (3a) and width (3b) were measured. Age, gender, and side related changes for each measurement were statistically analyzed.

Results: The diameter of each point in each direction was similar between the left and right sides. The median diameter of left 1a was 9.4 mm in males and 9.2 mm in females, which was significantly different. The "a" diameter of each point was higher in males than females for both sides. There was no significant difference between males and females in terms of b diameters. Diameter 1b was higher on the left side compared to the right side for females, while left-right side comparisons for other measurements were similar. None of the diameters differed between the left and right sides for males.

Conclusion: Normal measurements of EAC diameters and its age, sex and side related changes are important for surgeons, radiologists, and anatomists. Proper evaluation of EAC is critical for transcanal endoscopic ear surgery and early diagnosis of a pathology impairing the anatomy of EAC on radiologic images.

Keywords: External auditory canal, Temporal bone, Morphometry, Computed tomography

Öz

Amaç: Literatürde dış kulak yolu morfometrisi normal popülasyonda daha önce incelenmemiştir. Bu çalışmada, sağlıklı bireylerde dış kulak yolunun normal ölçümleri ve bu değerlerin yaş, cinsiyet ve taraflar arasında gösterdiği farklılıkları değerlendirmeyi amaçladık.

Yöntemler: Bu kesitsel çalışmada 379 hastanın bilgisayarlı tomografi (BT) görüntüleri incelendi. Her iki taraf için sagital görüntülerde üç noktada iki çap ölçüldü. 1.nokta, timpanik membran seviyesinde chorda tympani'nin kemik kanalından çıktığı noktaydı. Bu noktada dış kulak yolunun (DKY) silindirik görünümünün en belirgin olduğu yerden yükseklik (1a) ve genişlik (1b) ölçümleri alındı. 2.nokta isthmus seviyesindeydi ve bu noktadan yükseklik (2a) ve genişlik (2b) ölçümleri yapıldı. 3.nokta timpanomastoid sutur düzeyinde DKY'nun en lateral bölgesiydi. Bu noktadan da yükseklik (3a) ve genişlik (3b) ölçümleri yapıldı. Her ölçüm için yaş, cinsiyet ve tarafla ilişkili değişiklikler istatistiksel olarak analiz edildi.

Bulgular: Her bir nokta için her yönde yapılan ölçümler sol ve sağ taraflar arasında benzerdi. Erkeklerde sol la'nın ortalama uzunluğu 9,4 mm, kadınlarda 9,2 mm idi. Her noktanın 'a' uzunlukları erkeklerde her iki taraf için kadınlardan daha yüksekti. Erkekler ve kadınlar arasında 'b' uzunlukları açısından anlamlı bir fark yoktu. Kadınlarda 1b ölçümü sol tarafta sağ tarafa göre daha yüksekti, diğer ölçümler için sol-sağ taraf karşılaştırmaları anlamlı değildi. Ölçümlerin hiçbiri erkekler için sol ve sağ taraf arasında farklılık göstermemktedir.

Sonuç: DKY çaplarının normal ölçümleri ve bu ölçümlerin yaş, cinsiyet ve taraflar arasındaki farklılıkları cerrahlar, radyologlar ve anatomistler açısından önemlidir. Endoskopik kulak cerrahisi açısından ve radyolojik görüntülerde DKY anatomisini bozan bir patolojinin erken tanısı için DKY'nin doğru değerlendirilmesi önemlidir.

Anahtar kelimeler: Dış kulak yolu, Temporal kemik, Morfometri, Bilgisayarlı tomografi

Introduction

External auditory canal (EAC) extends from the concha to the tympanic membrane. S-shaped EAC has a cartilaginous lateral part (one third) and medial bony part (two thirds), the lengths of which are 8mm and 16mm, respectively. Total length of EAC is around 2-3 cm. EAC narrows near the medial end of cartilaginous part and at the isthmus, which is 2 cm from the concha [1,2].

We encountered in vivo and in vitro measurements of EAC in the literature, for which the researchers used tympanometry, ear mold injections, computed assisted tomography (CAT), water injection and high-resolution computed tomography. EAC volume measured before canaloplasty operation is a predictor for post operation volume. It may also reveal efficacy of topical ear wax treatments [3-7].

EAC width, as well as its length and volume, are clinically important. Acquired or congenital stenosis of EAC leads to conductive or mixed hearing loss. Chronic otitis externa, cholesteatoma, exostoses are common reasons of acquired stenosis [8,9]. Bony ear canal opening equal or less than 2mm leads to cholesteatoma formation, which is a slow-growing destructive pathology [10]. It may develop in the middle ear cavity and communicate with EAC through a perforation on tympanic membrane or may individually develop in EAC [11]. Canaloplasty which consists of cholesteatoma removal and EAC enlargement is a common surgical procedure. Restenosis after canaloplasty is another cause of acquired EAC narrowing [7].

Proper understanding of EAC anatomy is essential for transcanal endoscopic ear surgery. Ayache et al. [12] reported that 89% of the patients had EAC narrowing in their study including 5000 patients.

An anatomical canal which has a tortuous path such as EAC should be analyzed on more than one point. In this study we aimed to present the detailed objective measurements and reveal normal morphometry of EAC diameters and its age, gender, and side-related changes. These measurements have both clinical and research applications.

Materials and methods

Ethics committee approval was received from Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University Yenimahalle Research and Training Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee. (Decision number: 2019/09 -90).

Computed Tomography (CT) images of 379 patients obtained for head and neck pathologies between February-September 2019 were evaluated in the radiology department. Patients with pathologies in the external auditory canal (atresia, fracture, foreign body, cholesteatoma, tumor, keratosis obturans, osteoma, exostoses, medial canal fibrosis, necrotizing external otitis) were not enrolled in this study. CT imaging was performed with the General Electric Revolution EVO CT device. Axial images were reformatted using high-resolution multiplanar reconstruction (MPR). Two dimensions at three points were measured on sagittal images for each side by the same radiologist, certified with 25 years' experience at head and neck imaging. The age, gender and side related changes for each measure were statistically analyzed. Measurements were obtained from three points:

1st point: The level of the tympanic membrane where chorda tympani leaves the bony canal. The height (1a) and width (1b) were measured from the ground where the cylindrical view of EAC was most prominent (Figure 1A, Figure 1B).

 2^{nd} point: Height (2a) and width (2b) were measured at isthmus level (Figure 2A, Figure 2B).

 3^{rd} point: The height (3a) and width (3b) were measured from the most lateral site of EAC at the level of tympanomastoid suture. (Figure 3A, Figure 3B).



Figure 1A: Axial CT image of temporal bone. 1st measurement point is at the level of the tympanic membrane where chorda tympani leaves the bony canal (yellow arrow), 1B: Sagittal CT image of temporal bone diameters at the level of the tympanic membrane where chorda tympani leaves the bony canal (1a: non-interrupted line, 1b: interrupted line)



Figure 2A: Axial CT image of temporal bone. 2nd measurement point is at the level of isthmus (yellow arrow), 2B: Sagittal CT image of the temporal bone. Diameters at the level of the isthmus (2a: non-interrupted line, 2b: interrupted line)



Figure 3A: Axial CT images of the temporal bone. 3rd measurement point is at the level of the tympanomastoid suture (yellow arrow), 3B: Sagittal CT image of the temporal bone. Diameters at the level of the tympanomastoid suture (3a: non-interrupted line, 3b: interrupted line)

Statistical analysis

Power analysis performed by G^* Power (ver 3.1) revealed that the achieved power of this study was 98.4% (Cohen's d=0.423) with a Type 1 error rate of 0.05 and a sample size of 379 patients.

The distributions of the measurements were examined by the Shapiro-Wilk's test and the normality plots. Median (minmax) was reported for all metric variables, and gender was presented with frequency (%).

The left- and right-side measurements were compared by Wilcoxon signed-rank test within the whole sample. The Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare males and females with respect to the diameter measurements. A *P*-value<0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

JOSAM

All statistical analyses and computations were performed via IBM SPSS Statistics 22.0 (IBM Corp. Released 2013. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.).

Results

Three-hundred seventy-nine individuals were examined, out of which 46.4% (n=176) were male. The overall median age was 40 years (min-max:20-76). The median ages of males and females were both 40 years with a range of 20-75 years for males and 20-76 years for females. There was no significant difference between males and females with respect to age.

The median diameter of 1a was 9.3 mm (min-max:7.5-12.0) on the left and 9.3 mm (min-max:7.7-12.0) on the right (Table 1). The diameter of each point in each direction was similar between the left and right sides.

The median diameter of left 1a was 9.4 mm (min-max: 8.0-12.0) in males and 9.2 mm (min-max: 7.5-11.2) in females, resulting in a significant difference (Table 2). The "a" diameter of each point was higher in males than females for both sides. There was no significant difference between males and females in terms of "b" diameters.

Diameter 1b was higher on the left side compared to the right side for females, while left-right side comparisons for other measurements were similar (Table 2). All diameters were similar between the left and right side for males.

Table 1: The comparison of diameters between left and right ears

1		0	
	Left	Right	
Diameters (mm)	Median (min-max)	Median (min-max)	P-value
1a	9.3 (7.5-12.0)	9.3 (7.7-12.0)	0.275
1b	6.1 (4.0-7.7)	6.0 (4.2-7.3)	0.348
2a	9.0 (6.9-12.1)	9.0 (6.8-12.1)	0.889
2b	5.4 (3.7-6.8)	5.3 (3.7-9.4)	0.308
3a	10.1 (7.8-13.5)	10.2 (7.4-13.9)	0.209
3b	6.3 (4.2-8.3)	6.3 (4.6-7.9)	0.550

 1^{st} point at the level of the tympanic membrane where chorda tympani leaves the bony canal. 1a: Height measured at 1^{st} point, 1b: Width measured at 1^{st} point, 2^{nd} point at the level of isthmus, 2a: Height measured at the 2^{sd} point, 2b: Width measured at 2^{sd} point, 3^{st} point at the most lateral site of external auditory canal (EAC) at the level of tympanomastoid suture, 3a: Height measured at 3^{sd} point, 3b: Width measured at the 3^{sd} point.

Table 2: The comparison of measurements between males and females

	Males	Females	
Diameters (mm)	Median (min-max)	Median (min-max)	P-value
Left1a	9.4 (8.0-12.0)	9.2 (7.5-11.2)	0.009
1b	6.1 (4.1-7.7)	6.1 (4.0-7.7)*	0.695
2a	9.2 (7.0-12.1)	9.0 (6.9-11.7)	0.004
2b	5.5 (3.7-6.8)	5.3 (4.0-6.6)	0.155
3a	10.2 (7.9-13.5)	10.0 (7.8-12.7)	0.007
3b	6.4 (4.7-8.3)	6.3 (4.2-8.2)	0.137
Right1a	9.4 (7.9-12.0)	9.1 (7.7-12.0)	< 0.001
1b	6.1 (4.6-7.3)	6.0 (4.2-7.3)*	0.216
2a	9.2 (6.9-12.1)	9.0 (6.8-11.8)	0.020
2b	5.4 (4.1-6.6)	5.3 (3.7-9.4)	0.355
3a	10.3 (7.4-13.9)	10 (7.5-13.5)	0.028
3b	6.3 (4.7-7.9)	6.2 (4.6-7.7)	0.251

*P=0.019 for the comparison of left and right 1b in females. P>0.05 for other within-gender comparisons of left and right-sided measurements.

Discussion

Morphometric studies executed normal populations are valuable to distinguish abnormalities from normal ones. Knowledge of normal morphometry provides physicians a more constant ground when evaluating patients. An anatomical canal which has a tortuous path such as EAC should be analyzed on more than one point. Each of the points measured in the present study were revealed in detail on CT images.

Tsung et al. [13] created a three-dimensional ear canal model using CT on 40 individuals. They aimed to present proper

data to ear plug producers and to protect workers from noise damage which leads to hearing loss. Studies analyzing the geometry of the ear canal among different populations may contribute to preventing workplace-related hearing problems which is a common health care issue worldwide. In our opinion these studies must be conducted with larger sample sizes. We included 379 patients in the present study.

Zemplenyi et al. [14] used an optical method to measure the ear canal length, and their results ranged from 2.2cm to 3cm. Djupesland et al. [15] also studied the length of the canal and found a mean value of 23mm. Due to bending of the ear canal, two dimensional radiologic images are insufficient to indicate accurate length. Experimental studies of Zempleyni et al. [14] and Djupesland et al. [15] contributed valuable data to literature but did not measure the diameters of the canal. Yu et al. [7] used high resolution computed tomography (HRCT), water injection and tympanometry on 9 male volunteers for EAC volume measurement. They created 3D images on HRCT images. In our opinion, it is not a practical method in routine radiology practice. As a contribution to the missing points of the mentioned studies diameters of ear canal were measured in our study. These measurements inform physicians about the narrowing of the canal, which are critical in approach to middle ear and eardrum. We measured the narrowest value at the transverse diameter of the isthmus (left:5.4mm and right 5.3mm).

Per-meatal, end-aural and post-auricular approaches are viable options for surgical access to eardrum and middle ear cavity in operations such as myringoplasty, tympanoplasty and stapedectomy. Each approach has limitations. A narrow EAC is a limitation for per-meatal approach [1,16]. Preoperative assessment of EAC is often underestimated. We believe that this study reveals sufficient anatomical data for surgeons in terms of per-meatal approach. End-aural and post auricular access are other alternatives if the EAC is not wide enough to allow permeatal approach [1]. The post auricular approach has disadvantages in visualization of the posterior margin of tympanic membrane and end-aural approach limits the view of the anterior margin of tympanic membrane. [16].

Zhao et al. [17] declared that individuals with EAC less than 4 mm are considered to have congenital aural stenosis. They conducted their research on 10 children with a mean age of 12 years. Cole et al. [10] declared that patients with EAC less than 2mm were prone to developing cholesteatoma and should undergo surgery in late childhood before irreversible damage occurs. Because of the slow gradually growing pattern of cholesteatoma, most of the patients present with late complications such as discharge, hearing loss, facial paralysis, and intracranial complications in adulthood [18]. If undiagnosed, cholesteatoma may destroy EAC, skull base and temporal bone [19]. Randomly detected EAC narrowings in radiologic images may be valuable for differential diagnosis of such pathologies. We need scientific data on the normal values in the society to talk about narrowing. Clearly defined measurements based on large series are superior to subjective views. To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to reveal measurements of EAC on clearly defined points in a large adult series. Individuals included in this study had no history of ear problems. From this point of view, our study presents valuable data to the scientific literature.

Limitations

A study with a larger sample size would have been more significant. A comparative study between patient groups with normal morphology and EAC pathologies will contribute valuable data to literature. Comparative studies between imaging techniques and endoscopic techniques visualizing EAC will enlighten radiologists and otologists.

Conclusion

This study provides proper data to surgeons, radiologists and anatomists dealing with EAC. Thorough evaluation of EAC is critical for transcanal endoscopic ear surgery and helps radiologists in early diagnosis of a pathology impairing the anatomy of EAC.

References

- Standring S. Gray's anatomy: the anatomical basis of clinical practice, Churchill Livingstone Spain: Elsevier; 2008. p.420.
- Moore KL, Agur MRA, Dalley AF. Clinically Oriented Anatomy. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams&Wilkins; 2014.p 967.
- Al-Hussaini A, Owens D, Tomkinson A. Assessing the accuracy of tympanometric evaluation of external auditory canal volume: a scientific study using an ear canal model. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2011;268(12):1721–5. doi: 10.1007/s00405-011-1555-5.
- Shahnaz N, Davies D. Standard and multifrequency tympanometric norms for Caucasian and Chinese young adults. Ear Hear. 2006;27(1):75-90.
- Egolf DP, Nelson DK, Howell HC, Larson VD. Quantifying ear-canal geometry with multiple computerassisted tomographic scans. J Acoust Soc Am. 1993;93(5):2809-19.
 Shanks JE, Lilly DJ. An evaluation of tympanometric estimates of ear canal volume. J Speech Hear Res.
- 5. Shains JL, Emy DJ. An evaluation of sympanometric estimates of car canan volume. J Speech real Res. 1981;24(4):557-66.
 7. Vii E Tao CC, Chan CC, Chan CC, Chan CC, Non invasive technique for in vivo human are canal.
- Yu JF, Tsai GL, Fan CC, Chen C, Cheng CC, Chen CC. Non-invasive technique for in vivo human ear canal volume measurement. J Mech Med Biol. 2012;12(4). doi: 10.1142/S0219519412500649.
 Magliulo G. Acquired atresia of the external auditory canal: recurrence and long-term results. Ann Otol Rhinol
- Magnuto C. Acquirect artesia or the external addition y canal. recurrence and non-recurrence an
- Jama M, Kusso A, Kinas T, Jam T, Auguro AM, Canaphasy To serve external adultory meatus existoses. J Laryngol Otol. 2004;118(8):607-11.
 10.Cole RR, Jahrsdorffe RA. The risk of cholesteatoma in congenital aural stenosis. Laryngoscope.
- Liport Ref, Juniskerier Ref. Interna of enosedurina in congenitari and sensors. Earjugoscope. 1990;100(6):576-8. doi:10.1288/00005537-199006000-00004.
 Altmann F, Waltner JG, Cholesteatoma of the external auditory meatus. Arch Otolaryngol. 1943;38(3):236-40.
- doi:10.1001/archotol.1943.00670040249005. 12.Ayache S, Beltran M, Guevara N. Endoscopic classification of the external auditory canal for transcanal
- endoscopic ear surgery. Eur Ann Otorhinolaryngol Head Neck Dis. 2019;136(4):247-50. doi: 10.1016/j.anorl.2019.03.005.
- 13.Yu JF, Lee KC, Wang RH, Chen YS, Fan CC, Peng YC, et al. Anthropometry of external auditory canal by non-contactable measurement. Appl Ergon. 2015;50:50-5. doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2015.01.008.
- 14.Zemplenyi J, Gilman S, Dirks D. Optical method for measurement of ear canal length. J Acoust Soc Am. 1985;78(6):2146-8.
- 15.Djupesland G, Zwislocki JJ. Sound pressure distribution in the outer ear. Acta Otolaryngol. 1973 Apr;75(4):350-2. doi:10.3109/00016487309139744.
- Man SC, Nunez DA. Tympanoplasty—conchal cavum approach. J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2016;6(45):1. doi: 10.1186/s40463-015-0113-3.
- Zhao S, Han D, Wang D, Li J, Dai H, Yu Z. The formation of sinus in congenital stenosis of external auditory canal with cholesteatoma. Acta Otolaryngol. 2008;128(8):866-70. doi: 10.1080/00016480701784940.
 Mostafa BE, El Fiky L. Congenital cholesteatoma: the silent pathology. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec.
- 2018;80(2):108-1 [6] doi: 10.1159/000490255.
- Walker D, Shinners MJ. Congenital Cholesteatoma. Pediatr Ann. 2016;45(5):e167-70. doi: 10.3928/00904481-20160401-01.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors. The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Journal of Surgery and Medicine •-ISSN-2602-2079

Evaluation of hospitalized newborns due to indirect hyperbilirubinemia: A cross-sectional study

Yenidoğan ünitesine indirekt hiperbilirubinemi nedeniyle yatan hastaların değerlendirilmesi

Sefer Üstebay¹, Ömer Ertekin¹, Döndü Ülker Üstebay¹

¹ Kafkas University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Kars, Turkey	Abstract
or reductics, ixins, runkey	Aim: Indirect hyperbilirubinemia, a widespread problem in the newborn period, may need emergency treatment for prevention of
ORCID ID of the author(s)	neurological sequelae and mortality in some cases. We aimed to report the incidence, etiological factors, clinical findings, and the treatment of neonates with indirect hyperbilirubinemia.
SÜ: 0000-0003-1507-5921	Methods: Ninety-six cases of non-physiological indirect hyperbilirubinemia and prolonged jaundice which were followed-up in the
ŎE: 0000-0002-7846-7634 DÜÜ: 0000-0003-3270-8305	Neonatology Unit of Kafkas University Hospital between January 2018-October 2019 were evaluated. The therapeutic approach was determined according to the recommendations of American Academy of Pediatrics in 2004. Results: The incidence of IHB was 24.8% (n=96) among 387 hospitalized neonates. The mean gestational age, birth weight (BW), and bilirubin level on admission were 36.2 (2.5) weeks, 2628.9 (820) g, and 12.1 (5.29) mg/dL, respectively. Among all, vaginal delivery
	ratio was 38.5%, and cesarean delivery rate was 61.5%. About 34.4% were first-time mothers. The rates of breastfeeding and formula feeding were 39.6% and 1%, respectively. Around 59.4% were both breast- and formula-fed. The etiological factors of IHB were as follows: Prematurity and/or low birth weight (LBW) (20.9%), breast feeding jaundice (8.3%), ABO incompatibility (17.7%), RF incompatibility (7.3%), ABO+Rh incompatibility (3.1%), cephal hematoma (2.1%), urinary infection (4.2%), sepsis (4.2%), pneumonia (2.1%), omphalitis (1%), subgroup incompatibility (1%), Glucose 6 phosphate dehydrogenase deficiency (1%) and unknown etiology (7.3%). Exchange transfusion rate was 1% (n=1), and 5 neonates (5.2%) were administered immunoglobulin therapy among 27 (28.1%) with hemolytic hyperbilirubinemia.
	Conclusion: Indirect hyperbilirubinemia is an important risk factor for mortality and morbidity in newborn period. Defining the risk factors for non-physiologic indirect hyperbilirubinemia, adequate follow up and prompt treatment would reduce neurological sequelae and mortality rates. Keywords: Newborn, Indirect hyperbilirubinemia, Etiology, Risk factors
	Öz
	Amaç: İndirekt hiperbilirubinemi yenidoğan döneminde sıklıkla görülen sorunlardan birisidir. Ciddi olgularda kalıcı nörolojik sekeller
Corresponding author/Sorumlu yazar: Sefer Üstebay Address/Adres: Kafkas Üniversitesi, Tıp Fakültesi,	ve ölüme neden olduğu için acil müdahale gerektirir. Bu çalışmada; yenidoğanlarda indirekt hiperbilirubinemi (IHB) sıklığı, klinik özellikleri, altta yatan nedenleri ve tedavinin belirlenmesi amaçlandı. Yöntemler: Ocak 2018- Ekim 2019 tarihleri arasında Kafkas Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Çocuk Sağlığı ve Hastalıkları AD Yenidoğan
Çocuk Sağlığı ve Hastalıkları Anabilim Dalı, Kars, Türkiye e-Mail: ustabay_dr@hotmail.com	Bölümünde patolojik indirekt hiperbilirubinemi ve uzamış sarılık nedeni ile takip edilen 96 olgu değerlendirilmeye alınmıştır. Olguların tedavi şekilleri Amerikan Pediatri Akademisi'nin 2004 yılında yayınlanan önerileri kapsamında total serum bilirübin düzeyleri, doğum
Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved	tartıları ve doğum yaşlarına göre belirlendi.
y the ethical committee of the Kafkas University Aedical Faculty (Date/No: 31.10.2018/12). Etik Kurul Onayı: Çalışma, Kafkas Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Etik Kurulu (Tarih/No: 31.10.2018/12) tarafından onaylanmıştır.	Bulgular: Servisimizde izlenen 387 hastadan 96'sına (%24,8) IHB tanısı kondu. Olguların ortalama doğum ağırlıkları 2628,9 (820) gr gestasyon haftaları 36,2 (2,5)hafta, doğum sonrası yaşları 3,1 (2,75), anne yaşları 30,1 (5,41), başvuru bilirubin düzeyi 12,1 (5,29), vaginal doğum oranı %38,5, sezaryen doğum oranı %61,5 di. Annenin ilk bebek olma oranı %34,4 olarak saptandı. Anne sütüyle beslenme oranı %39,6, formula ile beslenme oranı %1, anne sütü+ formula ile beslenme oranı %59,4. İHB nedenleri olarak Prematürite ve/veya düşük doğum ağırlığı %20,9, anne sütü sarılığı %8,3, ABO uyuşmazlığı %17,7, Rh uyuşmazlığı %7,3, ABO+Rh uyuşmazlığı
Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması	%3,1, sefal hematom %2,1, idrar yolu enfeksiyonu %4,2, sepsis %4,2, pnömoni %2,1, omfolit %1, subgrup uyuşmazlığı %1, Glukoz 6 fosfat dehidrogenaz eksikliği %1 ve bilinmeyen nedenler %7,3 olarak saptandı. Kan değişimi 1 (%1) yenidoğana, hemolitik hiperbilirubinemisi olan 27 (%28,1) yenidoğandan 5'ine (%5,2) immünglobulin tedavisi uygulandı.
bildirmemişlerdir.	Sonuçlar: İndirekt hiperbilirubinemi yenidoğan döneminde görülen önemli bir mortalite ve morbidite sebebidir. Fizyolojik olmayarı indirekt hiperbilirubinemide risk faktörlerinin saptanması klinik izlem ve erken tedavi yaklaşımı nörolojik sekel ve ölüm oranını azaltacaktır.
study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.	Anahtar kelimeler: Yenidoğan, İndirekt hiperbilirubinemi, Etiyoloji, Risk faktörleri
□ Published: 1/31/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 31.01.2020	
Copyright © 2020 The Author(s) Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.	

How to cite/Attf için: Üstebay S, Ertekin Ö, Üstebay DÜ. Evaluation of hospitalized newborns due to indirect hyperbilirubinemia: A cross-sectional study. J Surg Med. 2020;4(1):80-83.

JOSAM)

Introduction

Indirect hyperbilirubinemia (IHB) is one of the most common problems encountered in newborns and jaundice is one of the most common reasons for referral to a doctor [1]. Between 60-70% of term newborns and almost all (90%) premature infants suffer from hyperbilirubinemia in the first days of life [2,3]. Although IHB occurs physiologically in most newborns, the rate of pathological hyperbilirubinemia requiring hospitalization is reportedly between 4.8% and 15.5% [4,5]. The cause of physiological jaundice is increased bilirubin load which occurs due to high erythrocyte mass in newborns, shorter erythrocyte life span, and relatively low enzyme activity in bilirubin metabolism [6]. Increased bilirubin production, inadequate hepatic uptake, and conjugation, and increased enterohepatic circulation are among the causes of pathological jaundice [7,8]. It has been shown that the severity and duration of IHB in newborns varies according to gestational age, birth weight, race, heredity, nutritional status and concomitant disease [6-8]. IHB may cause severe neurotoxicity, especially in the basal ganglia, therefore, it should be distinguished from mild and non-pathological IHB. Although pathological IHB can be treated with phototherapy in most cases, advanced treatment methods such as blood exchange may be needed.

The aim of this study was to determine the frequency, clinical characteristics, underlying causes and treatment modalities of newborns hospitalized for IHB.

Materials and methods

In this cross-sectional study, 96 neonatal patients who were hospitalized and treated at Kafkas University Health Application and Research Hospital, Neonatal Intensive Care Unit between January 2018 and October 2019 were evaluated. Newborns who were followed up for other reasons, such as dehydration, transient tachypnea of newborn, respiratory distress syndrome, or congenital anomalies were not included in the study. The underlying causes, clinical course, and treatments of newborns with IHB who were hospitalized in our ward were evaluated. In addition, by examining demographic characteristics, age and weight at admission, weight loss ratio, gestational ages, birth weights, maternal ages, birth types were determined. Indirect bilirubin levels above 12.9 mg/dl in term babies were considered as pathological jaundice and term babies with 8.8 mg/dl indirect bilirubin at the end of the second week were considered to have prolonged jaundice [9,10]. Pathologic jaundice in preterm infants was accepted as bilirubin values above the threshold for starting phototherapy [8]. The decision to start phototherapy and other forms of treatment were determined according to the recommendations of the American Academy of Pediatrics published in 2004 [9].

Hemogram, total serum bilirubin levels, peripheral blood smears, direct coombs tests, mother and infant blood groups and serum electrolytes and urea/creatinine values of infants with weight loss above 10% were evaluated.

Newborns with maternal blood type 'O', infant's blood type 'A', 'B' or 'AB' and positive direct coombs test were accepted as ABO blood type incompatibility. Newborns with Rh positive blood groups whose mothers' blood groups were Rh negative, those with positive direct coombs tests and decreased hematocrit in follow-up, and whose peripheral blood smear findings are compatible with hemolysis were considered Rhincompatible. Maternal-infant subgroups, glucose-6 phosphate dehydrogenase enzyme levels, serum acute phase reactants and blood culture were studied in patients with unexplained indirect hyperbilirubinemia. Physical and laboratory findings were normal except for IHB and infants with jaundice lasting more than 14 days fed exclusively with breast milk were evaluated as late breast milk jaundice. Liver function tests, direct bilirubin levels, thyroid function tests, urine tests, sepsis parameters, reductant substances in urine, and osmotic fragility tests were evaluated in infants with prolonged jaundice (IHB lasting more than 14 days). Phototherapy was provided with blue halogen lamp phototherapy devices. If the serum total bilirubin level was close to the blood exchange limit or the bilirubin level continued to increase during the follow-up under phototherapy, slow infusion of intravenous immunoglobulin at 1g/kg dose was given in 4-6 hours in cases with direct coombs positivity due to immune-hemolytic anemia. The amount of donor blood required for blood exchange was adjusted to a double volume of 80cc/kg. Umbilical venous catheter was used for the procedure and the amount of blood to be taken and delivered at each cycle was 5cc/kg.

Statistical analysis

All obtained data were analyzed by using the statistical package for the social sciences (SPSS) version 22.0 software (SPSS,Inc Chicago,IL,USA). The number (N), percentage (%), mean, standard deviation (SD), median, minimum and maximum values were presented for descriptive data. *P*-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

The female-male ratio of our patients was 0.8. Sociodemographic characteristics, birth histories and nutritional status of our patients and their mothers are shown in Tables 1-2.

Table 1: Socio-demographic characteristics of patients and their mothers					
Characteristics	Mean (SD)	(Min-Max)			
Mother Age	30.1 (5.41)	(18-40)			
Gestational week	36.2 (2.5)	(32-41)			
Postnatal age	3.09 (2.75)	(1-21)			
Birth weight	2628.9 (820)	(1505-4260)			
Bilirubin level at admission (mg/dl) 12.1 (5.29) (9-26)					
SD: Standard deviation, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum					

Table 2: Birth and nutritional history of patients

able	2:	Birth	and	nutritional	

Delivery Route	n	%
Vaginal	12 (Birth in house)	12.5
	25 (Birth in hospital)	26
Cesarean section	59	61.5
Number of living siblings		
1 Child	33	34.4
2 Child	27	28.1
> 2 Child	36	37.5
Feeding characteristic		
Breast milk (BM)	26	27.1
Formula (F)	1	1
Mixed(BM+F)	69	71.9

The main reasons of IHB are the insufficient feeding of the newborn with breast milk, prematurity (PM) and/or low birth weight (LBW). The causes of IHB in our newborn cases are shown in Table 3. Phototherapy was started in all cases admitted to our neonatology clinic. After 2-4 hours, control bilirubin levels were measured and bilirubin decline rates were evaluated.

Among 11 cases diagnosed with pathological jaundice on the first day of life, ABO, ABO and Rh, and Rh

incompatibility were detected in 5 (45.4%), 1 (9.1%) and 4 (36.4%) patients, respectively. Early neonatal sepsis was a risk factor in 1 (9.1%) patient.

Table 3: Causes of indirect hyperbilirubinemia (IHB) in newbor
--

Causes	n	%
Prematurity/Low birth weight	20	20.9
ABO incompatibility	17	17.7
Nutritional deficiency	19	19.8
Rh incompatibility	7	7.3
Late breast milk jaundice	8	8.3
Cephalo-hematoma	2	2.1
ABO+Rh incompatibility	3	3.1
Urinary tract infection	4	4.2
Subgroup mismatch	1	1
Sepsis	4	4.2
Pneumonia	2	2.1
Omphalitis	1	1
G6PD deficiency	1	1
Congenital hypothyroidism	-	0
Unknown causes	7	7.3
Total	96	100

The time of onset of hyperbilirubinemia was not different in patients with and without hemolytic jaundice. Blood exchange was performed in 1 (1%) of our patients with IHB and intravenous immunoglobulin treatment was administered in 5 (5.2%) neonates.

It was found that 11 newborns who could not be fed with adequate breast milk in the early period had lost 9.4% (3.1%) (4.2-23%) of their birth weight by the time they were admitted to our newborn clinic, while the same parameter was 4.9% (2.67%) (1.2-13%) for others. The weight loss of the patients who could not be breastfed in the early period according to birth weight was found to be significantly lower than the cases who were hospitalized due to other IHB reasons (P<0.001). The number of living children, prematurity, low birth weight and early gestational age were factors affecting postnatal weight loss.

Jaundice lasted more than two weeks in 14 of our cases who were followed-up and treated for IHB. Etiological causes of prolonged jaundice in these cases include late breast milk jaundice (n=5), urinary tract infection (n=1), prematurity/low birth weight (n=5), and glucose 6 phosphate dehydrogenase enzyme deficiency (n=1). No etiological cause was determined for 2 cases.

Among insufficiently breast-fed infants, cesarean section deliveries were numerically and insignificantly higher than normal spontaneous vaginal deliveries (P=0.256). We found the incidence of IHB is 24.8% in our study.

Discussion

IHB, which is frequently seen in the neonatal period, can cause serious health problems if it is not diagnosed and treated in time. Therefore, it is particularly important to distinguish between pathological and non-pathological causes of IHB [11,12]. Nowadays, the importance of breastmilk is understood. Increase in rates of breastfeeding, survival among premature and low birth weight infants, neonatology clinics and early discharge are among the reasons for the increase in admission and diagnosis rates of newborn infants with jaundice. The prevalence of the IHB is so high that it raises the importance of IHB in terms of its possible complications.

It is known that male gender is a risk factor for IHB and in our study, similar results were obtained with those conducted in our country. Ünal et al. [13] found male gender as 59%, Narlı et al. [14] as 56%, and Kılıç et al. [15] as 55%. Similarly, male gender (58%) was found to be higher in our study (M / F: 56/40). In this study, the most common etiological cause of IHB was PM/LBW (20.9%), nutritional deficiency (19.8%) and ABO incompatibility (17.7%). Low bilirubin metabolism and transport in PM / LBW infants as well as delayed UDP-GT expression in the liver is the main cause of increased duration and severity of physiological jaundice [16].

In the early period of the newborn, insufficient breastfeeding is related to inappropriate breastfeeding techniques rather than the characteristics of breast milk. Early breast milk jaundice is seen due to inexperience of mother, low amount of milk and being the first-born baby. In our study, the rate of early breast milk jaundice was higher in the first infant (19.8%). It is particularly important to start early breastfeeding, teach the techniques, and emphasize the importance of the continuity of breastfeeding.

Late breast milk jaundice is characterized by hyperbilirubinemia, which has a slow rate of increase after the first week of life and is associated with certain substances in breast milk content. Bilirubin elevation in breast milk jaundice can last for 3 weeks-3 months and may take several months to return normal values. Diagnosis is made by ruling out other causes that may cause IHB [1,3,6,13]. In our study, late breast milk jaundice was 8.3% (Table 3).

Although there are many factors in the etiology of IHB, the most important one is hemolytic hyperbilirubinemia due to blood type incompatibility, the rate of which was reported as 7.9% for Rh, 2.9% for ABO + Rh incompatibility by Kılıç et al. [15], 13.2% for Rh, 10.4% for ABO + Rh incompatibility by Narlı et al. [14], 9.6% for Rh, 4.8% for ABO + Rh for incompatibility by Özkaya et al. [16], and 2.3% for Rh, 1.9% for ABO + Rh, 14.3% for ABO incompatibility and 0.9% for subgroup mismatch by Ünal et al. [13]. In our study, we found 7.3% Rh incompatibility, 3.1% ABO + Rh incompatibility, 17.7% ABO incompatibility and 1% subgroup mismatch. In light of the available data, it is necessary to determine the blood groups of newborns of O or Rh (-) mothers and be mindful of possible hemolytic IHB. It should also be remembered that subgroup mismatch is an etiology of hemolytic IHB of unknown origin.

Glucose 6 Phosphate Dehydrogenase (G6PD) enzyme deficiency should be evaluated in newborns with a family history, those of a specific ethnic-geographical origin (Mediterranean, Africa, Middle East, Southeast Asia, Arabic Peninsula) or those inadequately responsive to phototherapy. In our country, Büyükokuyan et al. [17] found that the rate of G6PD deficiency in newborns diagnosed with IHB was 3.8% in the Marmara region and 8.3% in the Çukurova region. In addition, G6PD deficiency was 3.85% in the IHB newborns studied by Atay et al. [18]. In our study, the G6PD deficiency rate was 1%. This low rate of G6PD deficiency can be explained by the determination of enzyme level in unexplained IHB cases, which was also low. In the study of Ünal et al. [13], G6PD enzyme deficiency rate was found as 0.5% in unexplained IHB cases, like our study. In the studies conducted in our country, the rate of urinary tract infection as the cause of prolonged IHB cases was reported as 7.8% by Bilgen et al. [19] (bag culture, 100,000 colonies / ml and above, only single species were considered significant), and 1% by Ünal et al. [13] (suprapubic

aspiration, single bacterium is considered significant). In our study, the rate of urinary tract infection as a cause of prolonged IHB was 4.2%. We think that the difference between our rates and the literature was due to the fact that we obtained urine cultures both with a bag and suprapubic aspiration.

In neonatal hyperbilirubinemia, the primary approach is to protect the central nervous system from the toxic effects of bilirubin and to protect the newborn from possible permanent damage to the neuromotor system. All patients admitted to our neonatology clinic with the diagnosis of IHB were treated with phototherapy. Blood exchange was performed in 1 (1%) newborn patient with severe hemolytic hyperbilirubinemia. Five (5.2%) patients received intravenous immunoglobulin therapy and 4 of these patients did not need blood exchange.

We found that infection was the cause of IHB in 7.3% of our cases (4.2% sepsis, 1% omphalitis, 2.1% pneumonia), while in their series, the rate of infection was reported as 7.2% (3.6% sepsis, 2.4% omphalitis, 1.2% pneumonia) by Tekinalp et al. [20] and 13.1% (sepsis 1.8%, omphalitis 11.3%) by Kılıç et al. [15]. The low rate of omphalitis in our series may be related to high-standard umbilical care due to elevated birth rate in the hospital.

As a result of this study, IHB was seen to accompany ABO/Rh incompatibility, neonatal infections, and enzymatic deficiencies. Early diagnosis of possible pathological conditions in the perinatal period will significantly reduce the mortality and morbidity rates of the newborn and prevent permanent damage to the newborn's central nervous system [21]. Close monitoring of newborns who are at risk of possible IHD is vitally important in this respect and adequate treatment of newborns with hyperbilirubinemia will contribute to the growth of healthy generations.

The most important limitation of our study is the low number of cases. We think that a larger sample size can eliminate the current limitation.

Conclusion

Indirect hyperbilirubinemia is an important risk factor for mortality and morbidity in the newborn period. Defining the risk factors for non-physiologic indirect hyperbilirubinemia, adequate follow up and prompt treatment would reduce neurological sequela and mortality rates.

Acknowledgments

As the authors, we would like to thank the department staff, assistant doctors and nurses.

References

- Wong RJ, Desandre GH, Sibley E, Stevenson DK. Neonatal jaundice and liver diseases. In: Martin RJ, Fanaroff AA, Walsh MC (eds). Neonatal-Perinatal Medicine. Diseases of the Fetus and Infant, 8th ed, Philadelphia: Mosby Elsevier. 2006;1419-65.
- Doğan Y, Güngör S, Gürgöze MK, Taşkın E, Yolmaz E, Aygün D. Yenidoğan Hiperbilirubinemili olguların değerlendirilmesi. Hipokrat Pediatri Dergisi. 2003;3:108-11.
- Alpay F. Sarilik. In: Yurdakök M, Erdem G. Neonatoloji. Türk Neonatoloji Derneği. Ankara: Alp Ofset 2004;559-78.
 Ulardi A, Denre N, Scharfer FV, A. Lin, G. P. Lin, G. MCOLLER, P. Lin, G. MCOLLER, M. Scharfer FV, A. Lin, G. M. Scharfer FV, G. M. Scharfer FV, G. M. Scharfer FV, G. M. Scharfer FV, G. M. Scharfer FV, G. M. Scharfer FV, G. M. Scharfer FV, G. M. Scharfer FV, G. M. Scharfer FV, G. M. Scharfer FV, G. M. Scharfer FV, G. M. Scharfer FV, G. M. Scharfer FV, G. M. Scharfer FV, G. M. Scharfer FV, G.
- Ülgenalp A, Duman N, Schaefer FV. Analysis of Polymorphism for UGT1×1 EXON 1 Promoter in Neonates with Pathologic and Prolonged Jaundice. Biol Neonate. 2003;83(4):258-62.
- 5. Bertini G, Dani C, Tronchin M, Rubaltelli FF. Is breast-feeding really favoring early neonatal jaundice? Pediatrics. 2001;107-41.
- Kültürsay N, Çalkavur Ş. İndirekt Hiperbilirubinemi/nedenler ve tanı. Güncel Pediatri. 2006;2:21-5.
 Danasarı PA, Saidman DS, Stavanger DK, Neuratel henerkilir Line in NED, LANK J. 2006;2:21-5.
- Dennery PA, Seidman DS, Stevenson DK. Neonatal hyperbilirubinemia. N Engl J Med. 2001;344:581-90.
 Stoll BJ, Kliegman RM, The fetüs and Neonatal Infant. In: Behrman RE, Kliegman RM, Jenson HB, eds
- Nelson Textbook of Pediatrics. 17th ed. Philadelphia: WB Saunders Company; 2004;592-98.
- American Academy of Pediatrics, Provisional Committee for Quality Improvement and Subcommittee on Hyperbilirubinemia. Practice parameter: Management of hyperbilirubinemia in the healthy term newborn. Pediatrics. 1994;94:558-65.
- 10.Monaghan G, McLellan A, McGeehan A. Gilbert'ssyndrome is a contributary factor in prolonged unconjugated hyperbilirubinemia of the newborn. J Pediatr. 1999;134:441-6.
- 11.No authors listed. Practice parameter management of hyperbilirubinemia in the healty term newborn. American Academy of Pediatrics Provisional Commitee for Quality Improvoment and Subcommittee on Hyperbilirubinemia. Pediatrics. 1994;94:558-65.

- 12. Alpay F. Yenidoğan Sarılığı. Türkiye Klinikleri J Pediatr Sci. 2004;2:689-97.
- 13. Ünal S, Eker S, Kılıç G, Yılmaz A, Özaydın E. İndirekt Hiperbilirubinemili Yenidoğanların Geriye Dönük olarak Değerlendirilmesi. Türkiye Klinikleri J Pediatr. 2008;17(4). 14. Narlı N, Satar M, Özlü F, Yapıcıoğlu H, Özkan K. Çukurova Üniversitesi Yenidoğan Yoğunbakım Ünitesi'ne
- yatırlan hiperbilirubinemili bebelerin etiyolojik yönden değerlendirilmesi. Çukurova Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Dergisi. 2004;29:51-5.
- 15.Kılıç İ, Ergin H, Çakaloz I. The Evaluation of Indurect Hyperbilirubinemia cases in Newborn Period. Türkiye Klinikleri J Pediatr. 2005;14:20-5. 16.Özkava H, Bahar A, Öxkan A, Kandemir F, Göcmen I, Mete Z. İndirekt hiperbilirubinemili venidoğanlarda
- 10. Czawaya n, Danar A, Ozawa A, Kanuetini F, Ooçinen I, Mete Z. indirekt niperbiirubinemiii yenidoganlarda ABO, Rh ve subgrup (Kell,c,e) uyuşmazlıkları. Türk Pediatri Arşivi. 2000;35:30-5.
 17. Büyükokuyan ME, Süleyman H. Glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase deficienscy. Türkiye Klinikleri J Med
- Sci. 2001;21:415-9.
 18.Atay E, Bozaykut A, İpek IO. Glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase deficienscy in neonatal indirect hyperbilirubinemia. J Trop Pediatr. 2006;52:56-8.
- Bigen H, Özek E, Unver T, Biykli N, Alpay H, Cebeci D. Urinary tract infection and hyperbilirubinemia. Turk J Pediatr. 2006;48:51-5.
- Tekinalp G, Ergin H, Erdem G, Yurdakök M, Yiğit Ş. Yenidoğan döneminde uzamış sarılıklar: 82 vakanın değerlendirilmesi. Çocuk Sağlığı ve Hastalıkları Dergisi. 1996;39:441-8.
- 21.Atadağ Y, Aydın A, Kaya D, Öksüz A, Köşker HD. Risk assessments, pregnancy and birth processes of pregnant women at primary health care center: A retrospective study. J Surg Med. 2017;1(1):5-8.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Journal of Surgery and Medicine --ISSN-2602-2079

Determination of cancer progression in breast cells by fiber optic bioimpedance spectroscopy system

Fiber optik biyoimpedans spektroskopi sistemi ile meme hücrelerinde kanser gelişiminin belirlenmesi

differentiation of human breast cells was evaluated.

Tuba Denkçeken¹, Ayşegül Çört²

 ¹ Department of Biophysics, Faculty of Medicine, SANKO University, Gaziantep, Turkey
 ² Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Pamukkale University, Denizli, Turkey

> ORCID ID of the author(s) TD: 0000-0002-4663-5410 AC: 0000-0001-8946-7173

Corresponding author/Sorumlu yazar: Tuba Denkçeken Address/Adres: SANKO Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Biyofizik Anabilim Dalı, 27090 Gaziantep, Türkiye e-Mail: tdenkceken@sanko.edu.tr

Ethics Committee Approval: The study is not a study with human participants. There are no experiments on animals. This study does not contain any studies on human participants or animals performed by the authors. There is no identifying information of participants. Etik Kurul Onayi: Bu çalışma, insan katılımcılarla

Etik Kurul Onayı: Bu çalışma, insan katılımcılarla yapılan bir çalışma değildir. Hayvanlar üzerinde deney yoktur. Bu çalışmada, insan katılımcıları veya yazarlar tarafından gerçekleştirilen hayvanlar üzerinde yapılan hiçbir çalışma yoktur. Katılımcıların tanımlayıcı bilgisi yoktur.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.

Financial Disclosure: This research was funded by The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK), grant number 115E662. Finansal Destek: Bu çalışma 115E662 numaralı program kodu ile Türkiye Bilimsel ve Teknolojik Araştırma Kurumu (TÜBİTAK) tarafından desteklenmiştir.

> Published: 1/31/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 31.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s) Published by JOSAM

This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



Öz

Abstract

Spectroscopy (FOBIS) system.

Amaç: Kanserin erken evrede teşhis edildiğinde en etkili şekilde tedavi edilebileceği iyi bilinmektedir. Bu nedenle, kanserin ve prekanseröz lezyonların erken tespiti için yeni biyomedikal yaklaşımların geliştirilmesi, değerlendirilmesi ve validasyonu önemli bir önceliktir. Amacımız, Fiber Optik Biyoimpedans Spektroskopisi (FOBIS) sistemini kullanarak düşük metastatik insan meme hücrelerini normal insan meme hücrelerinden ayırt etmekti.

Aim: It is well established that cancer can be most effectively treated when diagnosed at an early stage. Therefore, development, evaluation, and validation of new biomedical approaches for early detection of cancer and precancerous lesions are important priorities.

Our aim was to distinguish low metastatic human breast cells from normal human breast cells using the Fiber Optic Bioimpedance

Methods: In the FOBIS system we developed, the diameters of the fibers and platinum wires are 50 and 25µm, respectively. The

sensitivity of the system to differentiate different cell types was assessed with high metastatic (MDA-MB-231), low metastatic (MCF-7) and normal breast epithelial cells (MCF-10A). Statistical evaluation of data was performed by using Principle Component Analysis (PCA) and Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA). Spectroscopic data obtained from FOBIS system on suspended human breast cells were evaluated by multivariate statistical analysis to obtain information about the cell type. Fiber optic and bioimpedance methods allow discrimination of different cell types based on their signature. By combining these two techniques, the sensitivity of the system to the

Results: The discrimination provided the sensitivity of 100% and specificity of 60% in distinguishing MCF-7 from MCF-10A cells.

Conclusion: A highly accurate distinction of breast cancer cells was achieved in cell culture by FOBIS system.

Yöntemler: FOBİS sisteminde 50µm çaplı fiberler ve 25µm çaplı platin teller kullanılmıştır. Sistemin farklı hücre tiplerini ayırt etme duyarlılığı yüksek metastatik (MDA-MB-231), düşük metastatik (MCF-7) ve normal meme epitel hücreleri (MCF-10A) için hesaplanmıştır. Verilerin istatistiksel değerlendirmesi Temel Bileşenler Analizi (TBA) ve Doğrusal Ayırım Analizi (DAA) ile yapılmıştır. İnsan meme hücre kültürlerinde FOBİS sistemi ile elde edilen spektroskopik veriler, çok değişkenli istatistiksel analizi ile değerlendirilerek hücre tipi hakkında bilgi elde edilmiştir. Fiber optik ve biyoimpedans yöntemlerinden elde edilen spektroskopik veriler ile farklı hücre tipleri ayırt edilebilmektedir. Bu iki tekniğin birleştirilmesi ile sistemin insan meme hücrelerinin farklılaşmasına duyarlılığı test edilmiştir.

Bulgular: Buna göre %100 duyarlılık ve %60 seçicilik ile MCF-7 hücreleri MCF-10A hücrelerinden ayırt edilmiştir. Sonuç: FOBİS sistemi ile hücre kültüründe meme kanseri hücreleri yüksek duyarlılıkla ayırt edilmiştir.

Anahtar kelimeler: Biyoimpedans, Meme, Hücre ayırımı, Fiber optik, Spektroskopi

Keywords: Bioimpedance, Breast, Cell distinguish, Fiber optic, Spectroscopy

How to cite/Attf için: Denkçeken T, Çört A. Determination of cancer progression in breast cells by fiber optic bioimpedance spectroscopy system. J Surg Med. 2020;4(1):84-88.

Introduction

Probes with different diameters and geometries are designed to determine cancerous tissue in recent studies. Individually, fiber optic and impedance measurements are inadequate to detect precancerous lesions in the tissue. Intracellular (R_{intracelular}) fluids, extracellular (R_{extracellular}) fluids and ion channels (R_{membrane}) in the membrane are represented by resistance while the membrane itself is represented by a capacitor (C_{membrane}) in the electrical equivalent circuit model of the cell [1]. When an electrical potential is applied to tissue, the current flows through the intracellular and extracellular spaces at high frequencies and extracellular spaces at low frequencies [2]. The cell acts as an insulator in low frequency, and a conductor in high frequency. Current cannot enter the cell membrane and flows out of the cell at zero frequency. Resistance (R: the resistance of the body fluid) and reactance ($X_c = 1/2\pi fC$: the resistance of the cell membrane and tissue interface) are components of impedance (Z), which is calculated for each frequency with the formula: $Z^2 = X_C^2 + R^2$. Reactance, related to the capacitance, causes the phase shift. This phase shift is defined by the Phase Angle (PA) which is calculated with arctan (X_C/R) [3, 4]. The impedance of the tissue varies with the frequency. The current applied to the tissue flows through extracellular fluid because cell membranes function as capacitors. At higher frequencies, this capacitive effect is lost, after which the current passes through the extracellular and intracellular fluid. Thus, the impedance shows a highly resistant characteristic without the reactive component.

Chromatin structure and mucosal integrity change, and cell volume expands, resulting in a decrease in extracellular space and nucleus growth when cancer develops in the tissue [5]. When malignant tumor cells develop in the tissue, various differentiations occur in the membrane and its contents. These differentiations are high aerobic lactate production, abnormal plasma membrane transitions, decreased cell connection, and new antigen formations. Neoplastic changes in the tissue affect sodium, potassium, and calcium ion ratios inside the cell that causes loss of shape, movement, and intercellular communication disorders. All these changes during cancer progression affect cell physiology and thus lead to changes in the electrical properties of the tissue.

Pathologists use morphological criteria like size, shape, nucleus-cytoplasm ratio and glandular structures of the cell during the diagnosis of the tissue. These structures vary in different types of cancer compared to normal tissue. The photons diffuse inside the tissue and some photons reflect from the surface. When light passes from one medium to another, a part of the energy is reflected from the surface of the medium, while another part passes through. When light enters the tissue, it is scattered from the cell membrane because of this difference. Scattering depends on the morphological structure of the tissue. In optical experiments, backscattered light from the tissue is collected as a spectrum, so diagnostic information is provided about the tissue. Salomon et al. [6] used triple spectroscopy technique, and the differentiation of benign and malignant prostate tissue was found with 75% sensitivity after validation. According to this study, the reason for high sensitivity in the differentiation of cancerous tissue was the addition of electrical impedance to the optic and laser system.

In the present study, we aimed to detect cancerous cell type in human breast cell culture in combination with Principle Component Analysis (PCA) and Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA).

Materials and methods

FOBIS system consists of fiber optic and bioimpedance spectroscopy (Figure 1). Fiber optic part of the system consists of two fiber cables, and the bioimpedance part, two platinum wires. FOBIS system was used for getting optic and impedance spectral information. Current transferred to the media and information about the conductivity of the media was obtained via the bioimpedance part. Adjacent two fiber cables were used in the fiber optic part. Light sent to the media by the fiber that was connected to the light source, and backscattered light was collected with the other fiber for analysis. Since the diameter $(50\mu m)$ and the numerical aperture (0.22) of the fibers were small (VIS-NIR low OH, 50-micron bare fiber, Ocean Optics), the backscattered light was detected from the surface of the medium. However, singly this optical information was not enough to detect precancerous lesions. For this reason, we added the bioimpedance part to our system. Electrode placement in bioimpedance measurement techniques affects the penetration depth of the signal. Bioimpedance information is obtained from the media surface with electrodes that are placed close to each other in our study. On the other hand, the signal goes more indepth as the distance between the electrodes increases [7]. Hence, in the bioimpedance part of the system, the platinum wires were placed close to each other so that the bioimpedance information was obtained from the surface of the medium. These allow the optical and bioimpedance parts of the system to receive information from the same surface area in the medium.



Design of FOBIS system

Design of Fiber Optic Part: The Fiber Optic part of the system consists of a halogen-tungsten light source (HL-2000 Tungsten Halogen, Ocean Optics), a spectrometer (USB2000+ VIS-NIR Spectrometer, Ocean Optics), a laptop and two fiber optic cables with 50-micron diameter. These two fibers were centered with no distance between them, and all spectral signals were examined by IGOR program (Wavemetrics, Lake Oswego, OR, USA). JOSAM)

Design of Bioimpedance Part: In the second part of the FOBIS system, the 25-micron diameter platinum wires were combined with the optical part as represented in specified geometry in figure 1. To determine whether the platinum wires were in the defined geometry, the signal generator was connected for sending the signal to one end of the platinum wire, and the oscilloscope measured this signal from the other end of the same platinum wire. At the same time, to determine whether the platinum wires were isolated from each other inside the probe, the signal generator was connected for sending the signal to one of the two platinum wires, and the oscilloscope measured this signal from the end of the other platinum wire. In this procedure, the absence of the signal means that isolation was provided. Bioimpedance analyzer (Quadscan 4000, Bodystat Inc.) was connected to the platinum wires to send current to the medium and for impedance measurement. Currents sent in multiple (5, 50, 100 and 200kHz) frequencies and impedance measurements were obtained. Also, resistance, reactance and PA values were recorded at 50kHz frequency.

Calibration procedure of FOBIS system

Bioimpedance Calibration: The frequency versus impedance response of the saline solution is constant, platinum part of the FOBIS probe calibrated by using saline solutions for the known conductivity by using a conductivity meter. The principle of the calibration procedure was to relate the measured transfer impedance to a known uniform conductivity, using a calibration factor or probe constant for each measurement frequency.

Fiber Optic Calibration: Each spectrum was normalized to the integration time, and three spectra were measured for calibration. Firstly, we wanted to eliminate light as much as possible to gather a background spectrum. The tip of the FOBIS probe inserted to a black container which contains pure water and then we measured the back-reflection $R(\lambda)_{bg}$. Secondly, the spectral dispersion of the light source was measured $R(\lambda)_c$ from reflectance standard (Spectralon, Labsphere, Inc.). Confirmation of the calibration was done by observing Mie oscillation from the final spectrum, which was taken from polystyrene microspheres with 2 (0.02) micron diameter. After these calibration measurements, we obtained spectrum from cells, $R(\lambda)_s$ which were corrected by $R(\lambda)=[R(\lambda)_s - R(\lambda)_{bg}]/[R(\lambda)_c - R(\lambda)_{bg}]$.

Cell line

MDA-MB-231, MCF-7, and MCF-10A cells were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells were grown in DMEM supplemented with 4mmol/L L-glutamine and 5% to 10% fetal bovine serum. MCF-10A cells were grown in DMEM/Nut Mix F-12 supplemented with 4mmol/L L-glutamine, 5% serum, 10µg/mL insulin, 20ng/mL epidermal growth factor and 100ng/mL cholera toxins. Cells were chosen with a range of metastatic potential. The average surface area of each cell medium was determined with at least 30 measurements by using an ImageJ (Image Processing and Analysis in Java) open source program. Average surface area of MCF-10A, MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells was calculated as 0.041 (0.019) mm², 0.064 (0.017) mm² and 0.09 (0.028) mm², respectively. Spectroscopic measurements were taken from MDA-MB-231, MCF-7 and MCF-10A cells by FOBIS system to detect the sensitivity to cell type. In order not to adversely affect the sterilization of culture media, FOBIS probe was sterilized with "Cidex-Opa" at each experimental stage.

Statistical analysis

PCA [8,9] followed by LDA [10] was performed to find specific patterns in the wavelength and frequencies for MDA-MB-231, MCF-7 and MCF-10A cells. PCA was used to identify and extract major trends within a given spectral data set. Optic and impedance spectroscopic data matrix "D" (I×C) contains the intensities of scattered light and impedance data from "I" spectra (3); the column number "C" is the number of points for each spectral data (965) and data matrix "D" is separated into several principal components (PCs). The result of PCA is a product of PC scores "S" and PC loadings "F" matrices plus the residue "k": S= D.F \rightarrow D=S.F'+k=s₁f'₁+s₂f'₂+...s_nf'_n+k where D: (IxC) initial data matrix (3x965); S: score $[s_1, s_2, s_3, ..., s_n]$; F': Eigenvector matrix, loadings, variance; [f'₁, f'₂, f'₃..., f'_n]; k: Residual matrix and n is the number of computed PCs. The purpose of PCA is reducing the dimension of observed variables into a relatively smaller number of components while maintaining as much information or variance. Afterward, the acquired components were analyzed by independent-sample ttest for each independent cell types. Statistically significant components were used in LDA to achieve the most precise differentiation of cells. While PCA finds basis vectors corresponding with the direction of the maximal variance of the variables in the data set, LDA searches for those vectors in the underlying space that best discriminates among classes of data and looks for linear combination of variables that best explain the data set [11]. Discrimination is done by setting the variate's weight for each variable to maximize the inter-class variance relative to the intra-class variance of the observation. For confirmation and validation of the analysis, leave-one-out crossvalidation (LOOCV) was performed. The areas under the ROC curve (AUC) as well as the sensitivities and specificities for the optimal cut-points are calculated using the discriminant function scores which is obtained by LDA. We used the software package R-Studio Open Source Statistical Language for PCA, LDA and ROC analysis [12,13].

Results

Bioimpedance measurement results

It was found that the impedance value decreases in the suspended metastatic cancer cells in medium (Figure 2a). The reason for this is that the resistance value of the normal breast epithelial cells at lower frequencies is higher than the low and high metastatic resistance values at the same frequencies. The current at low frequencies is exposed to a long resistive pathway around the tight layer of the normal cells. However, the extracellular pathway decreases with the increase of surface area in cancerous cells that causes a decrease in impedance at low frequencies. In the same cell type, impedance was found high due to the strong dielectric properties of the cell membrane and the tissue interface acting as a capacitance in low frequency. However, impedance was found low due to the loss of this capacitive effect of the membrane at high frequencies.

PA values of all cell types were compared, and it was observed that this angle decreased from normal to high metastasis in cell medium (Figure 2b). According to this finding, different cell types can be detected by using PA values of bioimpedance part of the FOBIS system in the medium.

Fiber optic measurement results

Spectra in the visible wavelength range were acquired from MCF-10A, MCF-7, and MDA-MB-231 cells by using fiber optic part of FOBIS system (Figure 3). At least 16 measurements were collected per cell. A total of 420 spectra were acquired from all cell types, and these spectra were analyzed. As shown in figure 3, the spectral data had different patterns, containing multiple and often overlapping peaks so they turned out to be not very distinct to differentiate cell types from each other. To overcome this limitation, advanced methods of analysis, PCA followed by LDA, were used to differentiate the cell types. In this analysis, firstly we performed a PCA to reduce the number of predictor variables, without much loss of optic and bioimpedance information, used for the differentiation of cell types, which was achieved by first finding the direction having the largest variance (PC1: 59%), and thereafter finding subsequent directions (PC2: 13%, PC3: 11%, PC4: 2%, PC5-15 together gives 1% or less of variance but still contributed significantly). Kruskal-Wallis H-test on all component scores showed that there were one most diagnostically significant (P < 0.05) component (PC5) for discriminating cell types. Secondly, the significant component was used as the input variable of LDA. Finally, AUC, as well as the sensitivities and specificities for the optimal cut-points were calculated (Table 1-3).



In our study, ROC analysis further confirmed that PCA-LDA based diagnostic algorithms using the all spectral properties of FOBIS system can distinguish low metastatic cancer cells (MCF-7) from normal (MCF-10A) with a sensitivity of 100% and specificity of 60% as seen in figure 4.



Figure 4: ROC curve comparing low metastatic cancer cell and normal

Discussion

Spectroscopic techniques are quantitative methods which yield more objective results than conventional approaches. In recent years, real-time and noninvasive diagnostic studies have been conducted using optical methods. Molecular and morphological changes in the tissue during the progression of cancer depend on the scatterers of tissue, including nucleus size, nucleus-cytoplasm ratio, and mitochondrial size than scattering and absorption coefficients. These parameters can be correlated with features that are used by pathologists during histological evaluation. The scattering of light from the tissue is more sensitive to changes in the cellular morphology than biochemical changes. Intracellular components such as cell nucleus, mitochondria, lysosomes, Golgi apparatus and the difference in Refractive Index (RI) of cytoplasm causes light scattering in biological tissues [14,15]. In the elastic light scattering, there is no difference between the wavelength of light, which is transmitted to the medium, and the wavelength of the backscattered light. Therefore, there is only the spatial dispersion of light in the medium. In our study, visible wavelength range (450-750 nm) light was used. Due to the small diameter of fibers $(50\mu m)$ and numerical aperture (0.22), it was improbable that the photons, which were diffused in the medium, were collected by the adjacent optical fibers immediately, entering light into the medium re-collected from the surface of the medium without further deep penetration. With the fiber geometry that was determined in this study, the photons scattered only a few times in the medium were collected, and the sensitivity of the morphological changes in the cell was investigated with the obtained spectral information. With changing the particle size, alteration in the obtained spectra can be explained by Mie theory. According to this theory, the intensity of backscattered light from the medium depends on the scattering phase function (P (θ, λ)) and scattering coefficient $\mu_s(\lambda)$.

The structures in the cell function as biological scatterers. Light scattering occurs in the cell itself, nucleus, structures within organelle and organelle in mammalian cells. These cells are approximately 10-30 μ m diameter and have 3-10 μ m nucleus diameter [16]. The length of the mitochondria of these cells is about 1-4 μ m, and the diameter is around 0.3-0.7 μ m

[17]. Lysosomes and peroxisomes diameters of these cells are about 0.2-0.5µm [16]. The RI values of these organelles were determined as 1.35-1.36 for extracellular fluid [18], 1.36-1.375 for cytoplasm and 1.38-1.41 for nucleus [19], mitochondria and organelles [20] in the literature. RI value of normal epithelial cells that we studied was found as 1.34 for the growth medium, and RI value of its nucleus was found higher than the cytoplasm [21]. In a study, the RI values of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells were determined higher than the normal cells. Accordingly, the RI value was determined as 1.37 for normal, 1.401 for MCF-7 and 1.399 for MDA-MB-231 [22]. In our study, due to the difference of RI of the cells in the medium, the light scattering intensity which is obtained from the MCF-10A in which RI is close to the medium was found lower than MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 which had high RI, consistent with the study in the literature [23].

It has been stated that the capacitive nature of the cell membrane causes the current flow into the surface of cells and the tight junctions act as a "short circuit" which in turn leads to a characteristic drop in impedance at high frequencies [24]. In our study, the impedance value decreased, while cancer progressed in the medium. Over the years, several in-vitro and in-vivo studies have been conducted to study the dielectric properties of cancerous and non-cancerous breast tissues. For instance, Chauveau et al. [25] conducted an in-vitro study of normal and cancerous breast tissues and observed significant differences in their dielectric properties. Surowiec et al. [26] conducted in-vitro dielectric studies in the tumor, surrounding the tumor and normal peripheral samples of breast tissues. They found that the tumor tissues had low frequency (100 kHz) conductivity which was higher than the conductivity of normal tissue and lower than that of the surrounding tissue. In another ex-vivo study, Fricke et al. [27] measured the parallel capacitance and resistance of the excised samples from the normal and carcinoma breast tissues. They found significantly higher permittivity of the tumor tissue at 20kHz as compared to the normal or benign tissues. PA values decreases from normal to cancer in the medium. The reduction in ionic conductivity and disorientation of cell integrity in cancer progression causes low reactance and low PA. This angle was found high in normal cells where membrane integrity was oriented, and reactance was high. Studies have shown that low PA is associated with the tumor, cell death or decreased cell integrity, but high PA is associated with the healthy cell or cell membrane [4,28-31].

Our results indicate that the FOBIS system can distinguish between MCF-10A and MCF-7 with a sensitivity of 100% and a specificity of 60%, MCF-10A, and MDA-MB-231 with a sensitivity of 100% and a specificity of 80%, MCF-7, and MDA-MB-231 with a sensitivity of 80% and a specificity of 80%. In the previous studies that used fiber optic and bioimpedance systems alone with different geometries, precancerous lesions were detected with low sensitivity [32,33].

Conclusion

It is well established that cancer can be most effectively treated when diagnosed at an early stage. Therefore, development, evaluation, and validation of new biomedical approaches for early detection of cancer and precancerous lesions are important priorities. The FOBIS system that we have developed in this study has been shown to distinguish low metastatic cells from normal cells with 100% sensitivity. Since the measurement takes a long time in this study, this is a constraint when the system is applied to the clinic *ex-vivo* experiments. To overcome this limitation, we are currently developing a scanning system with automation and interface. In this way, through probe tip of FOBIS system that has automation control, the tissue that has large surface area will be scanned in a short time with small steps so any region of the surface area will not be missed. It is planned that the management of the motor step movements, interface and the collection of spectroscopic signals will be performed on the same screen in the computer real time.

References

(JOSAM)

- Hodgkin AL, Huxley AF. A quantitative description of membrane current and its application to conduction and excitation in nerve. J Physiol. 1952;117:500-44.
- 2. Schwan HP. Electrical properties of tissue and cell suspensions. Adv Biol Med Phys. 1957;5:147-209.
- Lukaski HC. Biological indexes considered in the derivation of the bioelectrical impedance analysis. Am J Clin Nutr. 1996;64:397S-404S.
 Selberg O, Selberg D. Norms and correlates of bioimpedance phase angle in healthy human subjects,
- Schort G, Schort D, Norms and correlates to nonnpedance phase angle in neuring initial subjects, hospitalized patients, and patients with liver cirrhosis. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2002;86:509-16.
 Farre R, Blondeau K, Clement D, Vicario M, Cardozo L, Vieth M, et al. Evaluation of oesophageal mucosa
- Farte K, Diomata K, Cennett D, Vican M, Cardoo K, Vien M, et al. Evaluation of desophagear micesar integrity by the intraluminal impedance technique. Gut 2011;60:885-92.
 Salomon G, Hess T, Erbersdobler A, Eichelberg C, Greschner S, Sobchuk AN, et al. The feasibility of prostate
- Salomon G, Hess T, Erbersdobier A, Eichenerg C, Greschner S, Soochuk AN, et al. The feasibility of prostate cancer detection by triple spectroscopy. Eur Urol. 2009;55:376-83.
- Grimnes S, Martinsen ØG. Geometrical Analysis in Bioimpedance and Bioelectricity Basics. Academic Press: Oxford; 2015. pp. 141-178.
 Eriksson L, Andersson PL, Johansson E, Tysklind M. Megavariate analysis of environmental QSAR data. Part
- Eriksson L, Andersson PL, Johansson E, Tysklind M. Megavariate analysis of environmental QSAR data. Part II--investigating very complex problem formulations using hierarchical, non-linear and batch-wise extensions of PCA and PLS. Mol Divers. 2006;10:187-205.
- 9. Abdi H, Williams LJ. Principal component analysis. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Comput Stat. 2010;2:433-59.
- 10. Fukunaga K. Introduction to Statistical Pattern Recognition. Elsevier Science; 2013.
- 11. Martinez AM, Kak AC. PCA versus LDA. IEEE T Pattern Anal. 2001;23:228-33.
- Team TRDC. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. 2010.
 Fawcett T. An introduction to ROC analysis. Pattern Recogn Lett. 2006;27:861-74
- Faweet 1. An initial and the result of the re
- cladding method. Appl Opt. 1989;28:2297-303.
 15. Tearney GJ, Brezinski ME, Southern JF, Bouma BE, Hee MR, Fujimoto JG. Determination of the refractive index of highly scattering human tissue by optical coherence tomography. Opt Lett. 1995;20:2258.
- Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, Walter P, Raff M, Roberts K. Molecular Biology of the Cell 4th Edition: International Student Edition. Routledge; 2002.
- Palade GE. An electron microscope study of the mitochondrial structure. J Histochem Cytochem. 1953;1:188-211.
 B. Maier JS, Walker SA, Fantini S, Franceschini MA, Gratton E, Possible correlation between blood elucose
- Mater JS, Walker SA, Fantini S, Franceschini MA, Gratton E. Possible correlation between blood glucose concentration and the reduced scattering coefficient of tissues in the near infrared. Opt Lett. 1994;19:2062-4.
 Brunsting A, Mullaney PF. Differential light scattering from spherical mammalian cells. Biophys J.
- 1974;14:439-53. 20. Liu H, Beauvoit B, Kimura M, Chance B. Dependence of tissue optical properties on solute-induced changes in
- refractive index and osmolarity. J Biomed Opt. 1996;1:200-11. 21. Drezek R, Dunn A, Richards-Kortum R. Light scattering from cells: finite-difference time-domain simulations
- and goniometric measurements. Appl Opt. 1999;38:3651-61. 22. Liang XJ, Liu AQ, Lim CS, Ayi TC, Yap PH. Determining refractive index of single living cell using an
- integrated microchip. Sensors and Actuators a-Physical. 2007;133:349-54. 23. Videla FA, Schinca DC, Scaffardi LB. Sizing particles by backscattering spectroscopy and Fourier analysis.
- SPIE: 2006.
 24. Keshtkar A. Application of Electrical Impedance Spectroscopy in Bladder Cancer Screening. Iran J Med Phys. 2013;10:1-21.
- 25. Chauveau N, Hamzaoui L, Rochaix P, Rigaud B, Voigt JJ, Morucci JP. Ex vivo discrimination between normal and pathological tissues in human breast surgical biopsies using bioimpedance spectroscopy. Ann NY Acad Sci. 1999;873:42-50.
- 26.Surowice AJ, Stuchly SS, Barr JB, Swarup A. Dielectric properties of breast carcinoma and the surrounding tissues. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng. 1988;35:257-63.
- 27. Fricke H, Morse S. The Electric Capacity of Tumors of the Breast. J Cancer Res. 1926;10:340-76
- Faisy C, Rabbat A, Kouchakji B, Laaban JP. Bioelectrical impedance analysis in estimating nutritional status and outcome of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and acute respiratory failure. Intensive Care Med. 2000;26:518-25.
- 29.Ott M, Fischer H, Polat H, Helm EB, Frenz M, Caspary WF, et al. Bioelectrical impedance analysis as a predictor of survival in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol. 1995;9:20-5.
- Schwenk A, Ward LC, Elia M, Scott GM. Bioelectrical impedance analysis predicts outcome in patients with suspected bacteremia. Infection. 1998;26:277-82.
- Norman K, Stobaus N, Zocher D, Bosy-Westphal A, Szramek A, Scheufele R, et al. Cutoff percentiles of bioelectrical phase angle predict functionality, quality of life, and mortality in patients with cancer. Am J Clin Nutr. 2010;92:612-9.
- Abdul S, Brown BH, Milnes P, Tidy JA. The use of electrical impedance spectroscopy in the detection of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2006;16:1823-32.
- Halter RJ, Schned AR, Heaney JA, Hartov A. Passive bioelectrical properties for assessing high- and low-grade prostate adenocarcinoma. Prostate. 2011;71:1759-67.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Journal of Surgery and Medicine

Do inflammatory markers play a role in the detection of periprosthetic infections?

İnflamatuar belirteçlerin periprostetik enfeksiyonların belirlenmesinde rolü var mıdır?

Duran Topak¹, Ahmet Salan², Fatih Doğar¹, Selçuk Nazik³

¹ Kahramanmaras Sutcu Imam University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Orthopaedic and Traumatology, Kahramanmaras, Turkey ²Kahramanmaras Sutcu Imam University, Faculty of

Medicine, Department of Nukleer Medicine,

Kahramanmaras, Turkey

³Kahramanmaras Sutcu Imam University, Faculty of

Medicine, Department of Infections Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Kahramanmaras, Turkey

ORCID ID of the author(s)

DT: 0000-0002-1442-3392

AS: 0000-0002-5022-1851

FD: 0000-0003-3848-1017 SN: 0000-0003-0587-0104

Abstract

Aim: Periprosthetic joint infection after total hip or knee arthroplasty is one of the most feared complications. The aim of this study was to evaluate the efficacy of inflammatory biomarkers in identifying periprosthetic joint infection.

Methods: This cross-sectional and bi-centered study included 131 patients, who had suspected prosthesis infection and underwent threephase bone scintigraphy. Patients were divided into three groups according to the Musculoskeletal Infection Society criteria and scintigraphic study results: Group 1 comprised cases with prosthetic infection, Group 2 included aseptic loosening cases and Group 3 included cases with healthy prostheses.

Results: White blood cell average was 11.5 (3.2) 10⁹/L in group 1, 8. (2.1) 10⁹/L in group 2 and 7.9 (2.1) 10⁹/L in group 3, among which it was significantly higher in Group 1 compared to Groups 2 and 3, (P<0.001, P<0.001), while there was no significant difference between groups 2 and 3 (P=0.753). C reactive protein values (CRP) were 46.6 (50.0) mg/L in group 1, 18.8 (17.5) mg/L in group 2 and 15.3 (17.1) mg/L in group 3, significantly higher in group 1 than the other groups (P<0.001, P<0.001), and similar in Groups 2 and 3 (P=0.876). The mean erythrocyte sedimentation rate values did not differ significantly between the groups.

Conclusion: The use of three-phase bone scintigraphy and inflammatory biomarkers such as C reactive protein and white blood cell have been shown to be effective in predicting prosthetic infection

Keywords: White blood cell, Biomarker, C-reactive protein, Prosthetic infection

Öz

Amac: Total kalca veva diz artroplastisi sonrasi periprostetik eklem enfeksivonu en korkulan komplikasvonlardan biridir. Bu calismanin amacı, inflamatuar biyobelirteçlerin periprostetik eklem enfeksiyonunun tanımlanmasındaki etkinliğini değerlendirmektir.

Yöntemler: Çalışma kesitsel ve iki merkezli planlandı. Protez enfeksiyonundan şüphelenilen ve üç fazlı kemik sintigrafisi uygulanan 131 hasta dahil edildi. Hastalar Kas İskelet Enfeksiyonları Derneği kriterlerine ve sintigrafik çalışma sonuçlarına göre üç gruba ayrıldı: Grup 1 protez enfeksiyonu olan olgular, Grup 2 aseptik gevşemesi olan olgular, Grup 3 sağlıklı protezleri olan olgulardan oluşmaktadır. Bulgular: Beyaz küre sayısı ortalaması grup 1'de 11,5 (3,2) 10⁹/L, grup 2'de 8,3 (2,1) 10⁹/L ve grup 3'de 7,9 (2,1) 10⁹/L bulundu. Beyaz küre sayısı değerleri grup 1'de diğer gruplara göre istatistiksel olarak anlamlı derecede yüksek bulundu (P<0,001, P<0,001), grup 2 ve 3 arasında anlamlı fark yoktu (P=0,753). C-reaktif protein değerleri grup 1'de 46,6 (50,0) mg/L, grup 2'de 18,8 (17,5) mg/L ve grup 3'de 15,3 (17,1) mg/L olarak bulundu ve C-reaktif protein değerleri gruplar arasında karşılaştırıldığında istatistiksel olarak anlamlı derecede yüksek bulundu. Grup 1'de diğer gruplara göre (P<0,001, P<0,001) ve grup 2 ile 3 arasında anlamlı fark yoktu (P=0,876). Ortalama eritrosit sedimantasyon hızı değerleri karşılaştırıldığında gruplar arasında anlamlı fark bulunmadı.

Sonuç Üç fazlı kemik sintigrafisi, C-reaktif protein ve beyaz küre sayısı gibi inflamatuar biyobelirteçlerin kullanılmasının, protez enfeksiyonunu öngörmede etkili olduğu gösterilmiştir.

Anahtar kelimeler: Beyaz küre sayısı, Biyobelirteç, C-reaktif protein, Protez enfeksiyonu

Corresponding author/Sorumlu yazar: Duran Topak Address/Adres: Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam Üniversitesi, Tıp Fakültesi, Ortopedi ve Travmatoloji Anabilim Dalı, Kahramanmaraş, Türkiye e-Mail: drdtopak@gmail.com

Ethics Committee Approval: Local ethics committee approval was received for the study (Session: 2019/2, Date: 06.02.2019, Decision no: 11). Etik Kurul Onavı: Calısma için verel etik kurul onavı alındı (Oturum: 2019/2, Tarih: 06.02.2019, Karar no: 11).

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors Cıkar Catısması: Yazarlar cıkar catısması bildirmemişlerdir

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmislerdir .

> Published: 1/31/2020 Yavın Tarihi: 31.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s)

Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial+Noberivatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially wildowd permission from the journal.



Introduction

The prolongation of life expectancy and increase in living standards of humans have led to a significant increase in orthopedic prosthesis operations in recent years [1]. Joint replacement in cases of hip and knee osteoarthritis is one of the most cost-effective and safe surgical procedures that relieve or improve the pain symptoms of the patients, restore joint function and improve quality of life [2,3].

Periprosthetic joint infection (PJI) is one of the most terrible complications after total hip arthroplasty or total knee arthroplasty, and has a very negative impact on the physical, emotional, social and economic aspects of the patient's life [4,5].

Early diagnosis is a positive factor for preserving prosthesis and joint function. It has been shown that a mix of multiple tests positively improves diagnostic accuracy, as any test or indicator used in the clinic or laboratory does not provide ideal sensitivity and specificity for PJI diagnosis [6].

The aim of this study was to assist early diagnosis and treatment by determining the sensitivity of inflammatory biomarkers in identifying PJI.

Materials and methods

Data from the Kahramanmaras Sutcu Imam University Medical Faculty Hospital and Kahramanmaras Necip Fazil City Hospital in the same province were used. A hundred thirty-one patients with suspected prosthesis infections who underwent three-phase bone scintigraphy between January 2015 and June 2017 were included in this study, and divided into three groups: The patients with PJI were classified as Group 1, patients with aseptic loosening (AL) were classified as Group 2 and those with healthy prosthesis were classified as Group 3. Kahramanmaras Sutcu Imam University Medical Faculty Clinical Research Ethics Committee approval was received for the study (Session: 2019/2, Date: 06.02.2019, Decision no: 11).

Demographic data, laboratory results and three-phase bone scintigraphy results were recorded using patient files and hospital database. Patients whose examination findings and laboratory results were not available were excluded from the study, even if their three-phase bone scintigraphy could be reached. Three-phase bone scintigraphy was performed to strengthen the diagnosis in patients suspected of prosthesis infection by physical examination and laboratory results. According to these results, joint aspiration was performed.

White blood cells (WBC) (normal range: 3.5-8.9 10⁹/L), C-reactive protein (CRP) (normal range:0-5 mg/dL), and erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) (normal range:0-20 mm/h) were used for as inflammatory markers. The white blood cells, CRP and ESR were analyzed using the Beckman coulter LH 750, Beckman coulter image 800 and Thermo linear devices respectively, according to the guidelines of the producer firms.

The diagnosis of PJI was made by evaluating the Musculoskeletal Infection Society (MSIS) criteria (Table 1) and scintigraphy results [7]. In joint aspirations, twice culture positivity was observed in twelve patients. Twenty-seven patients were determined to have periprosthetic infection with minor criteria. Five patients had fistula tract. The inclusion of types of group 1 according to MSIS criteria and typing of

reproductive microorganisms are shown in Table 2. Group 1 was formed according to these results. Two-stage revision knee arthroplasty was performed in 26 patients and revision surgery could not be performed in 14 patients due to additional diseases. Four patients refused surgical treatment in Group 1. Eighteen patients in the aseptic loosing group underwent single-stage revision surgery and 16 patients rejected the revision surgery in Group 2.

Table 1: MSIS Workgroup standard definition for PJI

One of the following must be met for diagnosis of PJI

- 1. There is a sinus tract communicating with the prosthesis
- 2. A pathogen is isolated by culture from at least two separate tissue or fluid samples obtained from the affected prosthetic joint
- 3. Four of the following six criteria exist:
- Elevated ESR and CRP (ESR>30 mm/hour; CRP>10 mg/L)
- Elevated synovial fluid WBC count (>3000 cells/L)
 Elevated synovial fluid neutrophil percentage (>65%)
- Elevated synovial fluid neutrophil percentage
 Presence of purulence in the affected joint
- Isolation of a microorganism in one periprosthetic tissue or fluid
- Greater than five neutrophils per high-power field in five high-power fields observed from histologic analysis of periprosthetic tissue at 9400 magnification.

MSIS: Musculoskeletal Infection Society, PJI: Periprosthetic joint infection, ESR: Erythrocyte sedimentation rate, CRP: C-reactive protein, WBC: White blood cell Table 2: Group 1 according to MSIS criteria

		n (%)
		n=44
A pathogen is isolated by culture from at least	MRSE+MRSE: 4	12 (27.2)
two separate tissue or fluid samples obtained	MRSA+MRSA:3	
from the affected prosthetic joint	MRSE+ESBL (+)Escherichia coli: 2	
	Gr (+) coccus non-typable: 2 CNS+CNS: 1	
There is a sinus tract communicating with the prosthesis		5 (11.4)
Minor criteria of MSIS		27 (61.4)
Elevated ESR and CRP (ESR>30 mm/hour; CRP>10 mg/L)	n:24	
Elevated synovial fluid WBC count (>3000 cells/L)	n:21	
Elevated synovial fluid neutrophil percentage (>65%)	n:21	
Presence of purulence in the affected joint	n:26	
Isolation of a microorganism in one	Gr (+) coccus non-typable: 8	
periprosthetic tissue or fluid	Gr (-) bacilli: 2	
	MRSE:3	
	MSSA:2	
	ESBL (+) Escherichia coli: 1	
	ESBL (+) Klebsiella	
	pneumoniae: 1	
	Streptococcus agalactiae:1	
	Streptococcus pyogenes:1	

Greater than five neutrophils per high-power field in five high-power fields observed from histologic analysis of periprosthetic tissue at 400 magnification

MRSE: Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus epidermidis, MRSA: Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus aureus, ESBL: Extended Spectrum Beta-Lactamase, CNS: Coagulase Negative Staphylococcus, MSSA: Methicillin Sensitive Staphylococcus aureus MSIS: Musculoskeletal Infection Society

E-Cam double-headed Gamma Camera (Siemens, Erlangen, Germany) was used for the evaluation of three-phase bone scintigraphy, and interpretations in favor of infection were divided into three groups as mild, moderate, and high probability.

Statistical analysis

SPSS 22.0 package program was used for statistical evaluation of the data obtained from the study (SPSS Inc, Chicago, Illinois, USA). Continuous data were summarized as mean, standard deviation while categorical data were summarized in numbers and percentages. Student t test was used to compare continuous variables in independent groups. For comparisons between the groups, chi-square (χ^2) test was used to evaluate two categorical independent groups. The mean values of continuous variables were compared with one-way ANOVA, and post-hoc Tukey test was used to compare the groups. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was used to evaluate the markers' ability to predict prosthetic infection. *P*-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

A total of 131 patients (38.2% (n=50) male) were included in the study, the mean age of which was 64.8 (15) years (min-max: 20-90 years). The groups were similar in terms of age and gender (P values for age and gender, respectively; Group 1-2: 0.369, 0.586, Group 1-3: 0.961, 0.609; Group 2-3: 0.449, 0.330).

The findings of Group 1 according to MSIS criteria were presented in Table 2.

Of the three-phase bone scintigraphies, 49.6% (n=65) were for knee prosthesis and 50.4% (n=66) were for hip prosthesis. More than half (55%) of the prostheses were applied to the right knee and hip while 37.4% (n=49) were applied to the left knee and hip, and 7.6% (n=10) were applied bilaterally.

It was found that 33.6% (n=44) of the three-phase bone scintigraphies performed for various reasons were compatible with infection while 26% (n=34) were compatible with loosening, whereas 40.5% (n=53) were intact.

The degree of infection was evaluated according to the level of radioactive material uptake in perfusion, soft tissue and bone phase. Accordingly, 59% (n=26) of 44 cases were found to be mild, 20.5% (n=9) were moderate and 20.5% (n=9) were high. The laboratory values of all three groups are presented in Table 3.

Cut-Off, sensitivity, specificity, AUC, 95% confidence interval and p values of the ability of inflammatory markers to predict prosthetic infection are presented in Table 4 and the image of the ROC curve is shown in (Figure 1).

Table 3: Laboratory	values	of cases
---------------------	--------	----------

	Group 1 (n=44)	Group 2 $(n=34)$	Group 3 (n=53)	1-2	P-value 1-3	2-3
WBC	11.5 (3.2)	8.3 (2.1)	7.9 (2.1)	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.753
$(10^{9}/L)$						
CRP (mg/L)	46.4	18.8	15.3	0.001	< 0.001	0.876
	(50.0)	(17.5)	(17.1)			
ESR	36.7	38.7	28.6	0.900	0.111	0.055
(mm/sa)	(18.6)	(23.5)	(17.9)			
NLR	2.8 (1.8)	3.1 (1.7)	2.8 (2.0)	0.756	1.000	0.748
PLR	165.8	185.0	143.0	0.452	0.251	0.019
	(75.6)	(67.7)	(66.4)			
MPV (fL)	9.9 (1.1)	10.0 (1.0)	10.0 (1.1)	0.886	0.894	0.997

* ANOVA test and posthoc Tukey test were used to compare the groups. Group 1: Prosthesis infection, Group 2: Aseptic loosening, Group 3: Intact Prosthesis, WBC: White Blood Cell, CRP: C-reactive protein, NLR: Neutrophile-to-Lymphocyte Ratio, PLR: Platelet-to-Lymphocyte Ratio, MPV: Mean Platelet Volume, P < 0.05 value was considered statistically significant

Table 4: Cut-Off, sensitivity, specificity, AUC, 95% confidence interval and p values of ESR, CRP, WBC, MPV, NLO, and PLO for predicting prosthetic infection

	Cut-off	Sensitivity %	Specificity %	AUC	%95 CI	P-value
WBC (10 ⁹ /L)	8.6	91	61	0.845	77.7-91.4	0,001
CRP (mg/L)	12.2	84.1	55.2	0.777	69.2-86.1	0.001
ESR (mm/sa)	19.5	84.8	34.5	0.589	48.9-68.9	0.097
NLR	2.4	50	36.8	0.457	35.2-56.1	0.419
PLR	138.3	59.1	49.4	0.527	42.2-63.2	0.612
MPV (fL)	10.1	50	55.2	0.492	38.7-59.6	0.878
* ROC curve was used to calculate the values. ANOVA test and posthoc Tukev test were used to compare						

* ROC curve was used to calculate the values, ANOVA test and posthoc Tukey test were used to compare the groups. Group 1: Prosthesis infection, Group 2: Aseptic loosening, Group 3: Intact Prosthesis, WBC: White Blood Cell, CRP: C-reactive protein, NLR: Neutrophile-to-Lymphocyte Ratio, PLR: Platelet-to-Lymphocyte Ratio, MPV: Mean Platelet Volume, P<0.05 value was considered statistically significant</p>



Figure 1: ROC curve of patients with prosthetic infection

Discussion

The number of joint prostheses is increasing due to increased life expectancy, lifestyle changes in the elderly population, and increased expectations such as mobility at an older age. With increasing prosthesis application, the lifetime of prosthesis in the body is prolonged. As a result, the possibility of hematogenous infections and AL increases during its lifetime [8].

Hip and knee arthroplasties are successful elective surgical procedures and have a survival rate of over 95% at 10year follow-up [9]. Complications may be observed, although not often. Painful orthopedic prosthesis can be caused by intraarticular (infection, instability, AL) or extraarticular (tendinitis, periprosthetic fracture, degenerative joint disease, neurological problems) causes [1,10,11].

Early diagnosis is a positive factor for preserving prosthesis and joint function. Despite its clinical importance, difficulties remain in the emergency diagnosis of orthopedic prosthesis infection, and definitive diagnostic testing is still lacking. Although many serologic markers for PJI have been evaluated in the past including interleukin-6 (IL-6), ESR, and CRP are often used as a screening test since they are more susceptible to infection, faster, cheaper and more cost-effective than other serological biomarkers. Radiological methods also have a limited contribution to the diagnostic evaluation of infection. So, co-evaluation of multiple tests and radiology may reasonably improve diagnostic accuracy [7,12,13].

In the study of Xiong et al. [14] comparing PJI and AL groups, it was found that ESR values were 40.0 and 13.9 mm/h respectively and were significantly higher in the PJI group. In another study, it was found that the cut-off value of the ESR was 41 mm/h and significantly higher in the PJI group compared to the AL group. In the same study, sensitivity for ESR was 63.6%, specificity was 70.2% and AUC:0.719 [15]. In our study, the mean ESR, cut-off value, sensitivity, specificity, and AUC values were very low compared to the literature. This was related to the fact that most of the patients in our study group had chronic infection.

Abnormal CRP increases after primary arthroplasty were evaluated in a retrospective study by Tae Won Kim et al. [16]. While 24% of the cases had CRP elevation associated with

PJI, 56% of the cases had CRP elevation due to non-prosthetic reasons (paralytic ileus, upper respiratory tract infection, deep vein thrombosis, acute renal failure). However, in 20% of cases, the cause could not be determined. When Marcus Lensky et al. [17] retrospectively evaluated a total of 719 patients, they showed that the mean CRP of 67 patients diagnosed with PJI was 10.6 (9.7) mg/dL (sensitivity 91.7%; specificity 15.4% and AUC:0.746). In another study by Alijanipour et al. [18] 84 patients with PJI and 1962 AL cases were compared. When the cut-off value for CRP was 23.5 mg/dL, the sensitivity was 87%, the specificity was 94%, and the AUC value was 0.950. In the study by Leilei Qin et al. [15] it was determined that CRP values were significantly higher in PJI group than AL group. In conclusion, it was emphasized that CRP is a good biomarker in predicting the correct diagnosis. Our results for CRP were similar to the literature.

Clinical studies have shown that CRP and ESR are rarely normal in the presence of infection. Hence, in patients suspected of infection or planned for revision arthroplasty for any reason, these should be screened before surgery [19].

Although the number of white blood cells (WBC) in synovial fluid is one of the minor criteria for the diagnosis of PJI according to MSIS criteria, serum WBC value may be helpful in the diagnosis of infection. While Friedrich et al. [20] were using microbiology and histology data as reference test in the prospective evaluation of 120 patients who underwent total knee or hip revision, they found 21% sensitivity and 94% specificity for serum WBC. Bottner et al. [21] reported that in a prospective study of 78 patients who underwent revision total knee or hip arthroplasty, the sensitivity and specificity for WBC were 70% and 60%, respectively, and these results limit the utility of WBC in the diagnosis of PJI. In another study, they reported that WBC average was 11 (6.4) 10^{9} /L, cut-off value was 11.5 10^{9} /L, sensitivity was 92.3% in patients with PJI and had good diagnostic potential (AUC:0.751). As a result of the study, it was found that WBC has diagnostic potential equivalent to CRP [16]. In our study, WBC average was significantly higher in PJI group compared to AL and healthy prosthesis groups.

Limitations

The retrospective design and the fact that some of the cases did not have culture results are the limitations of our study.

Conclusions

The use of three-phase bone scintigraphy and inflammatory markers such as CRP and WBC have been shown to be important in the diagnosis of prosthetic infection.

References

- 1. Love C, Marwin SE, Palestro CJ. Nuclear medicine and the infected joint replacement. Semin Nucl Med. 2009 Jan;39(1):66-78.
- Oleske DM, Bonafede MM, Jick S, Ji M, Hall JA. Electronic health databases for epidemiologica research on joint replacements: considerations when making cross-national comparisons. Ann Epidemiol. 2014 Sep;24(9):660-5.
- Kurtz S, Ong K, Lau E, Mowat F, Halpern M. Projections of primary and revision hip and knee arthroplasty in the United States from 2005 to 2030. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2007 Apr;89(4):780-5.
 A Parvizi I, Shohe N. Generating of contracting of contracting the state of
- Parvizi J, Shohat N, Gehrke T. Prevention of periprosthetic joint infection: new guidelines. Bone Joint J. 2017 Apr;99-B(4 Supple B):3-10.
 Li C, Renz N, Trampuz A. Management of Periprosthetic Joint Infection. Hip Pelvis. 2018 Sep;30(3):138-46.
- Li C, KOLZ N, HAIMPUZ A, MARIAGEMENT OF PERIPROSIDENCE JOINT INTECTION. HIP Pelvis. 2018 Sep;30(3):138-46.
 Trampuz A, Steckelberg JM, Osmon DR, Cockerill FR, Hanssen A and Patel R. Advances in the laboratory
- diagnosis of prosthetic joint infection. Reviews in Medical Microbiology 2003;14(1):1–14.
 7. Parvizi J, Zmistowski B, Berbari EF, Bauer TW, Springer BD, Della Valle CJ, et al. New definition for periprosthetic joint infection: from the Werkgroup of the Microbiology 10(1):1–14.
- periprosthetic joint infection: from the Workgroup of the Musculoskeletal Infection Society. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2011;469:2992–4.
 8. Corvec S, Portillo ME, Pasticci BM, Borens O, Trampuz A. Epidemiology and new developments in the
- diagnosis of prosthetic joint infection. Int J Artif Organs. 2012 Oct. 35(10):923-34.
 Kurtz SM, Ong KL, Schmier J, Mowat F, Saleh K, Dybvik E, et al. Future clinical and economic impact of
- revision total hip and knee arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2007 Oct;89 Suppl 3:144-51. 10. Cataldo MA, Petrosillo N, Cipriani M, Cauda R, Tacconelli E. Prosthetic joint infection: recent developments in diagnosis and management. J Infect. 2010 Dec;61(6):443-8.

- Kapadia BH, McElroy MJ, Issa K, Johnson AJ, Bozic KJ, Mont MA. The economic impact of periprosthetic infections following total knee arthroplasty at a specialized tertiary-care center. J Arthroplasty. 2014 May;29(5):929-32.
- 12. Alp E, Cevahir F, Ersoy S, Guney A. Incidence and economic burden of prosthetic joint infections in a university hospital: A report from a middle-incomecountry. J Infect Public Health. 2016 Jul-Aug;9(4):494-8.
- 13. Deirmengian C, Kardos K, Kilmartin P, Cameron A, Schiller K, Parvizi J. Diagnosing periprosthetic joint infection: has there at the biomarker arrived? Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2014 Nov;472(11):3254-62.
- 14. Xiong L, Li S, Dai M. Comparison of D-dimer with CRP and ESR for diagnosis of periprosthetic joint infection. J Orthop Surg Res. 2019 Jul 29;14(1):240.
- 15. Qin L, Li F, Gong X, Wang J, Huang W, Hu N. Combined Measurement of D-Dimer and C-Reactive Protein Levels: Highly Accurate for Diagnosing Chronic Periprosthetic Joint Infection. J Arthroplasty. 2019 Aug 9. pii: S0883-5403(19)30743-0. doi: 10.1016/j.arth.2019.08.012.
- 16. Kim TW, Kim DH, Oh WS, Sim JA, Lee YS, Lee BK. Analysis of the Causes of Elevated C-Reactive Protein Level in the Early Postoperative Period After Primary Total Knee Arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty. 2016 Sep;31(9):1990-6.
- Lenski M, Scherer MA. Diagnostic potential of inflammatory markers in septic arthritis and periprosthetic joint infections: a clinical study with 719 patients. Infect Dis (Lond). 2015 Jun;47(6):399-409.
- Alijanipour P, Bakhshi H, Parvizi J. Diagnosis of periprosthetic joint infection: the threshold for serological markers. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2013 Oct;471(10):3186-95.
 Schineky ME, Dalbakulla CL, Sazare SM, Paravita J, Kanaka J,
- Schinsky MF, DellaValle CJ, Sporer SM, Paprosky WG. Perioperative testing for joint infection in patients undergoing revision total hip arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2008 Sep;90(9):1869-75.
 Diradetio MJ, Dander CJ, WE, David C, Stata S, Stat
- Friedrich MJ, Randau TM, Wimmer MD, Reichert B, Kuberra D, Stoffel-Wagner B, et al. Lipopolysaccharidebinding protein: a valuable biomarker in the differentiation between periprosthetic joint infection and aseptic loosening? Int Orthop. 2014 Oct;38(10):2201-7.
- Bottner F, Wegner A, Winkelmann W, Becker K, Erren M, Götze C. Interleukin-6, procalcitonin and TNFalpha: markers of peri-prosthetic infection following total joint replacement. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2007 Jan;89(1):94-9.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Journal of Surgery and Medicine -JISSN: 2602-2079

Congenital isolated asplenia accidentally discovered during acute peritonitis

Akut peritonit sırasında tesadüfen fark edilen konjenital izole asplenia

Abdelouhab El Marouni¹, Karam Aziz¹, Ettayeb Ouazzani¹, Ahmed Zerhouni¹, Tarik Souiki¹, Karim Ibn Majdoub Hassani¹, Khalid Mazaz¹, Imane Toughrai¹

¹ Visceral Surgery Service, Hassan II University Hospital, Faculty of Medicine and Pharmacy of Fez, Sidi Mohamed Ben Abdullah University, Fez, Morocco

> ORCID ID of the author(s) AEM: 0000-0003-2035-7982 KA: 0000-0003-2330-7311 EO: 0000-0003-2977-2904 AZ: 0000-0001-8441-016x TS: 0000-0001-7767-7253 KIMH: 0000-0001-7779-7802 IT: 0000-0001-7779-7802 IT: 0000-0003-0401-3012

Corresponding author / Sorumlu yazar: Abdelouhab El Marouni Address / Adres: Visceral Surgery Service, Hassan II University Hospital, Faculty of Medicine and Pharmacy of Fez, Sidi Mohamed Ben Abdullah University, Fez, Morocco e-Mail: elmarouniabdelouhab@hotmail.fr

Informed Consent: The authors stated that the written consent was obtained from the patient presented with images in the study. Hasta Onami: Yazar çalışmada görüntüleri sunulan hastadan yazılı onam alındığını ifade etmiştir.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/11/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 11.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s) Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non Commercial+NOBerivatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



Abstract

An extremely rare condition, congenital asplenia has 2 distinct types: heterotaxy syndromes and isolated congenital asplenia (ICA). Ivemark syndrome is one of the heterotaxy syndromes characterized by asplenia, malformations of the heart, and malposition of internal organs in the chest and abdomen. ICA cases are also fatal in childhood, but there are reported living adult cases. Those affected are typically at increased risk for fulminant sepsis and carry a higher risk of noninfectious complications, such as thrombocytosis and mesenteric thrombosis. We herein report the unusual case of a patient with congenital asplenia, which was discovered fortuitously during an emergency laparotomy for peritonitis due to ulcer perforation.

Keywords: Congenital isolated asplenia, Adult peritonitis

Öz

Çok nadir görülen bir durum olan konjenital aspleninin 2 farklı tipi vardır: heterotaksi sendromları ve izole konjenital aspleni (ICA). Ivemark sendromu, asplenia, kalbin malformasyonları ve göğüs ve karındaki iç organların malpozisyonu ile karakterize heterotaksi sendromlarından biridir. ICA vakaları çocuklukta da ölümcüldür, ancak bildirilen canlı yetişkin vakaları mevcuttur. Etkilenenler tipik olarak fulminan sepsis için yüksek risk altındadır ve trombositoz ve mezenterik tromboz gibi bulaşıcı olmayan komplikasyon riski daha yüksektir. Burada ülser perforasyonuna bağlı peritonit için acil bir laparotomi sırasında tesadüfen saptanan doğuştan asplenisi olan bir hastanın olağandışı olgusunu sunuyoruz.

Anahtar kelimeler: Konjenital izole asplenia, Yetişkin peritoniti

Introduction

Isolated congenital asplenia is an exceptional form, and rare cases have been reported in the literature (Table 1) [1-4]. It is usually diagnosed after the onset of severe infections in infants. In adults without a history of severe sepsis in infancy, the presenting sign may be thrombocytosis [5]. Our case shows that congenital isolated asplenia patients can remain asymptomatic for a long time, or even lead normal lives.

JOSAM

Table 1.	Classification	of asplenia

Congenital	Acquired
Isolated	Splenectomy
Familial	Trauma
Non-familial	Hemolytic anaemia
	ITP
	Malignancy
Syndromatic	 Functional/hyposplenism
Ivemark	HbSS/Sickle-cell anaemia
Storkmorken	Portal hypertension
Kartagener	Storage diseases (Amyloidosis, M. Gaucher)
Meckel	Iatrogenic (radiotherapy)
Pallister-Hall	
Cystic liver, kidney, pancreas	
MLRD (microgastria-limb reduction	
defects association)	
Smith - Fineman - Meyers	
Schmidt	
	•

ITP: idiopathic thrombopenic purpura

Case presentation

A 65-year-old male patient of Moroccon origin, a chronic smoker without a pathological personal or family history, was consulted urgently due to diffuse abdominal pain. Physical examination revealed a conscious, febrile, dehydrated patient who was hypotensive with a blood pressure of 90/60 mmHg. He had generalized abdominal defense of the left pelvis and iliac fossa and diffuse tenderness in all four abdominal quadrants. Laboratory results showed leukocytosis at 18 g/L, Creactive protein at 250 mg/L, slight thrombocytosis at 500 g/L, and acute renal failure. Hepato-pancreatic functional tests were normal. Lung radiograph showed pneumoperitoneum right below the diaphragm, consistent with perforation of a hollow organ, after which we decided to operate on the patient. An urgent laparotomy was performed, which revealed the presence of about 1 L of pus intraabdominally, and anteriorly perforated duodenal bulbus. The perforation was sutured, and intraabdominal lavage and drainage were done. During abdominal exploration, no spleen was observed in the left hypochondrium (Figure 1). Postoperative follows-up were uneventful. Subsequently, a thoraco-abdominopelvic CT scan was obtained, which confirmed the absence of the spleen, and excluded any other abdominal or thoracic malformation (Figure 2). The postoperative hematologic assessment revealed the presence of Howell-Jolly corpuscles confirming functional asplenia.



Figure 1: Per operatory image shows an absence of spleen in a left hypochondrium



Figure 2: CT image shows an Empty splenic lodge occupied by the tail of the pancreas

Discussion

Congenital asplenia, a poorly understood and rare form of primary immunodeficiency, is either associated with malformation syndromes such as heterotaxia, or presents as an isolated finding, as was the case in our patient [2]. Heterotaxia syndrome with situs abnormalities (Ivemark syndrome) is a sporadic, autosomal recessive syndrome seen in cases of parental consanguinity. Patients with Ivemark syndrome generally die by the age of 6 months. On the other hand, ICA, with the plausible autosomal dominant mode of inheritance, is often fatal in early childhood or complicated with life-threatening infections such as meningitis and purpura fulminans or noninfectious complications such as thrombocytosis and mesenteric thrombosis [6,7].

Bolze et al. [7] studied 33 patients with isolated congenital asplenia from 23 families, including 5 families previously reported by Mahlaoui et al. [6] and those described Ferlicot et al. [8], and suggested that heterozygous coding mutations in RPSA on chromosome 3p21 underlie most cases of isolated congenital asplenia, with apparently complete penetrance. RPSA is not likely to have been identified through a candidate-gene approach, as RPSA is ubiquitously expressed and is not known to be involved in spleen development [7].

The clinical record that we report is interesting since this patient had congenital isolated non-syndromic asplenia, discovered incidentally at the age of 65 years. The anamnesis was negative for any septic episode or other anomalies. Prolonged survival in the absence of cardiopulmonary and infectious complications is therefore possible in patients with congenital asplenia. Rare cases, to our knowledge, have been reported [9]. But in most cases, in the absence of cardiac malformations, asplenia is discovered at autopsy, as mentioned in the case of a child who died from pneumococcal sepsis [10].

This prompted our comprehensive literature search of adult ICA cases that presented with complications other than those related to infection [2]. Eighteen adult cases of ICA were identified and analyzed since the first report of Myerson and Koelle in 1956. Eleven of the 18 reported cases were sporadic and the remaining were familial. Familial cases are generally asymptomatic and usually diagnosed after a close family member/child suffers a life-threatening or fatal infection secondary to congenital asplenia. Associated findings include thrombocytosis, mesenteric vein thrombosis, chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension, and pneumococcal sepsis (Table 2). Seven adult patients with ICA had invasive bacterial infections [6-12]. In addition, there were 5 adult cases of ICA with thrombocytosis but no infectious events were found [13,14].

Table 2: Adult isolated congenital cases reported from 1956 till 2015

Case	Familial or	Age at	Clinical presentation	Outcome
No.	sporadic	diagnosis/gender	•	
1	Sporadic	36 years/Male	Pneumococcal sepsis/Waterhouse-	Deceased
			Friderichsen syndrome	
2	Sporadic	37 years/Male	Thrombocytosis	Alive
3	Sporadic	56 years/Female	Thrombocytosis/myocardial	Alive
			infarction	
4	Sporadic	56 years/Male	Thrombocytosis	Alive
5	Sporadic	60 years/Female	Pneumococcal sepsis	Alive
6	Sporadic	77 years/Male	Mesenteric vein thrombosis	Alive
7	Sporadic	52 years/Female	Pneumococcal sepsis	Deceased
8	Sporadic	72 years/Male	Thrombocytosis	Alive
9	Familial	20 years/Female	Pneumococcal sepsis/2 children	Alive
			affected	
10	Familial	35 years/Male	Asymptomatic/5 children affected	Alive
11	Familial	45 years/Male	Meningitis-pneumococcal/2 children	Alive
			affected	
12	Familial	Unknown/Male	Asymptomatic/1 child affected	Alive
13	Familial	25 years/Male	Thrombocytosis/1 child affected	Alive
14	Familial	Unknown/Female	Asymptomatic/2 children affected	Alive
15	Familial	27 years/Male	Asymptomatic/sister affected with	Alive
			AVM	
16	Adopted	22 years/Male	Small bowel AVM bleed,	Alive
			Mycoplasma pneumonia	
17	Sporadic	28 years/Male	Streptococcal pneumonia/ulcerative	Alive
			colitis	
			Thrombocytosis/Chronic	
18	Sporadic	44 years/Female	thromboembolic pulmonary	Alive
			hypertension	
19	Sporadic	67 years/Female	Waterhouse-Friderichsen	Deceased
			syndrome/lung fibrosis	

Reflecting another risk associated with thrombocytosis in adults, Takahashi et al. [15] also described the case of a 44year-old female with ICA who had chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension. The diagnosis of functional asplenia was confirmed by the analysis of the peripheral blood smear, which revealed the presence of Howell-Jolly corpuscles [10]. The diagnosis of isolated congenital asplenia is confirmed apart from any infectious complication or cardiovascular malformation which probably explains the prolonged survival in our patient. Finally, the interest of vaccination against pneumococcal infections and even long-term antibiotic prophylaxis was discussed, but vaccination did not seem justified in this very particular situation [9].

Conclusion

This clinical presentation suggests that isolated congenital asplenia is compatible with a normal and prolonged existence in the absence of any infectious complications, and cardiovascular and digestive tract malformations.

References

- Ahmed SA, Zengeya S, Kini U, Pollard AJ. Familial isolated congenital asplenia: Case report and literature review. Eur J Pediatr. 2010;169(3):315–8.
- Arnautovic JZ, Mazhar A, Tereziu S, Gupta K. A Rare Association of Congenital Asplenia with Jejunal Arteriovenous Malformation. The American Journal of Case reports. 2017;18:1118.
- Gilbert B, Menetrey C, Belin V, Brosset P, de Lumley L, Fisher A. Familial isolated congenital asplenia: a rare, frequently hereditary dominant condition, often detected too late as a cause of overwhelming pneumococcal sepsis. Report of a new case and review of 31 others. Eur J Pediatr. 2002;161:368–72.
- Schutze GE, Mason EO, Jr Barson WJ, Kim KS, Wald ER, Givner LB, et al. Invasive pneumococcal infections in children with asplenia. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2002;21:278–82.
- Halbertsma FJJ, Neeleman C, Weemaes CM, Van Deuren, M. The absent and vanishing spleen: congenital asplenia and hyposplenism—two case reports. Acta Paediatrica. 2005;94(3):369-71.
- Mahlaoui N, Minard-Colin V, Picard C, et al. Isolated congenital asplenia: A French nationwide retrospective survey of 20 cases. J Pediatr. 2011;158(1):142–8.
- Bolze A, Mahlaoui N, Byun M et al. Ribosomal protein SA haploinsufficiency in humans with isolated congenital asplenia. Science. 2013;340:976–8.
- Ferlicot S, Emile JF, Le Bris JL, et al. L'asplenie congenitale: Un deficit im- munitaire de l'enfant de decouverte souvent trop tardive. Ann Path. 1997;17:44–6.
- Gonzalez M, Collaud S, Gervaz P, Morel, P. Asplenie congenitale (syndrome d'Ivemark) revelee par une thrombose veineuse mesenterique chez un malade de 77 ans. Gastroenterologie Clinique et Biologique. 2007;31(10):860-2.

- Ferlicot S, Emile JF, Le Bris JL, Cheron G, Brousse N. Congenital asplenia. A childhood immune deficit often detected too late. Ann Pathol. 1997;17:44-6.
- Myerson RM, Koelle WA: Congenital absence of the spleen in an adult: Report of a case associated with recurrent Waterhouse-Friderichsen syndrome. N Engl J Med. 1956;254(24):1131-2.
- Vincentelli C, Molina EG, Robinson MJ. Fatal pneumococcal Waterhouse- Friderichsen syndrome in a vaccinated adult with congenital asplenia. Am J Emerg Med. 2009;27(751):e3– 5
- Rose C, Quesnel B, Facon T, et al. Congenital asplenia, a different dignosis of essential thrombocythemia. Presse Med. 1993;22(34):1748.
 Lindor NM, Smithson WA, Ahumada CA et al: Asplenia in two father-son pairs. Am J Med
- Lindor NM, Smithson WA, Ahumada CA et al: Asplenia in two father-son pairs. Am J Med Genet, 1995; 56(1):10-1.
- Takahashi F, Uchida K, Nagaoka T, et al. Isolated congenital spleen agenesis: A rare cause of chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension in an adult. Respirology. 2008; 13:913-5.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.

JOSAM

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Journal of Surgery and Medicine

Primary rectal linitis plastica: Report of two cases and a review of the literature

Primer rektal linitis plastika: İki olgu sunumu ve literatürün gözden geçirilmesi

Abdelouhab El Marouni¹, Karam Aziz¹, Rim Benjira², Ahmed Zerhouni¹, Tarik Souiki¹, Imane Toughrai¹, Khalid Mazaz¹, Karim Ibn Majdoub Hassani¹

¹ Visceral Surgery Service, Hassan II University Hospital, Faculty of Medicine and Pharmacy of Fez, Sidi Mohamed Ben Abdullah University, Fez, Morocco

² Hepato-Gastroenterology Department, Hassan II University Medical Center, Fez. Morocco

> ORCID ID of the author(s) AE: 0000-0003-2035-7982 KA: 0000-0002-3330-7311 RB: 0000-0003-1191-2403 AZ: 0000-0001-8441-016X TS: 0000-0001-5657-7253 IT: 0000-0001-5657-7253 IT: 0000-0001-3012 KM: 0000-0001-7779-7802 KIMH: 0000-0002-0421-7296

Abstract

Primary rectal linitis is a rare tumor which mostly affects young patients. The definite diagnosis is based on the histologic examination of deep biopsy samples. It is mostly diagnosed in advanced stages, which worsens the prognosis. In this report, two cases of primary rectal linitis plastica will be presented and discussed in light of the literature.

Keywords: Plastic linitis, Primary rectal tumor

Öz

Primer rektal linit, çoğunlukla genç hastaları etkileyen nadir bir tümördür. Kesin tanı derin biyopsi örneklerinin histolojik incelemesine dayanır. Çoğunlukla ileri aşamalarda teşhis edildiğinden, prognozu kötüdür. Bu raporda, iki primer rektal linitis plastica olgusu literatür eşliğinde sunulacak ve tartışılacaktır. **Anahtar kelimeler**: Plastik linit, Primer rektal tümör

Introduction

The conventional definition of plastic linitis, a.k.a. "scirrhous carcinoma", is a tumor that massively infiltrates the entire thickness of the wall of a hollow organ. Histologically, it corresponds to an adenocarcinoma of independent cells with a signet ring appearance, and usually affects the stomach. The involvement of another digestive organ is often secondary. In fact, the primary rectal linitis is a rare entity [1].

Below are presented two patients diagnosed with primary rectal linitis.

Corresponding author / Sorumlu yazar: Abdelouhab El Marouni Address / Adres: Visceral Surgery Service, Hassan II University Hospital, Faculty of Medicine and Pharmacy of Fez, Sidi Mohamed Ben Abdullah University, Fez, Morocco e-Mail: elmarouniabdelouhab@hotmail.fr

Informed Consent: The authors stated that the written consent was obtained from the patient presented with images in the study. Hasta Onami: Yazar çalışmada görüntüleri sunulan hastadan yazılı onam alındığını ifade etmiştir.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/23/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 23.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s) Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non Commercial+NOBerivatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



How to cite / Atıf için: El Marouni A, Aziz K, Benjira R, Zerhouni A, Souiki T, Toughrai I, Mazaz K, Ibn Majdoub K. Primary rectal linitis plastica: Report of two cases and review of the literature. J Surg Med. 2020;4(1):96-98.

Case presentation

Case 1

A 31-year-old female patient, who was operated for an ovarian cyst in 2015, was admitted with progressive hematochezia lasting for two months and severe weight loss. At 2 cm from the anal margin (AM), we palpated a circumferential, stenosing and obstructive mass fixed to the anterior and posterior planes. On examination, the posterior wall of the vagina was thick and rough. Biopsies revealed rectal carcinoma with independent cells in a signet-ring appearance (Figure 1). The thoraco-abdomino-pelvic computerized tomography (CT) revealed a thickening 3 cm proximal to the AM, extending for 10 cm and infiltrating the perilesional fat, along with adjacent lymphadenopathy (Figure 2). The patient underwent an esophagogastroduodenoscopy (EGD) and a colonoscopy to search for a primary source of tumor, which both turned out normal, hence the diagnosis of primary rectal linitis. The patient received a long-term radiotherapy protocol with concomitant chemotherapy. The disease progressed, as marked by local extension of the tumor which was deemed unresectable, and the patient was referred for palliative chemotherapy.

Case 2

A 38-year-old male patient with no medical history was admitted for rectal bleeding, proctalgia, and transit disorder with a weight loss of 10 kg evolving for six months. The abdominal examination was normal, and digital rectal examination was very painful. The patient underwent a rectoscopy on sedation, which revealed an infiltrated, stenotic mucosa 4 cm proximal from the AM (Figure 3). The biopsies were reported as undifferentiated and infiltrative carcinoma with signet ring cells. A thoracoabdomino-pelvic CT scan showed a tumoral thickening of the lower rectum with secondary iliac lymphadenopathies. The patient underwent an EGD which was normal, then received radiotherapy concurrent with chemotherapy. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan revealed a posterior hemicircumferential lower rectum mass, infiltrating the rectal mucosa along with the internal and external sphincters, without prostatic or bladder involvement (Figure 4). Intraoperative exploration revealed an unresectable tumor. A sigmoidostomy was performed, after which the patient was referred for palliative chemotherapy.



Figure 1: Microscopic image shows the histological appearance of rectal linitis: rectal carcinoma with independent cells



Figure 2: CT image shows the local extension of rectal linitis



Figure 3: Rectoscopy shows the infiltrating and stenosing aspect of rectal linitis



Figure 4: Image of MRI shows a rectal process with internal and external sphincter invasion

Discussion

Rectal primary plastic linitis, accounting for 1/1,000 for colonic and rectal cancers, is rare [1], and more common in men (sex ratio M/F: 1,3). Most authors insist on the occurrence of linitis at an early age [1,2], which is the case of our two patients. It does not share the same characteristics and etiopathogenic factors with conventional adenocarcinomas. Indeed, genetic predisposition or malign transformation of an adenomatous polyp have not been established for this kind of tumor. A relationship between colorectal linitis and inflammatory bowel disease, particularly Crohn's disease, has been reported [2, 6]. The revealing symptoms, such as transit disorders, bowel obstruction, abdominal pain, weight loss or hematochezia, are not specific [2-4]. The diagnosis is often late. In most of cases, digital rectal examination reveals in infiltrating mass and a fixed rectal ampulla [4]. Upon endoscopic exploration, the mucosa is seen intact with a narrowed or obstructed lumen. The biopsies results are negative in 50% of the cases, which necessitates the need for deep or surgical biopsies [2]. Endoscopic ultrasonography assists in the diagnosis by guiding biopsies and

revealing a circumferential thickening reaching the mucosa and the muscular mucosa in a concentric, hypoechoic sleeve around the ultrasound probe. It plays a significant role in not only preoperative assessment and staging, but also in follow-up by measuring the regression of lesions under radiotherapy and chemotherapy [5,6]. Computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging show locoregional and distant invasion [7]. Definite diagnosis is based on histological examination: Macroscopically, a thickening of the wall and circumferential involvement of the rectum, engulfing the mesorectum, with a most often normal mucosa [2-1] is seen. Microscopically, we find abundant (50%) signet ring cells within a dense fibrous stroma infiltrating the rectal wall [1].

The search for a primary extra-rectal tumor, especially gastric, must be systematic, because only its negativity affirms the primitive nature of the lesion. Secondary rectal linitis is more frequent, most often corresponding to the metastasis of a gastric cancer, and more rarely, to cancers of gall bladder, breast, or prostate [8,9]. Linitis has a predominantly locoregional extension to the lymphatic (lymphadenopathy: 86%), pelvic (ovary, trunk, and uterus: 58%) and peritoneal (47%) areas. Hepatic metastases are exceptional (17%). Metastases to the bone are present in 12% of patients and other sites, 6% of patients. Aggressive treatment with ganglion dissection is performed if the extension allows. Combination of radiotherapy with a chemotherapy combining 5-fluorouracil and cisplatin appears to provide better outcomes in long term survival [1]

The prognosis of primary rectal linitis is poor, since lymphatic metastases are often found immediately at diagnosis. Survival is variable from one month to two years [2-8].

Conclusion

Primary rectal linitis is a rare and an extremely aggressive tumor, diagnosed most often at advanced stages, which worsens prognosis. The definite diagnosis is based on histological examination of deep biopsy samples.

References

- 1.el Absi M, Elouannani M, Elmdarhri J, Echarrab M, el Amraoui M, el Alami F, et al. Primary linitis plastica of the rectum. Rev Med Liege. 2002;57:10-2.
- Papp Jr JP, Levine EJ, Thomas FB. Primary linitis plastica carcinoma of the colon and rectum. Am J Gastroenterol. 1995;90:141-5.
- 3. Rao TR, Hambrick E, Abcarian H, Salgia K, Recant WM. Colorectal linitis plastica. Dis Colon Rectum. 1982;25:239-44.
- 4. Nadel L, Mori K, Shinya H. Primary linitis plastica of the colon and rectum. Report of two cases. Dis Colon Rectum. 1983;26:736-40.
- Keogh CF, Brown JA, Phang PT. Linitis plastica of the rec-tum: utility of transrectal ultrasonography. J Ultrasound Med. 2002;21:103-6.
 Dumontier I, Roseau G, Palazzo L, Barbier JP, Couturier D. Endoscopic ultrasonography in
- rectal linitis plastica. Gastrointest Endosc. 1997;46:532-6. 7. Rudralineam V. Dobson MJ. Pitt M, Stewart DJ, Hearn A, Susner-wala S. MR imaging of
- Kutamingani V, Doison MJ, Fitt M, Stewart DJ, Heart A, Susher-wata S. MK imaging of linitis plastica of the rectum. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2003;181:428-30.
 Wiersema LM, Kochman ML. Primary linitis plastica of the colon. Gastrointest
- Wiersema MJ, wiersema LM, Kochman ML. Primary linitis plastica of the colon. Gastrointest Endosc. 1993;39:716-8.
 Scheng Z, Eddafali P, Cuannaux N, La linita plasticua matela primitiua una tumaru
- Samlani-Sebbane Z, Eddafali B, Guennoun N. La linite plastique rectale primitive, une tumeur exceptionnelle Gastroentérologie Clinique et Biologique. 2008;32:530-1.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors. The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper

Journal of Surgery and Medicine e-ISSN: 2602-2079

Auditory, visual and tactile hallucinations in a 16-year-old adolescent with high-dose duloxetine at one time

16 yaşındaki ergende tek seferde yüksek doz duloksetin kullanımı ortaya çıkan işitsel, görsel ve dokunsal halüsinasyonlar

Sefa Coşğun¹

¹ Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Van Training and Research Hospital, Van, Turkey

> ORCID ID of the author(s) SC: 0000-0003-2843-6554

Abstract

Duloxetine is a dual-acting serotonin-noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor. It has FDA approval for the diagnosis of Major Depressive Disorder (MDD), Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD), Diabetic Neuropathic Pain, Fibromyalgia, Chronic Skeletal Muscle Pain in adults, and GAD in children and adolescents. This article presents a 16-year-old female patient referred to the emergency department with hallucinations starting after she took a total of 330 mg/day duloxetine for headaches. It is thought that her experienced hallucinations may be due to increased dopamine, as a result of inhibition of serotonergic system and noradrenaline transport system. It is thought that this article will contribute to the literature in terms of pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic effects of duloxetine in children and adolescents. **Keywords**: Duloxetine, Hallucination, Adolescent

Öz

Duloksetin dual etkili serotonin-noradrenalin geri alım inhibitörüdür. Erişkinlerde Major Depresif Bozukluk (MDD), Yaygın Anksiyete Bozukluğu (GAD), Diyabetik Nöropatik Ağrı, Fibromiyalji, Kronik İskelet Kas Ağrısı tanılarında, çocuk ve ergenlerde GAD için FDA onayı vardır. Bu yazıda, baş ağrıları olduğu için toplam 330 mg/gün duloksetin içen sonrasında halüsinasyonları başladığı için acil servise başvuran 16 yaşındaki kadın hasta sunulacaktır. Halüsinasyonların serotonerjik sistem ve noradrenalin transport sisteminin inhibisyonu sonucunda dopamin artışına bağlı olabileceği düşünülmektedir. Bu yazı, duloksetinin, çocuk ve ergenlerdeki farmakokinetik ve farmakodinamik etkileri açısından literatüre katkı sağlayacağı düşünülmüştür.

Anahtar kelimeler: Duloksetin, Halüsinasyon, Ergen

Introduction

Duloxetine is a serotonin-noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor [1]. It has FDA approval for the diagnosis of Major Depressive Disorder, Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Diabetic Neuropathic Pain, Fibromyalgia, Chronic Skeletal Muscle Pain in adults, and GAD in children and adolescents older than 7 years old [2]. It has been reported that no dose adjustment is needed in children and adolescents, and that the dose is similar to that used with adults [3]. In a study conducted on the pharmacokinetics of duloxetine in children and adolescents, no clinically significant difference was found when compared with adults [4]. The most common side effects associated with duloxetine are nausea, dry mouth, dizziness, decreased appetite, constipation, and insomnia [5]. The most common psychiatric side effects are increased suicidal ideation, suicidal behavior, shift to mania, and hypomania [1]. In this article, a case with visual, auditory, and tactile hallucinations that occurred after 330 mg/day duloxetine use will be presented.

Corresponding author / Sorumlu yazar: Sefa Coşğun Address / Adres: Van Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi, Çocuk ve Ergen Psikiyatrisi Kliniği, Van, Türkiye e-Mail: drsefacoskun@gmail.com

Informed Consent: The authors stated that the written consent was obtained from the parents of the patient presented with images in the study. Hasta Onami: Yazar çalışmada görüntüleri sunulan hastanın ebeveynlerinden yazılı onam alındığını ifade etmiştir.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/24/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 24.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s) Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non Commercial-NOBerivatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



How to cite / Attf için: Coşğun S. Auditory, visual and tactile hallucinations in a 16-year-old adolescent with high-dose duloxetine at one time. J Surg Med. 2020;4(1):99-101.

Case presentation

A 16-year-old female patient was referred to our clinic from the emergency services for our evaluation. It was learned that no pathologies were found to explain hallucinations in cardiological, neurological examinations, blood (complete blood count, liver function tests, kidney function tests, electrolytes, glucose, blood lipids, thyroid function tests, and imaging tests (MR) before she was referred. The patient stated that she used one duloxetine 30 mg capsule (Cymbalta® 30 mg capsule), which her mother used for headaches; she then took 11 tablets in a row as one did not have any effect upon her. It was approved by her and her family that she had used a total of 330 mg. It was learned that she tried to sleep when it did not work; she woke up approximately five hours later and saw someone in the room. It was learned that her family waited, thinking that it would pass; however, a few hours later, she stated that the person she saw talked by touching her back. She communicated to her father by making a sign of a telephone with her hand, and was then referred to the emergency service with her family. The patient stated that, in addition to hallucinations, she had a tingling sensation in her feet and hands, a sense of flushing, difficulty in urinating, and feelings of palpitations. It was observed that the patient had difficulty sitting and following the speech content during the examination. She stated she was worried about hallucinations and that she saw the person she had seen before during the examination. She stated that she took the large quantity of drugs as she believed they would work if she took more. Although this situation suggests a suicide attempt, it was learned that there were no significant complaints from neither the patient's statements, nor the Beck Depression Scale and STAI-II scales she completed during the examination. At the same time, the history taken from her family revealed that she had no previous suicide attempts and self-injurious behavior. The fact that she did not have psychiatric complaints, depressive symptoms, suicidal thoughts, and active suicide plans, and that her hallucinations started all of a sudden after she took medication suggested that she did not have a psychiatric disease. The case was followed up without medication due to the uncommon hallucinations, their sudden onset and her good family functioning. With a close follow-up, it was observed that the hallucinations regressed after five days and that there were no active complaints. When psychopathologies were re-evaluated in the control appointment two weeks later, it was concluded that there was no active psychopathology.

When she was assessed with Naranjo Adverse Drug Reactions Probability Scale, she recorded six points, which suggested that the association of this adverse effect with duloxetine was "probable" [6]. It was thought that the hallucinations were an adverse effect of the high duloxetine. For this reason, considering the possible contribution to the literature, a case report was made upon the completion of a consent form from the patient and her family.

Discussion

Duloxetine, which is rarely used in Turkey since there is no reimbursement by insurance in children and adolescents, is thought to be safe in children and adolescents [7]. It is frequently preferred in the treatment of children and adolescents, as well as resistant MDD and GAD cases [8,9]. Although there are case reports in the literature that conclude duloxetine causes hallucinations [10-12], only one case report of hallucinations in children and adolescents was sourced [13]. It was reported that the case was followed up to observe any GADs, and that the hallucinations had started on the fifth day following when the duloxetine dosing commenced.

In case reports, there is no clear information in the literature about how duloxetine causes hallucinations. Since DAT is not very high in the prefrontal cortex, dopamine is removed from the synaptic space via NET [14]. It is thought that, increased dopamine in the synaptic range, alongside the NET inhibition of SNRIs, may cause hallucinations [15]. It is also emphasized that serotonin may cause hallucinations as a result of increased dopamine in the ventral striatum via 5HT2 and 5HT3 receptors, as a consequence of the inhibition reuptake [16–18]. It is also said that even if the SNRIs are weak, they can increase the dopamine level by inhibiting the dopamine reuptake pump (dopamine transporter) [14].

The presence of multiple drug use in some reports and the presence of an underlying psychopathology in some reports may be considered as a confusing factor in the relationship between hallucinations and duloxetine. In the present study's case, the lack of underlying psychopathology provides an opportunity to say something more clearly about the relationship between hallucination and duloxetine. In addition, the fact that duloxetine was reportedly used within the appropriate dose range in cases in which it is reported to cause hallucinations, as well as that it was not within the appropriate dose range in our case suggests that this adverse effect is dose-independent.

Conclusions

Hallucinations occurring in the onset of treatment and in dose changes suggest that there is a need to be wary and conscious of hallucinations in every stage of the treatment in cases that use duloxetine.

References

- 1. Wernicke JF, Gahimer J, Yalcin I, Wulster-Radcliffe M, Viktrup L. Safety and adverse event profile of duloxetine. Expert Opinion on Drug Safety. 2005.
- 2. FDA. Cymbalta (duloxetine hydrochloride) capsules. 2004 https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2010/022516lbl.pdf. Accessed 1 Sep 2019.
- 3. Prakash A, Lobo E, Kratochvil CJ, Tamura RN, Pangallo BA, Bullok KE, et al. An open-label safety and pharmacokinetics study of duloxetine in pediatric patients with major depression. Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychopharmacology. 2012.
- 4. Lobo ED, Quinlan T, Prakash A. Pharmacokinetics of orally administered duloxetine in children and adolescents with major depressive disorder. Clinical Pharmacokinetics. 2014.
- Preskorn SH, Greenblatt DJ, Flockhart D, Luo Y, Perloff ES, Harmatz JS, et al. Comparison of duloxetine, escitalopram, and sertraline effects on cytochrome P450 2D6 function in healthy volunteers. Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology. 2007.
- 6. Kose S, Akin E, Cetin M. Adverse drug reactions and causality: The Turkish version of Naranio adverse drug reactions probability scale. Psychiatry and Clinical Psychopharmacology. 2017;27:205-6.
- 7. Emslie GJ, Wells TG, Prakash A, Zhang Q, Pangallo BA, Bangs ME, et al. Acute and longerterm safety results from a pooled analysis of duloxetine studies for the treatment of children and adolescents with major depressive disorder. Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychopharmacology. 2015.
- 8. Bandelow B, Sher L, Bunevicius R, Hollander E, Kasper S, Zohar J, et al. Guidelines for the pharmacological treatment of anxiety disorders, obsessive-compulsive disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder in primary care. International Journal of Psychiatry in Clinical Practice, 2012.
- 9. Birmaher B, Brent D. Practice parameter for the assessment and treatment of children and adolescents with depressive disorders. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 2008.
- 10.Rolma G, Jelcic N, Gnoato F, Cecchin D, Cagnin A. Combined duloxetine and benzodiazepine-induced visual hallucinations in prodromal dementia with Lewy bodies. General Hospital Psychiatry, 2013.
- 11.Tomita T, Yasui-Furukori N, Kaneko S. Visual hallucinations during duloxetine treatment in a patient with major depressive disorder. Clinical Neuropharmacology. 2013. 12.Gündüz N, Eren F, Turan H, Akbey Z. Visual and tactil hallucinations after duloxetine use: a
- case report. Anatolian Journal of Psychiatry. 2017.

- 13.Yazici KU, Percinel Yazici I. Visual hallucination induced by duloxetine use: a male case diagnosed with generalized anxiety disorder. Psychiatry and Clinical Psychopharmacology. 2018.
- 14.Stahl SM. Neurotransmission of cognition, part 3. Mechanism of action of selective NRIs: Both dopamine and norepinephrine increase in prefrontal cortex. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2003.
- 15.Jacob MK, Ash P. Venlafaxine-induced complex visual hallucinations in a 17-year-old boy. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2009.
- 16.Lai CH. Escitalopram-related visual and auditory hallucination in a non-dementia patient with
- depression. Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences. 2012. 17.Schuld A, Archelos JJ, Friess E, Bourgeois JA. Visual hallucinations and psychotic symptoms during treatment with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors: Is the sigma receptor involved? (multiple letters). Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology. 2000. 18.Webb A, Cranswick N. Fluoxetine induced auditory hallucinations in an adolescent. Journal of
- Paediatrics and Child Health. 2003.
- This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.
- The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Journal of Surgery and Medicine

Case report Olgu sunumu

Perinephric abscess as a rare cause of acute abdomen: A case report

Akut batının nadir bir nedeni olarak perinefrik apse: Olgu sunumu

Yılmaz Güler¹, Serkan Şengül¹, Hasan Çalış¹, Murat Uçar², Özkan Özen³

¹ Alanya Alaaddin Keykubat University, Alanya Education and Research Hospital, Department of General Surgery, Antalya, Turkey

General Surgery, Antalya, Turkey ² Alanya Alaaddin Keykubat University, Alanya Education and Research Hospital, Department of

Urology, Antalya, Turkey ³ Alanya Alaaddin Keykubat University, Alanya Education and Research Hospital, Department of Radiology, Antalya, Turkey

ORCID ID of the author(s) YG: 0000-0002-3225-6348 S\$: 0000-0003-4691-5663

HÇ: 0000-0003-4182-798x MU: 0000-0001-6977-7430 ÖÖ: 0000-0003-3429-8610

Corresponding author / Sorumlu yazar: Yılmaz Güler Address / Adres: Alanya Alaaddin Keykubat Üniversitesi, Alanya Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi, Oba İlçesi, Alanya, Antalya, Türkiye e-Mail: yilmaz.guler@alanya.edu.tr

Informed Consent: The authors stated that the written consent was obtained from the patient presented with images in the study. Hasta Onami: Yazar çalışmada görüntüleri sunulan hastadan yazılı onam alındığını ifade etmiştir.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/24/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 24.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s) Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non Commercial-NOBerivatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



Abstract

Renal and perinephric abscesses are usually confined within the Gerota's fascia and treated with conservatively. We herein present a case with peritonitis caused by the spillage of perinephritic abscess into the abdomen through the Gerota's fascia, which is clinical outcome. A 41-year-old female patient was admitted to emergency room with complaints of abdominal pain, bloating, fever, and fatigue. During the operation, an abscess of approximately 20x15cm in size was observed to extend into the abdominal cavity through the Gerota's fascia, causing secondary peritonitis. On the 20th postoperative day, the patient was uneventfully discharged. Delay in diagnosis of renal and perinephric abscesses can lead to fatal complications. Laparotomy is a life-saving approach in cases that cannot be treated with percutaneous drainage, when the abscess is large and causes complications such as strictures, fistulas, or secondary peritonitis, by extension through the Gerota's fascia, as in our case.

Keywords: Perinephric abscess, Renal abscess, Secondary peritonitis, Acute abdomen

Öz

Renal ve perinefrik apseler genellikle Gerota fasyasında sınırlı kalırlar ve konservatif yöntemlerle tedavi edilirler. Bu çalışmada perinefritik apsenin nadir görülen klinik bir sonucu olarak Gerota fasyasından karın içerisine açılması sonucu sekonder peritonite sebep olduğu olguyu sunmayı amaçladık. 41 yaşında kadın hasta karın ağrısı, karında şişlik, ateş ve halsizlik şikayetleriyle hastanemiz acil servisine başvurdu. Acil opere edilen hastada Gerota fasyasından karın içine uzanan yaklaşık 20x15 cm çapında apse ve sekonder peritonit saptandı. Postoperatif 20. gün hasta şifa ile hastaneden taburcu edildi. Perinefritik apselerin tanısında gecikme olması öldürücü komplikasyonlara yol açabilir. Gerota fasyasını aşan, striktür, fistül veya bizim olgumuzda olduğu gibi sekonder peritonitin geliştiği ve perkütan drenajla tedavi edilemeyen geniş apselerde laparotomi hayat kurtarıcıdır.

Anahtar kelimeler: Perinefrik apse, Renal apse, Sekonder peritonit, Akut karın

Introduction

Renal and perinephric abscesses are two major clinical problems in hospitalized patients, with a prevalence of 1 to 10 per 10,000. The prevalence is approximately same in males and females [1]. When the renal abscess develops, the suppurative material encases the renal parenchyma and the capsule. The abscess is usually confined within the Gerota's fascia. The most common condition associated with abscess formation is the spreading of lower urinary tract infections to the kidney, which develop due to gram-negative bacteria [2,3]. These abscesses are treated with conservative methods, such as antibiotic treatment and percutaneous drainage, and can lead to flank, scrotal, or subphrenic abscesses and occasionally, colonic fistulae [4,5]. According to the literature, expansion of the perinephric abscess into the mediastinal and epidural space has also been reported [6]. Our case manifests a rare condition of secondary peritonitis caused by perinephric abscess extending through Gerota's fascia and spilling into the abdominal cavity.

(JOSAM)

Case presentation

A 41-year-old female patient was admitted to the emergency room with complaints of abdominal pain, bloating, fever, and fatigue. The abdominal pain had lasted for a week and worsened in the last 2 days. The patient had Type 1 Diabetes and received insulin treatment. On physical examination, blood pressure was 110/60 mmHg, pulse rate was 96/min, and body temperature was 37.9°C. There was severe distention, abdominal guarding and rebound in all quadrants of the abdomen, particularly in the left upper and lower quadrants. Leukocyte count (WBC) was 13.84 x 109/L, hemoglobin value was 10.73 g/dL (14-18 g/dL), hematocrit, 34.31, C-reactive protein (CRP), 20.7 (40-53%), blood glucose, 287, and serum albumin, 2.3 g/dL (3.5-5 g / dL). All other biochemical parameters were within normal limits. Respiratory and cardiac examination revealed no pathology. Emergency ultrasound examination (US) revealed an intense lesion measuring approximately 185 x 99 mm and a thick wall in the left renal pouch, indicating pyonephrosis and an abscess. Extensive free fluid was seen in the abdomen and edema was observed in abdominal submucosal fat planes. Upon these findings, an abdominal tomography (CT scan) was performed, which revealed a fluid collection measuring approximately 129x114 mm with air and septae, indicating an abscess and emphysematous pyelonephritis, surrounding the left kidney with borders undistinguishable from the left kidney. The lesion pushed the left kidney anteroinferiorly. It has been reported that contrast enhancement was observed on the peritoneal surfaces in the pelvic region, pointing to peritonitis, as evidenced by the distorted appearance of mesenteric tissue and omentum in the lower quadrant of the abdomen. Axial and coronal section plane abdominal CT findings are shown at Figure 1 and Figure 2.



Figure 1: A: IV contrast abdominal computerized tomography showed dense fluid collection with septae displacing the left kidney anteriorly (long arrows), air images inside the fluid collection (short arrows) and intraabdominal free fluid in the axial plane B: dense fluid collection with septae including air images in the left kidney region (long arrow), intraabdominal free fluid and free air adjacent to the spleen (short arrow), C: Intraabdominal omental thickening – contamination (arrows) and widespread intraabdominal free fluid



Figure 2: A: IV contrast abdominal computerized tomography showed a dense fluid collection around the left kidney, air images superior to the fluid collection (short arrows) and intraabdominal free fluid in the coronal plane, B: dense fluid collection with septae displacing the left kidney inferiorly (long arrows), lobulated liver contours (short arrows) and intraabdominal free fluid, C: dense fluid collection with septae displacing the left kidney anteriorly (long arrows), air images superior to the fluid collection (short arrows) and intraabdominal free fluid.

With these findings, the patient was urgently operated on. During the operation, approximately 4 liters of infected fluid (ascites) was aspirated from the abdominal cavity. Exploration of the abdomen revealed an abscess measuring approximately 20x15 cm in size, extending into the abdominal cavity through Gerota's fascia. The omentum and small intestines were edematous and conglomerated in the lower quadrants. Purulent

fluid was present in the pelvic, perihepatic, perisplenic areas and lower right quadrant regions of the stomach. The peritoneum was thickened and edematous in the left upper and lower quadrants, due to secondary peritonitis. The liver also appeared extremely fibrotic and cirrhotic. Gerota's fascia was dissected and patchy, necrotic areas were observed in the superior kidney parenchyma. The abscess pouch was opened, a culture was obtained and approximately 400 cc of purulent fluid was aspirated. The purulent fluid in the abdomen, approximately 600 cc, was aspirated and the abdominal cavity was irrigated with abundant saline. Due to edema in the intestines and peritonitis findings, the fascia could not be closed, and the operation was terminated after closure of the skin. The patient was monitored in the intensive care unit with the support of a ventilator. Blood, fresh frozen plasma, and albumin replacements were administered, and antibiotic therapy (meropenem) was started. On the first postoperative day, peritoneal lavage was performed due to purulent discharge from the surgical drains. Monitoring with the support of a ventilator was continued and blood, fresh frozen plasma and albumin replacements were administered periodically. Peritoneal lavage was performed, and fascia was closed on the 4th postoperative day. Monitoring was continued in the intensive care unit. The patient was extubated on the 6th postoperative day and she was discharged from the intensive care unit on the 9th postoperative day. On the 20th postoperative day, the patient was uneventfully discharged. Written and verbal informed consent forms were obtained from patient.

Discussion

Renal and perinephric abscesses are two major clinical problems that result from lower urinary tract infections ascending to the kidney. They often develop due to gramnegative bacteria, E. coli being the most common [2,7]. Early start of appropriate antibiotic therapy is important in treating urinary tract infections and preventing complications such as renal abscess [8]. Perinephric abscesses occur as a result of parenchymal damage due to severe pyelonephritis and elevation in the intrapelvic pressure, usually caused by stone-related obstruction. The most important predisposing factors are a combination of conditions that lead to immunosuppression, such as stone-induced obstruction accompanied by urinary tract infection, uncontrolled diabetes, and the use of intravenous drugs [9]. Our patient was receiving insulin treatment due to Type 1 diabetes, and liver cirrhosis was found during abdominal CT scan and following the operation.

Renal and perinephric abscesses usually manifest by varying degrees of discomfort and pain in the flank area, fever, fatigue, loss of appetite, nausea, weight loss and sometimes permanent hiccups [9]. Since the findings of lower urinary tract infections are common in patients admitted to the hospital, the diagnosis of pyelonephritis and perinephric abscesses are often delayed until the occurrence of major findings [10]. These abscesses, usually confined within the Gerota's fascia at the time of diagnosis, can occasionally spread beyond it and extend to the pararenal area. This can result in strictures and fistulas in the surrounding organs (bowel, pancreas, liver, spleen, pleural space, gall bladder, vertebra, prostate, etc.) due to the collection of purulent fluid [4-6,9]. Therefore, the most crucial factor in treating renal and perinephric abscesses is early diagnosis [11]. In our case, the abscess caused a rare clinical finding of secondary peritonitis due to extension through the Gerota's fascia to the peritoneum.

It is particularly important to evaluate patients with renal and perinephric abscesses carefully in terms of clinical symptoms, findings of urosepsis, age, general condition and presence of comorbid diseases [10]. In laboratory findings, high CRP and BUN levels are correlated with poor prognosis [12]. With the use of modern imaging techniques, such as highresolution ultrasound, computed tomography and MRI, renal and perinephric abscess-related mortality has declined from 40-50% to 1.5-15% in the last 30 years [13]. The first line modality for diagnosis of renal and perinephric abscesses is ultrasound, with a sensitivity ranging between 70 and 86%. Sensitivity of CT scan is higher, between 96 and 100%. Although sensitivity of an MRI is higher than that of a CT scan, it is not the preferred imaging method. However, it reduces the amount of radiation in cases where clinical follow-up is required [10]. In our patient, the ultrasound revealed a collection of fluid with intense content at the left renal pouch, leading to the pre-diagnosis of pyelonephrosis and an abscess. The CT scan showed an abscess and emphysematous pyelonephritis.

The empirical antibiotic therapy commonly used in the treatment of renal and perinephric abscesses involves fluoroquinolones. Also, aminopenicillins, group 2 and group 3a cephalosporin combinations, or aminoglycosides can be used [2]. It is reported that invasive procedures should be avoided in cases of small or medium-sized abscesses, which measure less than 5 cm in diameter, and in abscesses which regress within four weeks of antibiotic therapy [14]. Invasive treatment should be performed in patients with abscesses larger than 5 cm in diameter, unopened to abdominal cavity, uncomplicated, and not responding to antibiotic treatment. The first-line treatment method in these cases is percutaneous drainage. This process is curative in 60-93% of cases [11]. In the last decade, renal and perinephric abscesses have been treated with percutaneous drainage in 52-84% of cases and open surgical procedures have been performed in only 6% of patients [15]. Factors that can limit percutaneous drainage include multilocular abscesses and abscesses with a diameter larger than 5 cm. The success rate may be reduced due to the need for multiple drainage procedures in the multilocular abscesses. Success rate of percutaneous drainage in abscesses with a diameter ≤ 5 cm was reported as 92%, while those with a diameter of >5 cm was only 33%. Rate of open surgical procedure was reported as 37% in the latter group [16].

Conclusion

Delay in diagnosis of renal and perinephric abscesses can lead to fatal complications. Laparotomy is a life-saving approach in cases that cannot be treated with percutaneous drainage or when the abscess is large and causes complications such as strictures, fistulas, or secondary peritonitis caused by extension through the Gerota's fascia, as in our case.

References

- Willard BT, Lynn J, Steinbecker K. Renal Corticomedullary Abscess. eMedicine. Eds. Jong M. Choe 27 Jul. 2004. Medscape. 13 Jan. 2005.
- Lee SH, Jung HJ, Mah SY, Chung BH. Renal abscesses measuring 5 cm or less: outcome of medical treatment without therapeutic drainage. Yonsei Med J. 2010;(51)4:569-73.
- Noble MJ. Perinephric abscess. AUA update Series. 2002;21(10):74-9.

- Trusedale BH, Rous SN, Nelson RP. Perinephric abscess: A review of 26 cases. J Urol. 1977;118:910-1.
- Sheinfeld J, Erturk E, Spataro RF, Cockett AT. Perinephric abscess: Current concepts. J Urol. 1987;137:191-4.
- Sivarama Krishna G, Vijayalakshmidevi B, Lakshmi AY, Mutheswaraiah B, Sivakumar V. Perinephric abscess with extension into mediastinum and epidural space Indian Journal of Nephrology. 2012;22(3):225-7.
- Asgin N, Satilmis S. Which antibiotics should we prefer empirical treatment of urinary tract infections in elderly patients? J Surg Med. 2019;3(12):856-60.
- Varisli AN, Hazirolan GC, Celikbas AG, Aksoy A. Resistance patterns of gram negative bacteria in urinary tract infections and efficacy of empirical treatment in noncomplicated cases: Retrospective cohort study of 2180 women. J Surg Med. 2018;2(2):99-104.
- Gardiner RA, Gwynne RA, Roberts SA. Perinephric abscess. Bju International. 2011;107(3):20-3.
- Rubilotta E, Balzarro M, Lacola V, Sarti A, Porcaro AB, Artibani W. Current cilinical management of renal and perinephric abscesses. Urologia. 2014;81(3):144-7.
 Sung BJ, Chung JM, Choi S, Rhew HY, Lee SD. Renal and perinephric abscesses: ten years
- Sung BJ, Chung JM, Choi S, Rhew HY, Lee SD. Renal and perinephric abscesses: ten years experience at a single center. Korean J Urol. 2008;49(10):923-30.
- 12.Salvatierra O Jr, Bucklew WB, Morrow JW. Perinephric abscess: a report of 71 cases. J Urol. 1967;98(3):296-302.
- Thorley JD, Jones SR, Sanford JP. Perinephric abscess. Medicine. 1974;53(6):441-51.
 Dalla Palma L, Pozzi Mucelli F, Ene V. Medical treatment of renal and perirenal abscess.
- Dalla Palma L, Pozzi Mucelli F, Ene V. Medical treatment of renal and perirenal abscesses: CT evaluation. Clin. Radiol. 1999;54(12):792-7.
 Hung CH, Liou JD, Yan MY, Chang CC. Immediate percutaneous drainage compared with
- surgical drainage of renal abscess. Int Urol Nephrol. 2007;39(1):51-5. 16.Siegel JF, Smith A, Moldwin R. Minimally invasive treatment of renal abscess. J Urol.
- 1996;155(1):52-5.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.

JOSAM

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.

Journal of Surgery and Medicine e-ISSN: 2602-2079

Abscess and bronchobiliary fistula following percutaneous hydatid cyst treatment: A case report

Perkütan kist hidatik tedavisi sonrasi apse ve bronko-bilier fistül: Olgu sunumu

Ercan Korkut¹, Nurhak Aksungur¹, Gürkan Öztürk¹

¹ Department of General Surgery, Ataturk University Medical Faculty Hospital, Erzurum, Turkey

> ORCID ID of the author(s) EK: 0000-0001-8543-7778 NA: 0000-0003-4477-5775 GÖ: 0000-0001-8662-636X

Abstract

Clinical course and treatment are uncomplicated in majority of hepatic hydatid cyst cases. However, in hydatid cysts involving percutaneous intervention, occult biliary fistulas can drain into the cavity due to a decrease in intracystic pressure, and the cyst can become complicated. Complicated cysts may be treated using non- invasive and minimally invasive methods. The cyst must be closely observed in terms of its size and location and the patient's place of residence. Delayed surgical treatment of hydatid cysts with percutaneous intervention and abscess development leads to high morbidity and mortality. Ultrasonography-guided PAIR (puncture – aspiration– injection – respiration) was performed on a patient with a Gharbi type 1 hydatid cyst, 150x110 mm in size, located in the right hepatic lobe. Since the cyst was contiguous with the bile ducts, a percutaneous catheter was inserted and endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) was performed. We report a case of hydatid cyst involving open surgical drainage following cavity infection and postoperative bronchobiliary fistula and pneumonia at follow-up. Patients developing percutaneous treatment-related cavity infection have worse hospital stays, treatment costs, disease-related morbidity and mortality than those undergoing open surgery. We think that patients developing cavity infection should be closely observed and that the surgical procedure should be performed without delay.

Keywords: Hydatid cyst of the liver, PAIR, Cavity infection, Bronchobiliary fistula

Öz

Hepatik kist vakalarının çoğu komplike olmayan klinik seyir ve tedavi göstermektedir. Perkütan müdahale edilen kistlerde, kist içerisindeki basıncın düşmesi ile gizli olan safra fistülleri kavite içerisine drene olabilir ve kist komplike hale gelebilir. Komplike hale gelmiş olan kistler non invaziv ve minimal invaziv yöntemlerle takip ve tedavi edilebilir. Ancak kistin yerleşim yeri, büyüklüğü ve hastanın yaşadığı yer göz önünde bulundurularak yakından takip edilmesi gerekir. Perkütan müdahale edilen ve apse gelişmiş kist hidatiklerde cerrahi tedavide geç kalmak, yüksek morbidite ve mortalite oranlarına neden olmaktadır. Karaciğer sağ lopta 150x110 mm ebadında Gharbi tip 1 kist hidatik lezyonu olan hastaya ultrasonografi eşliğinde PAIR (puncture – aspiration – injection – respiration) yapılmıştı. Kistin safra yolları ile iştirakli olması üzerine perkütan kateter takılmış ve endoskopik retrograd kolanjiopankreatografi (ERCP) yapılmıştı. Takiplerinde kavite enfeksiyonu gelişmesi üzerine açık cerrahi drenaj yapılan, ameliyattan sonra bronkobilier füstül ve pnömoni gelişen Kist hidatik olgusu sunulmuştur. Perkütan tedaviye bağlı kavite enfeksiyonu gelişen hastaların, hastanede kalış süresi, tedavi maliyetleri ve hastalığın morbiditesi açık cerrahi yapılan hastalara göre daha kötü sonuçlara yol açmaktadır. Kavite enfeksiyonu gelişen hastaların yakın takip edilmesini ve gecikmeden cerrahi işlem yapılmaşının daha uygun olduğunu düşünüyoruz.

Anahtar kelimeler: Karaciğer kist hidatik, PAIR, Kavite enfeksiyonu, Bronkobilier fistül

Introduction

Hydatid cyst is a zoonosis caused by the larvae of Echinococcus granulosus. The disease is endemic in several countries of the world, including Turkey. Approximately 4000 patients are diagnosed with hydatid cyst in Turkey every year, mainly in rural areas [1]. The larvae most commonly cause disease by settling in the liver and lungs. Depending on the size and location of the cyst, the most common finding is nonspecific abdominal pain. Anaphylactic shock may develop as a result of cyst perforation or during surgery [2]. Diagnosis is made by visualizing the cyst using imaging methods such as ultrasonography, computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Serological tests may sometimes be required to confirm the diagnosis. Surgical and percutaneous treatment (PT), which have been increasingly used in recent years, are widely employed in treatment in suitable cases.

Corresponding author / Sorumlu yazar: Ercan Korkut Address / Adres: Atatürk Üniversitesi, Tıp Fakültesi Hastanesi, Genel Cerrahi Anabilim Dalı, Palandöken, Erzurum, Türkiye e-Mail: ercankorkut@gmail.com

Informed Consent: The authors stated that the written consent was obtained from the patient presented with images in the study. Hasta Onam: Yazar çalışmada görüntüleri sunulan hastadan yazılı onam alındığını ifade etmiştir.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors. Çıkar Çatışması: Yazarlar çıkar çatışması bildirmemişlerdir.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support. Finansal Destek: Yazarlar bu çalışma için finansal destek almadıklarını beyan etmişlerdir.

> Published: 1/30/2020 Yayın Tarihi: 30.01.2020

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s) Published by JOSAM This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non Commercial-NoBerviatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) where it is permissible to download, share, remix, transform, and buildup the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be used commercially without permission from the journal.



How to cite / Atf için: Korkut E, Aksungur N, Öztürk G. Abscess and bronchobiliary fistula following percutaneous hydatid cyst treatment: A case report. J Surg Med. 2020;4(1):105-107.

Gharbi type 1-2 and some type 3 cysts respond well to PT [3,4]. Fine-needle aspiration and sclerosis (puncture aspiration - injection - respiration [PAIR]) are sufficient in small cysts and those not involving the bile ducts (<5 cm, 5- 10 cm). Percutaneous catheter drainage, Modified Catheterization Techniques (MoCat) or Percutaneous Evacuation (PEVAC) are required in large cysts and those involving the bile ducts (>10 cm) [5,6]. Hilar and large-diameter cysts can lead to cysto-biliary fistulas by exhibiting destructive effects on the bile ducts. Stent insertion, sphincterotomy with percutaneous catheterization and with endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) can be performed in these cases [7]. However, percutaneous catheter use and ERCP can lead to cavity infection and abscess. Cavity infections developing into abscesses may be treated by catheter insertion, but these need to be closely monitored based on the cyst's location, size, and the patient's place of residence. Delayed surgical treatment of hydatid cysts with percutaneous intervention and abscess development leads to high morbidity and mortality among patients.

Case presentation

A percutaneous catheter was inserted in a 46-year-old male patient due to a Gharbi type 1 hydatid cyst of 150x110 mm in size, filling segments 6, 7, and 8 of the right hepatic lobe. The biliary fistula did not decrease in size with percutaneous catheterization, and a stent was inserted in the main bile duct with endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) on day 22 after the procedure. Cavity infection developed at follow-up, and the patient presented to the general surgery clinic with a recommendation of surgery on day 70 after the procedure. A 140x100 mm abscess with air bubbles was present in segments 6, 7, and 8 of the hepatic right lobe at abdominal tomography (Figure 1).

The patient's laboratory values were as follows: WBC: 9.000 μ L, Hg: 10.6 g/dl, CRP: 44.8 mg/L, ALP: 331 U/L, GGT: 228 U/L, D.DIL: 0.32 mg/L, T.BIL: 0.9 mg/L, AST: 44 U/L, and ALT: 49 U/L. The patient was explored with a median and right lateral incision. Approximately 1000-1500 cc hemorrhagic purulent necrotic material and infected malodorous fluid was aspirated from the cyst with cystotomy. The cyst cavity was necrotic and hemorrhagic secondary to inflammation. No biliary fistula was observed, and the case was concluded with unroofing and drainage (Figure 2).

JOSAM



Figure 2: Appearance of the hydatid cyst abscess cavity in hepatic segments 7 and 8

Purulent and necrotic material drainage continued postoperatively. Approximately 100 ml of bile was drained on the 6th postoperative day. Thoracic CT performed on the 10th postoperative day revealed fluid in the right hemithorax, and a chest tube was inserted (Figure 3). About 1000 ml of impure biliary fluid drained from the chest tube. Two days after chest tube insertion, diffuse pneumonic foci developed in this patient with biliary fistula. Sepsis and pneumonia developed, and the patient was intubated. The pulmonary consolidations contracted at follow-up. The biliary drainage from the chest tube persisted for a further 15 days, and the patient was uneventfully discharged on the 60^{th} postoperative day.



Figure 3: Fluid in the right hemithorax and pneumonia in the left lung at abdominal and thoracic CT scans

Discussion

Gharbi type 1-2 and some type 3 cysts respond well to percutaneous therapy. Percutaneous treatment of hydatid cyst of the liver is performed with PAIR and percutaneous catheter, MoCat, and PEVAC drainage. PAIR can be used if the cyst is smaller than 5-6 cm in diameter and if there is no biliary fistula. Cysts exceeding 5-6 cm, some type 3 and 4 cysts, and those with biliary fistula are treated with a catheter [3-5,8]. Even if drainage ceases in large cysts treated with percutaneous catheterization, the catheter must still be left in place for at least one week, since cystobiliary fistula may develop at follow-up [9]. In that case, papillotomy with ERCP and stent are performed [7]. However, both percutaneous catheter insertion and papillotomy with ERCP and stent placement can lead to the development of refractory inflammation in the cyst cavity. Care must therefore be taken with appropriate patient selection considering the location, diameter and content of the cyst for percutaneous catheter procedures [10].

A percutaneous catheter was inserted in this patient with a 150 x110 mm cyst in segments 6, 7, and 8 of the right hepatic lobe. The cystobiliary fistula persisted at follow-up, and a stent was placed with ERCP on postprocedural day 22. Cavity infection developed, and the patient was operated on day 70 following the percutaneous procedure.

Since the cyst cavity was covered in intensely inflammatory and hemorrhagic necrotic tissue, intraoperative biliary fistula repair was not possible. The cyst wall adhered to the diaphragm due to inflammation. Abscess drainage and unroofing were performed. Biliary fistula developed in the cyst cavity on the 6th postoperative day. Approximately 250-300 ml of biliary drainage was observed daily. Respiratory distress developed on the 10th postoperative day, on which diffuse fluid was determined in the right pleural area at abdominal and thoracic CT. A chest tube, which drained infected bile, was inserted. Manifestations of pneumonia and sepsis developed in this patient at follow-up. The patient was connected to a ventilator, after which pulmonary infection improved. He was uneventfully discharged on the 60th postoperative day.

Conclusion

Percutaneous therapy is successfully performed in hydatid cysts of the liver of selected patients. Percutaneous intervention in hydatid cysts of the liver lowers treatment costs and shortens hospital stay compared to surgical procedures. However, patients developing intracavitary infection associated with percutaneous treatment have longer hospital stays, higher treatment costs and disease morbidity than those undergoing open surgery. Care must therefore be taken over patient selection for percutaneous procedures. Attention must be paid to the size and location of the cyst and the patient's place of residence in subjects developing cavity infection. Patients must be followedup at frequent intervals. We think that surgical procedures are more appropriate, particularly in patients living in rural areas and who cannot be followed-up on a regular basis.

References

- Yazar S, Ozkan AT, Hokelek M, Polat E, Yilmaz H, Ozbilge H, et al. Cystic echinococcosis in Turkey from 2001-2005. Turkiye Parazitolojii Dergisi. 2008;32(3):208-20.
- Belhaj A, Ouazzani E-T, Majdoub KI, Toughrai I, Laalim SA, Mazaz K. Anaphylactic shock
- during splenic hydatid cyst surgery: A case report. J Surg Med. 2018;2(2):154-6.

- Nabarro LE, Amin Z, Chiodini PL. Current management of cystic echinococcosis: a survey of specialist practice. Clinical infectious diseases: an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2015;60(5):721-8. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciu931.
- Kabaalioglu A, Ceken K, Alimoglu E, Apaydin A. Percutaneous imaging-guided treatment of hydatid liver cysts: do long-term results make it a first choice? European Journal of Radiology. 2006;59(1):65-73. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2006.01.014.
- Nayman A, Guler I, Keskin S, Erdem TB, Borazan H, Kucukapan A, et al. A novel modified PAIR technique using a trocar catheter for percutaneous treatment of liver hydatid cysts: a six-year experience. Diagnostic and Interventional Radiology (Ankara, Turkey). 2016;22(1):47-51. doi: 10.5152/dir.2015.15011.
- Bakdik S, Arslan S, Oncu F, Tolu I, Eryilmaz MA. Percutaneous treatment of hepatic cystic echinococcosis: the success of alcohol as a single endocavitary agent in PAIR, catheterization, and modified catheterization techniques. La Radiologia Medica. 2018;123(2):153-60. doi: 10.1007/s11547-017-0820-0.
- Dolay K, Akbulut S. Role of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography in the management of hepatic hydatid disease. World Journal of Gastroenterology. 2014;20(41):15253-61. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i41.15253.
- Nasseri-Moghaddam S, Abrishami A, Taefi A, Malekzadeh R. Percutaneous needle aspiration, injection, and re-aspiration with or without benzimidazole coverage for uncomplicated hepatic hydatid cysts. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2011(1):Cd003623. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003623.pub3.
- Suat Eren MK. Perkütan Karaciğer Kist Hidatik Tedavisi. Trd Sem. 2015;2015;(3):227–36.
 Marija Stojkovic BGaTJ. Echinococcosis. Twenty-Third Edition ed. Manson's Tropical Diseases, editor: Elsevier; 2014.

This paper has been checked for language accuracy by JOSAM editors.

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) citation style guide has been used in this paper.